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ONE PLANET. ONE HEALTH

| am proud of the results achieved by our teams at Danone in 2018. Our company is becoming more agile

every day. be keep adjusting our wavs of working and delivering efficiency. And we adapt to the ever

changing world around us. With Specialized Nutrition. Waters and our global plant-based brands from

WhiteWave continuing to post strong growth despite a very volatile environment, the year has seen the

encouraging progress of our EDP business in Europe, which stabilized in the 4™ quarter last year. This

could not have happened without the multi-faceted reinvention of Acfivia. which shows that after years
of decline. embracing with no fear the new paradigms can turn around a large global brand.

[ would like to thank our teams for their demonstrated ability last year to both deliver on our short-term commitments, and simultaneously
walk the path fo our 2020 commitments and prepare the future, an imperafive for those companies, like ours, that have a frue ambition fo
thrive through the food revolution. with the support of many partners.”

Emmanuel FABER, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

W0 Dlbpst | I

€047 bn 4457 €11 bn

SALES RECURRING OPERATING FREE CASH FLOW
MARGIN

+3.6% excluding the impact +58 bps excluding the impact
of the Morocco boycott of the Morocco boycott

§9/¢ A ~30/ )0/ "
OF VOLUME SOLD ARE SUITABLE SCORE FOR OF SALES COVERED OF WOMEN
FOR DAILY CONSUMPTION CDP CLIMATE CHANGE BY B CORP™ CERTIFICATION IN MANAGEMENT ROLES
(a) Like-for-like New Danone. nutrition (excluding WhiteWave). Based on official public health recommendation,
(b) On a reported basis. these categories are generally suitable for daily consumption.
[c) Excluding Yakult Transaction and IAS 29 impacts. le) Proportion of Danone female managers, directors and executives.

(d) This percentage refers to water, yogurt, and other daily dairy products, baby
milks & foods, milks and milk powders, beverages with 0% sugarand medical
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ESSENTIAL DAIRY
& PLANT-BASED
INTERNATIONAL

Sales 201 £50bn +01/0

Recurring Operating | .
Margin 2013 3.067 +/ bpS g |

KE/ FINANCIAL FIGURES

In millions of euros except if stated otherwise

Sales

Recurring operating income !

Recurring operating margin !

Non-recurring operating income
and expenses

Operating income

Operating margin

Recurring net income -
Group share !

Non-recurring netincome -

Group share

Netincome -

Group share

Recurring EPS (€) "

EPS (€)

Free cash flow 1!

Cash flow from operating activities

ESSENTIAL DAIRY
& PLANT-BASED
NORAM

SPECIALIZED
NUTRITION

€500 +5/9 €7[pn +99/0
4777 189 bps ©

1717 +15 bps®

07

24,812
3,537 |
14.26% |
192
3,729
15.03% .
2,186 |
263 .
2,449
3.48 |
3.90 .
2,083 |

2,958

05

24,651

3,562

14.45%

(821)
2,741
11.12%

2,304

46

2,349
3.56 |
3.63 .

2,232 |

3,1

(f) Financial indicator not defined in IFRS, see definition in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS.

Reporfed Changes .
-0.7%

+0.7%

+20bps

(1,013)
-26.5%

-391bps

+5.4%

(217) |
-41% |
+2.2% |

.0% .

+7.1%

+5.2%

KEY FIGURES

Like-for-like
New Danone
Changes

+2.9%
+6.7%

+51bps
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION ON THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

LT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

LI INFORMATION ABOUT THE [SSUER
LEGAL NAME AND TRADE NAME

The Company’s legal name is “Danone” (hereafter the “Company”), having been changed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2009

from “Groupe Danone”.

REGISTRATION NUMBER [N THE REGISTER OF COMMERCE AND COMPANIES

The Company is registered in the Paris Register of commerce and companies under number 552 032 534.
The Company’s APE Industry code is 7010Z, which corresponds to the activity of registered offices.

DATE OF START OF ACTIVITY AND TERM OF THE COMPANY

The Company business activities started on January 1, 1908. The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 25, 2013 extended the

term of the Company to April 25, 2112.

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Company’s registered office is located at 17, boulevard Haussmann, in Paris (75009), France. The telephone number of the registered

office is +33 (0) 1 44 3520 20.

INFORMATION ABOUT BRANCHES PURSUANT T0 ARTICLE L.Z3Z-1 OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL CODE

The Company has a branch (secondary office) located at 152, boulevard Victor Hugo, in Saint-Ouen (93487), France.

LEGAL FORM AND APPLICABLE LAW

The Company, a French corporation (société anonyme) with a Board of Directors, is subject to the provisions of Book Il of the French

commercial code.

CORPORATE PURPOSE

In accordance with Article 2 of Danone’s by-laws, the purpose of
the Company, whether directly or indirectly, in France and in any
country, shall be:

® industry and trade relating to all food products;

® the performance of any and all financial transactions and the
management of anyandall property rights and securities, whether
listed or unlisted, French or foreign, together with the acquisition
and the managementof anyandallreal estate properties and rights.

In general, the Company shall be entitled to effect any and all pro-
perty, real estate, industrial, commercial, and financial transactions
relating directly or indirectly or possibly useful in any connection
whatsoeverto the Company in the fulfillment of its corporate purpose.

STATUTORY AUDITORS
Principal Statutory auditors

Ernst & Young Audit

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux comptes
de Versailles

Tour First, 1, place des Saisons
TSA 14444
92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex

Represented by Jeanne BOILLET and Pierre-Henri PAGNON

Start date of first term of office: April 28, 2016 (the first term of
office with an entity member of Ernst & Young network began on
April 22, 2010 with Ernst & Young et Autres)

Expiration date of term of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021

b DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

Itshall be entitled to act and to effect the aforementioned transactions
directly or indirectly, in any form whatsoever, on its own behalf or
on behalf of third parties, and whether alone or in a joint-venture,
association, grouping or company involving any other individuals
or companies.

It shall also be entitled to acquire interests and holdings in any
and all French and foreign companies and businesses, regardless
of the purpose thereof, by means of the establishment of special
companies, through asset contributions or subscriptions, through
the acquisition of shares, bonds or other securities and any and all
company rights, and, in general, by any means whatsoever.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux comptes
de Versailles

63, rue de Villiers
92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Represented by Anik CHAUMARTIN and Francois JAUMAIN
Start date of first term of office: May 21, 1992

Expiration date of term of office: date of the Shareholders” Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021
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Substitute Statutory auditors
Auditex

Tour First, 1, place des Saisons
TSA 14444
92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex

Start date of first term of office: April 22, 2010

Expiration date of term of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021

.2 INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Jean-Christophe GEORGHIOU

63, rue de Villiers
92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Start date of first term of office: April 28, 2016

Expiration date of term of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021

.2 INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts in this Annual Report are (i)
expressed in Euro and (i) presented in millions for convenience.
Such amounts may have been rounded. Rounding differences may
exist, including for percentages.

The financialinformation presented in section Key figures is extrac-
ted from section 3 Danone’s business highlights in 2018 and outlook
for 2019 and from Danone’s consolidated financial statements for

fiscalyear 2018 prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated
financial statements for fiscal year 2018 are presented in sec-
tion 4.1 Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

REFERENCES AND DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise noted, all the references mentioned hereinafter refer to the following elements:

Advanced Medical Nutrition

ALMA

CIS
Company

Consolidated financial
statements, Notes to the
consolidated financial
statements

Danone
Danone’s market shares

and market positions

Early Life Nutrition

EDP International

EDP Noram

Emerging countries

Essential Dairy &
Plant-Based International

Essential Dairy &
Plant-Based Noram

All references herein to the "Advanced Medical Nutrition” Reporting entity as defined in the 2016
Registration Document refer to adult or pediatric clinical nutrition products to be taken orally

or through a tube in the event of malnutrition related to illness or other causes;

All references herein to the "ALMA” region refer to the Asia/Pacific, Latin America, Middle East

and Africa region;
Commonwealth of Independent States;

All references herein to the "Company” refer to Danone as issuer;

All references herein to consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated financial
statements refer to consolidated financial statements for the 2018 fiscal year;

All references hereinto "“Danone” or the "Group” refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries;

Allreferences hereinto Danone’s market shares or market positions are derived from third-party market

studies and databases provided in particular by Nielsen, IRI, Euromonitor and Canadean institutes;

All references herein to the "Early Life Nutrition” Reporting entity as defined in the 2016 Registration
Document refer to baby formula (infant milk formula, follow-on milk, growing up milks), milk-

and fruit-based desserts, cereals, jars of baby food and ready-made baby food;

All references herein to the "EDP International” Reporting entity refer to the Essential Dairy &
Plant-Based International Reporting entity;

All references herein to the "EDP Noram” Reporting entity refer to the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based

Noram Reporting entity;

All references herein to “emerging countries” refer to countries other than mature countries where

Danone is present;

All references herein to the “Essential Dairy & Plant-Based International” Reporting entity or "EDP
International” refer to production and distribution in the world outside the United States and Canada of
fresh fermented dairy products and other dairy specialties, plant-based products and beverages, coffee

creamers and organic products;

All references herein to the "Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Noram” Reporting entity or "EDP Noram”
refer to production and distribution in the United States and Canada of fresh fermented dairy products

and otherdairy specialties, plant-based products and beverages, coffee creamers and organic products;

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 /
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Europe and Noram

GPS
(Group performance shares)

GPU
(Group performance units)

Group
Markets

Market shares and market
positions

Mature countries

Noram
North America

Put options granted
to non-controlling interests

Registration Document
Reporting entity

Rest of the World
Sales

Specialized Nutrition

Value of GPS

Waters

WhiteWave

All references herein to the "Europe and Noram” region refer to the region that includes Europe except
CIS, the United States and Canada;

All references herein to GPS (Group performance shares] refer to DANONE shares subject
to performance conditions granted to certain employees and corporate officers described in section
6.4 Detailed information on long-term and multi-annual compensation plans;

All references herein to GPU (Group performance units] refer to multi-annual compensation described
in section 6.4 Detailed information on long-term and multi-annual compensation plans;

Allreferences herein to the “Group” or “Danone” refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries;

All references herein to “markets” for products in particular, or to market shares, refer to markets

for packaged products and exclude products that may be otherwise marketed or sold;

Data pertaining to market shares and market positions are based on the value of sales;

All references herein to "mature countries” refer to Western Europe [particularly France and Southern
Europe, including Spain, Italy and Portugal], North America, Japan, Australia and New Zealand;

All references herein to the "Noram” region refer to the region that includes the United States

and Canada;

All references herein to the "North America” region refer to the United States and Canada;

All references herein to “put options granted to non-controlling interests” refer to put options granted

by Danone to certain non-controlling shareholders on all or part of their equity investment in certain

consolidated subsidiaries described in section 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review;

All references herein to the "Registration Document” refer to Danone’s Registration Document;

All references herein to a "Reporting entity” or "Reporting entities” refer to one or more of Danone’s

Essential Dairy & Plant-Based International, Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Noram, Specialized Nutrition

or Waters Businesses;

All references herein to the "Rest of the World” region refer to the region that includes the ALMA

and CIS regions;

All references herein to “Sales” refer to Danone’s consolidated sales;

All references herein to the “Specialized Nutrition” Reporting entity refer to production

and distribution of specialized food, for babies and young children to complement breast-feeding,

and for people afflicted with certain illnesses or frail elderly people;

All references herein to the value of GPS refer to the fair value of those shares and options calculated as

of grant date in accordance with IFRS 2;

Allreferences herein tothe “Waters” Reporting entity refer to bottled water, water sold in large containers

(jugs), and water sold in small containers;

All references herein to “WhiteWave” refer to The WhiteWave Foods Company.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Pursuant to article 28 of regulation (EC) N°. 809/2004 of the
European Commission dated April 29, 2004 and to section 36 of
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requiring that at least
one-year comparative information be presented, this Registration
Document incorporates by reference the following information:

® theconsolidated financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 on
pages 68 to 137 of the Registration Document filed with the AMF

® the annual financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 on
pages 138 to 158 of the Registration Document filed with the
AMF on March 17, 2017;

® the selected financial information, the Group’s management
report and all non-financial information pertaining to the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2016 on pages 2 to 3 and 42 to 60 of
the Registration Document filed with the AMF on March 17, 2017;

on March 17,2017 under filing number D.17-0183;

§ DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018
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I.5 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

® theconsolidated financial statements and the Statutory auditors’ ® the selected financial information, the Group’s management
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 on reportand all non-financial information pertaining to the fiscal
pages 74 to 136 of the Registration Document filed with the AMF year ended December 31, 2017 on pages 2 to 3 and 48 to 65 of
on March 12, 2018 under filing number D.18-0116; the Registration Document filed with the AMF on March 12, 2018.

e the annual financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 on
pages 137 to 156 of the Registration Document filed with the
AMF on March 12, 2018;

1.5 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Emmanuel FABER

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Danone

STATEMENT BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

This is a free translation into English of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer's statement issued in French, and is provided solely for the
convenience of English-speaking readers.

Paris, March 13, 2019

“I'hereby certify, after having taken all reasonable measures, that to my knowledge all the information in this Registration Document is
accurate, and that no information liable to alter its scope has been omitted.

| certify that, to my knowledge, the financial statements in this document have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting
standards and provide a faithful representation of the assets, the financial situation, and the results of the Company and of all companies
within its scope of consolidation, and that the management report referred to in the cross-reference table in the Appendix of the present
Registration Document provides a faithful representation of the business trends, results, and financial position of the Company and of all
companies within its scope of consolidation, and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Statutory auditors have provided me with a letter (lettre de fin de travaux, or auditors’ completion letter) stating that their work has
been completed, and in which they indicate that they have verified the information included in this Registration Document relative to the
financial situation and the financial statements, and have read this Registration Document in its entirety.”

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,

Emmanuel FABER

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 |
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OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS

LI HISTORY

LI HISTORY
THE COMPANY'S R0OTS: FROM GLASS T0 FOOD

Danone’s origins date back to 1966 when the French glass manufac-
turers, Glaces de Boussois and Verrerie Souchon Neuvesel, merged
to form Boussois Souchon Neuvesel, or BSN. In 1970, BSN began a
program of diversification in the food and beverage industry by suc-
cessivelyacquiring three of its primary glass container customers:
Brasseries Kronenbourg, Société Européenne de Brasseries and
Société Anonyme des Eaux Minérales d'Evian. These acquisitions
made BSN France’s market leader in beer and bottled water.

1973-1930- EUROPEAN EXPANSION

During the 1970s and 1980s, after selling off its flat glass opera-
tions, the BSN group focused its growth on food and beverages,
primarily in Western Europe. In particular, this expansion included
the acquisition of breweries, Générale Biscuit, a French holding
company that owned LU and other European biscuit brands, the

1930-1996: GLOBAL AMBITIONS

In the early 1990s, the BSN group started consolidating the posi-
tions acquired in previous years in Western Europe, enabling the
development of synergies. In France, for example, BSN acquired
Volvic to strengthen its position in bottled water. During this period,
the Company also laid the groundwork for its international deve-
lopment by completing numerous acquisitions and joint-ventures
outside of Western Europe (in the Asia-Pacific region, Latin America

[996-2007. REFOCUS ON HEALTH FOOD

In 1997, the Company decided to focus on its global businesses.
Danone therefore steadily made divestitures in its Grocery, Pasta,
Prepared Foods, Confectionery Products, Beer, Sauces and ltalian
Cheese and Meats activities. Danone also sold BSN Glasspack, the
holding company of its Glass Containers business.

In 1972, Antoine RIBOUD, then the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of BSN, laid the foundation for the "dual economic and so-
cial project,” which has since guided the Company’s strategy. The
followingyear, in 1973, BSN merged with Gervais Danone, a French
food and beverage group specialized in dairy and pasta products,
becoming the largest food and beverage group in France.

biscuit subsidiaries of Nabisco, Inc. and also Galbani, Italy’s leading
cheese maker. BSN group became the third-largest diversified
food and beverage company in Europe, and the largest in France,
Italy and Spain.

and Eastern Europe, as well as in selected markets such as South
Africa and the Middle East).

In 1994, to consolidate its position as a multinational food and
beverage group, the Company decided to change the BSN parent
company’s name to “Groupe Danone” (in 2009, the shareholders
would subsequently approve the change of the legal name of the
Groupe Danone parent company to “Danone”).

In 2006, Danone formalized its mission of “bringing health through food
toas many people as possible,” and the following year it completed
a 10-year period of refocusing its operations on the health-focused
food sector. Indeed, in 2007 Danone sold nearly all of its Biscuits
and Cereal Products business, and acquired Numico, thus adding
Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition activities to its portfolio.

£007-2014 ACCELERATION OF NTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Inorderto pursue itsinternational development strategy around its
four businesses, Danone acquired the Unimilk group’s companies
in Russia in 2010 and the Wockhardt group’s nutrition activities
in India in 2012. In 2013, the Company forged a strategic alliance
with Mengniu, the Chinese fresh dairy products market leader, to
accelerate the growth of this product categoryin China.In 2014, an

agreementwas signed calling for this alliance to be extended to the
infant formula category through Danone’s acquisition of a stake in
Yashili,a Mengniu subsidiary. Since 2013 Danone has also accelerated
its development on the African continent, notably with the acqui-
sition of a controlling interest in Centrale Danone in Morocco and
Fan Milk in West Africa, and equity interests in Brookside in Kenya.

SINCE Z014: TowARD STRONG. PROFITABLE AND SUSTAINABLE 6ROWTH

2014 was a turning point for Danone, with the launch of a trans-
formational plan whose goal is to generate strong, profitable and
sustainable growth. To reinforce the Company’s economic and
social impact, Danone also created its Manifesto, which expresses

17 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

Danone’s convictions and commitments to implement its mission.
The 2017 acquisition of WhiteWave, the global leaderin organic and
plant-based products, represented another major step forward
toward completing the Danone transformation plan.



1.2 PRESENTATION OF DANONE
ACTIVITIES

With its mission to “bring health through food to as many people as
possible”, Danoneis amongthe global leadersin the food and beve-
rage sector, and is structured around the following four Reporting
entities (see definitions in section 1 Information about the issuer and
information about the Registration Document):

e EDP International (33% of the Company ‘s Sales in 2018);
e EDP Noram (20% of the Company 's Sales in 2018);

e Specialized Nutrition [29% of the Company ‘s Sales in 2018],
which combines Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical
Nutrition Businesses;

® Waters (18% of the Company ‘s Sales in 2018].

4,480

EDP International
EDP Noram

Consolidated sales
by Reporting entity

(in € millions) Specialized Nutrition

7,115 Waters

Danone enjoys, in value, the following leadership positions (in the
relevant categories and markets):

e No. 1 worldwide for fresh dairy products;

® No. 1 worldwide for plant-based foods and beverages;
® No. 3 worldwide for packaged waters;

e No. 2 worldwide for early life nutrition;

® No. 1in Europe for medical nutrition.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS

L. PRESENTATION OF DANONE

MAIN MARKETS

Danone’s organization is structured around two geographical areas:

® the Europe and Noram region, which represented 55% of the
Company’'s Salesin 2018, with an activity covering all of Danone’s
Businesses. The main countries in this region are the United
States, France, the United Kingdom and Spain;

® the Rest of the World region, which represented 45% of the
Company’s Sales in 2018:

e inLlatin America, the main contributors are Mexico, Argentina
and Brazil, with all the Company’s Business Entities present
in this region;

e in the Asia/Pacific region, the leading countries are China
and Indonesia thanks to their strong presence in the Waters
and Early Life Nutrition Businesses;

¢ inAfricaandthe Middle East, the largest markets are Morocco
and Turkey, with an activity focused mainly on Essential Dairy
& Plant-Based and Waters.

10,997

Consolidated sales
by geographical
area
(in € millions)

- Europe and Noram

Rest of the World

Top 10 countries in terms of sales

Year ended December 31

lin percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
United States 18% 20%
China 7% 9%
France 9% 9%
Russia 7% 6%
Indonesia 5% 5%
United Kingdom 5% 5%
Mexico 4% 4%
Spain 4% 4%
Germany 4% 3%
Brazil 4% 3%

Changes in these rankings from one year to the next also reflect
currency fluctuations, especially high volatility in emerging markets.
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2.3 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Top 10 customers

In 2018, Danone’s top 10 customers worldwide (five of which are French) accounted for approximately 20% of its consolidated sales; the
top five customers represented approximately 13% of its consolidated sales.

1.5 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
DANONE'S "ONE PLANET. ONE HEALTH" VISION

Launchedin 2017, Danone’s “One Planet. One Health” vision reflects
the strong belief that people’s and the planet’s health are inter-
connected. This vision builds on decades of responsible business
stewardship and lies at the core of Danone’s strategic priorities.
Danone is committed to offering people healthier and more sus-
tainably produced food and beverage choices, as well as to taking
care of employees, communities, and the environment.

Thisvisionis inspired by the food generation, i.e. the growing number
of people who increasingly care about where their food comes from,
how it has grown, how it arrived to them, as well as about social and
environmental practices of brands. Danone aims to play a key role

DANONE 2030 GOALS

Building on its "One Planet. One Health” vision, Danone has de-
fined nine 2030 Goals presented at its Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders on April 26, 2018. Aligned with the United Nations
2030 Sustainable Development Goals, Danone 2030 Goals embed

in this food revolution, and encourages consumers to make better
choices, by improving the nutritional quality of products, by proposing
innovative formats and packaging, adapted to increasingly nomadic
lifestyles, and by improving its distribution channels.

To deliveronits mission of “bringing health through food to as many
people as possible”, Danone goes beyond taking care of the nutritional
needs of consumers. It offers products and services suited to each
community’s specificities by taking into account cultural, social,
emotional and physiological aspects related to dietary practices in
each part of the world. Therefore, Danone ambitions to be an agent
of positive change towards a healthy world, through food.

the business, brand and trust models of the company to drive long-
term sustainable value creation. These nine goals constitute the
strategic framework of the company.

OUR BRAND MoDEL

IMPACT PEOPLES

HEALTH

LOCALLY

JUR

DELIVER

GROW

| R MANIFESTO
BUSINESS ‘”§$§<g§ BRANDS

GROW

MODEL

BE
CERTIFIED
AS A
B CORP

PRESERVE

AND RENEW THE

PLANETS

RESOURCES

Danones Business Model

Offer superior food experiences and innovate,
always

Danone commits to high quality and food safety standards. Danone
stands for sustainably sourced ingredients, for naturality and
transparency, and for simple recipes and clean labels, supported
by its strong innovation capabilities. Danone believes these are key
fundamentals to create superior food experiences for people, as this
will remain the first driver of healthier and more sustainable choices.

4 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

Innovations launched during the last 24 months represented about a
quarter of salesin 2018, increasing by around 25% compared to 2017.

Deliver superior sustainable profitable growth
Danone builds onaunique health-focused product offeringin some
of the fastest growing categories, responding to today’s and tomor-
row’s eating and drinking trends. Danone builds on a clear roadmap
around three priorities: accelerate growth, maximize efficiencies
and allocate resources with discipline.



In parallel, Danone has set four medium term objectives:

® accelerating like-for-like sales growth to 4%-5% by 2020, based
on following dynamics:

e Specialized Nutrition: like-for-like sales growth above 5%;
e Waters: like-for-like sales growth above 5%;

e Essential Dairy & Plant-Based: like-for-like sales growth of
4% to 5%.

® recurring operating margin reaching more than 16% by 2020,
coming mainly from:

e value-added innovations in all Businesses of Danone;

e continuous organizational improvement, including notably
the implementation of a centralized Cycles and Procurement
organization;

e progressonthe Protein efficiency program, targeting 1 billion
euros gross savings by 2020, to reinforce the Company’s

Danones Brand Model

Impact people’s health locally

In line with Danone’s mission to "bring health through food to
as many people as possible”, the Company has created a unique
portfolio of healthy products to achieve this mission and strives to
continuously optimize their nutritional profile. Also, Danone builds
on its in-depth knowledge of local food cultures, food habits and
public health challenges toinnovate and actively promote healthier
alternatives for better choices. Beyond products, Danone will ac-
celerate current and new initiatives (programs and services) with
partners to positively impact dietary habits.

Danone builds on six nutrition commitments: continuously improve
the nutritional quality of products; design healthier alternatives
relevant for consumers; further reinforce Danone’s understanding
of local nutrition practices and public health contexts; contribute
to addressing local public health challenges on which Danone can
have a favorable impact through partnerships; develop even more
responsible marketing practices; provide the most appropriate
product labelling to encourage healthier practices.

Danones Trust Model

Entrust Danone’s people to create new futures
Building on a unique social innovation heritage, Danone will give the
opportunity to each employee to co-own its strategic agenda and
the path to its 2030 goals, both at a global and local level.

Hence, in 2018, through the “One Person, One Voice, One Share”
program, Danone’s employees have beeninvited to engage and share

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS

1.3 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

competitiveness. This plan consists of sustainably improving
the operating model and driving better buying and smarter
spending;

* synergies linked to the WhiteWave integration.
o net Debt/EBITDA ratio below 3-times by 2020;
® ROIC target of around 12% by 2022.

Be certified asa B Corp™

Danone’s ambition to become a Certified B Corp™ expresses the
long-term commitment to create and share sustainable value
for all, in line with its dual economic and social agenda. B Corp™
certification is a mark of trust for companies demonstrating high
standards of social and environmental performance.

At the end 2018, Danone is well on track towards its ambition to
become one of the first multinational companies to be fully B Corp™
certified. Atthe end 2018, 11 Danone entities are B Corp™ certified,
representing around 30% of Danone’s Sales.

Grow Manifesto brands

At Danone, we believe that each time we eat and drink, we vote
for the world we want. That is why we aim to build purpose driven
brands - what we call Manifesto brands - that will serve as true
activists towards their point of view, not only delivering an exciting
experience to people, butalso committing to create a positive impact
on health and the planet.

Danone’s 10 Manifesto brands (Villavicencio, Les 2 Vaches, Bonafont,
Happy Family, evian, Alpro, Aqua, Blédina, Nutrilon, Phosphatine),
represented around 20% of Sales in 2018.

Preserve and renew the planet’s resources

Danone commits to sustainable sourcing for its ingredients and to
enhancing the circular economy of packaging. Danone contributes to
soil health through regenerative agricultural practices co-developed
with partners and Danone will even amplify its ambitious water
stewardship journey. Danone takes partin the fight against climate
change by implementing carbon positive solutions and aiming to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. Allachievements, commitments
and objectives linked to the planet and preservation of resources
are detailed in section 5.3 Preserve and renew the planet's resources.

theirviews on the Company’s priorities as well as on the definition of
localand globalroadmaps. In addition, this program plans to grant
each employee, by 2019, one DANONE share in combination with
an annual, amplified dividend-based incentive scheme, in order to
foster an ownership mindset among employees.
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Foster inclusive growth

Danone will continue to invent pioneering ways to foster inclusive
growth for vulnerable partners in its food chain, including family
farmers, streetvendors and waste pickers. Danone will continue to
explore sustainable solutions for access to nutrition and safe drinking
water for low-income communities. And Danone will maximize the
impact of its social innovation funds through scale and transfor-
mation of business practices starting with Danone Communities,
the Danone Ecosystem Fund and the Livelihoods funds, which are
detailed in section 5.1.

Serve the food revolution with partners
Afood revolutionis happening, and Danone chooses to serve it with
its partners. To change the way water and food are grown, produced,

marketed, distributed, sold and consumed, Danone needs to co-
create solutions with others, leveraging their expertise. To do so,
Danone is building on decades of partnership experience to work
handin hand closely with Danone’s employees, farmers, suppliers,
retailers, consumers and partners as well as with civil society,
governments and public health professionals.

Key initiativesinclude Danone’s active participation in the Consumer
Goods Forum, to collaborate with consumer goods retailers and
manufacturers to drive positive change, and the signing of a global
partnership with the Ellen MacArthur Foundation to promote a
circular economy of packaging. In addition, Danone relies on its
$200 million Danone Manifesto Ventures fund to invest into innovative
companies disrupting the food sector.

L4 DESCRIPTION AND STRATEGY OF THE REPORTING ENTITIES

Danone elaborates a strategy for each of its Reporting entities.

ESSENTIAL DAIRY & PLANT-BASED (EDP): EDP NORAM AND EDP INTERNATIONAL

Danoneisthe worldwide leader for dairy products and plant-based
food and beverages, sold in more than 100 countries.

For the past 100 years - since the first Danone yogurt was made
and sold in a pharmacy in Barcelona - Danone has always strived
to meet the needs of consumers by proposing healthy and local
products. Today, consumers increasingly want diversified better-
for-you, great-tasting, natural and sustainably produced foods that
can be consumed at different moments throughout the day. These
new habits, support strong trends such as flexitarianism (diversified
consumption of animal and plant-based proteins), as well as appeal
for probiotics and high-protein products.

EDP is well positioned to meet these trends, thanks to its unique
portfolio and large offering of products, consisting of widely-reco-
gnized global brands such as Activia and Actimel, as well as regional
and local brands which account for more than half of its Sales.

EDP Noram

EDP Noram includes five categories, where Danone enjoys strong
leadership positions, each having its own brand portfolio:

® the Yogurt category comprises mainly yogurts (spoonable and
drinkable) sold underthe key brands Activia, DanActive, Danimals,
Dannon, Danonino, Light & Fit, Oikos, Wallaby and YoCrunch. In this
category, Danone focuses onincreasing per capita consumption
of yogurtsin the United States and Canada by creating additional
consumption moments and offering products that satisfy various
consumer expectations;

e thePlant-Based Products and Beverages category mainlyincludes
(i) plant-based beverages [such as almond-based, cashew-based
and/or soy-based products), (ii] plant-based ice creams and no-
velties, (iii) nutrition products in the form of powdered proteins,
originally intended to enhance athletic performance and deve-
lopment. These products are marketed under the brands Silk,
So Delicious and Vega. Danone aims to offer numerous nutritious
and tasty options to consumerswho are looking to diversify their
sources of protein or are lactose intolerant;

o the Coffee Creamers category includes coffee creamers (fresh
or Ultra High Temperature processed - UHT] and coffee beve-
rages sold under the key brands International Delight, Dunkin
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Accelerating innovation is at the core of EDP’s strategy to offer a
diverse choice of nutritious, delicious and convenient options, with
six key objectives:

® win millennials by rejuvenating and launching brands that re-
sonate with them;

® leverage probioticsand use newingredients with soft functionalities
thatareincreasingly popular with health-conscious consumers;

® accelerate plant-based by expanding core brands while exploring
new ingredients, categories and geographies;

® drive tasty treats for a moment of indulgence with new conve-
nient formats;

® constantly innovate by fostering new growth spaces and offering
on-trend packs;

® wininimpulse and on-the-go channels with the right portfolio,
dedicated route-to-market and native impulse team.

Up to 2018, the reporting of EDP is structured around its two core
geographies: EDP Noram (the United States and Canada) and EDP
International (rest of the world).

Donuts (under license), Land O Lakes [under license), Bailey's
(under license) and SToK. The goal is to offer practical and tasty
products that enable consumers to replicate the coffeehouse
experience at home or on the road;

® the Premium Dairy category includes organic milks (fresh and
Ultra High Temperature processed - UHT], cheese and other
organic dairy products sold under the Horizon brand. Danone
aims to offer dairy products adapted to the whole family for
healthy, convenient and fun eating;

® the Fresh Foods category includes packaged salads, green
vegetables, fresh and frozen organic fruits and vegetables sold
under the Earthbound Farm brand.

Asone of the 15 largest food and beverage companies in the United
States, Danone aims to maintain and strengthen its leadership po-
sition. The strategy of EDP Noram is to create value by supporting
growth through strong innovation, capturing attractive growing
demand opportunities, driving product distinctiveness through tech-
nical superiority, using distinctive communication and positioning,
creatingimpactfulactivation to recruit notably younger consumers
and winning in impulse and on-the-go channels.



EDP [nternational

EDP International’s portfolio is powered by:

® essentialyogurtbrands such as Danone, Danonino or Prostokvashino
in Russia, as well as lifestyle brands like Light & Free and Vitalinea
that inspire people to feel good about the choices they make;

® plant-based brand Alpro, European leader in plant-based, ex-
panding the full spectrum of ingredients, from soy and almond
to coconut, cashew and rice, and innovating in new ranges with
high protein, ice creams and coffee drinks in convenient formats;

SPECIALIZED NUTRITION

Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition, which make
up the Specialized Nutrition Reporting entity, offer a portfolio of
nutritional solutions aimed at impacting the health and well-being
of vulnerable individuals across the full life span, from preterm birth
until old age, with activities offering similarities and synergies in
terms of innovation and scientific research. The Specialized Nutrition
Reporting entity focuses notably on allergy, from prevention to treat-
ment, where Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition are
working hand in hand to foster synergies and strengthen Danone’s
leadership position in this sector. The Nutricia brand is a key asset
for both Businesses, with a legacy in healthcare of over 120 years,
and acknowledged by health leaders worldwide.

The Early Life Nutrition Business focuses on the right nutrition in
the first 1,000 days - from the start of pregnancy to two years of
age - aimed at positively influencing short and long-term health
outcomes. Danone also offers products, services and education to
pregnant and breastfeeding mothers, infants and young children.

The infant milk formula segment accounts for the vast majority
of the Early Life Nutrition Business and products are available
worldwide. The other part of the Early Life Nutrition Business is
the complementary food segment, also known as “weaning foods”,
only available in select countries. The Business has several global
brands (such as Aptamil and Nutrilon) and a large number of local
brands (Cow&Gate, Blédina, Bebelac, Malyutka and Dumex).

Researchand Innovationis atthe core of Early Life Nutrition Business
strategy to best serve mothers and children. Danone collaborates
with many scientists, suppliers, consumers and healthcare profes-
sionals in the sector, and performs surveys to better understand
local dietary habits and nutritional needs. This approach enables
to develop tailored and specialized solutions, and meet emerging
trends, such as increasing demand for organic products or treat-
ments of specific medical conditions [notably allergies].

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS
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® indulgence treats with Oikos and Danette in Europe or Danissimo
in Russia, at a time when consumers are seeking enjoyment in
healthier and more convenient ways;

e functionalbrands sought by health-conscious consumers such as
Actimel, as well as iconic global brands like Activia that continue
to build on digestive health and probiotics expertise.

EDP International’s strategy is suited to the local specificities of its
different geographical markets. Danone accelerates innovation to
meet consumers’ preferences in developed European countries,
and strengthens key growth markets such as Latin America, Russia
and Eastern Europe, as well as key countries in Africa and Asia.

Danone aims to grow the Early Life Nutrition Businessinareliable,
sustainable way, providing products, services and education that
contribute to the health of future generations.

The Advanced Medical Nutrition Business focuses mainly on die-
tary management of patients, both children and adults, who have
been diagnosed with various medical conditions. Advanced Medical
Nutrition products are designed primarily to treat malnutrition due
to disease in order to satisfy special dietary needs. These products
- most of which are eligible for insurance reimbursement - are
recommended or prescribed by healthcare professionals (doctors,
medical personnel in hospitals, clinics and pharmacies).

Under the umbrella brand Nutricia, the Company has a large portfolio
of brands marketed in several countries, including for example:

® Nutrison: tube feeding for dietary management of patients who
suffer from illness-related malnutrition and are unable to feed
themselves normally;

e Fortimel/Fortisip: liquid oral nutritional supplements;

® Neocate: hypoallergenic products aimed at babies and children
with dairy or multiple food protein allergies;

® Nutrini/Infatrini: oral and feeding tube Advanced Medical Nutrition
products adapted for the dietary treatment of babies and children
who, due toillness, are incapable of feeding themselves normally
or sufficiently.

Danone’s strategy for Advanced Medical Nutrition consists of in-
creasing its globalaccess by establishing itself in new markets and
developingvarious distribution channels. The Company estimates that
the medical nutrition market’s growth potentialis significant, mainly
as a result of (i) population aging in some countries, [ii] increased
awareness of the role of nutrition in health, (iii] the emergence of
newillnesses and allergies, and (iv] the growing number of screening
procedures enabling early treatment of patients.
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1.5 OTHER ELEMENTS RELATED T0 DANONE'S AC Y AND ORGANIZATION

WATERS

The Waters Reporting entity comprises the plain waters business
along with aquadrinks (waters flavored or enriched with natural
fruit juice extracts, fruit juice and vitamines).

The Reporting entity hasinternational brands such as evian, Volvic and
numerous very strong locally anchored brands: Aqua in Indonesia,
Mizone in China, Bonafont in Mexico, Villavicencio and Villa del Sur
in Argentina, Hayat and Sirma in Turkey, Fontvella and Lanjardn in
Spain, and Zywiec Zdroj in Poland.

The strategy is based primarily on the development of bottled water
andaquadrinks consumption, notably through the following measures:

e promotion of hydration-related health benefits: Danone pursues
initiatives to promote healthier hydration through partnerships
with public health authorities and scientists and by communicating
directly with consumers and especially the younger generation, to
inspire healthier consumption habits in line with the Company's
“One Planet. One Health" vision. In particular, the Company runs
the "Hydration for Health” scientific platform: 150 scientists and
public health authority researchers from around the world meet
annually to share and promote advances in the area of hydration
science and the positive effect of water consumption on health;

® thedevelopment of healthier natural beverages, as alternatives
to sodas and other sugar-sweetened beverages. Thisveryinno-
vative category of aquadrinks is being developed to encourage
the adoption of healthier hydration practices by consumers of
sweetened beverages. More of the Company’'s water brands are
being extended toinclude flavored versions or blended with fruit
and other natural ingredients;

® packaginginnovation: to confront the rising level of consumers’
awareness regarding packaging waste, as well as to fulfill the
Company’'s commitment to a healthy and sustainable environmen-
tal footprint, Danone announced through its updated packaging
policy, published in October 2018, a series of new commitments
and actions to target 100% circularity for its packaging;

® long-term management and environmental protection of water
resources: Danone invests to preserve the unique quality and
sustainable nature of its plain waters products by strengthening
the protection of its springs, and scrupulously respecting the na-
turalwater cycle. In catchment areas, Danone is also committed
to involving all stakeholders in the local community through
associations and partnerships that promote the development
of non-polluting activities and the establishment of more envi-
ronmentally friendly agricultural practices.

1.5 OTHER ELEMENTS RELATED T0 DANONE'S ACTIVITY AND ORGANIZATION

DISTRIBUTION

Although theyvaryto reflect local specificities, Danone’s distribution
models reflect three main approaches:

e distribution aimed at major retail chains;
e distribution to traditional market outlets;

e distribution to e-commerce, on-the-go and convenience stores.

Major retail chains

Danone establishes global partnerships with its main distributorsin
orderto help develop the sales of its products. These partnerships
arerelated in particular to logistics collaboration, online sales de-
velopment and food safety management. Matters involving pricing
policies, which are up to each subsidiary, are not included in these
agreements.

In particular, Danone has taken severalinitiatives to work closely with
large retailersinorderto optimize the flow of goods and the inventory
levels of its customers with the Efficient Consumer Response (ECR)
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Moreover, a significant portion of the products in the Early Life
Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition markets are distributed
through more specialized distribution channels such as hospitals,
clinics and pharmacies.

Danone is constantly streamlining its logistics flows in order to
improve service quality while reducing costs. This policy is based
onanongoing assessment of its organization, notably through out-
sourcing of distribution in collaboration with specialized companies.

approach. Inaddition to inventory management, automatic inventory
replenishments and just-in-time delivery, ECR aims at working with
distributors to better manage consumer demand and expectations
at the points of sale. To that end, the Company has implemented
shared inventory management systems with its leading distributors
that are used to coordinate inventory levels among stores, as well
as at the distributors” and Danone’s warehouses.

Danone alsoworks with its customers to develop specific marketing
activities such as joint promotions.



Traditional market outlefs

Globally, and particularly in emerging countries, a large portion
of Danone’s Sales is generated through traditional market outlets
thanks to small-scale point of sale networks. In-house sales forces
and exclusivity agreements with wholesalers represent a competitive
advantage for the Company in countries where traditional commerce
and independent supermarkets continue to account for a significant
share of food and beverage sales.

E-commerce. on-the-go and convenience stores

Danone is stepping up its partnerships and investments with
e-commerce companies to satisfy growing consumer demand
through this distribution channel. There are three different types
of e-commerce channels:

® brick-and-mortar companies (major retailers that have created
an e-commerce activity);

e pure players [companies selling exclusively through e-commerce;

Specialized distribution channels of hospitals. clinics and pharmacies

Inthe Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition markets,
a significant portion of products are marketed in hospitals, clinics
and pharmacies, through specialized distributors or following a
tendering process. Danone also maintains an ongoing relationship

COMPETITION

The packaged food and beverage sectoris highly competitive due to
the large number of national and international competitors. Danone s
confident thatits strategy for profitable growth is strongly supported
by its products’ quality, taste, affordability and innovative aspect,
and by the powerful brand image conveyed on health, nutrition or
societal and environmental responsibility.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTOR
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Moreover, in Latin America and Asia, a significant portion of the
Waters Reporting entity products are distributed directly to consu-
mers (Home & office delivery, or HOD).

Finally, in emerging countries, Danone is developing new local retail
models through large networks of independent sellers.

e direct to consumer (a proprietary Danone website that enables
Danone to sell directly to consumers without intermediaries).

In parallel, Danone focuses on the use of new growing distribution
models, on-the-go and convenience stores, with an adapted offe-
ring (including single serves) to meet increasing consumer desire
for immediacy.

Danone is growing in all these channels and gaining expertise.

with healthcare professionals through its medical representatives,
who meet with general practitioners and specialists (pediatricians,
nutritionists, etc.) as well as pharmacists.

Considering that success in this food and beverage industry is
achieved through strong local market positions, Danone strives
to be the market leader of each segment in every country where it
operates, always in compliance with laws and regulations relating
to competition. This strategy allows fora long-lasting, balanced and
constructive relationship with major distribution networks, by mar-
keting key productsyielding growth and profitability for both parties.
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Reporting entity Business/Category

Competitive environment

EDP International
and EDP Noram

Fresh Dairy Products (including
Yogurts and Premium Dairy)

Plant-based Products and
Beverages

Coffee Creamers

Fresh Foods

Large multinational food and beverage companies (Nestlé, Ge-
neral Mills, Lactalis, Muller, Coca Colal), many predominately
local companies specializing in certain product lines or markets
(Chobani, Wimm-Bill-Dann, Friesland Campina, Lala, Meiji, Arla,
Fage, Organic Valley), and private labels.

A few large international companies [Campbell, Hain Celestial,
Unilever), predominantly local companies specializing in certain
product lines or markets (Blue Diamond, Califia Farms, Triballat,
Wessanen, Oatly, Valsoia) and private labels.

A few large food and beverage multinationals (Nestlé), predomi-
nantly local companies specializing in certain product lines or
markets (Hood) and private labels.

Some food and beverage companies (Bonduelle, Campbell, Organic
Girl, Taylor Farms, Olivia's Organic) and private labels.

Specialized Nutrition Early Life Nutrition

Advanced Medical Nutrition

Large early life nutrition companies (Abbott, Reckitt/Mead Johnson,
Nestlé) and predominantly local companies and/or companies
specializing in certain product lines or markets (Lactalis, Biostime,
a2 Milk, Yili, Feihe).

Large medical nutrition companies (Nestlé, Abbott] and predo-
minantly local companies specializing in certain product lines or
markets (Fresenius).

Waters Waters

Historical beverage market leaders internationally (Coca-Cola,
Pepsi, Nestlé] and predominantly local companies (Mayora
in Indonesia, Kang Shi Fu in China, Cristalline in France, Epura
in Mexico).

RESEARCH AND [NNOVATION

Danones Research and [nnovation

Danone’s Research and Innovation is focused on four major topics:
1) nutrition and health, 2] eating habits, 3) nutritional profiles and
product formulation, 4) raw materials, ingredients and packaging.
Itis stepping up its interactions with startups’ ecosystems and in-
novating environments and with their incubators and is expanding
the use of agile methods (Design Thinking, Fast Prototyping, Lean
Startup, etc.). Within its own teams, it is transforming how it inno-
vates with these new methods, focusing its innovation processes
around the user so that new experiences can be developed jointly.
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Research and Innovation is also central to developing Danone’s
“One Planet. One Health” vision; it is tasked with preparing for the
future with a focus on the following major scientific and strategic
challenges:

® microbiota and biotics;

® plant-based proteins and new sources of protein;
® naturalness and organic;

® packaging and beyond plastic;

® knowledge of sweetness;

® the consumer experience;

® the development of allergies;

® hydration;

® healthy aging.

Danone’s Research and Innovation activities aim to increase inno-
vation’s contribution to Danone’s results and to play a role in the
food revolution.



Research and [nnovation Organization

The Research and Innovation Department has approximately 1,700
people spread across:

® two international research centers (in Palaiseau, France and
Utrecht, Netherlands);

® six specialized centers:
e Danone Research Packaging Center in Evian, France;

e Precision Nutrition D-Lab, Nutricia Research in Singapore;

Scientific and technological collaborations

Tocarryoutits mission, Danone’s Research and Innovation Department
is involved in cooperation initiatives and partnerships with the acade-
mic and scientificworld, especially with top universities and research
centers worldwide. In 2018, with support from Danone and Yakult,
the "Gut Health, Microbiota & Probiotics throughout the Lifespan”
symposium was held at Harvard University and brought together
nearly 400 attendees to discuss the role that diet plays in digestive
health. The teams also lead scientific committees on strategic topics
such as microbiota and biotics, hydration, and aging to improve the
understanding of health issues through this permanent contact with
the outside scientific world. These interactions give rise in particular
to scientific cooperation, joint investments in research work, and
pooling of resources and skills. In 2018, Research and Innovation

PRODUCTION SITES AND EQUIPMENT

Danone’s general policy is to own its production facilities. Danone
has many, widely-dispersed production facilities, exceptin the Early
Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition Businesses, whose
sites are more concentrated.

Danone has production facilities around the world in its principal
markets. As of December 31,2018, Danone had 194 production sites.

Production during the year and main production sites
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¢ Danone Research Fresh Dairy Technological Expertise in
Madrid, Spain;

e Danone Research Fresh Dairy Technological Expertise, in
Chekhov, Russia;

e tworesearchcentersfocusedon plant-based protein products
in Denver in the USA and in Ghent in Belgium.

local teams in 55 Danone subsidiaries.

began an overhaul of its relationships with certain suppliers to
create a more agile environment and encourage entrepreneurship,
notably with Givaudan, Firmenich, DSM and Symrise. The team also
published its new packaging policy and welcomed new partners into
the Alliance NaturALL Bottle which aims to create the bottle of the
future; made from 100% bio-based PET and using raw materials
not intended for food.

Research and Innovation has extended its commitment to the foo-
dtech innovation ecosystem and more broadly has promoted open
innovation with Mista, The Kitchen Hub, Startupbootcamp, EIT food
and BitsxBites. Lastly, we continued to support the Health for Life
Capitalfund, a high-quality Europeaninvestmentvehicle that supports
the microbiome revolution and is managed by Seventure Partners.

Lastly, Danone rents some facilities, notably offices and warehouses
(see section 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review).

The production sites are inspected regularly to assess possibilities
forimproving quality, environmental protection, safety, and produc-
tivity. On the basis of these reviews, management establishes plans
for the expansion, specialization, upgrading, and modernization (or
closing) of specific sites.

Year ended December 31, 2018

Key sites by Business @

Share of production

Production ™ Localization by Business
Essential Dairy & Plant-Based 7.8 million metric tons  Mexico, United States 1M1%
Waters 28.8 billion liters France, Indonesia 12%
Early Life Nutrition 0.9 million metric tons Ireland 14%
Advanced Medical Nutrition 191.6 million liters Netherlands 61%

(a] Two of the largest sites for the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based and Waters Businesses, the largest site for the Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical

Nutrition Businesses.
(b) For the fiscal year.
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RAW MATERIALS PURCHASING

Danone’s raw materials needs consist mainly of:

materials needed to produce food and beverage products, mainly
milk and fruits (the “food raw materials”). On a value basis, milk
represents the main raw material purchased by Danone. These
purchases consist mainly of liquid milk, for which the operating
subsidiaries typically enterinto agreements with local producers
or cooperatives. Liquid milk prices are set locally, over contractual
periods that vary from one country to another. The main other
food raw materials are fruit-based preparations and sugar;

product packaging materials, in particular plastics and cardboard
("packaging”). Packaging purchases are managed through global
and regional purchasing programs making it possible to opti-
mize skills and volume effects. Prices are influenced by supply
and demand at the global and regional levels, economic cycles,
production capacities and oil prices;

energy supplies. Theyaccount foronly a limited portion of Danone’s
purchases.

Danone’s strategy increasingly focuses on the upstream portion of
its activities and in particular its supply of raw materials, not only
to manage its costs but also to make it a genuine source of value
added and differentiation relative to the competition.

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

See section 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

See section 2.7 Risk factors.

1
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The price trends of major raw materials may affect the structure of
Danone’sresults. In that context, the Group manages raw materials
cost volatility through the following measures:

® continuous productivity gains: Danone strives in particular to
optimize its use of raw materials (reductions in production waste,
lighter packaging and more effective use of milk sub-compo-
nents in the Group's various products) and take advantage
of pooled purchasing for its various subsidiaries. In 2013, for
example, Danone established a centralized purchasing system
for the non-milk purchases of the EDP and Early Life Nutrition
Reporting entities;

e implementation of a purchasing policy ["Market Risk Management”)
that consists of defining rules for securing the physical supply
and price setting with suppliers and/or on financial markets when
they exist. The monitoring of exposures and the implementation
of this policy are carried out for each raw materials category by
Danone central purchasing team. The buyers typically negotiate
forward purchase agreements with suppliers, since no financial
markets exist that would allow full hedging of the volatility of
Danone’s main raw materials purchase prices. Forward pur-
chase agreements are monitored at the Group level at the end
of each year.
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The following simplified organizational chart presents the structure of Danone’s overall legal organization. Some subsidiaries may ne-
vertheless have a different parent company.

Danone SA

(France)

Compagnie Gervais Holding Internationale Danone Baby &
Danone de Boissons Medical Holding SAS
(France) (France) (France)

Waters Reporting entity Specialized Nutritrion Other subsidiaries
subsidiaries® Reporting entity subsidiaries and other investments

Dan Investments SAS
(France)

EDP Noram and
EDP International Reporting
entity subsidiaries

(a) The company Evian Resort, included in the Waters Reporting entity, operates the Evian Casino and is therefore submitted to the French Ministry of Interior’s
control and to the regulation applicable to the Casino games activity.

PARENT COMPANY DANONE

Danone SA is the parent company of the Danone group. Danone SA has mainly a role of (i) holding directly or indirectly companies of the
group; and (i) coordination of the main functions and activities, with an average number of employees of 888 in 2018.

SUBSIDIARIES

The subsidiaries list can be consulted on Danone’s website.

MAIN LISTED COMPANIES

As of December 31, 2018

Reporting entity Listing market
Centrale Danone © EDP International Casablanca (Morocco)
China Mengniu Dairy ! EDP International Hong Kong (China)
Yakult Honsha " EDP International Tokyo (Japan)
Yashili ® Specialized Nutrition Hong Kong (China)

(a) Fully consolidated company.
(b) Associate.
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1.7 RISK FACTORS
RISK'IDENTIFICATION AND CONTROL POLICY

Like any company, Danone faces external and internal risks which
can affect achievement of its targets. The main risks Danone is ex-
posed to as of the date of this Registration Document are described
in the following section.

Danone maintains an active risk identification and management
policy aimed at protecting and developing its assets and reputation,

PRINCIPAL RISK FACTORS

the achievement of its targets and objectives, and protecting the
interests of its consumers, shareholders, employees, customers,
suppliers, the environment and its other stakeholders without
guaranteeing the total absence of risks.

This risk identification and management policy is described in
section 2.8 Internal control and risk management.

Summary of principal risk factors fo which Danone believes it is exposed as of the dafe of this Registration Document

Risks associated with
Danone’s business sector concerns
Laws and regulations

Competition

Fast evolving consumer preferences based on tastes, eating habits, health and environmental

Risks associated with product quality and safety, and with their positioning
Raw materials: price volatility and availability
Natural disaster and climate change risks

Concentration of distribution

Weather conditions and seasonal cycles

Risks associated with
Danone’s strategy

Principal markets
External growth
Intellectual property

Risks associated with Danone’s image and reputation

Danone’s position in certain markets

Risks associated with Danone’s

organization and operation Human resources

Concentration of purchases with a limited number of suppliers

Risks related to ethics and to human rights

Information systems

Internal control deficiency
Industrial risks

Insurance coverage deficiency

Financial market risks Financial market risks

Currency risks related to operating activities
Currency risks related to financing activities

Liquidity
Interest rates
Counterparty, credit

These primary risk factors are described hereafter.

Other risks

Danone is also exposed to other risks inherent to any listed inter-
national company, including:

® exchange rate risk associated with the conversion of accounts
in euro;

® risk associated with companies’ fluctuating share prices.

4 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

All these risks could unfavorably impact Danone’s business and
results and impair the Company’s reputation and image.

Other risks that could adversely affect the Company in the future
may exist, even though Danone was unaware of them or considered
them immaterial as of the date of this Registration Document.
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Risks associated with Danones business sector
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Fast evolving consumer preferences based on tastes, eating habits, health and

environmental concern

Fast evolution of consumers’ preferences and habits requires
constantinnovation and adaptation of Danone’s product range and
overall supply chain. The diversification of tastes, eating habits
and anincreasing health, social and environmental awareness of
consumers drive their purchases. Among the key trends in food
and beverages, the most notable are: (i} the nutritional quality of
products, (i) packaging and recycling, [iii) presence or absence
of certain ingredients (for example sugar, protein, additives), (iv)
sustainable sourcing of ingredients with known environmental or
socialimpact, [v) origin of products and transparency on companies
behind the brand (strong trend on local) and (vi) the carbon and
water footprint of products.

Retailers are also paying increasing attention to health, social
and environmental concerns of consumers, in particular on the
labeling of the nutritional quality and/or environmental footprint
of products and packaging, as well as food waste.

If Danone is unable to anticipate rapidly enough changes of
consumers preference in terms of tastes, eating habits and en-
vironmental expectations, its activities, results and reputation
could be negatively impacted.

Laws and regulations

Asaplayerinthe foodand beverage industry operatingin numerous
countries, Danone’s activities are subject to extensive laws and
regulations enacted by many national and international authorities
and organizations, notably with respect to its products, produc-
tion processes, the way it markets and advertises its products,
the environment [primarily involving water, air, the use of natural
resources, noise, waste and greenhouse gas emissions), taxation,
trade practices and labor. Danone’s activities are also subject to
good conduct rules such as those of the World Health Organization
(WHO] regarding the marketing of breast-milk substitutes and the
corresponding rules atthevarious local regulatory levels. Danone
is also subject to any customs duties, trade barriers or penalties
that may be imposed.

The laws and regulations that Danone is subject to are complex,
changingandincreasingly restrictive, particularly with respect to:

e the protection of health and food safety and of the consumer’s
health and right to information. This is particularly the case
in the advertising and promotion of breast milk substitutes
and claims about the health benefits of products marketed by
Danone, the reimbursement of certain products of the medical
nutrition activity and Danone’s advertising and promotional
activities. Any significant change in these laws or regulations,
any significant decision by an authority regarding these laws or
any other regulations or any other event that would challenge
the nutritional or health claims related to certain products could
have a significant impact on Danone’s activities, increase its
costs, reduce consumer demand and possibly resultin litigation;

Danone has developed alarge product portfolio focused on healthy
categories. Its Research and Innovation capabilities allow the
Company to offer a wide variety of products to respond to diffe-
rent diets, consumption needs and situations. As an illustration,
through the WhiteWave acquisition, the Company diversified its
product portfolio from animal to plant-based protein products,
answering growing consumer trends.

Inaddition, Danone strives to foster ongoing dialogue with its consu-
mers by adapting to new consumer expectations and behaviors,
sharing more transparently in particular through digital commu-
nication channels onits societal and environmental commitments.

Finally, through its Manifesto Brand Model and its ambition towards
the B Corp™ certification, Danone aims to develop purpose-driven
brands, and commits to the highest social and environmental
standards.

For more information on product content and footprint, water
resources, plastic packaging and sustainable sourcing, refer to
section 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

Danone’sinternational development limits the concentration risk
of more restrictive regulations for a given country.

Danone has developed a public affairs and legal, regulatory affairs
and compliance organization at the local [subsidiaries] and central
levels. The Company and its subsidiaries, assisted by their legal
departments and/or external legal advisors, take steps to ensure
that they comply, atalltimes, with applicable laws and regulations.

In addition, Danone has developed and implemented internal po-
licies and procedures relating to compliance detailed in section
2.8 Internal control and risk management. In order to ensure that
such measures are commonly practiced at Danone, the Company
has integrated compliance into its quality approach and internal
control system.

Futhermore, to comply with applicable environmental regulations,
Danone has established a dedicated organization and implemented
procedures and tools, in addition to setting targets for reducing
its environmental footprint. These various initiatives as well as
the measures taken in 2018 are described in section 5.3 Preserve
and renew the planet’s resources.

Finally, with regards to the marketing of breast-milk Substitutes,
Danone supports the aimsand principles of the WHO Code. Danone
commits not to advertise nor promote infant formula for children
aged 0-6 months, anywhere in the world, even if permitted by
local laws.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 /]
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e accesstowaterresourcesand the marketing of water. Regulatory
changes are liable to affect the availability of water intended
for bottling and sale, and/or its commercialization by Danone,
and may have negative impacts on its businesses and results;

e the environment. Bringing its activities into compliance with
new regulations or changes in existing regulations could be
costly, or even limit Danone’s ability to pursue or develop
certain activities;

e taxation. Any change in tax regulations through increases in
existing taxes or the establishment of new taxes - involving in
particulartaxrates, transfer prices, dividends, social security
contributions, deductibility of financial expenses, special tax
plans ortax exemptionrules - could adversely affect Danone’s
results.

Finally, Danoneisinvolved or could be involved in litigation associated
withits normal course of business, which may have consequences
in criminal and/or civil law. Should a result be unfavorable for
Danone, this could adversely affect Danone’s financial situation
and its image or reputation. Danone’s exposure to actual or po-
tential major litigation, if applicable, is presented in Note 15.2 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Competition

Danone conducts its business in highly competitive markets that
include large multinational companies and numerous local players
of different sizes.

This competition could lead Danone to lose market share, increase
its advertising and promotional expenditures, reduce its prices
in order to defend its market shares or prevent it from raising its
prices in order to overcome cost increases, which could have a
significant adverse effect on Danone’s strategy and results.

For more information on breast-milk substitutes, please refer to
section 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

To the best of Danone’s knowledge and as of the date of this Re-
gistration Document, no governmental, court, arbitration or any
other proceeding to which the Company and its subsidiaries are a
party is currently ongoing that would be likely to have a material
impact on Danone’s financial position or profitability other than
those mentioned in Note 15.3 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Danone limits the effects of competition from the leading players
inits markets, notably through its strategy of (i) differentiation re-
lative to its competitors in the context of increasing segmentation
of consumer preferences, especially in terms of product lines,
price/quality ratios and positioning; and (ii) development through
organic and external growth. These elements of Danone’s strate-
gy are described in sections 2.3 Strategic priorities and 2.5 Other
elements related to Danone’s activity and organization.

Risks associated with product quality and safety, and with their positioning

Its activity exposes Danone to the risk - known or merely per-
ceived, anticipated or alleged - of product contamination or that
its products are harmful.

This quality risk may arise through the actual or alleged exis-
tence of (i) chemical, physical and microbiological contaminants
(even in infinitesimal amounts) in raw materials and packaging;
(ii) cross-contamination with allergens; and [iii] non-compliance
with the safety measures of finished products when they leave
the factoryand throughout the distribution chain. These actual or
alleged contamination risks could also potentially occur (i) upstream
from Danone’s activity (with suppliers or while being transported
by suppliers); and (ii] downstream from its activity (by clients or
distributors or during the transportation phase by its distributors).

26 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

Danone’s strategy in the field of nutrition and health is consistent
with the main orientations set by health authorities in various
countries. In implementing this strategy, Danone pays close at-
tention to scientific fundamentals, the regulatory environmentand
the origin of ingredients used through organizations, actions and
procedures that it implements, in particular (i) the Research and
Innovation strategy and organization, which are described in section
2.5 Other elements related to Danone’s activity and organization; (i)
the development of partnerships with reference scientific orga-
nizations and an ongoing dialogue with public health authorities;
and (iii) the establishment of an internal procedure to ensure the
consistency, scientific foundation of health and nutrition claims
disseminated in its communications.
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In addition, in the event that certain of Danone’s products [including
recipes/formulas or certain active ingredients) presented as having
nutritional or health benefits or positioning proved to be harmful
in the short or long term or had no health effects, then Danone’s
activities, results and reputation could be adversely affected to
an even greater extent, since Danone’s strategy is based on the
development of products with a strong nutrition/health component.

More generally, Danone is exposed to situations involving non-com-
pliance with food standards and product ingredient regulations.

The materialization of such risks could have multiple consequences:
Danone’s sales and results related to these products could be
severely affected; this impact could then extend beyond just the
products involved to include other products of the same brand;
given media coverage and the development of social networks,
this impact could also spread to other geographic areas than the
ones initially involved; the combined impacts could therefore have
asignificant adverse effect on Danone’s overall sales and results;
in addition to the immediate financial impact, the reputation of
Danone, its brands and products as well as its quality image could
be adversely affected over the long term, thereby exacerbating the
financial risk for Danone.

Raw materials: price volatility and availability
Danone’s raw material needs consist primarily of:

e materials needed to produce food and beverage products,
mainly milk and fruits (the “food raw materials”);

e product packaging materials, in particular plastics and cardboard
("packaging”]). These account for only a limited portion of
Danone’s purchases.

Variations in supply and demand at global or regional levels,
weather conditions, government controls, regulatory changes
and geo-political events could substantially impact the price and
availability of (i) raw materials, and (i) materials needed to package
certain Danone products, which could have an adverse effect on
its results. In particular, a potentialincrease in the prices of these
raw materials (especially milk) and other materials may not be
passed on, eitherin full orin part, in the sales price of Danone’s
products, notably in countries whose economic environment
has deteriorated. This could have a significant adverse effect on
Danone’s activities and results.

To avoid contamination risks, Danone applies an uncompromising
food safety and quality policy, which is implemented through a
quality organization at both central and local levels and makes
it possible to achieve the targeted level of food safety and quality
standards. Danone has established instructions to mitigate conta-
mination risk, in particular through the implementation of a QFS
management system based on ISO 22000 enforced by multiple
controls on raw materials, its production lines and throughout
the distribution chain, as well as regular audits of its sites and
their certification.

Danone has also prepared and implemented a procedure at each
subsidiary that organizes (i) measures for halting production and
withdrawing or even recalling productsin certain cases, together
with the relevant institutions; and (i) systematic, in-depth controls
andinquiries to determine whether Danone has liability exposure.

Formore information on Danone’s Food Safety and Quality approach
and on product content and footprint please refer to section 5
Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

In the context of high raw materials price volatility and in order
to limitits impact on Danone’s activity and results to the greatest
possible extent, Danone manages this cost inflation through ac-
tions described in section 2.5 Other elements related to Danone’s
activity and organization.

Danone’s supply policy and exposure to principal raw materials
risks, including milk, are described in Note 6.7 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Natural disaster and climate change risks
Natural risks

Danone’s geographic expansion sometimes leads it to be present
in regions exposed to natural risks, notably seismic. Natural
disasters could therefore cause damage to persons, property or
the environment, and directly affect Danone, its consumers or the
regions where it is present, potentially having a negative impact
on Danone’s activities, financial situation and image.

Climate change risks

Danone’s businesses are directly related to nature and agricul-
ture and are naturally faced with climate change. This could have
negative effects on the natural water cycles, soil, biodiversity and
ecosystems and thus on raw materials and ingredients used in
the Company’s products and processes.

In addition, climate change impact on water availability as well
as on watershed and groundwater degradation could impact Da-
none’s activities and operations, and subsidiaries’ relationships
with local stakeholders.

Climate change could therefore affect the activity of Danone, its
suppliers and its customers, which could have negative impacts
on its results and financial situation.

Financing the transition towards more sustainable agricultural
practices and ingredients availability are both risks for Danone’s
growth.

Concentration of distribution

While the end customers of Danone products are individual consu-
mers, Danone sells its products mainly to major retail and grocery
chains. Overall, the distribution market has become increasingly
concentrated globally and locally. A continuation of the trend to
concentrate distribution at the global level along with increasing
share of discount & online retail channels as wellas the emergence
of key players at the local level would result in a smaller number
of customers for Danone companies and increasing pressure on
retailers” margins. This could lead to retailers demanding better
terms, which could in particular affect Danone’s companies” and
therefore Danone’s operating margins and impact theirmarket share.

Weather conditions and seasonal cycles

Seasonal consumption cycles pertaining to certain Danone pro-
ducts and weather variations could adversely affect Danone’s
activities and results.

For its new site development projects, Danone conducts a risk
exposure analysis for such risks in order to choose the site with
the least possible exposure. If, however, the site chosen (or the
existing site in the case of an expansion) is exposed to these risks,
the building construction and equipment installation take into
account recommendations from prevention/protection experts
to limit the potential impacts of these natural risks. In addition,
each year, Danone conducts a screening of its production sites’
localization to identify its exposure to water cycles and climate
change risks.

Danone is developing and implementing actions, procedures,
tools and policies that seek to prevent and reduce these risks,
notably its Climate Policy which aims in particular to reduce its
greenhouse gas emissions, foster “carbon positive” solutions,
offer healthy and sustainable products, reinforce the resiliency
of its water and food cycles, and eliminate deforestation from its
supply chain by 2020.

Danone aims to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 via 3 main
strategic axes: (i) emissions reduction, (i) transforming agricultural
practices to help carbon sequestration in soil and [iii] off-setting
of remaining emissions.

Lastly, to strengthen the resiliency of its food chain, Danone is
developing collaborative “co-created” solutions involving all its
stakeholders and local communities. For more information on water
resources and sustainable agriculture, particularly regenerative
and organic agriculture, please refer to section 5 Social, societal
and environmental responsibility.

The presence of Danone brands in different types of distribution
channels helps to mitigate the potential negative impact of the
concentration risk. In particular, Danone has developed strong
plans in growing channels such as online.

Danone has also taken measures that help to reduce this risk, in
particular action programs related to the trade policy towards
key customer accounts (see section 2.5 Other elements related to
Danone’s activity and organization).

The intensity of the seasonal impact is variable for Danone’s
different businesses. Moreover, Danone’s international growth
results in a geographical distribution of its activities that helps
to diversify and limit the concentration of this risk of weather
changes for a given region. Lastly, Danone relies on its operating
experience (notably through the development of its product lines
and management of its markets) to limit the impact of weather
conditions as much as possible.
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Principal markets
Geopolitical environment

Danone’s activities and employees can be subject, directly or
indirectly, to the effects of a period of economic, political, social
or military instability in some countries.

Also, some countries where Danone operates may have not parti-
cularly developed protective regulations (in particular with respect
to intellectual property rights) and are often unstable due to the
influence of powerful local interests. Some of these countries
maintain foreign exchange controls and/or control the repatriation
of profits and invested capital, impose taxes and other payments
as well as restrictions, sometimes retroactively, on the activities
of multinational groups. In some countries, national and/or local
authorities may also use laws and regulations, or other measures
having a similar effect, notably to foreign interests to restrict the
ownership rights, the access to liquidity and assets availability,
and/or the freedom to exercise its activity. This would be equiva-
lent to the confiscation, nationalization or expropriation of assets.

Lastly, Danone conducts business in certain countries, notably
Iran and Russia, which may be targeted by economic and/or fi-
nancial sanctions imposed in particular by American or European
regulations. These regulations notably prohibit transactions with
certain financialinstitutions and certain persons and require prior
authorization with the proper authorities before executing certain
transactions. If the Company and/or its subsidiaries do not com-
ply with these regulations, Danone could be subject to criminal
penalties and/or significant financial penalties.

Any period of political or economic instability in a countryin which
Danone operates, or any economic, regulatory or political mea-
sure such as the ones described above that may be implemented
in some countries, could have a negative impact on its activities,
results and reputation.

Economic conditions

In periods of slowing economic growth and/or deficit and public
debt reductions that may affect some of its main markets, Danone
may have to contend with the following phenomena:

e contraction in purchases by consumers, whose purchasing
power has diminished, and/or change in consumption patterns
as a result of economic conditions;

* increase of existing taxes or establishment of new taxes on
consumers and/or companies, especially in heavily indebted
countries;

e specifically in the case of the Advanced Medical Nutrition
Business, a reduction in the insurance reimbursement of
medical products and/or pressure on prices and contraction
in healthcare expenditures.

Danone’sinternational growth results in a geographicaldistribution
that diversifies and, to a lesser extent, limits the concentration
risk of economic conditions. Danone also relies on (i} its reporting
system to monitorits activity and the potential impact of economic
conditions in countries where itis present; and [ii] its organization
to take the necessary measures (adaptation of Danone’s activity
organization). Depending on the situation, Danone’s Safety and
Public Affairs Departments may participate in the development
and implementation of these measures. In certain regions, they
create or consolidate Danone’s relationships with government or
private partners, which may be called upon if necessary. The Safety
Department also gets involved in situations where government
security and/or an international crisis may affect the activities of
Danone’s subsidiaries.

However, Danone cannot guarantee that its results will not be
significantly affected by a disruption in economic, political or re-
gulatory conditions or by a crisis in some of the countries where
itis present.

Sales by geographic region and Danone’s top ten countries in
terms of sales are presented in section 2.2 Presentation of Danone.

Lastly, Danone has developed and implemented an International
Economic Sanctions policyaimed at ensuring compliance by Danone
entities and their employees with the applicable rules concerning
economic and financial sanctions.
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These changes could have a negative impact on Danone’s activities
and results.

Also, as described in section 2.3 Strategic Priorities, in order to
ensure its long-term expansion, Danone’s growth strategy is based
primarily on a limited number of countries in which Danone has
strong positions in rapidly growing markets, such as China. If Da-
none’s activity in one or more of these countries were subjected to
adverse trends, it could have negative effects on Danone’s growth.

Finally, given their economic and/or monetary situation, certain
countries, such as Argentina, experience very high and potentially
very volatile inflation, which may affect Danone’s activities and
results.

External growth

Danone’s strategy consists in holding leading positions in each of
the markets in which it operates. Given the context of continued
concentration in the food and beverage industry, this strategy
involves the pursuit of growth opportunities through joint-ventures
oracquisitions, as was the case, for instance, with the acquisition
of WhiteWave in North America.

In addition, during an acquisition, in case of allocation of the ac-
quisition price a significant amount may be allocated to intangible
assets (in particular goodwill).

Acquisitions may have an adverse effect on Danone’s activities,
assetvaluesandresultsifthe Companydoes not succeed in rapidly
and efficiently integrating the acquired companies and achieving
the expected benefits of the acquisitions, in particular:

e develop the expected business and generate the expected
cash flow;

¢ identify the risks associated with historic structures and prac-
tices;

e achieve the expected synergies and savings.

An unfavorable change in business activity, business-activity
forecasts and assumptions used in the projection of cash flows
during impairment tests of the intangible assets acquired could
resultin the recognition of impairment charges, which would have
anegative impact on Danone’s results. In the case of joint-ventures,
the relationships with Danone’s partners in certain entities are
governed by shareholder agreements that may provide for certain
decisions to be made either with the agreement of the partners
or without the agreement of Danone. Therefore, difficulties could
be encountered with joint-venture partners, notably in the case of
differences over strategy, development or operational manage-
ment of these joint-ventures, and could adversely affect Danone’s
activities and results.
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For each acquisition, Danone prepares an integration program
and provides the resources necessary for its implementation.

The 2017 acquisition of the WhiteWave group’s companies, for
example, had been subject toanintegration plan, and these assets
have been integrated to Danone’s internal control system.

Danone carefully reviews the drafting of shareholders” agreements
and ensures the implementation and maintenance of adequate
governance with its partners.
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Intellectual property

Danone ownsrights to brand names, registered designs and patterns,
copyrights and domain names throughout the world. Intellectual
property represents a significant portion of Danone’s net assets.

Theterritorial extent of the protection depends on the significance
of the products and activities concerned: the protection is global
for products intended for the international arena, and local or
regional for other products.

Danone also owns patents, licenses, proprietary recipes and
substantial expertise related to its products and packaging, as
well as to their manufacturing processes. Finally, the Company
has established licensing agreements with its subsidiaries and
partners that use these intellectual property rights.

Danone cannot be certain that third parties will not attempt to
infringe on its intellectual property rights. Moreover, Danone’s
potential recourse tointellectual property rights protectionvaries
by country. The degree of protection may be different, as may be
Danone’s implementation of a defense strategy. If Danone were
unable to protect its intellectual property rights against such in-
fringement or misuse, its results and growth could be negatively
affected, as could its reputation.

In addition, certain employees have access to confidential docu-
ments in the course of their work. The loss or dissemination of
sensitive and/or confidential information could harm Danone'’s
interests and reputation and have an adverse effect onits results.

Risks associated with Danone’s image and reputation

In addition to the aforementioned risks linked to its products,
Danone is exposed to criticisms of all types and origin, whether
well-founded or not, and whether in good or bad faith, that could
affect its image and reputation.

Danone may therefore face negative publicity that could result
from an actual situation, or even a simple allegation, concerning
its activities, its brands or its practices in commercial affairs,
its communication and marketing, orits societal responsibilities
toward its stakeholders.

The media publicity of such criticisms, whether they are founded or
not, is facilitated by the development of social networks, which can
amplify the impact considerably, both in volume and geographically.

Such events could adversely affect Danone’s image and have
repercussions on sales, activities, results and growth prospects.

Inorder to monitorits assets and ensure the protection, manage-
ment and defense of its rights in a coherent and optimal manner,
Danone has drawn up an Intellectual Property charter. The Com-
pany regularly contacts each of its subsidiaries in order to update
its intellectual property rights portfolio and thereby protect and
defend, to the best of its ability, the brand names, graphic design,
forms, packaging, advertisements, websites, etc. that are used
by Danone. Danone also takes all appropriate legal measures,
notably through actions in the area of infringement and/or unfair
competition, to protect and defend its intellectual property rights
at both international and local level.

Danoneis continuingits efforts to develop awareness among staff
with access toand/orin possession of sensitive and/or confidential
information and provides updates to employees on best practices
with a view to limiting this risk, notably regarding the use of infor-
mation systems and social networks.

In order to limit the risk of criticism, the Company has developed
governance rules and best practices - which are communicated
to the subsidiaries - notably with respect to (i) business conduct;
(i) societal responsibility toward suppliers; (i) relations with local
communities: (iv) responsible communication and marketing, and
(v) ethics. In order to ensure that these rules and best practices
are communicated and followed, Danone has integrated the
subsidiaries” assessments with respect to these rules and best
practices into its Danone Way approach. Further information is
available in sections 2.8 Internal control and risk management and
5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

Danone has also established procedures to manage (il risks so as
to avoid and anticipate potential crisis; and (i) crises in order to
prevent the spread and scope of such criticisms and to limit their
impacts as much as possible.
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Danone’s position in certain markets

Danone isthe market leaderin number of its markets. As a conse-
quence, the Company may be accused by third parties of abusing
a dominant position in these geographies and/or of engaging in
anti-competitive practices.

More generally, the provisions of competition law apply to Danone
in the vast majority of countries where Danone does business.

Actual or alleged violations of competition law could affect Danone’s
reputation, and resultininvestigations by competition authorities
in countries where Danoneis present, in legal proceedings or even
criminal and/or significant financial penalties. This could have an
adverse effect on Danone’s activities and results.

In its Compliance department, Danone has put together a spe-
cialized team of competition law experts who are responsible for
developing and deploying a competition law policy for the Company’s
entities. Meanwhile, the Company has developed an international
network of competition law specialists within the legal function
to monitor this risk.

Danone also pays close attention to this matter and seeks to limit
the corresponding risk, mainly by communicating and promoting
the Business Conduct Principles and Code of Conduct to the
concerned functions. Danone has alsointegrated these rules and
best practices into its Danone Way approach in order to ensure
that they are communicated and followed.

Furtherinformationis available in sections 2.8 Internal control and
risk managementand 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

Risks associated with Danones organization and operations
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Concentration of purchases with a limited number of suppliers

Danone depends on a limited number of outside suppliers for (i) the
delivery of certain goods, in particular raw materials (for example
the ferments used inthe Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business,
or powdered milk for the Advanced Medical Nutrition Business
in some Asian countries); and (i) certain services (in particular
sub-contracted services or information technology services).

If some of these suppliers were unable to provide Danone with
the quantities and qualities of products or goods that it needs
under the conditions set forth, or if the suppliers were unable to
provide services in the required time period, Danone’s activities
and results could be materially adversely affected.

Human resources

The availability, quality and engagement of Danone’s human re-
sources play an essential role in Danone’s success.

Danone’s ability to attract and retain employees with the neces-
sary skills ortalents notably inits principal markets, in emerging
countries, in newly acquired companies is critical for success. If
the company was to fail in retaining or attracting talents, even
more soinan environment marked by efforts to control wage and
salary costs and/orin light of the impact of the economic crisis on
Danone’s various annual and multi-year variable compensation
plans, it could affect the Company’s results.
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In order to limit this risk, Danone selects and then monitors and
supervises its key suppliers. It also prepares and implements
procedures designed to secure its supplies and services as well
as business continuity plans designating alternative suppliers.

Danone relies on its human resources strategy to attract and
retain talents, which revolves around four main axes: (i) employee
training and development, (i) inclusive diversity, (iii) social dialogue,
relying on the Company’s strong social dialogue background and
its agreements with the IUF and (iv) health and safety of employees
through the WISE program (Work In a Safe Environment].

Danone offers competitive and fair compensation, and to that end
has developed specific appraisal systems and procedures.
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Moreover, mobilizing Danone’s management and staff to suc-
cessfully implement the Company's transformation plan and
restructuring projects could affect their availability and focus
on the Company’s business and operations, which could have a
negative impact on its results.

Finally, as part of its duty of care, Danone must ensure the health
and safety and the security of its employees on all its sites, parti-
cularlywhen it comes to business travels or political instability of
countrieswhere it operates. If the company was to failin providing
the adequate level of safetyand security, it could negatively impact
its employees’ level of engagement and Danone’s reputation.

Risks related to ethics and human rights

Supply chains in the agricultural sector may entail risks related
to human rights, in particular working conditions, the health and
safety of farm workers or even forced or child labor. From the
whole value chain perspective, challenges related to trading and
pricing practices may also lead to risks related to human rights.

Actions by Danone, its suppliers, employees or any other agent
actingonits behalf thatare contrary to ethical principles or appli-
cable laws and regulations - especially in the areas of combatting
fraud and corruption and respecting human rights - could result
in consumer mistrust of Danone products and expose Danone to
criminal and civil liability and, more generally, have a negative
impact on its results and reputation.

To engage its employees and develop a shareholder mindset, in
2018, Danone deployed “One Person, One Voice, One Share”, an
innovative governance and employee engagement model to em-
power employees to co-own the company’s agenda.

Finally, Danone ensure its employees’ security through the de-
ployment of adequate governance, dedicated tools and policies.

More information on social dialogue, health and safety, talent
retention and generation, and employees’ security, are available
in section 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

For its main commodity which is milk, Danone has developed in-
novative contracts with direct milk producers to reduce milk price
volatility, thereby offering better visibility and financial stability.

As for human rights, back in 2001, the Company formulated its
Fundamental Social Principles, which prohibitany form of human
rightsviolationsinits supply chains as wellasinits own operations.
These principles were integrated in 2005 to Danone’s responsible
procurement program RESPECT.

In 2017, Danone developed its vigilance plan for respect of human
rights, the environment and personal health and safety, applicable
to both its own activities as well as those of its suppliers.

Consequently, starting in 2017, Danone sought to advance the
RESPECT program toward one of reasonable due diligence, with
close attention paid to human rights using a continuous impro-
vement approach.

In 2018 Danone published a statement on Forced Laboralongside
its peers of the Consumer Goods Forum, and relayed the statement
to its supply chain.

Danone also established its ethical code (Business Conduct Policy)
as well as its Integrity Policy. These policies, which apply to all
Danone employees, formalize its commitment to the integrity of
and compliance with applicable legal requirements. They define
strict ethical rules as well as the action and conduct principles
applicable to all employees for all Danone-related activities in
all countries where the Company does business. The RESPECT
program extends this commitment to the Company’s suppliers.

Finally, the Company implemented a whistleblowing system
available for all employees, suppliers and other third parties to
submit confidential reports of suspected corruption, fraud or other
cases of non-compliance including suspected environmental and
human rights violations.

Information on fraud and corruption, human rights, and trading
and pricing practices are available in section 5 Social, societal and
environmental responsibility.
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Information systems

Danone is increasingly dependent on shared infrastructures and
information technology applications for allits business activities.
The main risks are related to the availability of information tech-
nology services and the confidentiality and integrity of data, and
the ability to adapt to the digital transformation.

Whetherdue to involuntary technical breakdowns or to deliberate
attacks, any failure of these infrastructures, applications or data
communication networks, any interruption linked to the failure of
security of data centers or networks as well as any loss of dataand
any use of data by third parties, could block or slow down production
orsales, delay or taint certain decisions and, more generally, have
an adverse impact on Danone’s finances, operations orimage. In
addition, recently acquired companies rely on different information
systems, which may increase the complexity of the monitoring and
management of these risks by Danone.

Internal control deficiency

Therisk of aninternal control deficiencyis mainly associated with
(i) reliability of financial information, (i) compliance with the ap-
plicable laws, regulations and internal policies, and [iii) efficiency
and effectiveness of internal processes, including those related
to the protection of the Company’s assets.

If Danone’s internal control systems were to experience deficiencies
or prove to be inadequate, particularly in the area of fraud, the
quality of its financial information, the ability of its executives to
take the correct decisions and, more generally, its results, could
be adversely affected.

Industrial risks

Industrial risks are mainly water pollution (essentially organic and
biodegradable pollution), environmental risks related to (i) cooling
installations (ammonia and other cooling liquids); (i) the storage
of raw materials or products for the cleaning and disinfection of
the facilities (acid and alkaline products), especially when these
facilities are located in residential areas; and [iii) wastewater
treatment. In the event that Danone is exposed to potential envi-
ronmental liability as a result of a significant accident or pollution,
its results and reputation could be adversely affected. Like any
industrialactivity, Danone’s sites are exposed to various risks: fire,
explosion, equipment failure, security systems failure or human
errorinequipment operation or works management. Such events
could cause damage to persons, property or the environment and
possibly have a negative impact on Danone’s activities, financial
situation and image.
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Danone’s policy is to consolidate data centers. In particular, Da-
none’s central applications are hosted in a highly secured data
center managed by IBM.

In addition, Danone is developing and implementing specific infor-
mation systems [SAP/Themis, etc.) in its subsidiaries to optimize
and streamline information technology investment while promo-
ting global synergies and reducing risks. The recently acquired
subsidiaries are gradually benefitting from the implementation
of SAP/Themis, Danone’s integrated information system. Further
information is available in section 2.8 Internal control and risk
management.

In addition, for all the coming digital developments Danone inte-
grates into its global strategy action plans to resolve identified
weaknesses and to continuously improve its security system, in
particular with respect to intrusion detection. To strengthen the
protection of its information systems and data, Danone notably
ensures that digital security and move to the cloud initiatives is
taken into consideration starting in the design phase for IT projects.

Danone has implemented an internal control system, which is
described in section 2.8 Internal control and risk management.
Regardless of how adequate it may be, this system can only pro-
vide reasonable assurance and not an absolute guarantee with
respect to the achievement of the Company’s objectives, given
the limitations inherent in any control process. While Danone
cannot fully exclude the risk of an internal control failure, the
performance level and widespread deployment of its five internal
control components (Controlenvironment, Risk identification and
assessment, Control activities, Information and communication,
and Continuous monitoring) reduce Danone’s exposure to this risk.

Similarly, Danone cannot exclude all risks associated with fraud.
However, the risk profile of its businesses and the existence of a
widely disseminated anti-fraud program that covers all aspects
for reducing the risk of fraud or the potential impact of any fraud
-awareness, prevention, detection, investigation, penalty, reporting
and continuous improvements of the internal control system - (see
section 2.8 Internal control and risk management) limit Danone’s
exposure to this risk.

Danone prepares and implements actions, procedures, tools
and policies aimed at (i) preventing and reducing these risks; (ii)
measuring and controlling Danone’s impact, and implementing
action plans and policies when necessary to address the risks
related to these challenges.

Concerningindustrialrisks, to reduce if not eliminate these risks
and their potential impact, Danone has decided to elevate personal
safety and industrial site and environmental protection to core
values of its policy. These values are “measured” through various
programs with ambitious targets and action plans monitored by
Danone departments, notably the Reporting entities’ industrial
departments.
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Insurance coverage deficiency

Danone’s insurance coverage could be insufficientand/or Danone
could be unable to renew its insurance programs on acceptable
terms, which could have an adverse effect onits financial situation
and results.

See section Insurance and risk coverage hereinafter.

Financial market risks

Additional information on the financing structure and financial security are presented in section 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review.
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Financial market risks

Aspartofitsnormalbusiness, the Company is exposed to financial
risks, especially foreign currency, financing and liquidity, interest
rate, counterparty, securities and commodity risks.

Currency risks related to operating activities

Danone mainly operates on a local basis and consequently in the
currency of the country inwhich it is operating, thereby incurring no
foreign exchange risk. However, the location of some of Danone’s
production units may result in inter-company billings in foreign
currencies. This applies particularly to the Specialized Nutrition
Reporting entity and, to a lesser extent, to the EDP International
and EDP Noram Reporting entities. Similarly, some raw materials
are billed orindexed in foreign currencies, in particular regarding
the Waters, EDP International and EDP Noram Reporting entities.
Lastly, Danone is also developing some export activities. The
sales and operating margin of some subsidiaries are therefore
exposed to fluctuations of foreign exchange rates against their
functional currency.

The Company'’s policy consists of (i) minimizing and managing
the impact that its exposure to financial market risks could have
on its results and, to a lesser extent, on its balance sheet; (ii)
monitoring and managing such exposure centrally; (i) whenever
the regulatory and monetary frameworks so allow, executing the
financial transactions locally or centrally; and (iv) using derivative
instruments only for the purpose of economic hedging.

Through its Financing and Treasury Department, which is part of
the Company Finance Department, Danone possesses the exper-
tise and tools (trading room, front and back office software] to act
on different financial markets following the standards generally
implemented by first-tier companies. In addition, the Internal
Control and Internal Audit Departments review the organization
and procedures applied. Lastly, a monthly financing and treasury
reportis sent tothe Company Finance Department, enabling it to
monitorthe decisions taken to implement the previously approved
management strategies.

Additional information and figures, in particular on Danone’s
exposure to these different risks, once they are managed, are
presented in Notes 6.4, 6.7, 11.3 to 11.8, 12.2 and 13.3 to 13.5 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to its financial currency risk hedging policy, Danone’s
residual exposure after hedging is not significant during the
hedging period (see Note 6.7 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements).
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Currency risks related to financing activities

In conducting its risk centralization policy, Danone manages
multi-currency financings and liquidities. Consequently, fluc-
tuations in exchange rates of foreign currencies against the euro
may have an impact on Danone’s consolidated income statement
and balance sheet.

Liquidity
Danone does notuse debtineitherarecurring orasignificant way
in connection with its operating activities. Operating cash flows

are generally sufficient to finance Danone’s business operations
and organic growth.

Danone may, however, take on additional debt to finance external
growth transactions or, occasionally, to manage its cash cycle,
particularlywhendividends are paid to the Company’s shareholders.

The Company’s objective is always to keep this debt at a level
enabling it to maintain the flexibility of its financing sources.

Liquidity risk arises mainly from the maturities of its (i) interest-bea-
ring liabilities (bonds, bank debt, etc.J; and (i) non-interest-bearing
liabilities (liabilities on put options granted to non-controlling
interests), and from payments on derivative instruments.

As part of its debt management strategy, Danone regularly seeks
new financing, especially to refinance its existing debt.

In countries where centralized financing is not accessible, when
medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in cases where
certain types of financing existed at a company prior to being
acquired by Danone, then Danone is exposed to liquidity risk on
limited amounts in these countries.

More generally, it is possible that in the event of a systemic fi-
nancial crisis, Danone could be unable to access the financing or
refinancing it needs on the credit or capital markets, or to access
it on satisfactory terms, which could have an adverse impact on
its financial situation.

Meanwhile, Danone’s ability to access financing and its interest
expense may depend in partonits credit rating from credit rating
agencies. The Company’s short-term and long-term credit ratings
and their possible downgrade could resultin higher financing costs
and affect Danone’s access to financing.

Finally, most of the financing agreements entered into by the
Company (credit facilities and bonds) include a change of control
provision, which offers creditors a right of early repaymentin the
event a change in control of the Company causes its rating by the
financial rating agencies to fall below investment grade.
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Pursuant to its financial currency risk hedging policy, Danone’s
residual exposure (after hedging) is not material (see Note 11.8 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements].

Under its refinancing risk management policy, Danone reduces
its exposure by (i) centralizing its financing sources; (i) borrowing
from diversified financing sources; (iii] arranging a significant
portion of its financing as medium-term financing; (iv) maintaining
financing sources available at all times; (v) distributing maturity
dates based on forecasted needs and cash flows generation;
and (vi] ensuring that it is not subject to any covenant relative to
maintaining financial ratios in connection with financing contracts.

In those countries where centralized financing is not available,
when medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in the case
of some existing financing in a company prior to the acquisition
by Danone of a controlling interestin it, some Danone companies
may, for operational reasons, be required to borrow from local
sources; for Danone, this financing involves limited amounts both
individually and cumulatively, given a volume of operating cash
flows generally sufficient to self-finance its business operations
and organic growth.
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Interest rates

Danoneis exposed tointerest rate risk on its financial liabilities as
well as its cash and cash equivalents. Through its interest-bearing
debt, for example, Danone is exposed to the risk of interest rate
fluctuations that affect the amount of its financial expense.

Inaddition, inaccordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, interest
rate fluctuations may have an impact on Danone’s consolidated
results and consolidated equity [see Note 11.8 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements).

Counterparty, credit

Danoneis exposedto counterparty risk, especially regarding banking
counterparties, as partof its financial risk management activities.

As part of its normal activities, Danone has financial institutions
as counterparties, mainly to manage its cash and foreign exchange
rate and interest rate risks. The failure of these counterparties to
comply with one or more of their commitments could adversely
affect Danone’s financial situation.

Danone has established a policy for monitoring and managing
interest rate risk aimed at limiting the volatility of its financial
result through the use of hedging instruments

Danone’s banking policy aims to reduce its risks by focusing on
the quality of counterparty credit and by applying limits for each
counterparty. Danone’s exposure to these risksis described in Notes
6.4and 13.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements

INSURANCE AND RISK COVERAGE

As regards risks other than financial market risks (which are
described in the above section), Danone has a global insurance
coverage policy that is based on stringent underwriting assess-
ments and uses insurance products from worldwide markets,
depending on availability and local regulations. This risk coverage
is therefore consistent for all companies over which Danone has
operational control.

Insurance programs for property damage, business interruption and
commercial generalliability risk are negotiated at Company level for
all subsidiaries, with leading international insurers. The “all risks
except” policies are based on the broadest guarantees available on
the market, coupled with deductibles of varying amounts, which are
relatively low compared to those extended to groups of comparable
size toreflect the autonomous management of the subsidiaries. The
guarantee limits are set on the basis of worst case scenarios and
on insurance market availability. These programs were renewed
on January 1, 2016 for a term of three years; the total cost of these
programs was approximately €35.8 million in 2018.

Insurance programs for “traditional” risks, which require local
management, such as coverage of vehicle fleets, guarantees for
the transportation of merchandise, work-related accidents (in
countriesinwhich these accidents are covered by private insurance),
and insurance specific to some countries, are negotiated and ma-
naged in accordance with local practices and regulations, within
the framework of precise directives provided and controlled by the
Group. Total premiums came to approximately €19 million in 2018.

Lastly, insurance programs for potentially significant special risks,
which require centralized management, such as the liability of the
Company’s corporate officers, fraudulent acts, and assorted risks
[product recalls, credit risk, environmental risk, etc.) are negotiated
according to market availability, on the basis of scenarios estimating
the probable impact of any claims. The total cost of this category of
coverage amounted to approximately €2.7 million in 2018.

In addition, in order to optimize its insurance costs and properly
control its risks, Danone has a self-insurance policy through its
captive reinsurance subsidiary Danone Ré (a fully consolidated
entity). The self-insurance policy applies to specific risks where
the costs can be accurately estimated, as Danone is aware of their
frequency and financialimpact. This concerns essentially (i) coverage
of property damage, business interruption and commercial general
liability for a large majority of Danone’s companies (these self-in-
surance programs are limited to frequent claims with a maximum
of €7.5 million per claim) as well as transportation in some cases;
and [ii) for the French subsidiaries, payments for death, long-term
disability, and education. Moreover, stop-loss insurance protects
Danone Ré against any increased frequency of claims. These
self-insurance programs are managed by professional insurers
under Danone’s supervision and the provisions are determined by
independent actuaries.
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GENERAL ORGANIZATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL
[nfernal control objectives and framework used

Internal control is a process put in place by Danone’s General
Management, managers and operational teams. It is designed to
provide reasonable assurance, albeit not absolute certainty, that
the following main objectives are met:

e financial information is reliable;

Danones infernal control framework: DANgo

Danone’sinternal control system is adapted to its strategic policies
and consistent with its international development. The internal
control framework developed and used by Danone, DANgo (Danone
Governing and Operating Processes), is based on the reference
framework proposed in 2007 by the French Financial Markets
Authority, together with its application guide, and updated in 2010.
This reference framework relates to risk management andinternal
control procedures and describes the monitoring processes and
the preparation of accounting and financial information. This refe-
rence framework is consistent with the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO0) guidelines.

Scope of infernal control

Danone’s internal control system applies systematically to its fully
consolidated subsidiaries and to some associates. A differentiated
approachis usedbasedonthe size and risk level for each subsidiary.

[nternal control stakeholders

General Management

General Management is responsible for Danone’s internal control
system, while the Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the
effectiveness of Danone’s control and risk management systems [see
section 6.1 Governance bodies). To this end, General Management
reliesonthe Finance Departmentand the operational management
(reporting entities, regions, businesses, subsidiaries).

Company Finance Department

The Company Finance Department is responsible for the Finance
function throughout the company, both directly through centralized
functions (Controlling and Business Performance Management,
WBS & Company Consolidation, Treasury and Financing, Insurances,
Tax, Strategy, Financial Communication, Acquisitions] and, through
functional ties, with the finance directors of the various reporting
entities.

The Company Finance Department is also responsible for risk
management, internal control and internal audit, which enables
a focus on corporate governance and compliance related topics.

The EVP Chief Financial Officer, IS/IT, Cycles and Procurement of
Danone, who reports to the Chief Executive Officer, is a member
of the Executive Committee. The main heads of the Finance func-
tions and Reporting entities are members of an Executive Finance
Committee, which meets monthly.

Risk management

Danone has organized its risk identification and risk management
system around two complementary processes:
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® corporate governance is compliant with applicable laws, rules
and internal policies;

® internal processes are compliant with regulatory standards,
internal policies and best practices defined for Danone, including
those related to the protection of the Company’s assets.

It was created in its present form in 2003 and greatly enhanced in
2005and 2006 when Danone, a listed corporation in the United States
at the time, was subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Itincludes process mapping, Standard Operating Models, Danone
Operating Models and Danone Internal Control Evaluations. It is
reviewed annually (see section Control environment hereinafter).

In addition, this DANgo framework is supported by a software
application of the same name accessible to everyone worldwide.

In 2018, Danone’s subsidiaries, located in around 60 different coun-
tries and accounting for more than 99% of total consolidated sales,
were evaluated under the internal control system.

® identification and management of strategic risks, as well as the
coordination of the risk map and the monitoring of global risks,
under the responsibility of the Strategic Planning Department;

® identification and management of operational risks, under the
responsibility and monitoring of the Internal Control Department.

Strategic Planning Department

Part of the Company Finance Department, the Strategic Planning
Departmentis responsible foridentifyingand monitoring Danone’s
strategic risks, and for coordinating the different process for
managing Danone’s risks. It relies in particular on the financial
directors of the Reporting entities (see section Organization of the
finance function hereinafter).

Internal Control Department

Part of the Corporate Finance Department, Control and Services
Department (see section Organization of the finance function herei-
nafter), the Internal Control Department is composed of a central
team, which is supported by a large network of local internal
controllers who generally report to the finance directors of the
Clusters Business Services. These internal controllers ensure
thatthe procedures defined by Danone are properly applied at their
subsidiaries and organizations.

The Internal Control Department’s main responsibilities are as follows:

® preparing and implementing DANgo, Danone’s internal control
framework;

o defining (i) priorities related to internal control, and (i) the metho-
dology to be used foritsassessment, testingand documentation;



® managing and analyzing (i) the internal control indicators, and
(ii) the results of the assessments and action plans implemented
by the community of internal controllers;

® establishing and monitoring operational risk mapping at the
various levels of the organization and animating the network of
internal controllers on priority actions to be defined in response
of this risk mapping;

® supporting and animating the international network of internal
controllers through coordination, communication and training
initiatives.

Internal Audit Department

In 2018, the Internal Audit Department conducted 42 internal
audits in subsidiaries or cross-company functions, following the
plan previously approved by the Audit Committee. These audits
seek to verify the quality of the DANgo assessment performed by
the subsidiaries. In light of the reinforcement of the Internal Audit
teams and heightened compliance requirements, these audits pe-
riodically identify some differences in the assessment appraisal of
certain subsidiaries. Communication has been strengthened with
management of Reporting entities and key functions concerning
these differences.

Following each audit, an action planis prepared by the management
of the subsidiary to correct weaknesses identified in the internal
audit report. The implementation of action plans is monitored by
the operational and functional managers, under the supervision
of the Internal Audit Department. In 2018, 26 follow-up audits on
implementation of action plans were conducted within 12 months
of the initial audit when possible.

Moreover, the Treasury and Financing, Tax, Information Systems,
Nature & Water Cycle, Legal/Compliance, Food Safety, Quality,
Industrial, Safety, Organization, Human Resources and Crisis
Management departments arrange audits and periodic control
reviews atthe subsidiaries, in addition to the generalinternal audits.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS
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Compliance Department

Aspartofthe General Counsel of Danone, the Compliance Department
reports to the General Secretary and Audit Committee. It is sup-
ported by teams aswellas local Compliance Committees, which are
assigned to Clusters Business Services. Each cluster’s Compliance
Officer reports to the Chief Compliance Officer at the Compliance
Department. The Compliance department has developed and
oversees Danone’s Compliance Program, which is an integral
part of Danone’s control environment. It is described in the section
hereafter, Controlenvironment. Lastly, the Chief Compliance Officer
oversees the Corporate Compliance & Ethics Board (see section
Other elements of Danone’s organization that contribute to the identi-
fication and analysis of risks).

Other internal control stakeholders

In Danone’s largest and most complex subsidiaries, particularly in
emerging countries, the local head of internal controlis supported
by a team of operational internal controllers, who are responsible
for ensuring the proper operational application of internal control
practices at the sites (warehouses, production sites, etc.).

In addition, the operational line managers at the subsidiaries and
headquarters play a major role in internal control and its imple-
mentation in their respective areas of responsibility, with support
from the relevant corporate functions (mainly Finance, but also
Human Resources, Sustainable Development, Nature & Water Cycle,
Safety, Quality, Information Systems, Legal, etc. - see section Risk
identification and assessment hereinafter].

Finally, (i) the DANgo Steering and Cross-functional Coordination
Committee; (ii) the Internal Control Steering Committee; and (iii] the
Compliance Committee described hereafterare alsoinvolvedin the
management and continuous monitoring of internal control, with a
view to ensuring consistency with the operating activity at all levels.

DANONE'S OVERALL INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Internal control consists of the following five components:
® control environment;
e risk identification and assessment;

® control activities;

Control environment

The aim of the control environment is to make staff aware of the
usefulness and necessity of internal control; it is the foundation of
allthe other components of internal controland imposes an ethical
standard, discipline and an organization.

Danone’s control environment is based on the following:

e Danone’s values which are widely communicated across all of
the subsidiaries, and Danone’s dual economic and social project;

® the Business Conduct Policy defined by Danone;

® thehumanresourcesandsocial policy, particularly with regard
to employee development and training;

® dissemination of information;
® continuous monitoring.

They are implemented as described hereinafter.

® theimpetus given by the Board of Directors and the willingness
toachieve continuous improvements inall operating procedures,
as expressed by Danone’s General Management;

® the Danone Way approach, whichis deployed in nearlyall Danone’s
subsidiaries;

® the Compliance Program, aimed at protecting Danone and its
subsidiaries against risks related in particular to corruption,
anti-competitive practices, non-compliance with laws on per-
sonal data protection and international laws on trade sanctions.
It describes the key principles and defines the responsibilities,
organization and governance at all Company levels. It is also
responsible for risk assessment, the integration of compliance
and control procedures in the business, training, advisory, as
well as prevention, investigation and reporting audits;
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® thestandardization of Danone’s operating processes through the
implementation of the DANgo framework and the regular use
of a single integrated information system (Themis, see section
SAP/Themis integrated information system hereinafter) which
contribute to the strength of the control environment;

e the DANgo framework (see section Danone’s internal control
framework: DANgo above): accessible to all Danone employees in
anelectronicversion, itis subject to a systematicannual review.
DANgo is updated by (i) experts from the network of internal
controllers; and [ii) operational teams of various businesses,
which enables DANgo to be used by those in the various functions

Risk idenfification and assessment

Every companyfacesinternaland external risks that may hinder the
achievement of its objectives. The principal risks to which Danone
believes it is exposed as of the date of this Registration Document
are described in section 2.7 Risk factors.

Danone has established a system foridentifyingand managing risks
based on two processes.

Operational risks

Thefirst process forrisk identification and management focuses on
operationalrisks related to the recurring activity of the Company and
to the deficiencies identified by the internal control review (through
the assessment and testing of controlindicators, see section Internal
Control Department above).

Strategic risks

The second risk identification and management process focuses
on strategic risks and takes the form of a risk mapping hierarchy
based on their likelihood of occurrence and their estimated impact
on the Company.

Methodology
This risk mapping is prepared and updated bi-annually by the
Company Finance Department. The following methodology is used:

e identification of the risks considered as material by Reporting
entity with support from the main corporate transversal func-
tions and integration of systemic risks not perceptible at the
subsidiary level,

® consolidation of the major risks of the Reporting entities at
Company level and integration of systemic risks not perceptible
at the Reporting entity level;

® ranking of risks based on their likelihood of occurrence and
estimated financial impact, at the level of a Reporting entitiy or
of the Company;

® determination of preventive or corrective actions, which may be
local or global depending on the case.

Control activities

Control activities are intended to ensure the application of the
standards, procedures and recommendations that contribute to
the implementation of General Management's policies.

Allthe subsidiaries integrated into the DANgo scope use an annual
assessment process. The largest of them follow a more elabo-
rate internal control review methodology that includes detailed

40 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

and allows the framework to be enhanced through best opera-
ting practices;

® in addition to DANgo, an intranet site for Danone’s internal
controllers and the social network of Danone presenting all the
documents useful for internal control and contributing to the
sharing of experiences and best practices in the area of internal
control. They are also accessible by all Danone employees and
are updated regularly;

e thewritinganddistribution of internal control guidelines, which
are updated annually.

This process is an integral part of annual strategic planning and
results in the development of the new mapping with its related
preventive actions.

Risk monitoring

For each Reporting entity, the most significant risks are reviewed
twice a year at special meetings attended by the General Manager
and Chief Financial Officer of each Reporting entity and the Head
of Strategic Planning.

Areview of the most significant risks is also presented twice a year
by Danone’s Head of Strategic Planning to the Danone Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. A mapping of Danone’s major
risks and risk mitigation plans are reviewed and assessed. This
work serves as the basis for the presentations made to Danone’s
Executive Committee and Audit Committee.

Other elements of Danone’s organization that contribute to
the risk identification and analysis

The existence of procedures - regarding the competition monitoring,
trainings, prevention and protection, etc. - as well as the initiative
taken by specialized departments - such as the Nature & Water
Cycle Departmentand the Quality and Safety Department for food -
contribute to the identification and analysis of risks.

The Safety Departmentalso helps to identify threats against Danone’s
employees and assets.

In addition, the Crisis Management Department uses information
made available by the risk maps established by each Reporting
entity to identify potential crises and prepare the affected entities
accordingly, ensuring that an appropriate response is provided
forall crises, even if the related risk was not previously identified.

The identification and reporting of risks is also facilitated by the
relatively low number of reporting levels within the Company,
shortdecision-making channels and input from the operating units
in strategic discussions. In addition, the Corporate Compliance
& Ethics Board, a bi-annual cross-functional committee led by
the Chief Compliance Officer, was created to supervise Danone’s
Compliance Program, notably by reviewing compliance-related
risks. Itis supported at local level by the Compliance Committees.

documentation of information flows, control points and tests
conducted by the management:

® the IT application that hosts the DANgo system allows subsi-
diaries to make an assessment and determine whether they
are compliantwith Danone’s internal control framework. It also
makes it possible to monitor any action plan that may be needed;



® the results of the subsidiaries’ DANgo assessment campaign
are sent periodically to the Internal Control Department, which
analyzes them and sends relevant summaries to the various
stakeholders. Appropriate action plans are put in place by
the subsidiaries under the supervision of the Internal Control
Departmentwith a goal of continuous improvement, and internal

Transmission of information

Appropriate information must be identified, collected, quantified
and disseminated ina manner and within a timeframe that enables
each person to assume his or her responsibilities.

To this end, Danone relies on:

® its organization and information systems, which facilitate the
communication of information needed for decision-making;

e the various intranet sites and documentation databases that
enable information to be shared within Danone. This information
includes not only financial information but also non-financial
information that meets the needs of the various operating and
administrative departments;

e thedistribution of the DANgo framework by the Internal Control
Department, which oversees, trains and coordinates the network
of internal controllers:

Continuous monitoring

The internal control system is reviewed periodically so that its
performance and effectiveness may be qualitatively assessed.

The continuous monitoring of control procedures is part of the
ongoing activities of Danone and its subsidiaries.

The quality of the internal control system’s steering and monitoring is
ensured by two Committees, led by the Internal Control Department,
which meet regularly, notably at the end of each internal control
reporting phase:

e the DANgo Steeringand Cross-functional Coordination Committee,
which consists of operational senior executives appointed as repre-
sentatives of Danone’s key functions: Research and Development,
Purchasing, Operations, Marketing, Sales, Finance, Human
Resources, Information Systems, etc.;

e thelnternal Control Steering Committee, which consists mainly
of the heads of Danone’s Finance function.

In addition, the Audit Committee, as well as Danone’'s General
Management, are informed at least twice a year of the status of the
subsidiaries’ assessment processes, the results thereof and the
results of the audits conducted by the Internal Audit Department.
The following year’s targets are also presented as well as the prio-
rities selected by the Internal Control and Internal Audit functions.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES. RISK FACTORS

L. INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

audits are subsequently carried out to validate that these plans
have been properly implemented.

In addition, the performances and results of each subsidiary in the
area of internal control are regularly and systematically monitored
by the subsidiaries’ Management Committees.

e it organizes working and annual training sessions for the
network of internal controllers, including workshops and
information-sharing seminars. The session held in 2018 in-
cluded the heads of internal control from each Clusters
Business Services, namely more than 30 participants covering
174 subsidiaries;

e itisresponsible forthetrainingandintegration of newinternal
controllers, including those working for newly acquired
companies;

e itisalsoresponsible for internal control training sessions
open to all managers of the finance functions;

e itcommunicatesregularlyatvarious levels of the organization
(Corporate Committees, meetings with the finance directors
or operational employees of the businesses, meetings with
the general managers and finance directors of the regions,
and participation in functional Management Committees).

Monitoring of internal control indicators
TheInternal Control Department has introduced and monitorsinternal
control performance indicators (coverage rate and deficiency rate
on control points] to analyze and communicate the internal control
results of the subsidiaries and of Danone together with monitoring
by geographic region and by Reporting entity.

The targets for these performance indicators are discussed by
the Internal Control Steering Committee and by the DANgo and
cross-functional coordination Steering Committee, and are then
presented to Danone’s Audit Committee (see section 6.1 Governance
bodies), before being sent to the subsidiaries, which helps to har-
monize and develop a shared vision of internal control priorities.

In 2018, Danone’s internal control key indicators recorded the
following changes: the coverage ratio was near 100%, while the
deficiency rate decreased compared to 2017.

Danone Ethics Line

Danone hasawhistleblowing system described in section 5.1 Danone’s
integrated vision of corporate responsibility. The Danone Ethics Line
Committeeisalsoresponsible for monitoring non-compliance cases.

INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESS RELATED T0 THE PREPARATION AND PROCESSING OF DANONE'S FINANCIAL

AND ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

Organization of the finance function
The finance function’s organization is based on:

o functionaldepartments: Corporate Finance, Controland Services (to
which the following departments report: (i) Treasury and Financing;
(i) Tax; (i) Insurance; (iv) WBS & Company Consolidation; (v)
Internal Control; and [vi] Internal Audit); Controlling and Business
Performance Management; Strategy and External Development;
Financial Communication; the corporate functions (accounting,

treasury, etc.) and certain expertise functions are then organized
by geographic area (Region Business Services) including several
units covering all the Reporting entities and activities in a given
country or group of countries [Cluster Business Services);

® operational finance departments for the Businesses and key
operating activities responsible for managing and steering the
business; each Business therefore has its own operational finance
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department, which isitself organized by region (Region Business
Units) including one unit per country (Category Business Unit).

Production of financial and accounting information

Financialinformationis generated by a rigorous and comprehensive
financial planning process. This process includes, in particular:

® athree-yearstrategic planspecifyingannual key financial targets;

® 12-month rolling forecasts performed quarterly on all financial
indicators as well as monthly updates for certain indicators;

® monthly reports;

® monthly performance review meetings attended by the financial
teams and the general managers of the Businesses;

® quarterly meetings to monitor execution of the strategy with
the participation of the finance teams and general managers
of the Businesses.

The relevance and selection of financial indicators used to monitor
performance are reviewed on a regular basis.

In this context, a detailed monthly financial report and a semi-an-
nual exhaustive consolidation package used in the preparation of
Danone’s consolidated financial statements are prepared for each
operating unit.

These consolidation packages are verified by a central team, which
isalsoresponsible for the elimination and consolidation entries and
for analyzing and validating the most significant line items of the
consolidated financial statements (intangible assets, taxes, equity,
provisions and liabilities, etc.).

In addition, the production of financial information includes the fol-
lowing preliminary control stages, carried out by the Consolidation,
Reporting and Standards Department, which reports to the WBS &
Company Consolidation Department:

e validation by the central team, throughout the year, of the main
accounting options adopted by the subsidiaries and corporate
functions and simulation of complex transactions in the conso-
lidation software;

® in-depth review of certain subsidiaries” monthly closings at the
end of May and November (known as the hard close procedures)
based on the specific risks and transactions identified for prepa-
ring the interim and annual consolidated financial statements,
respectively;

® maintenance and implementation of a central tool that identi-
fies the finance function’s main organizational principles and
processes and the accounting principles validated for Danone;

Control environment

The controlenvironment relating to the preparation and processing
of Danone’s financial and accounting information is based on the
following:

® the organization of the finance function, which is based on
corporate functional departments and the finance department
of each of the Reporting entities (see section Organization of
the finance function above). In all cases, the Category Business
Units and Cluster Business Services are jointly responsible for
the production and content of the financial statements of the
operating units as well as their internal control;

e the DANgo control practices and procedures, which help to ensure
the reliability of the processes for preparing the financial state-
ments. Indeed, the DANgo framework includes many points that
address the quality of the financial and accounting information;
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® meetings to share information and best practices are attended
regularly by the main financial managers, notably those from
Cluster Business Services and some corporate department
heads, and training sessions covering specific accounting topics
are also held regularly;

e (i) preparatory meetings with the financial staff of Danone’s
main subsidiaries and the Cluster Business Services covering
them based on the specific transactions and risks identified;
(i) presentations to the Audit Committee [specific transactions
during the period, the main accounting options concerning the
closing and the potential significant changes introduced by de-
velopments of the International Financial Reporting Standards)
(see section 6.1 Governance bodies).

In addition, Danone’s financial and accounting information is pro-
duced using the following applications.

SAP/Themis integrated information system

The management and optimization of information flows for the
financial functions as well as the purchasing, industrial, quality,
supply chain and sales functions, both within the subsidiaries and
between them, is performed primarily through the SAP/Themis
integrated information system. This application is being steadily
deployed in all Danone subsidiaries and its features are constantly
being improved.

As of December 31, 2018, the activities supported by Themis accounted
for 68% of consolidated sales in the EDP Noram, EDP International
and Waters reporting entities. The rollout of Themis is continuing
in 2019, in particular for WhiteWave and Alpro.

The same information system is currently being rolled out at the
subsidiaries of the Specialized Nutrition reporting entity (covering
83% of consolidated sales for the year ended December 31, 2018].

Consolidation and reporting software

Monthly financial reports and, more generally, the financial infor-
mation used to manage and control the activities of the operating
units are produced by a unified information system (SAP/Business
Objects Financial Consolidation).

This same system is also used to produce the interim and annual
consolidated financial statements. The procedures related to the
security, use and development of new features of this consolidation
system are documented.

® the controls carried out by the Consolidation, Reporting and
Standards Department (see section Production of financial and
accounting information above);

e the definition for the Company of the roles and skills required
at the various levels of the financial organization and the deve-
lopment, as a result, of internal training programs;

® the production and communication of the Company’s financial
and accounting information via the unified tools described above;

® the single set of guidelines covering the Company’s accounting
procedures and principles, which are consistent with its internal
control principles. Available on the WeFiintranet, these guidelines
are accessible to all the finance function’s employees.



Risk idenfification and assessment

The monitoring and management of the main identified risks re-
lated to the preparation and processing of Danone’s financial and
accounting information is organized as follows:

e the risks identified in the results obtained from the annual
assessment of internal control [DANgo) and internal audits are
monitored;

Control activities

Each Reporting entity has a finance department, whichis responsible
for monitoring performance, capital expenditure and operating cash
flow, primarily through the rigorous financial planning and reporting
process. The Reporting entities’ finance departments are supported
by the finance departments in the geographic regions and operating
units, with the overall financial planning process administered by
the Controlling Department.

Members of the corporate departments visit the operating units
on a regular basis (performance monitoring, procedure reviews,
pre-closing meetings, ad hoc audits, progress onimproving internal
controls, follow-up on action plans, and training in accounting stan-
dards). The appropriate documents are provided sufficiently wellin
advance for them to be reviewed by Danone’s management bodies.

Twice a year, the general manager and finance director of each
subsidiary and the finance director of the Cluster Business Service

Transmission of information

Danone’s financial and accounting information is produced and
communicated via the tools described above.

To disseminate financial information within Danone, each quarter
the entire finance function can log onto a website where the Chief

Continuous monitoring

One of the responsibilities of each Reporting entity’s finance director
and function manageris to improve the procedures used to prepare
and process financial information. Detailed audits are conducted
on the key control procedures in the preparation of financial in-
formation [particularly published disclosures] in the subsidiaries
and in Danone’s headquarters and on their effective application.

Assessment

The procedures intended to control the accounting and financial
information provided by the consolidated subsidiaries, as well as
the internal control procedures used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements, are adequate to provide reliable accounting
and financial information.
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® the budgeting and strategic planning processes, performance
monitoring, the reqular meetings mainly attended by the finance
functions (Controlling, Treasury and Financing, Consolidation,
Reporting and Standards, Development) and the meetings of
the Risks Executive Committee and the Executive Committee
allow the main risks identified to be monitored and managed.

The internal control system is adapted on the basis of the risks
identified.

coveringit, along with their counterparts in the regions and Reporting
entities, provide written confirmation of compliance with Danone’s
applicable procedures and with all of the standards applicable to the
financialinformation sent to the corporate teams. This confirmation
is provided in a representation letter that covers the closing of the
interim and annual financial statements, including all subjects
involving risk management, internal control and corporate law.

The control activities are therefore conducted at all of Danone’s
hierarchical and functional levels and include a variety of actions
such as approving and authorizing, verifyingand comparing, asses-
sing operational performances, ensuring the protection of assets
and monitoring the segregation of duties. The audits conducted
independently by the Internal Audit Department provide appropriate
validation.

Financial Officer comments on the activity for the quarter, the year-
to-date financial results and the main challenges for the Company.

Lastly, Danone’s guidelines related to financial and accounting in-
formation (WeFi, DANgo, etc.) are accessible to allemployees of the
finance function and some are available to all Danone employees.

Moreover, the internal audit assignments conducted in the Category
Business Units and Cluster Business Services are aimed primarily
at verifying the quality of the accounting and financial information.
The Reporting entities’ Finance Departments ensure that the action
plans established subsequent to the above-mentioned work, and
internal and external audits have been carried out correctly.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

$.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018

Danone’s consolidated financial statements and the Notes to the consolidated financial statements are presented in section 4.1 Consolidated
financial statements and Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Risk identification and control policy, as well as the major operational
risks relating to Danone’s business sectors or to its activity and its organization are described in section 2.7 Risk factors.

Amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded to the nearest m

illion. Generally speaking, the values presented are rounded to the

nearest unit. Consequently, the sum of the rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant extent, from the reported total. In addition, ratios
and variances are calculated based on the underlying amounts and not on the rounded amounts.

Danone reports on financial indicators not defined by IFRS, internally lamong indicators used by the chief operating decision makers] and exter-
nally. These indicators are defined in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS:

like-for-like New Danone changes (or “like-for-like including WhiteWave starting in April 2017 changes until end of 2018);

recurring operating income;
recurring operating margin;
recurring tax rate;
recurring net income;
recurring EPS;

Yakult Transaction impact;
free cash flow;

net financial debt.

The Impact of Morocco boycott is defined in section 3.8 Additional information.

Danone also uses references that are defined in section 1.2 Information about the Registration Document related to References and definitions.

)

I BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2018

HIGHLIGHTS OF 201

Highlights were detailed in the main press releases issued by Danone during 2018.

1%

On February 12,2018 Danone amended its €2 billion syndicated
credit facility, in order to include global environmental and social
criteria directly impacting, upwards or downwards, the margin
payable to its banks over the entire duration of the facility.

OnMarch 19,2018 Danone announced the successful launch of a
€300 million Social Bond to finance and refinance projects that
include positive social impacts. This innovative Social Bond was
the first issued by a multinational aligned with the new Social
Bond Principles, as set out in June 2017 by the International
Capital Market Association.

On March 27, 2018 Danone announced the completion of the
sale of part of its stake in Yakult for an aggregate amount of
JPY 175 billion gross proceeds, representing circa €1.3 billion. As
aresultof the transaction, Danone’s stake in Yakult's outstanding
share capital is reduced from 21.29% to 6.61%.

On April 12, 2018, Danone announced that its US and Canadian
subsidiaries achieved B Corp™ Certification, two years ahead of
target. Thanks to these new achievements, approximately 30%
of Danone’s global business is now covered by B Corp™ certi-
fication. Danone North America became the largest Certified
B Corporation® in the world.

On April 26, 2018, the Shareholders’ Meeting approved the ap-
pointments as new Directors of Michel LANDEL, Cécile CABANIS

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

and Guido BARILLA. Michel LANDEL became at this occasion
Lead Independent Director and Chairman of the Nomination and
Compensation Committee.

On April 26,2018, Danone introduced its 2030 Goals embedding
the Business, Brand and Trust Models of the Company to drive
long-term sustainable value creation and deliver the company’s
“One Planet. One Heath" vision. As a founding act for its goals,
Danone launched “One Person, One Voice, One Share”, an inno-
vative employee engagement program and governance model
forall of its 100,000 employees to co-own the company agenda,
actively participate in defining roadmaps to bring the 2030 goals
to life, and deepen their ownership mindset.

On October 22, 2018, Danone reaffirmed during its investor
seminar in London its ambition to deliver superior sustainable
profitable growth, through the activation of high quality drivers
across all its Business lines. Danone notably confirmed at this
occasion its mid-term objectives: like-for-like sales growth of
4% to 5%, recurring operating margin above 16%, and net debt/
EBITDA <3times by 2020. Return On Invested Capitalis expected
to reach around 12% by 2022.

On October 25,2018, Danone announced its accelerated transition
towards a circular economy of packaging, through the publication
of an updated Packaging Policy.



OTHER ACTIVITIES IN 2018
Acquisitions, disposal of shares in companies

Main changes in fully consolidated companies
There were no material changes during the period.

Main changes in investments in associates

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N Z018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018

Ownership as of December 31

lin percentage) Country Transactiondate® 2017 Restated 2018
Main companies accounted for using the equity method for the first time during 2018

Main associates with changes in ownership percentage

Yakult Japan March 21.3% 6.6%

Main companies no longer accounted for using the equity method as of December 31

(a) Month in the 2018 fiscal year.

Reduction of carbon footprint

See also section 5.3 Preserve and renew the planet’s resources.

Social and sociefal responsibility

See section 5 Social, societal and environmental responsibility.

Governance

See sections 6.1 Governance Bodies and 6.2 Positions and responsibilities of the Directors.

Research and [nnovation

Essential Dairy and Plant-Based Products

In 2018, Danone continued to focus its research on health. Its
goal is to have an impact on people’s health and diet by providing
mainly intestine-based solutions to improve health. Its research
primarily covers:

® probiotics and microbiota;

® ingredients and bioactives with a health impact;
® plant-based products;

® anutrition line tailored to individual needs.

For example, in partnership with INRA (French National Institute
for Agricultural Research] and the Saint-Antoine hospital, Danone
has investigated the protective effects of consuming a probiotic
on the intestinal barrier and microbiota. Additionally, thanks to its
participation in ILSI Europe, Danone worked with key scientists in
the field of probiotics to develop aninnovative approach going from
selection to the optimal development of probiotics in its products.

The Research and Innovation team has developed new ranges: in
Europe, an "Activia with a hint of” range was launched, and Actimel
has been revitalized with the launch of a range for millennials, using
ingredients such as ginger, guarana, baobab, and yerba mate. Certain
innovations meet the strong consumer need for organic products
with the launch in France of Danone Le Bio and in Europe of Organic
Danonino; Alpro is also expanding its coffee beverages ranges with
organic options. Lastly, Danone is offering products with a lower
sugar content or with no added sugar such as the Triple Zero range
(Light & Free) in Spain, the Two Good range (through Light & Fit) in

the United States, and an Alpro range with More fruit, no added
sugar in Europe.

Its know-how in fermentation and bioprocessing has also allowed
Danonetoinnovate and offer consumers an exceptional taste expe-
rience: forexample, Danone has launched kefirin the United Kingdom
(Light & Free), in Spain (Danone), and in France (Danone du Monde).

Lastly, Danone has developed convenient packaging to meet its
needs. Examples include the Alpro single-serve coffee range and
mini-bottles called “shots” (Activia in Braziland in the United States),
as well as improved features (Danone Liquaderia and Activia juices
in Mexico with an innovative freshness seal.

Waters

In 2018, Danone rounded out its healthy hydration line and improved
its process in an effort to develop better eco-designed packaging
alternatives.

® These developments continued in the aquadrinks range to best
meet consumers’ expectations, with an increasing number of
drinks with no added sugar. There are teas in China, Indonesia
and Europe under the Volvic and Fontvella brands. A coconut
waters range and organic products under the Volvic and Fontvella
brands have been launched, respectively, in Chinaand in Europe.

® |nterms of packaging, Danoneis continuing to develop the 100%
plant-based and 100% recyclable plastic bottle by partnering
with Nestlé Waters and the California-based company Origin
Materials, a specialist in bio-sourced plastics. Bottles sourced
with 100% recycled plastic PET are now a reality in countries
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such as Mexico (Bonafont] and Spain (Lanjardn). At the same time,
Premium bottles are available for sale in Turkey under Hayat and
in Indonesia under Aqua.

Danone is also continuing its scientific research on hydration and

the benefits of water consumption on health.

Early Life Nutrition

Danoneis active in the area of nutrition in the first 1,000 days of life,
from conception to the child’'s second birthday, and has continued
its research in the following areas:

® knowledge of breast milk;

® nutritional needs and solutions;

® allergy and development of the immune system;
® gastrointestinal health;

® growth and metabolic health;

e development of products and packaging.

Legal and arbitration proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to legal proceedings
arising in the normal course of business, in particular by customs
and competition authorities in certain countries. Provisions are re-
cognized when an outflow of resources is probable and the amount
can be reliably estimated.

Major confracts and related party transactions

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling
interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options
giving the holders the right to sell part or all their investment in
these subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2018, financial liabilities related to these op-
tions totaled €508 million and are classified as financial debt in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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To that end, Danone works closely with a global network of trusted
partners, in specific areas of health, nutrition and technology. Its
extensive network includes key opinion leaders in specific fields,
healthcare providers, suppliers, scientists, policy makers, patients,
technologists and many more. This approach enables Danone to
develop customized and nutritionally optimal products that meet
patients and consumers needs.

Advanced Medical Nutrition

In 2018, Danone conducted work on the safety of thickened fluids
for patients with swallowing disorders at the “European Society for
Swallowing Disorders” conference. Danone performed a meta-ana-
lysis of the differences in nutrient levels in patients with PKU (an
inborn metabolism error] compared with healthy individuals and
publisheditinthe Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. For patients
inintensive care, Danone has designed a new form of packaging for
tube feeding, so that patients can be fed inaccordance with nutritional
recommendations. Danone has also launched new products: Fortimel
Compact Protein and Nutilis Complete, for which two user-focused
taste experiments have begun (involving hot or cold sensations).

To the best of Danone’s knowledge, no governmental, court or ar-
bitration proceedings are currently ongoing that are likely to have,
or have had in the past 12 months, material impacts on Danone’s
financial position or profitability.

Related party transactions are described in Note 16 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

See also section 6.6 Related party agreements and commitments.
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3.2 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Year ended December 31

2017 Like-for-like
(in € millions except if stated otherwise] Restated 2018 Reported changes New Danone changes
Sales 24,812 24,651 (0.7)% 2.9%
Recurring operating income © 3,537 3,562 0.7% 6.7%
Recurring operating margin 2! 14.26% 14.45% +20bps +51bps
Non-recurring operating income and expenses 192 (821) (1,013
Operating income 3,729 2,741 (26.5)%
Operating margin 15.03% 11.12% -391bps
Recurring net income - Group share ' 2,186 2,304 5.4%
Non-recurring net income - Group share 263 46 (217)
Net income - Group share 2,449 2,349 (4.1)%
Recurring EPS (in €) 3.48 3.56 2.2%
EPS (in €] 3.90 3.63 (7.0)%
Free cash flow @ 2,083 2,232 71%
Cash flow from operating activities 2,958 3,111 5.2%

(a) See definition in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined in IFRS.

SALES

Consolidated sales

In 2018, consolidated sales were €24.7billion, up +2.9% on a “like-
for-like New Danone” basis. Sales grew by +3.6% in value, led by a
continued mix and portfolio valorization, largely offsetting a (0.7)%
declineinvolumes. Allreporting entities contributed to the growth.
Excluding the impact of the Morocco boycott, sales were up +3.6%
and volumes rose +0.6%.

Sales by Reporting enfity

Full-year reported sales were down (0.7)% vs 2017, including:

® the WhiteWave base effect corresponding to the consolidation
of WhiteWave from April 12, 2017 (+4.0%) and other changes in
the scope of consolidation ((0.8)%), primarily from the disposal
of Stonyfield (August 2017);

® anegative currency impact ((6.6)%) reflecting the appreciation of
the euroagainst the Argentinian peso, the US dollar, and emerging
currencies, including the Russian Ruble, the Turkish Lira, and
the Brazilian Real; and a negative impact ((0.2)%) linked to the
adoption of IAS 29 hyperinflationary accounting in Argentina.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018 Sales growth @ Volume growth @
EDP International 8,612 8,015 0.1% (5.5)%
EDP Noram 4,492 5,041 1.5% 2.5%
Specialized Nutrition 7,079 7115 5.9% 1.2%
Waters 4,630 4,480 5.3% 2.1%
Total 24,812 24,651 2.9% (0.7)%

(a) Like-for-like New Danone.
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3.2 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

EDP International

Sales

EDP International registered sales of €8,015 million in 2018, up
+0.1% on a like-for-like New Danone basis. This variation resulted
from a (5.5)% decline in volume partly offset by a +5.6% increase in
value. Excluding the impact of Morocco boycott, EDP International
sales were up +2.1%.

Main Markets

Europe confirmed its continued progress since the beginning of
2017, driven by Activia sales which stabilized at the end of the year,
Danone brand growing consistently since the second quarter and a
double-digit sales growth of Alpro.

In the CIS region, sales continued to grow strongly through new
launches, powerful communication campaigns, and a positive mix
evolution driven by fresh dairy products.

Latin America registered a solid growth, driven by Mexico where
sales were very strong, thanks notably to innovations and expan-
sion of plant-based offering. In Brazil, after some quarters of
double-digit decrease, sales were back to positive growth in the
fourth quarter, thanks to a revamped distribution network and an
improved product portfolio.

InMorocco, sales decreased by 27%, severely penalized by a consumer
boycott since April 20, 2018. In the last quarter, Centrale Danone
managed to start recovering its market share, on the back of some
affordable milk offerings launched as an outcome of the consultation
held in September with Moroccan consumers.

EDP Noram

Sales

EDP Noram recorded sales of €5,041 million in 2018, up +1.5% on
a like-for-like New Danone basis, with a +2.5% growth in volume.
Excluding Fresh Foods, EDP Noram recorded +2.4% sales growth
in 2018.

Main Markets

Yogurt sales showed moderate growth in a highly competitive cate-
gory, especially in the Greek segment, with a solid performance of
the Activia brand, very fast growth of plant-based products, as well
as a good performance in Canada.

Inthe Plant-based segment, growth was strongin 2018, continuing
to be driven by the nut-based segment, while the soy category is
declining. Silk and So Delicious, the two main Danone brands in
plant-based in North America, drove the performance, through
the launch of premium innovations, and expansion into adjacent
categories such as ice-creams and desserts.

Coffee creamers continued to deliver strong growth, led by market
share gains in ready-to-drinks, notably with the Stok brand, and a
good performance of better-for-you creamers.

Premium Dairy posted positive growth in the fourth quarter for the
first time since the acquisition of WhiteWave, driven by increasing
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volumes with market share gains, thanks in particular to the success
of value-added offers and single-serve drinks designed for kids. In
2018, sales were slightly negative, with stable volumes.

In the Fresh Foods segment sales were negative in 2018. Danone
pursued its turnaround plan implemented in 2017.

Specialized Nutrition

Sales

Specialized Nutrition posted sales of €7,115 million in 2018, up +5.9%
on a like-for-like New Danone basis, witha +1.2% increase in volume
and a +4.7% increase in value. The growth was in excess of 5% in
2018, both for Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition.

Main Markets

Early Life Nutrition registered strong sales growth in 2018. In China,
where total sales account for around 30% of Early Life Nutrition
Business, growth was high-single-digit in 2018, thanks to market
share gainsinthe mostdynamicdirect channelsandin ultra-premium
offerings, despite a second semester penalized by exceptionally
high base of comparison. Outside China, sales growth was solid
and broad-based, with a good contribution from the United States
(where Happy Family, the leader in organic baby-food, has become
the second largest player in the overall baby-food category), as well
as rest of Asia, Africa, and the Middle-East. In Europe, sales were
affected since the third quarter by adverse publicity in the United
Kingdom following formula upgrade introduction.

Advanced Medical Nutrition delivered strong sales growth in 2018,
driven byallregions, notably China, where sales registered double-di-
git growth, and all product segments (adult and pediatric care).

Waters

Sales

Waters registered sales of €4,480 million, up +5.3% on a like-for-
like New Danone basis. This growth resulted from a +2.1% increase
involume and a +3.2% increase in value.

Main Markets

In Europe, growth was solid, supported by value-added innovations, in
particularinthe aquadrinks segment; successful brand activations;
and favorable weather conditions. Local brands in the Nordics and
in Poland posted very strong growth.

In North America, sales were up by more than 10%, with notably
first acceleration benefits of the distribution agreement recently
signed with Keurig Doctor Pepper in the United States, as well as
successful evian campaign supported by famous influencers.

In Asia, performance was solid. The local Aqua brand in Indonesia
was a key contributor to growth. The performance in China was
penalized by a weak summer season, although market share re-
mained stable in volume.

Latin America contributed to the overall growth notably through
portfolio valorization, compensating a decrease in volumes.



Sales by geographical area
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3.2 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Year ended December 31

Share of sales Share of sales
Volume delivered by the delivered by the

(in € millions except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018  Sales growth @ growth®  regionin2017  regionin 2018
Europe & Noram 13,192 13,654 (0.8)% (0.4)% 53% 55%
Rest of the World 11,620 10,997 7.6% (0.6]% 47% 45%
Total 24,812 24,651 2.9% (0.7)% 100% 100%

(a) Like-for-like New Danone.

Europe & Noram

The Europe & Noram region posted sales of €13,654 million in 2018,
down (0.8]% vs 2017 on a like-for-like New Danone basis, including
a declinein volume of (0.4)%. Main driver of the decrease was a re-
duction of indirect sales from Europe to China in Early Life Nutrition.

Rest of the World
The Rest of the World region posted sales of €10,997 million in 2018,
up +7.6% vs 2017 on a like-for-like New Danone basis.

RECURRING OPERATING NCOME AND RECURRING OPERATING MARGIN

Consolidated recurring operating income and recurring operating margin

In 2018, Danone’s recurring operating income stood at €3.6 billion.
Recurring operating margin reached 14.45%, up +20bps on a re-
ported basis including:

e thedilutive impact resulting from WhiteWave contribution from
January 1 to April 12, 2017 (-28bps];

e other scope effects (+6ébps), resulting from the disposal in
August 2017 of Stonyfield;

® negativeimpact from currencies (-10bps, including -9bps linked to
the adoption of IAS 29 hyperinflationary accounting in Argentina).

On a “like-for-like New Danone” basis, recurring operating mar-
gin increased by +51bps, and +58bps excluding the impact of the
Morocco boycott. This strong improvement was achieved despite
an inflationary cost environment, in particular for PET packaging
and transportation costs in the United States.

It reflects:

e Danone’s profitable growth model, based onvalorized innovations
and positive mix improvement;

e growing efficiencies, achieved mainly through more than $180 mil-
lion cumulative synergies from the integration of WhiteWave,

and around €300 million of cumulated savings from the Protein
efficiency program, offsetting aninflationary cost environment;

® continued discipline in resource allocation.

Cost of goods sold totaled €12,729 million in 2018 (€12,630 million
in 2017), or 51.6% of consolidated sales (50.9% in 2017). This nega-
tive change reflects the inflationary trend in commodities and in
particular in PET.

Selling expense decreased to €5,640 million in 2018 (€5,831 million
in 2017), or 22.9% of consolidated sales (23.5% in 2017), despite
strong inflation in freight costs in the United States. The decrease
was linked to [i] savings from Protein program; [ii] synergies re-
lated to the acquisition of WhiteWave; and [iii) an increase of digital
marketing investments today representing more than 30% of total
media spending.

Generaland administrative expense totaled €2,220 millionin 2018,
or 9.0% of consolidated sales, in line with 2017.

Research and Development costs totaled €335 million in 2018, in
line with 2017 (see section 3.1 Business highlights in 2018).

Other income and expenses stood at €(164) million in 2018 (€(243)
million in 2017).

Recurring operating income and recurring operating margin by Reporting entify

Fiscal year ended December 31

Recurring operating income

Recurring operating margin

(in € millions except percentage Like-for-like
and bps) 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018 New Danone changes
EDP International 759 726 8.81% 9.06% +29bps
EDP Noram 553 590 12.31% 11.71% +25bps
Specialized Nutrition 1,686 1,762 23.82% 24.77% +13%bps
Waters 540 483 11.66% 10.79% -82bps
Total 3,537 3,562 14.26% 14.45% +51bps

EDP International’s recurring operating margin was 9.06% in 2018,
up +29bps on a like-for-like New Danone basis, despite the impact
of Morocco boycott, thanks to value-added innovations and good
delivery of Protein savings. Excluding the impact of Morocco boycott,
recurring operating margin improved by +60bps.

EDP Noram's recurring operating margin was 11.71% in 2018, up
+25bps on a like-for-like New Danone basis. Good progress on
synergies and targeted price increases in July offset the impact of
a strongincrease in transportation costs.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 )l

C
C
C
C
C



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.2 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

The recurring operating margin of Specialized Nutrition was 24.77%
in 2018, up +13%9bps on a like-for-like New Danone basis vs 2017.
This expansion was triggered by positive mix both from a product
and a country perspective, as well as a huge effort in delivering
efficiencies, including through Protein.

The recurring operating margin of Waters was 10.79% in 2018, down
-82bps on a like-for-like New Danone basis, penalized by a very
strong PET inflation, partially offset by record level of productivities
and portfolio valorization strategy.

Recurring operating income and recurring operating margin by geographical area

Fiscal year ended December 31

. . Recurring operating income
(in € millions except percentage

R i ti i
ecurring operating margin Like-for-like

and bps] 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018 New Danone changes
Europe & Noram 2,038 1,928 15.45% 14.12% -55bps
Rest of the World 1,499 1,634 12.90% 14.86% +182bps
Total 3,537 3,562 14.26% 14.45% +51bps

The recurring operating margin of the Europe and Noram regions
was 14.12% in 2018, down -55bps on a like-for-like New Danone
basis vs 2017. The profitability of the area was strongly impacted
by raw materials and logistic costs inflation.

NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Market risks exposure and management policy

See section 2.7 Risk factors.

Net financial income (expense)

The recurring operating margin of the Rest of the World was
14.86% in 2018, up +182bps on a like-for-like New Danone basis
vs 2017, illustrating notably the good performance of Specialized
Nutrition in Asia.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions)

2017 Restated 2018
Interest income on cash, cash equivalents and short term investments 151 162
Interest expense on financial debt (414) (393)
Cost of net financial debt (263) (231)
Other financial income 137 48
Other financial expense (311) (165)
Other financial income or expense (174) (117)
Net financial income (expense) (437) (348)

Cost of net debt

The cost of net debt decreased in absolute amount, from €(263)
million in 2017 to €(231) million in 2018, mainly reflecting a positive
currency impact onthe USD-denominated portion of net debt, and the

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

early redemption of WhiteWave's outstanding 5.375% $500 million
senior notes in October 2017.

The recurring income tax rate was 27.9% in 2018, a decrease of more than 2 points vs 2017 rate, driven by the positive impact of the US
tax reform enacted in December 2017, and a positive geographical mix.
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RECURRING NET INCOME - GROUP SHARE AND RECURRING EPS

Netincome totaled €2,397 million in 2018 (€2,297 million in 2017). Netincome - Group Share totaled €2,304 millionin 2018 (€2,186 million
in 2017).

Share of profit of associates

Recurring netincome from associates was €79 million down compared to 2017, reflecting mainly the reduction in Danone’s stake in Yakult
from 21.3% to 6.6% closed in March 2018. The transaction resulted in a €701 million non-recurring capital gain.

Recurring net income - Group share

Recurring net income - Group share was €2,304 million in 2018,  with 2018 guidance. Recurring EPSincreased by +2.2% on areported
up +5.4% vs last year. basis, including a negative currency impact ((9.2)%), essentially due

] to th jati inst i ies.
Recurring EPSwas €3.56 per share, up +12.8% at constant exchange 0 the euro appreciation against main currencies

rate, excluding Yakult Transaction Impactand IAS 29 impact, in line

Bridge from Net income - Group share to Recurring net income - Group share

Year ended December 31

2017 Restated 2018
(in € millions except percentage) Recurring  Non-recurring Total Recurring  Non-recurring Total
Recurring operating income 3,537 3,537 3,562 3,562
Other operating income and
expense 192 192 (821) (821)
Operating income 3,537 192 3,729 3,562 (821) 2,761
Cost of net debt (263) (263) (231) (231)
Other financial income and
expense (136) (38) (174) (119) 2 (117)
Income before taxes 3,138 153 3,292 3,213 (819) 2,393
Income tax (953) 111 (842) (895) 179 (716)
Effective tax rate 30.4% 25.6% 279% 29.9%
Net income from fully
consolidated companies 2,185 264 2,450 2,318 (640) 1,678
Net income from associates [N (2) 109 79 683 762
Netincome 2,297 262 2,559 2,397 43 2,440
¢ Group share 2,186 263 2,449 2,304 46 2,349
* Non-controlling interests 1 (1) 110 93 (3) 90
EPS (€) 3.48 3.90 3.56 3.63
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3.5 FREE CASH FLOW

Bridge from EPS to Recurring EPS

Year ended December 31

2017 Restated 2018

Recurring Total Recurring Total
Netincome - Group share
(in € millions) 2,186 2,449 2,304 2,349
Coupon relating to hybrid finan-
cing net of tax (in € millions) (2) (2) (14) (14)
Number of shares
¢ Before dilution 626,954,761 626,954,761 642,721,076 642,721,076
o After dilution 627,121,266 627,121,266 643,450,446 643,450,446
EPS (in €)
¢ Before dilution 3.48 3.90 3.56 3.63
o After dilution 3.48 3.90 3.56 3.63

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATED NCOME STATEMENT: BRIDGE FROM REPORTED T LIKE-FOR-LIKE FIGURES

Impact of
Impact of other changesin Like-for-like
2017 WhiteWave changesinscope exchange Impactof New Danone
(in € millions except percentage) Restated Base effect of consolidation rates 1AS 29 growth 2018
Sales 24,812 +4.0% (0.8)% (6.6)% (0.2)% +2.9% 24,651
Recurring operating margin 14.26% -28bps +6bps -1bp -9bps +51bps 14.45%

DIVIDEND PAID [N RESPECT OF 2018 FISCAL YEAR

Atthe Annual General Meeting on April 25,2019, Danone’s Board of
Directors will propose to shareholders to approve the distribution
of a €1.94 dividend per share in cash in respect of the 2018 fiscal
year, increasing in line with the recurring EPS growth.

This dividend reflects the reinforced confidence of both the Board
and management in the Company’s strong financial position and

5.5 FREE CASH FLOW

Atthe date of this Registration Document, Danone estimates that the
cash flows generated by its operating activities, its cash flow and the
funds available through confirmed credit lines managed at the level
of the Company will be sufficient to cover the necessary expenses
and investments, the debt service (including the financing of the

FREE CASH FLOW
Transition from operating cash flow fo free cash flow

the good progress of its agenda towards superior sustainable
profitable growth.

Assuming this proposal is approved, the ex-dividend date will be
May 7, 2019 and dividends will be payable on May 9, 2019.

exercise of any put options granted to holders of non-controlling
interests) and the payment of dividends.

Free cash flow stood at €2.2 billion in 2018, up +7.1% from 2017,
supported by the rise in recurring operating income, with capex
amounting to €941 million, or 3.8% of sales.

Year ended December 31

(€ millions) 2017 Restated 2018
Cash flow from operating activities 2,958 3,111
Capital expenditure (969) (941)
Disposal of tangible assets & transaction fees

related to business combinations 95 61
Free cash flow 2,083 2,232

(a) Represents acquisition costs related to business combinations paid during the period.
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3.5 FREE CASH FLOW

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) 2017 Restated 2018
Netincome 2,559 2,440
Share of profit of associates net of dividends received (54) (729)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 974 1,601
Increases in (reversals of) provisions 153 13
Change in deferred taxes (353) (135)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial invest-
ments (284) (12)
Expense related to Group performance shares 22 24
Cost of net financial debt 265 231
Net interest paid (186) (218)
Net change in interest income [expense) 80 13
Other components with no cash impact (15) (44)
Cash flows provided by operating activities, before changes in net working capital 3,081 3,170
(Increase) decrease in inventories (122) (167)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (190) 807
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 145 (770)
Change in other receivables and payables 4 70
Change in working capital requirements (123) (59)
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 2,958 3,111
Capital expenditure ©! (969) (941)
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 45 22
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments ! (10,949) (52)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments ! 441 1,305
(Increase) decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (4) (9)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (11,437) 326
Increase in share capital and additional paid-in capital 47 47
Purchase of treasury shares [net of disposals) 13 -
Issue of undated subordinated notes 1,245
Interest on undated subordinated notes - (14)
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders (279) (431)
Buyout of non-controlling interests (107) (120)
Dividends paid (86) (79)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 1 -
Transactions with non-controlling interests (193] (199)
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives ¢ (52) (8)
Bonds issued during the period - 300
Bonds repaid during the period (1,487) (2,157)
Net cash flows from other current and non-current financial debt (564) 27
Net cash flows from short-term investments 9,559 (815)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 8,289 (3,251)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes 272 14
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 81 200
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 557 638
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 638 839
Additional information
Income tax payments during the year (1,116) (556)
[al This expenditure relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operating activities.
[b) Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully consolidated companies, this comprises cash and cash equivalents as of the
acquisition/disposal date.
(c) Portion paid in cash. <
(d) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
(e) Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.
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54 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31

lin € millions except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
Non-current assets 34,627 33,843
Current assets 9,632 10,334
Total assets 44,259 446177
Equity - Group share 14,456 16,344
Non-controlling interests 73 131
Non-current liabilities 19,271 17,738
Current liabilities 10,459 9,965
Total equity and liabilities 44,259 L6177
Net debt 15,372 12,744
Net financial debt 14,765 12,235
Liquidity risk exposure and management policy
See section 2.7 Risk factors relating to Financial market risks.
In particular Danone manages its liquidity risk and its financing at Company level.
financing situation and liguidity risk
Main financing transactions in 2018

Year ended December 31

2018

(in millions of currency/ Currency Nominal Maturity
New financing
Social bond EUR 300 2025
Repayments
Eurobonds EUR 750 2018
Eurobonds EUR 1,350 2018
Yen private placement JPY 7,500 2018
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Main financial debt repayment schedule
This relates to financing managed at the Company level.
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3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment of the principal amount based on the assumption

of non-renewal
(in € millions]

3,000

[
[
45
2000 |4
1,000
1.899 || 1 IH
0

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

(a) Includes the value of derivatives hedging bonds and commercial paper.

2026

Sources of financing available at any time

The sources of financing available at any time established by the Group are composed mainly of available committed credit facilities and

a syndicated credit facility carried by the Company.

(in € millions)

3,000
2,000
1,000
- Syndicated credit facility
0 Committed credit facilities

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Company rating

2027

Bonds ©
Commercial paper
Liabilities related to put options

Hybrid financing

I -

2028 Undated

As of December 31

2017 2018
Moody's Standard and Poor's Moody's Standard and Poor's
Short-term rating @
Rating - A-2 - A-2
Long-term rating
Rating Baall BBB+ Baal BBB+
Outlook Stable Negative @ Stable Stable

(a) Rating given to the Company’s commercial paper program.

[b) Rating given to the Company's debt issues with a maturity of more than one year.
[c) Rating reviewed on September 8, 2016.

(d) Rating reviewed on July 8, 2016 and outlook attributed on September 21, 2016.
(e) Outlook attributed on February 20, 2018.

TN N N N N A
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

LIABILITIES RELATED TO PUT OPTIONS GRANTED T0 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

General principles

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options giving
the holders the right to sell part or all of their investment in these subsidiaries. These financial liabilities do not bear interest.

Changes during the period

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
As of January 1 699 607
New options - -
Options exercised @ (111) (123)
Changes in the present value of outstanding options 19 24
As of December 31® 607 508

(a] Carrying amount at the closing date of the previous period for options exercised and for which payment has been made.
[b) Several options, none of which individually exceeds €200 million. In most cases, the strike price is an earnings multiple.

NET DEBT AND NET FINANCIAL DEBT
Net debt

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Non-current financial debt 15,716 14,343
Current financial debt 3,792 3,046
Short-term investments (3,462) (4,199)
Cash and cash equivalents (638) (839)
Derivatives - assets - Non-current @ (16) (81)
Derivatives - assets - Current (19) (27)
Net debt 15,372 12,744

(a) Used solely to manage net debt.

Changes in net debt in 2018
Danone’s net debt totaled €12,744 million as of December 31, 2018,
€2,628 million lower than as of December 31, 2017.

The main reasons for this improvement were the strong free cash
flow delivery (9.1% of sales) and the disposal of 14.69% of its stakes

Bridge from net debt fo net financial debt

in Yakult during the first semester of 2018. This net debt includes
€508 million of put options granted to non-controlling shareholders,
i.e. €99 million lower than as of December 31, 2017.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Net debt 15,372 12,744
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling

interests - Non-current (38) (46)
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling

interests - Current (569) (463)
Financial debt excluded from net debt (607) (508)
Net financial debt 14,765 12,235

b)) DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N Z018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

Net debt/EBITDA and Return on invested capital (ROIC)

Danone tracks these ratios every year.

Net debt/EBITDA
The net debt/EBITDA ratio corresponds to the ratio of net debt to operating income restated for depreciation, amortization and impairment
of tangible and intangible assets. The ratio for fiscal 2018 year was 2.9x:

lin € millions except ratio) 2017 Restated 2018
Net debt as of December 31 15,372 12,744
Operating income 3,729 2,741
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets 974 1,601
EBITDA of the year 4,703 4,342
Net debt/EBITDA of the year 3.3x 2.9x
ROIC

ROIC is the ratio of net operating income in the currentyear to average capital invested in the current and prioryears, which corresponds to:
Goodwill and other tangible and intangible assets;

+investments in non-consolidated companies and other financial investments;

+ assets held for sale net of liabilities;

+working capital requirement;

- provisions and other net liabilities.

It stood at 9.0% in 2018:

lin € millions except percentage) 2016 2017 Restated 2018
Recurring operating income 3,537 3,562
Recurring income tax rate 30.4% 27.9%
Tax on recurring operating income (1,074) (992)
Recurring income from associates m 79

Operating income 2,574 2,649
Intangible assets 15,803 24,945 24,445
Property, plant and equipment 5,036 6,005 6,175

Goodwill and other tangible and intangible assets 20,839 30,950 30,620
Investments in associates 2,730 2,678 2,104
Other financial investments 288 260 278
Short-term loans 18 14 13

Investments in non-consolidated companies and other financial

investments 3,036 2,952 2,394

Assets held for sale net of liabilities 66 - -
Deferred taxes net of deferred tax assets (259) (910) (777)
Provisions for retirement and other long-term benefits (959) (919) (868)
Other non-current provisions and liabilities (885) (1,003) (989)

Provisions and other net liabilities (2,103) (2,832) (2,634)

Working capital (1,549) (1,168) (1,162)

Invested capital of the year 20,289 29,902 29,219

Average invested capital 25,095 29,560

ROIC 10.3% 9.0%
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.9 OUTLOOK 2019

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Change in shareholders equity - Group share

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
As of January 1 13,109 14,456
Net income 2,449 2,349
Other comprehensive income (391) 22
Dividends paid © (279) (431)
Translation adjustments (1,721) (151)
Other 1,290 98
As of December 31 14,456 16,344

(al Impact on the Group share of equity, impact of the dividends paid on the consolidated equity amounting to €(510) million in 2018 (€(365) million in 2017).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Commitments given as of December 31, 2018 relating fo operating activities

Amount of financial flows for the period

(in € millions] Total 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 and after
Commitments to purchase goods

and services " (3,824) (2,106) (899 (527 (236) (56)
Capital expenditure commitments (166) (164) (2] - - -
Operating lease commitments (718) (219) (133) (92) (64) (210)
Guarantees and pledges given (16) (14) - - - (2)
Other (49) (39) (7) (2) - (1)
Total (4,773) (2,542) (1,041) (621) (300) (269)

[a] Commitments relating mainly to purchases of milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials.

5.0 OUTLOOK 2013
MATERIAL CHANGE N FINANCIAL OR TRADING POSITION

The Company and its subsidiaries overall have not experienced any material changes in their financial or trading position since the close

of the 2018 fiscal year.

OUTLOOK FOR 2019

Macroeconomic outlook

In 2019, Danone expects further cost inflation with a mid-to-high
single digit inflation in the costs of raw and packaging materials,
including:

e milk price inflation high-single digit overall, on the back of a
rebalancing supply and demand dynamic;

2019 quidance

In 2019, Danone will continue to progress towards its 2020 objec-
tives by strengthening its operating model through its priorities:
accelerate growth, maximize efficiencies and allocate capital with
discipline. Delivery of its agenda of sales growth acceleration and
improved recurring operating margin will be supported by valorized

60 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

e continuedinflationin PET costdriven by sustained market demand;

e inflationary conditions in other raw materials, including sugar
and fruits.

innovations, active portfolio management, and further savings from
the Protein efficiency program and WhiteWave integration synergies.

For the year 2019, Danone is targeting like-for-like sales growth
around 3% and recurring operating margin above 15%.



5.6 FINANCIAL INDICATORS NOT DEFINED [N [FRS

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS N Z0I8 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.6 FINANCIAL INDIC

NOT 1) D¢
N FRS

NOT DEFINED [N If

Additional indicator of like-for-like changes: “like-for-like New Danone” changes until end of 2013

Since the completion of the WhiteWave acquisition, WhiteWave
and Danone’s activities have been combined and are generating
synergies. Separate reporting of WhiteWave and Danone in their
pre-acquisition forms thus no longer reflects their real performance.
This being the case, Danone decided to monitor and then report
its performance by integrating the contribution of WhiteWave as
a whole into its organic growth from the time of the acquisition by
using an additionalindicator - “like-for-like New Danone” changes.

This indicator is a variation on the “like-for-like” changes indicator
used by Danone which integrates WhiteWave's performance starting
at the date of acquisition:

Financial indicators not defined in [FRS

Financial indicators not defined in IFRS used by Danone are cal-
culated as follows:

Like-for-like changes in sales and recurring operating margin reflect
Danone’s organic performance and essentially exclude the impact of:

® changesinconsolidation scope, with indicators related to a given
fiscal year calculated on the basis of previous-year scope and,
starting January 1, 2019, previous-year and current-year scope
excluding Argentinian entities;

® changes in applicable accounting principles;

® changes in exchange rates with both previous-year and cur-
rent-year indicators calculated using the same exchange rates
(the exchange rate used is a projected annual rate determined
by Danone for the currentyear and applied to both previous and
current year).

Like-for-like New Danone changes (or “Like-for-like including
WhiteWave starting in April 2017” changes until end of 2018) in sales
and operating margin reflect the organic performance of Danone
and WhiteWave combined. This indicator corresponds to like-for-
like changes for Danone and WhiteWave combined, considering the
activity of WhiteWave as a whole by integrating its companies during
the fiscalyears prior to and following their acquisition in April 2017:

e from April 1 to December 31 for periods compared until 2017
included;

e from January 1to December 31 for periods compared in 2018.

Recurring operatingincome is defined as Danone’s operatingincome
excluding Other operating income and expenses. Other operating
income and expenses is defined under Recommendation 2013-03
of the French CNC (format of consolidated financial statements
for companies reporting under international reporting standards),
and comprises significant items that, because of their exceptional
nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to its recurring activities.
These mainly include capital gains and losses on disposals of fully
consolidated companies, impairment charges on goodwill, signi-
ficant costs related to strategic restructuring and major external
growth transactions, and costs related to major crisis and major
litigations. Furthermore, in connection with of IFRS 3 (Revised) and
IAS 27 (Revised) relating to business combinations, the Company
also classifiesin Other operating income and expenses (i) acquisition
costs related to business combinations, (i) revaluation profit or loss
accounted for following a loss of control, (iii) changes in earn-outs
relating to business combinations and subsequent to acquisition date.

e for periods in previous years compared, and;

® based on WhiteWave reported data after restatement to allow
comparison with Danone data.

This indicator is used starting with the second quarter of 2017 and
running through the end of 2018.

During this period, Danone has not monitored internally nor pu-
blished like-for-like changes. Indeed like-for-like changes would
not reflect accurately the Company’s real performance, which is
reflected in like-for-like New Danone changes and, by extension,
the difference between like-for-like changes and like-for-like New
Danone changes would not accurately reflect the contribution to this
real performance of WhiteWave and its companies.

Recurring operating margin is defined as Recurring operating
income over Sales ratio.

Other non-recurring financial income and expense corresponds to
capital gains or losses on disposaland impairment of non-consoli-
dated interests as well as significant financial income and expense
items that, in view of their exceptional nature, cannot be considered
as inherent to Danone’s recurring financial management.

Non-recurring income tax corresponds to income tax on non-re-
curring items as well as significant tax income and expense items
that, in view of their exceptional nature, cannot be considered as
inherent to Danone’s recurring performance.

Recurring effective tax rate measures the effective tax rate of Danone’s
recurring performance and is computed as the ratio income tax
related to recurring items over recurring net income before tax.

Non-recurring results from associates include significant items that,
because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent
to the recurring activity of those companies and distort the reading
of their performance. They include primarily (i) capital gains and
losses on disposal and impairment of Investments in associates,
and (i) when material, non-recurring items as defined by Danone
included in the net income from associates.

Recurring net income (or Recurring net income - Group Share)
corresponds to the Group share of the consolidated recurring net
income. The recurring net income measures Danone’s recurring
performance and excludes significant items that, because of their
exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to its recurring
performance. Such non-recurring income and expenses mainly
include other operating income and expense, other non-recurring
financialincome and expense, non-recurring tax, and non-recurring
income from associates. Such income and expenses excluded from
Netincome are defined as Non-recurring netincome and expenses.

Recurring EPS (or Recurring net income - Group Share, per share
after dilution) is defined as the ratio of Recurring netincome adjusted
for hybrid financing over Diluted number of shares. In compliance
with IFRS, income used to calculate EPS is adjusted for the coupon
related to the hybrid financing accrued for the period and presented
net of tax.

Yakult Transaction Impact corresponds to the amount to deduct
from Danone’s 2017 recurring net income to reflect an interest in
Yakult in 2017 identical to the interest prevailing in 2018 following
the completion of the partial disposal finalized at the end of the first
quarter 2018. It is computed as the difference between Danone’s

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 6l

N N N N YN



BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N 2018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.7 CHANGES N IFRS STANDARDS

interest in Yakult after the transaction (6.61%) and 21.29% applied,
prorata temporis, to 2017 profit from Yakult as estimated by Danone
for its 2017 consolidated financial statements. Yakult Transaction
Impact amounts to (0.6)% of H1 2017 recurring EPS and (1.5)% of
FY 2017 recurring EPS.

Free cash flowrepresents cash flows provided or used by operating
activities less capital expenditure net of disposals and, in connection
with IFRS 3 (Revised), relating to business combinations, excluding

5.7 CHANGES IN [FRS STANDARDS

(i) acquisition costs related to business combinations, and (i) earn-
outs related to business combinations and paid subsequently to
acquisition date.

Net financial debt represents the net debt portion bearing interest. It
corresponds to currentand non-current financial debt (i) excluding
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests
and [ii) net of Cash and cash equivalents, Short term investments
and Derivatives - assets managing net debt.

[AS 23 ADOPTION OF HYPERINFLATIONARY ACCOUNTING [N ARGENTINA FROM JULY 1. Z0I8 WITH EFFECT FROM

JANUARY 1. 2018

Aconsensus has been reached thatall necessary conditions (3-year
cumulative rate of inflation for consumer prices and wholesale
prices exceeding the 100% threshold being the last one reached
during the first half 2018) are in place to now consider Argentina
as “hyperinflationary” as defined by IFRS rules and therefore that
IAS 29 rule related to Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies becomes applicable to the country.

Consequently, Danone is applying IAS 29 in Argentina from July 1,
2018 with effect from January 1, 2018. Adoption of IAS 29 in this
hyperinflationary country requires its non-monetary assets and
liabilities and its income statement to be restated to reflect the
changes in the general pricing power of its functional currency,
leading to a gain or loss on the net monetary position included in
the net income. Moreover, its financial statements are converted
into euro using the closing exchange rate of the relevant period.

IAS 29 impact on reported data

Impact on reported data
e from July 1, 2018: Danone is applying IAS 29 in Argentina with
effect from January 1, 2018;

® 2018thirdand fourth quarters sales: reported data incorporates
the IAS 29 hyperinflation adjustment over the sales of the quarter
with no cumulative effect;

® 2018 first and second quarters: reported data is presented as
previously published [i.e. not restated to reflect IAS 29 adjustments);

® 2018 full-year: reported data incorporates IAS 29 with effect
from January 1, 2018.

Finally, it is specified that 2018 full-year guidance does not take into
account the application of hyperinflation accounting in Argentina
from July 1,2018 and therefore excludes any impact from the IAS 29
application on recurring EPS growth at constant exchange rate.

(in € millions except percentage) 2018
Sales (51)
Sales growth (%) (0.2)%
Recurring Operating Income (30)
Recurring Net Income - Group share (47)
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS [N Z018 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2013

3.8 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Breakdown by quarter of full-year 2018 sales after application of IAS 29
The breakdown of 2018 full-year sales by quarter after application of IAS 29 in Argentina is provided in the table below for information

(data not audited).

First Second Third Fourth
(in € millions) quarter 2018 quarter 2018 quarter 2018 quarter 2018 Total
EDP International 2,074 1,997 1,937 2,007 8,015
EDP Noram 1,192 1,247 1,293 1,309 5,041
Specialized Nutrition 1,807 1,828 1,727 1,754 7.115
Waters 965 1,322 1,254 939 4,480
Total 6,038 6,393 6,211 6,009 24,651

Impact on “like-for-like” data

For 2019, since Argentina is now considered as hyperinflationary,
Danone will exclude from its “like-for-like” definition the contribu-
tion of its Argentinian entities starting from January 1, 2019 (see
revised definition above).

For 2018, as "Like-for-like” current definition already excludes the
effects of changes in applicable accounting principles during the
year, IAS 29 in Argentina has noimpact on like-for-like sales growth
and like-for-like margin improvement of the Company.

For reference, Argentinian entities as a whole contributed in 2018
for 2.6% to Danone’s sales and for around 30bps on sales growth.

[FRS 15: APPLICATION WITH EFFECT STARTING JANUARY 1. 2018

Danone applies IFRS 15 on Revenues from contracts with customers starting January 1, 2018 and elected to restate the comparative

financial statements.

.8 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
[MPACT OF MOROCCO B0YCOTT

Danone is facing a consumer boycott in Morocco since April 2018.
The impact of this boycott on net sales in 2018 has been estimated
by the company as the difference between 2018 net sales and 2017
net sales excluding exceptional items in Morocco. In 2018, the
impact on total net sales was a decrease of €178 million versus
2017 net sales, of which around two thirds come from losses in

5.3 DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC

The by-laws, the minutes of Shareholders” Meetings, reports of the
Statutory auditors, and other corporate documents may be consulted
at the Company’s registered office. Moreover, historical financial

milk sales, and one third from losses in dairy products. With the
same principles for recurring operating income, the impact of the
consumer boycottin Morocco on the recurring operatingincome of
Danone in 2018 was a decrease of €43 million versus 2017, including
remediation measures.

information and certain information regarding the organization and
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries are available on
Danone’s website in the section pertaining to regulated information.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The term “2017 Restated” corresponds to the restatement of the 2017 financial statements required by the application of IFRS 15 [see Note 1.3 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income stafement and earnings per share

Year ended December 31

(in € millions, except earnings per share in €] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Sales 1.3,6.1,6.2 24,812 24,651
Cost of goods sold (12,630) (12,729)
Selling expense (5,831) (5,640)
General and administrative expense (2,229) (2,220)
Research and Development expense (342) (335)
Other income (expense]) 6.3 (243) (164)
Recurring operating income 3,537 3,562
Other operating income (expense) 7.1 192 (821)
Operating income 3,729 2,741

Interest income on cash equivalents and short-term

investments 151 162

Interest expense (414) (393)
Cost of net debt 1.7 (263) (231)
Other financial income 1.5,12.3 137 48
Other financial expense 12.3 (311) (165)
Income before tax 3,292 2,393
Income tax expense 9.1 (842) (716)
Netincome from fully consolidated companies 2,450 1,678
Share of profit of associates 5.8 109 762
Netincome 2,559 2,440
Netincome - Group share 2,449 2,349
Net income - Non-controlling interests 110 90
Net income - Group share, per share 14.4 3.90 3.63
Net income - Group share, per share after dilution 14.4 3.90 3.63
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) 2017 Restated 2018
Netincome - Group share 2,449 2,349
Translation adjustments (1,723) (198)
Cash flow hedge derivatives

Gross unrealized gains and losses @ (422) (47)
Tax effects 18 18
Financial assets

Gross unrealized gains and losses 7 (9)
Amount recycled to profit or loss in the current year - -
Tax effects 2 4
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - -
Items that may be subsequently recycled to profit or loss (2,120) (232)
Financial assets

Gross unrealized gains and losses - -
Tax effects - _
Actuarial gains and losses on retirement commitments

Gross gains and losses I 71
Tax effects (5) (15)
Items not subsequently recyclable to profit or loss 5 56
Total comprehensive income - Group share 335 2,174
Total comprehensive income - Non-controlling interests 79 A
Total comprehensive income 44 2,249

(a) In2017, related mainly to the reclassification, as a deduction from the acquisition price, of the €368 million foreign exchange gain resulting from the settlement

of the hedges of the WhiteWave acquisition price.

[b) Includes, in particular, the changes in fairvalue of Investments in other non-consolidated companies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated balance sheet

As of December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Assets
Goodwill 18,132 17,711
Brands 6,412 6,359
Other intangible assets 401 376
Intangible assets 3.1,10.1t0 10.3 24,945 24,445
Property, plant and equipment 6.5 6,005 6,175
Investments in associates 51t05.8 2,678 2,104
Investments in other non-consolidated companies 83 105
Long-term loans and long-term financial assets 177 173
Other financial assets 12.1,12.2 260 278
Derivatives - assets © 13.2,13.3 16 81
Deferred taxes 9.2 722 761
Non-current assets 34,627 33,843
Inventories 6.4 1,668 1,789
Trade receivables 6.4 2,794 2,689
Other current assets 6.4 1,037 778
Short-term loans 14 13
Derivatives - assets @ 13.2,13.3 19 27
Short-term investments 111,115 3,462 4,199
Cash and cash equivalents 638 839
Assets held for sale - =
Current assets 9,632 10,334
Total assets 44,259 L4177

(a) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Equity and liabilities
Share capital 168 171
Additional paid-in capital 4,991 5,805
Retained earnings and others @ 1.3 14,677 15,896
Cumulative translation adjustments (3,181) (3,332)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (545) (564)
Treasury shares 14.2 (1,653) (1,632)
Equity - Group share 14,456 16,344
Non-controlling interests 4.5 73 131
Consolidated equity 14,529 16,475
Financing 1M1t 1.4 15,529 14,277
Derivatives - liabilities 13.2,13.3 149 21
Liabilities related to put options granted
to non-controlling interests 4.5 38 46
Non-current financial debt 15,716 14,343
Provisions for retirement obligations and
other long-term benefits 8.3 919 868
Deferred taxes 9.2 1,633 1,537
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 15.2 1,003 989
Non-current liabilities 19,271 17,738
Financing M1to11.4 3,221 3,021
Derivatives - liabilities 13.2,13.3 1 63
Liabilities related to put options granted
to non-controlling interests 4.5 569 463
Current financial debt 3,792 3,546
Trade payables b.4 3,904 3,675
Other current liabilities 6.4 2,764 2,743
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale -
Current liabilities 10,459 9,965
Total equity and liabilities 44,259 446177

(a) Undated subordinated notes.
[b) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

N N N N A
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Netincome 2,559 2,440
Share of profit of associates net of dividends received 5.8 (54) (729)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 6.5,10.3 974 1,601
Increases in (reversals of) provisions 15.2 153 13
Change in deferred taxes 9.2 (353) (135)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial investments (284) (12)
Expense related to Group performance shares 8.4 22 24
Cost of net financial debt 1.7 265 231
Net interest paid (186) (218)
Net change in interest income [expense) 80 13
Other components with no cash impact (15) (44)
Cash flows provided by operating activities, before changes in net working capital 3,081 3,170
(Increase] decrease in inventories (122) (167)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (190 807
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 145 (770)
Change in other receivables and payables 4 70
Change in working capital requirements 6.4 (123) (59)
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 2,958 3,11
Capital expenditure 6.5 (969) (941)
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment ! 6.5 45 22
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments ! (10,949) (52)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments ! 5.5 441 1,305
(Increase) decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (4) (9)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (11,437) 326
Increase in share capital and additional paid-in capital 47 47
Purchase of treasury shares [net of disposals) 14.2 13 -
Issue of undated subordinated notes 11.3, 1.4 1,245
Interest on undated subordinated notes 1.4 - (14)
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders ¢ 14.5 [279) (431)
Buyout of non-controlling interests 4.5 (107) (120)
Dividends paid (86) (79)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 1 -
Transactions with non-controlling interests (193) (199
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives (52) (8)
Bonds issued during the period 11.3, 1.4 - 300
Bonds repaid during the period 11.3, 1.4 (1,487) [2,157)
Net cash flows from other current and non-current financial debt 1.3 (564) 27
Net cash flows from short-term investments 9,559 (815)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 8,289 (3,251)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes 272 14
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 81 200
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 557 638
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 638 839

Additional information
Income tax payments during the year (1,116) (556)

(a) Relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operating activities.

[b) Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully consolidated companies, this comprises cash and cash equivalents as of the acquisition/
disposal date.

[c] Portion paid in cash.

[d) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

[e] Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.

The cash flows correspond to items presented in the consolidated balance sheet. However, these flows may differ from changes in assets
and liabilities, mainly as a result of the rules for (i) translating transactions in currencies other than the functional currency, (i) trans-
lating the financial statements of companies with a functional currency other than the euro, [iii) changes in the consolidation scope, and
(iv) other non-monetary items.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Changes during the period
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(in € millions) Notes < o o =] o 6a BOa £% o £ o <
Share capital 168 - 3 17
Additional paid-in capital 4,991 47 767 5,805
Retained earnings and others @/ 1.3 14,677 2,349 24 (770) (431) (9) (51) 106 15,896
Cumulative translation adjustments (3,181) (198) = 47 (3,332)
Gains and losses related to cash flow
hedging derivatives, net of tax (160) (29) - [(190)
Gains and losses on assets recognized at
fair value through other comprehensive
income, net of tax 13 50 (5) (39) 6
Actuarial gains and losses on retirement
commitments not recyclable to profit or
loss, net of tax 9  (435) 56 (2) (381)
Other comprehensive income (545) 22 - - - - - - - (41)  (564)
Treasury shares 14.2 (1,653) 22 (1,632)
Equity - Group share 14,456 2174 47 22 24 - (431) 9 (51) 1M1 16,344
Non-controlling interests 73 74 (79 40 23 131
Consolidated equity 14,529 2,249 47 22 24 - (510 (9) (10) 134 16,475

(a) Undated subordinated notes.
[b) Mainly Group performance shares granted to certain employees and corporate officers.
(c] See Note 1.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Changes during the period restated for the impacts of IFRS 15
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(in € millions) Notes < o O ok0 ouw aw 8w n e 6 8 o <
Share capital 164 3 168
Additional paid-in capital 4,178 46 766 4,991
Retained earnings and others @/ 11.3 12,035 2,449 22 (770) (279) 1,245 (10) (15) 14,677
Cumulative translation
adjustments (1,460)  (1,723) 1 1 (3,181)
Gains and losses related to
cash flow hedging derivatives,
net of tax 271 (405) (26) (160)
Gains and losses related to
available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax 13 Al 9 50
Actuarial gains and losses on
retirement commitments not
recyclable to profit or loss,
net of tax 9 (439) 5 (2) (435)
Other comprehensive income (126) (391) - - - - - - - (28) (545)
Treasury shares and DANONE
call options (1,682) 28 (1,653)
Equity - Group share 13,109 335 47 28 22 - (279) 1,245 (8) (42) 14,456
Non-controlling interests 85 79 (86) (6) 73
Consolidated equity 13,194 414 47 28 22 - (365) 1,245 (14) (42) 14,529

(a] Undated subordinated notes.

(b) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.

(c) Group performance shares granted to certain employees and corporate officers.

(d) Including the impact of the application of IFRS 15 (see Note 1.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).
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NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Note 1.1, Bases for preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Danone (the “Company”],
its subsidiaries and associates (together, the "Group”) as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approved by Danone’s
Board of Directors on February 18, 2019 and will be submitted for
approval to the Shareholders Meeting on April 25, 2019.

The consolidated financial statements and the Notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements are presented in euros. Unless indicated
otherwise, amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded
to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the values presented
are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently, the sum of the

rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant extent, from
the reported total. In addition, ratios and variances are calculated
on the basis of the underlying amounts and not on the basis of the
rounded amounts.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
management to make estimates, assumptions and appraisals that
affect the reported amounts in the consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated income statement and Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The main such estimates and assumptions relate to:

Notes
Measurement of intangible assets 7.2,10.3
Measurement of investments in associates 5.1,5.4,5.7,5.8
Measurement of deferred tax assets 9.3
Determination of the amount of provisions for risks and charges 15.1,15.2,15.3
Determination of the amount of rebates, trade supports and other deductions relating
to agreements with customers 6.1

These assumptions, estimates and appraisals are made on the basis
of available information and conditions at the end of the financial
period presented. Actualamounts may differ from those estimates,
particularly in a climate of economic and financial volatility.

Note [.2. Accounting framework applied

In addition to the use of estimates, Danone’s management uses its
judgment to define the accounting treatment for certain activities
and transactions, when theyare not explicitly addressedin IFRS and
related interpretations, particularly in the case of the recognition
of put options granted to non-controlling interests.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards)
as adopted by the European Union, which are available on the website of the European Commission (http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/

accounting/ias/index_en.htm).

Main standards, amendments and interpretations whose application is mandatory as of January 1, 2018

Notes
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1.3
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1.4

Amendment to IFRS 2, Clarification of Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions ©°

Amendments to IAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures @

IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

(a] These amendments and this interpretation do not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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1AS 29

IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies has been
applied for the first time to Argentina as of January 1, 2018 (see Note
1.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements].

Main standards, amendments and interpretations
published by the IASB whose application is not
mandatory within the European Union as of
January 1, 2018

o |FRS 16, Leases

OnJanuary 13,2016, the IASB issued a new standard on accounting
for leases. As of January 1, 2019, it is mandatory to apply IFRS 16 in
place of IAS 17 and the associated IFRIC and SIC interpretations.
IFRS 16 will, for lessees, end the distinction previously made between
“operating leases” and “finance leases”.

IFRS 16 requires lessees to use a unique accounting model for
leases, which involves the recognition in the balance sheet of a
“right-of-use asset” with a corresponding liability in respect of the
presentvalue of the lease payments due over the reasonably certain
term of the lease. The cash flows relating to the lease payments
will be presented:

® incashflows provided by (used in) financing activities, in the case
of the portion corresponding to the repayment of the lease debt;

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

® incash flows provided by (usedin) operating activities, in the case
of the portion corresponding to the interest on the lease liability.

Danone has not elected for early application of this standard, which
will therefore by applied as from January 1,2019. Danone has opted
for the simplified retrospective transition method.

During 2018, Danone drew up an inventory of its leases and estimated
theimpactof implementing IFRS 16 on its profit or loss and financial
situation. The amount of the lease commitments (see amount as
of December 31, 2018 in Note 6.6 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements) is a good indication of the amount of the lease
liability that will be recognized pursuantto IFRS 16. Leasesin respect
of nearly 50% of the lease liability relate to office buildings, cars,
lorries, industrial equipment and warehouses.

e |FRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

On June 7, 2017, the IFRS Interpretations Committee issued IFRIC
23, which is mandatorily applicable from January 1, 2019. IFRIC 23
clarifies the accounting treatments used to recognize the fiscal
consequences of uncertainties relating to income taxes. Danone
has not elected for early adoption of IFRIC 23, and is reviewing the
potential consequences of applying it.

Note 3. First-time application of [FRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

On May 28, 2014, the IASB issued a new standard on revenue
recognition that replaces most of the previous IFRS pronounce-
ments on this subject, in particular IAS 11 and IAS 18. IFRS 15 is
applicable as of January 1, 2018. Danone has applied IFRS 15 with
effect from January 1, 2018, using the retrospective transition
method, with comparative periods restated to reflect the impacts
of the new standard. Application of IFRS 15 did not have a material
impact on Danone’s revenue recognition as of the transition date.
The main restatements resulting from the application of IFRS 15
correspond mostly to reclassifications between sales and selling
expenses related to services performed by customers as part of
their contractual obligations. The application of IFRS 15 has no effect
on cash flows from operations, investments or financing activities
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Accounting principles amended following

the application of IFRS 15

The Group's sales mainly comprise sales of finished products. They
are recognized in the income statement when the control of goods
is transferred.

Sales are stated net of trade discounts and customer rebates, as
well as net of costs relating to trade support and listing or linked
to occasional promotional actions invoiced by customers. These
amounts are estimated when net sales are recognized, on the basis
of agreements and engagements with the customers concerned.

Situation on December 31, 2018 concerning trade receivables and payables

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2017 Reported IFRS 15 Impacts 2017 Restated 2018
Trade receivables 2,905 - 2,905 2,809
Impairment provisions (111) - (111) (120)
Fair value of trade receivables 2,794 - 2,794 2,689
Discounts granted to customers @ (1,143) (5) (1,148) (1,199)
Fair value of trade receivables net of discounts granted 1,651 (5) 1,646 1,490

[a] Amount recognized as a current liability in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Restatement of the financial statements
Consolidated income and earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2017

Year ended December 31

(in € millions, except earnings per share in €] 2017 Reported IFRS 15 Impacts 2017 Restated
Sales 24,677 135 24,812
Cost of goods sold (12,459) (171) (12,630)
Selling expense (5,890) 59 (5,831)
General and administrative expense (2,225) (4) (2,229)
Research and Development expense (342) - (342)
Otherincome (expense) (219) (24) (243)
Recurring operating income 3,543 (5) 3,537
Other operating income (expense) 192 - 192
Operating income 3,734 (5) 3,729

Interest income on cash equivalents and short-term

investments 151 - 151

Interest expense (414) - (414)
Cost of net debt (263) - (263)
Other financial income 137 - 137
Other financial expense (312) 1 (311)
Income before tax 3,296 (4) 3,292
Income tax expense (842) - (842)
Netincome from fully consolidated companies 2,454 (4) 2,450
Share of profit of associates 109 - 109
Netincome 2,563 (4) 2,559
Netincome - Group share 2,453 (4) 2,449
Net income - Non-controlling interests 110 - 110
Netincome - Group share, per share 3.92 (0.02) 3.90
Netincome - Group share, per share after dilution 3.91 (0.01) 3.90
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Consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2017 Reported IFRS 15 Impacts 2017 Restated
Assets

Goodwill 18,132 - 18,132

Brands 6,412 - 6,412

Other intangible assets 401 - 401
Intangible assets 24,945 - 24,945
Property, plant and equipment 6,005 - 6,005
Investments in associates 2,678 - 2,678

Investments in other non-consolidated companies 83 - 83

Long-term loans and long-term financial assets 177 - 177
Other financial assets 260 - 260
Derivatives - assets @ 16 - 16
Deferred taxes 722 - 722
Non-current assets 34,627 - 34,627
Inventories 1,668 - 1,668
Trade receivables 2,794 - 2,794
Other current assets 1,046 (9) 1,037
Short-term loans 14 - 14
Derivatives - assets © 19 - 19
Short-term investments 3,462 - 3,462
Cash and cash equivalents 638 - 638
Assets held for sale - - -
Current assets 9,641 (9) 9,632
Total assets 44,268 (9) 44,259
(a) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
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As of December 31

(in € millions) 2017 Reported IFRS 15 Impacts 2017 Restated
Equity and liabilities
Share capital 168 - 168
Additional paid-in capital 4,991 - 4,991
Retained earnings and others @ 14,723 (46) 14,677
Cumulative translation adjustments (3,182) 1 (3,181)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (545) - (545)
Treasury shares and DANONE call options (1,653) - (1,653)
Equity - Group share 14,501 (45) 14,456
Non-controlling interests 73 - 73
Consolidated equity 14,574 (45) 14,529
Financing 15,529 - 15,529
Derivatives - liabilities 149 - 149
Liabilities related to put options granted
to non-controlling interests 38 - 38
Non-current financial debt 15,716 - 15,716
Provisions for retirement obligations and other long-term benefits 919 - 919
Deferred taxes 1,644 (11) 1,633
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 1,003 - 1,003
Non-current liabilities 19,282 (11) 19,271
Financing 3,221 - 3,221
Derivatives - liabilities ¥ 1 - 1
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling
interests 569 - 569
Current financial debt 3,792 - 3,792
Trade payables 3,904 - 3,904
Other current liabilities 2,716 48 2,764
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale - - -
Current liabilities 10,411 48 10,459
Total equity and liabilities 44,268 (9) 44,259

(a) Undated subordinated notes.
[b) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
[c) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

Note 14. First-time application of [FRS 9. financial instruments

On July 24, 2014, the IASB issued a new standard on financial
instruments that replaces most of the previous IFRS provisions
on this subject, in particular IAS 39. Its application is mandatory
as of January 1, 2018. Danone has applied the financial instrument
classification, measurement and impairment provisions of IFRS 9
retrospectively from January 1, 2018, with no restatement of prior
period comparatives. Since January 1,2018, Danone has applied the
hedge accounting provisions of IFRS 9, using a prospective approach
inaccordance with IFRS 9.
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In particular, IFRS 9 makes changes to:

® theconditions governing hedge accounting and the main accounting
categories to be used to classify financial assets and liabilities:
in view of the nature of Danone’s transactions, the impact as of
the transition date is not material;

® therecognition of credit risk relating to financial assets by using an
approach based on expected losses rather thanincurred losses:
the main impact of this change is the recognition of impairment
losses inrespect of trade receivables not yet due. In view of the
nature of Danone’s activities and customers, the impact as of
the transition date is not material.
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Accounting principles amended following
the application of IFRS 9

Investments in other non-consolidated companies

Investments in other non-consolidated companies are recognized
atfairvalueinthe consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fairvalue
and gains or losses on disposals are recognized according to the
intention of the management (i) in profit or loss in Other financial
income (expense] or (i) under consolidated equity in Accumulated
other comprehensive income and are not recycled to profit or loss.

Fair value
For listed companies, fair value is assessed according to the stock
price as of the end of the period.

For unlisted companies, fair value is assessed based on recent
transactions entered into with third parties, put or call options
negotiated with third parties or external appraisals.

Other long-term financial assets

Other long-term financial assets mainly comprise bonds and mo-
ney-market funds and security deposits required by the tax regu-
lations of certain countries in which the Group operates.

Bonds and money-market funds are recognized at fair value in the
consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair value are recognized
under consolidated equity in Accumulated other comprehensive
income. They are not subsequently recycled to profit or loss except
for equity-linked bonds and money-market funds for which fair value
changes are recognized directly in profit or loss in Other financial
income (expense).

Their fair value is calculated on the basis of listed prices on active
markets

Long-term loans
Long-term loans are measured atamortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognized at amortized cost in the conso-
lidated balance sheet.

Impairment provisions

Impairment provisions mainly concern disputes on which Danone is
in discussion with customers. Impairment provisions for expected
losses are recognized at the level of the expected losses over the
life of the receivable.

Note L3. Application of IAS 29 fo Argentina

In 2018, a consensus view was reached that all the conditions for
deeming Argentina to be a hyperinflationary economy under IFRS
had been met (the last condition concerned the cumulative inflation
rate over threeyears: wholesale price inflation and consumer price
inflation had already exceeded the 100% threshold in the first semester
of 2018) and that therefore IAS 29 was now applicable to Argentina.

Danone hastherefore applied IAS 29 to Argentina as from July 1, 2018,
with an effective date of January 1, 2018. Prior year comparatives
have not been restated in the consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with IAS 21.

Accounting principles

IAS 29 requires the non-monetary assets and liabilities and income
statements of countries with hyperinflationary economies to be
restated to reflect the changes in the general purchasing power of
their functional currency, thereby generating a profit or loss on the
net monetary position which is recognized in netincome within Other
financialincome or Other financial expense. In addition, the financial

NOTE I ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Derivatives
Derivatives are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at
their fair value:

® derivatives used to manage net debt and hedges of net invest-
ments in foreign operations are recognized in Derivatives assets
or liabilities;

e foreignexchange derivatives related to operations are recognized
in the heading (i) Other accounts receivable in Derivatives - assets
or within (i) Other current liabilities in Derivatives - liabilities.

When derivatives are designated as fair value hedges of assets or
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, changes in the fair
value of both the derivatives and the hedged items are recognized
in profit or loss in the same period.

When derivatives are designated as hedges of net investments in
foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are
recognized in equity under Cumulative translation adjustments and
are recycled as income (expense] when the asset is derecognized.

When derivatives are designated as future cash flow hedges:

® changes in the value of the effective portion are recognized in
equity under Accumulated other comprehensive income and are
recycled to profitor loss, in the same heading, when the hedged
item itself is recognized in profit or loss;

e timevalue [swap points, FX option premium and basis spread of
cross currency swaps) is recognized in equity in Accumulated
other comprehensive income and taken to profit or loss at the
maturity of the underlying instrument, in accordance with the
principles adopted by the Group. By way of reminder, deriva-
tives designated as future cash flow hedges are recognized in
accordance with the transaction-related principle (hedging of
transactions included in the forecasts).

Changes in the fair value of the ineffective portions of derivatives
that meet the conditions for classification as hedging instruments
and changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
that do not meet the conditions for classification as hedging ins-
truments are recognized directly in profit or loss for the period, in
a heading within operating income or financial income depending
on the nature of the hedge.

statements of the subsidiaries in these countries are translated
at the closing exchange rate of the reporting period concerned, in
accordance with IAS 21.

Danone has used the following indexes to remeasure its income
statement items, cash flows and non-monetary assets and liabilities
as of December 31, 2018: the wholesale price index published by
INDEC (IPIM] or the Buenos Aires consumer price index ([deemed to
be reliable in the absence of other data) until December 2015 and the
Consumer Price Index [CPI) since December 2015. This latter index
was up 48% in 2018. The EURARS parity used for the conversion of
the income statement amounts to 43.09 as of December 31, 2018
(22.68 as of December 31, 2017).
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Main accounting implications

The cumulative revaluation of the non-monetary assets and lia-
bilities as of January 1, 2018 resulted in a €88 million increase in
consolidated equity and in non-monetary net assets.

Asregards the 2018 fiscal year, the application of IAS 29 resulted in
a €66 millionincrease in consolidated equity and in non-monetary
assets net of non-monetary liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and

NOTE Z. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

had the following main impacts on the 2018 consolidated income
statement:

® a €51 million decrease in consolidated sales and a €30 million
decrease in recurring operating income;

® a €4 million gain on the net monetary position recognized in
Other financial income (expense);

® a €45 million expense in consolidated net income.

Notes
Implementation of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 and application of IAS 29 to Argentina 1.3, 1.4, 1.5
Finalization of WhiteWave goodwill and its allocation 3.1,3.2,10.3
Partial disposal of Danone’s stake in Yakult 5.5,5.6,58
Boycott in Morocco of Centrale Danone products and impairment of intangible assets 7.2
Issue of €300 million social bond 1.4
Subsequent events 17

NOTE 3. FINALIZATION OF THE ACCOUNTING OF THE ACQUISITION OF THE WHITEWAVE FOODS

COMPANY

Note 3.1. Defermination of final gooduwill

During the first semester of 2018, Danone finalized the accounting
treatment of the acquisition of The WhiteWave Foods Company
(WhiteWave], acquired on April 12, 2017. No material adjustment

was recognized as compared to the preliminary allocation disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements for the 2017 fiscal year.

As of the acquisition date "

lin € billions) April 12, 2017
Intangible assets 3.2
Property, plant and equipment 1.3
Inventories 0.3
Other assets 1.1
Fair value of acquired assets ©! 5.9
Financial liabilities 0.7
Deferred tax liabilities 1.1
Other liabilities 0.9
Fair value of assumed liabilities 2.8
Fair value of purchased net assets 341
Acquisition price 111
Provisional goodwill 8.0

(a) As of the acquisition date.

(b) The assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars have been converted into euros at the rate prevailing as of the acquisition date, i.e. EUR 1= USD 1.06.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 3.2 Allacation of final goodwill

The WhiteWave goodwill was allocated to the following CGUs (Cash
Generating Units) or groups of CGUs:

e Noram group of CGUs: combination of the main businesses of
WhiteWave in North America with the United States and Canada
CGUs of EDP Noram, for €6.6 billion;

NOTE 4. FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

® Europe CGU: combination of the Alpro business with the Europe
CGU of EDP International, for €1.4 billion.

NOTE 4. FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Note 41. Accounting principles

Fully consolidated companies

The Group fully consolidates all subsidiaries over which it has the
ability to exercise exclusive control, whether directly or indirectly.
Exclusive control over an investee is assessed (i) by the power the
Group has over said investee, (i) whether itis exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its relationship with the investee, and [iii)
whether it uses its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the Group's returns.

Fullconsolidation enables the recognition of all assets, liabilities and
income statementitems relating to the companies concerned in the
Group's consolidated financial statements, after the elimination of
intercompany transactions, the portion of the netincome and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (Group share] being distin-
guished from the portion relating to other shareholders’ interests
(Non-controlling interests). Intercompany balances and all material
intercompany transactions between consolidated entities (including
dividends) are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Business combinations: acquisitions resulting in
control being obtained, partial disposals resulting
in control being lost

The accounting treatment of acquisitions resulting in control being
obtained and partial disposals resulting in control being lost is as
follows:

® when control is obtained, the incidental transaction costs are
recognized in the income statement under the heading Other
operating income (expense), and presented in the cash flow
statementwithin cash flows from operating activities, in the year
in which they are incurred. In addition, price adjustments are
initially recognized at their fair value in the acquisition price and
their subsequent changesinvalue are recognizedin the income
statementunderthe heading Other operatingincome (expensel,

all payments relating to these adjustments are presented in the
cash flow statement within cash flows from operating activities;

e when control is obtained (or lost], the revaluation at its fair
value of the interest previously held (or the residual interest] is
recognized in the income statement under the heading (i) Other
operating income (expense) when control is lost, (i) Share of
profit of associates when control is obtained of an entity pre-
viously accounted for as an associate, and (iii) Other financial
income [expense) when controlis obtained of an entity previously
accounted forasaninvestmentinanon-consolidated company;

® when controlis obtained, non-controlling interests are recognized,
either at their share of the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of the acquired entity, or at their fair value. In the latter case,
the goodwill is then increased by the portion relating to these
non-controlling interests. The treatment adopted is selected on
an individual basis for each acquisition.

Business combinations may be recognized on a provisional basis, as
theamounts allocated to the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities
assumed and goodwill may be amended during a maximum period
of one year from their acquisition date.

Acquisitions or disposals of interests in controlled
companies with no impact on control

Purchases or disposals of interests in controlled companies that
do not result in control being obtained or lost are recognized di-
rectly in equity under the heading Retained earnings, as transfers
between the Group share and the non-controlling interests’ share
in the consolidated equity, with no impact on profit or loss, and the
corresponding cash flows are presented within cash flows relating
tofinancing activities. The same accounting treatmentis applied to
the costs associated with these transactions.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Note 4.2. Main changes during the period
2018 fiscal year

There were no material changes during the period.

2017 fiscal year

Ownership as of December 31

Transaction

(in percentage] Reporting entity Country date @ 2016 2017
Main companies consolidated for the first time during 2017
Several
EDP countries,
International  mainly United
and EDP States and
WhiteWave group companies Noram Europe April - 100.0%
Main consolidated companies with changes in ownership percentage
EDP
Danone-Unimilk group International CIS October 92.9% 97.6%
Specialized
Happy Family Nutrition  United States July 91.9% 100.0%
Main companies no longer fully consolidated as of December 31
Stonyfield EDP Noram  United States July 100.0% -

(a) Month in the 2017 fiscal year.

Note 4.3. fully consolidated companies

The list of companies included in Danone’s consolidation scope, whether they are fully consolidated directly or indirectly or recognized
as investments in associates as of December 31, 2018, is available on Danone’s website (www.danone.com).

Note 44. Accounting for acquisitions resulfing in control being obfained in 2018

The business combinations carried out in 2018 were not material.
Note 4.9. Non-confrolling interests

Main companies in terms of netincome and
consolidated net assets, fully consolidated but not
wholly owned

Asaresultof the buyouts carried outin recentyears, non-controlling
interests in companies that are fully consolidated but not wholly
owned were not material as of December 31, 2018.

Liabilities related to put options granted to non-
controlling interests

Accounting principles

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling
interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options
giving the holders the right to sell part or all of their investment in
these subsidiaries. These financial liabilities do not bear interest.

§7 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

Inaccordancewith IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, when
non-controlling interests hold put options enabling them to sell
theirinvestmentto the Group, afinancial liability is recognized inan
amount corresponding to the presentvalue of the option strike price,
and the counterpart of the liability arising from these obligationsiis:

® on the one hand, a reduction in the carrying amount of the
non-controlling interests;

® on the other, a reduction in the equity - Group share for the
amount of the liability that exceeds the carrying amount of the
corresponding non-controlling interests. Thisitem is adjusted at
the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the strike
price of the options and the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests. In the absence of specific provisions stipulated in
IFRS, the Company has applied the recommendations issued
by the AMF (Autorité des Marchés Financiers) in November 2009.
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Changes during the period

NOTE 5. ASSOCIATES

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
As of January 1 699 607
New options - =
Options exercised @ (111) (123)
Changes in the present value of outstanding options 19 24
As of December 31! 607 508

(a) Carrying amount at the closing date of the previous period for options exercised and for which payment has been made.
[b) Several options, none of which individually exceeds €200 million. In most cases, the strike price is an earnings multiple.

NOTE . ASSOCIATES

Note 2.1. Accounting principles

Accounting treatment

All companies in which the Group exercises a significant influence,
directly or indirectly, are accounted for using the equity method.
Under this method, the Group recognizes in the carrying amount
of the shares held in the associated or jointly-controlled entity the
acquisition-related cost of the shares adjusted by its proportionate
share of changes in the entity’s net assets since its acquisition.

Upon the acquisition of investments accounted for using the equity
method, the acquisition price of the shares is allocated ona fairvalue
basistotheidentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
difference between the acquisition price and the Group's share in the
fairvalue of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents
goodwill, which is added to the carrying amount of the shares.

The main components of Net income of associates are:

® the Group's share of the profits or losses of its associates, cal-
culated on the basis of estimates;

® gains or losses on disposals of shareholdings in associates;

® therevaluationreserve resulting from aloss of influence where
there is no disposal of shares;

® impairment of investments in associates.

Impairment review

The Group reviews the measurement of its investments in asso-
ciates when events or circumstances indicate that impairment is
likely to have occurred. With regard to listed shares, a significant or
prolonged fallin their stock price below their historical stock price
constitutes an indication of impairment.

An impairment provision is recognized within Share of profit of
associates when the recoverable amount of the investment falls
below its carrying amount.

Note 5.2. Main associates in ferms of net income and consolidated net assets

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018

Market

(in € millions except -percentage) Notes Country Listing market Ownership Ownership capitalization®
Mengniu @ 5.4 China Hong Kong 9.9% 9.9% 10,684
Yashili@ 5.4 China Hong Kong 25.0% 25.0% 741
Yakult 5.5 Japan Tokyo 21.3% 6.6% 10,494

(a) If the company is listed.

[b) The amount disclosed is 100% of the company’s market capitalization.
(c)] INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DAIRY (GROUP) CO LTD.

(d) YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

(e) YAKULT HONSHA CO LTD.

The Group acquired its stake in Mengniu and Yashili on the one
hand and Yakult on the other hand under the terms of broader
agreements, the main aim of which was operational collaboration
and the development of regional categories and markets.

In 2018, these companies accounted for 65% in total of Investments
in associates (other investments in associates did not, individually,
account for more than 15% of the total). In addition, none of these
companies generated netincome that came to more than 5% of the
consolidated net income or had net assets of more than 5% of the
consolidated net assets.
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NOTE 5. ASSOCIATES

Note 9.3. Main changes during the period
2018 fiscal year

Ownership as of December 31

(in percentage) Country Transaction date 2017 Restated 2018
Main companies accounted for using the equity method for the first time during 2018

Main associates with changes in ownership percentage

Yakult Japan March 21.3% 6.6%

Main companies no longer accounted for using the equity method as of December 31

(a] Month in the 2018 fiscal year.

2017 fiscal year

The Group did not recognize any material changes during the period.

Note 54. Mengniu (EDP International. China) and Yashili (Specialized Nutrition. Chin)

Background to the acquisition of these equity
interests

In 2013, Danone, COFCO and Mengniu announced the signing of
agreements to accelerate the development of fresh dairy products
in China. Under the terms of these agreements, Danone became a
strategic shareholderin Mengniu and a joint venture for the produc-
tion and sale of fresh dairy products in China was established by the
pooling of the respective assets of the two companies. Danone owns
20% and Mengniu 80% of the new joint venture. In 2014, Danone,
Mengniu and Yashili decided to extend their strategic alliance into
infant milk formula in China. This enabled Danone to hold a 25%
stake in Yashiliand become its second-largest shareholder behind
Mengniu, which owns a 51% stake. Lastly, in 2016, the Dumex activity
in China was merged with Yashili, thereby building a strong local
infant milk formula brand platform.

Main financial information

Mengniu (EDP International, China)

Accounting treatment of the investment

This investment, which is a strategic investment for the Group, is
recognized under Investments in associates, since the Group has
significantinfluence over the financial and operating policies of the
Mengniu group as (i) a strategic shareholder in the Mengniu group
pursuant to the agreements with COFCO, (ii] its participation in
Mengniu's governance, and (iii) the Group’s operating involvement
in Mengniu’s fresh dairy products activities.

2017 Restated 2018

Interim financial Financial statements Interim financial

statements as for the year ended statements as

(in € millions] of June 30 December 31 of June 30
Non-current assets @ 4121 4113 4,236
Current assets @ 3,102 3,331 3,786
Equity @ 3,396 3,471 3,645
Non-current liabilities @ 1,591 1,084 1,118
Current liabilities @ 2,236 2,889 3,259
Sales © 3,958 7,882 4,476
Netincome © 150 266 215
Other comprehensive income (6) (5) (29)

[a) Published financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. Income statement items have been translated into euros at the average exchange rate for
the reporting period. Balance sheet items were translated into euros at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the reporting period.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impairment review as of December 31, 2018

The Group has not noted any indications of impairment. In particular,
the stock price of the Mengniu group is still higher than the average
purchase price of its shares.

Impairment review as of December 31, 2017
The Group has not noted any indications of impairment.

Yashili [Specialized Nutrition, China)

This shareholding, acquired under the terms of the Group's strate-
gic agreement with Mengniu, is recognized under Investments in
associates. As of December 31, 2018, Danone held 25% of Yashili's
share capital, had significant influence over its operating policies
andwas involved inits governance, in particular throughits right to
appoint two members of the board of directors and it proposed the
candidate forappointment as Chief Executive Officer. Consequently,
its shareholding is recognized within Investments in associates.

Impairment review as of December 31, 2018
The Group noted significant volatility in the Yashili stock price in
2018, in line with the volatility observed on the local stock market

NOTE 5. ASSOCIATES

index. As of December 31,2018, the price remained below the shares’
average purchase price.

As of December 31, 2018, the carrying amount of the investment in
Yashili (€322 million] was subjected to an impairment test based
on estimated future cash flows.

The assumptions used reflect the results expected from the strate-
gic changes made by management, gradually implemented since
year-end 2015 and supplemented in 2017 by a new positioning of the
brandsand changesinthedistribution channels, i.e. dynamic sales
growth over the period 2019 to 2023 and a significant increase in
profitability. Meanwhile, the assumptions for the discount rate and
long-term growth rate are 8.2% and 3.0%, respectively.

The test carried out at end-2018 did not result in the amount of the
impairment provisions recognized in previous fiscal years being
revised.

Lastly, the sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used to calcu-
late this value in use, taken individually, gave the following results:

Assumptions Indicators

Additional impairment

(in € millions)

(500)bps Sales growth (applied each year for five years)
(500]bps

(100]bps Long-term growth rate

+100bps Discount rate

Recurring operating margin (applied each year for five years) -

Impairment review as of December 31, 2017

The Group noted significant volatility in the Yashili stock price in 2017,
which remained below the average purchase price of its shares,
resulting froma 2017 financial performance impacted by the delay
indelivering the expected effects of the strategic changes made by
management since 2015.

As of December 31, 2017, the carrying amount of the investment in
Yashili (€324 million) was subjected to an impairment test based
on estimated future cash flows.

Note 5.9. Yakult (FDP Infernational. Japan)

Main characteristics of the investment

Danone has a stake in Yakult and has representatives on the com-
pany's board of directors under the terms of its strategic alliance
signed in 2004, which aimed at strengthening their global leadership
in probiotics and accelerating the growth of both companies in the
functional food market, the first phase of which had ended in May 2012.

In 2013, Danone and Yakult signed a new cooperation agreement to
replace the existing strategic alliance. This new agreement calls
for existing collaborations to be continued and envisages extending
them into areas thatare more operationalin nature. It does not mo-
dify either Danone’s equity interest in Yakult or its influence in that
company and does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, as the company will continue to be accounted
for as an associate.

In2018, Danone reached a new phase inits partnership with Yakult:

® strengthened scientificand commercial collaboration to promote
and develop probiotics activities;

e reduction in Danone’s stake in Yakult through notably a market
transaction launched on February 14, 2018 by Yakult and the
share buyback program launched by Yakult in which Danone
participated.

The assumptions used reflected the results expected from the
strategic changes made by managementand gradually implemented
sinceyear-end 2015, i.e. dynamic sales growth over the period 2018
to 2022 and a significant increase in profitability. Meanwhile, the
assumptions for the discount rate and long-term growth rate were
9.0% and 3.0%, respectively.

Following the impairment test carried out in late 2017, the impairment
provision recognized in 2016 was retained as of December 31, 2017.

In March, 2018, Danone finalized the partial disposal of its stake in
Yakult foran aggregate amount of JPY 175 billion, representing circa
€1.3billion, and thus reduced its stake in Yakult's share capital from
21.29%t0 6.61%. Danone remains Yakult's largest shareholder and
stillhas two representatives on the company’'s board of directorsina
context of enhanced collaboration activities. The investment will thus
continue to be accounted for using the equity method under IFRS.

Net of the impact of currency hedging, transaction fees and recycling
to profit or loss of cumulative translation adjustments, the transac-
tion resulted in the recognition of a disposal gain of €701 million,
recognized in Share of profit from associates in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended December 31, 2018.

It should be noted that, as Yakult's fiscal year closing date is
March 31, the amounts prepared for Group consolidation purposes
as of December 31 are estimated on the basis of the most recent
financial statements published for each fiscal year (interim finan-
cial statements for the six months ended September 30, 2017 for
2017 and interim financial statements for the six months ended
September 30, 2018 for 2018].
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NOTE 5. ASSOCIATES

Main financial information

2017 Restated 2018

Financial statements Interim financial Financial statements Interim financial

for the year ended statements as for the year ended statements as of

(in € millions] March 31 of September 30 March 31 September 30
Non-current assets @ 2,989 2,754 2,909 2,894
Current assets @ 1,916 1,857 1,912 1,896
Equity @ 3,156 3,016 2,954 2,995
Non-current liabilities © 793 709 632 589
Current liabilities @ 956 886 1,236 1,206
Sales @ 3,129 1,588 3,019 1,556
Netincome © 249 144 256 183
Other comprehensive income (103) 56 121 (94)

(a) Published financial statements preparedinaccordance with Japanese GAAP. Income statementitems have been translated into euros at the average exchange
rate for the reporting period. Balance sheet items were translated into euros at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the reporting period.

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018

Carrying amount 824 268

Note 2.6. Carrying amount and changes during the period

2017 Restated 2018
Group’s share Group’s share
in net assets in net assets
and net and net
(in € millions) Notes  Net goodwill income Total Net goodwill income Total
As of January 1 1,290 1,440 2,730 1,207 1,472 2,678
Acquisitions, influence
acquired during the year
and capital increase 5.3 12 24 36 4 9 13
Disposals, losses of influence
during the year and decreases
in ownership 5.3,5.5 (1) (1) (2) (152) (403) (555)
Share of profit of associates
before impact of disposals,
revaluation and other 5.8 - 114 114 - 81 81
Dividends paid - (55) (55) = (33) (33)
Translation adjustments (95) (111) (206) 17 12 29
Impairment 5.7 - - - (19) - (19)
Adjustment of the Group’s
share in net assets - 61 61 - (91) (91)
As of December 31 1,207 1,472 2,678 1,057 1,046 2,103
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note 2./ [mpairment review of [nvestments in associates other than Mengniu and Yashili

Impairment review as of December 31, 2018

Following the impairment review of otherinvestments in associates,
the Group recognized an impairment charge totaling €19 million
in respect of a company in the EDP International Reporting entity.

Note 5.8. Share of profif of associates

Impairment review as of December 31, 2017
Following the impairment review of otherinvestmentsin associates,
the Group did not recognize any impairment.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Share of profits of associates before gains (losses) on disposal,

revaluation and other 114 81
Impairment charges 5.7 - (19)
Gains (losses] on disposal, revaluation and other 55 (5) 700
Total 109 762

NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note 6. Accounting principles

Sales

Danone’s sales mainly comprise sales of finished products. They
are recognized in the income statement when the control of goods
is transferred.

Sales are stated net of trade discounts and customer rebates, as
well as net of costs relating to trade support and listing or linked
to occasional promotional actions invoiced by customers. These
amounts are estimated when net sales are recognized, on the basis
of agreements and commitments with the customers concerned.

Cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold mainly comprises industrial costs (including
raw material costs, depreciation of industrial assets and person-
nel costs relating to production activity) and certain logistics and
transportation costs

Note 6.2 Operating segments

General principles

The key indicators reviewed and used internally by the primary
operational decision-makers (the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Emmanuel FABER, and the Chief Financial Officer, Strategy
and Information Systems, Cécile CABANIS) to assess operational
performance are:

® Sales;
® Recurring operating income;

® Recurring operating margin, which corresponds to the ratio of
Recurring operating income to Sales.

In order to reflect the recent evolutions of Danone with the setup
of a new company organization creating optimal conditions for
the growth, efficiency and integration of WhiteWave, the Company
reviewed the organization of its Reporting entities as well as the
geographic areas of its activities in the first semester of 2017.

Selling expense
Selling expenses mainly comprise marketing expense and consumer
promotions as well as sales force overheads.

General and administrative expense
General and administrative expenses mainly comprise other per-
sonnel and administrative costs.

Research and Development expense

Development costs are generally expensed as incurred due to the
very short time between the date on which technical feasibility is
demonstrated and the date on which the products are launched.

Certain development costs are recognized under assets in the
consolidated balance sheet [see Note 10 of the Notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements).

Information by Reporting entity

Among the key indicators reviewed and used internally by the pri-
mary operational decision-makers, only Sales, Recurring operating
income and Recurring operating margin are monitored by Reporting
entity, while the other indicators are monitored at Company level.
The main decision-makers monitor the four Reporting entities that
now make up the Danone company organization:

e EDP International, which comprises Danone’s Fresh Dairy
Products activities in Europe, the CIS and ALMA zones, as well
as WhiteWave's activities in Europe, Latin America and China;

e EDP Noram, whichincludes the Fresh Dairy Products activities
of Danone and of WhiteWave in North America;

® the Specialized Nutrition Reporting entity, which combines the
Early Life Nutrition and Advanced Medical Nutrition Businesses
under common management. These Businesses have similar
long-term economic characteristics, and this reorganization
seeks to promote synergies and accelerate their potential;

® the Waters Reporting entity continues to be presented as before.
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE 6ROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Information by Reporting entity

Year ended December 31

Sales @ Recurring operating income Recurring operating margin
(in € millions, except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018
EDP International 8,612 8,015 759 726 8.8% 9.1%
EDP Noram 4,492 5,041 553 590 12.3% 11.7%
Specialized Nutrition 7,079 7,115 1,686 1,762 23.8% 24.8%
Waters 4,630 4,480 540 483 11.7% 10.8%
Group total 24,812 24,651 3,537 3,562 14.3% 14.5%

(a) Sales to third parties.

Reporting by geographical area
Sales, Recurring operating income and Recurring operating margin

Year ended December 31

Sales @ Recurring operating income Recurring operating margin
(in € millions, except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018
Europe and Noram 1! 13,192 13,654 2,038 1,928 15.5% 14.1%
Rest of the World 11,620 10,997 1,499 1,634 12.9% 14.9%
Group total 24,812 24,651 3,537 3,562 14.3% 14.5%

(a) Sales to third parties.
(b) Including net sales of €2,127 million generated in France in 2018 (€2,107 million in 2017).

Top ten countries contributing to sales

Year ended December 31

(in percentage] 2017 Restated 2018
United States 18% 20%
China 7% 9%
France 9% 9%
Russia 7% 6%
Indonesia 5% 5%
United Kingdom 5% 5%
Mexico 4% 4%
Spain 4% 4%
Germany 4% 3%
Brazil 4% 3%
Moreover, in the case of Brexit in particular, Danone imports a in regulatory constraints, this could have a negative impact on

large part of its products marketed in the United Kingdom and Danone’s operations and results.
exports them to a lesser extent. If Brexit gives rise to restrictions

. . : : D i ki thei tof ible Brexitonits activiti
on imports or exports from/to the United Kingdom, or an increase anone 1sworking on the IMpact 078 possibie Brexiton I's activities

in a context where its terms and timing are not yet defined.
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Non-current assets: property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

As of December 31

lin € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Europe and Noram @@ 22,517 23,077
Rest of the World 8,433 7,543
Group total 30,950 30,620

(a) Including €2,192 million in France as of December 31, 2018 (€2,159 million as of December 31, 2017).

Note 6.3 Other components of recurring operafing income

Other income (expense)

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Employee benefits 8.2,8.3 (165) (168)
Various taxes (59) (41)
Restructuring costs @ (60) (23)
Capital gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets 4 9
Other @ 37 60
Total (243) (164)

(a) Employee profit-sharing, Group performance shares, defined benefit retirement plans and other employee benefits.

[b) Comprises notably sales taxes.

(c] Excluding restructuring of the EDP International Reporting entity in certain countries whose costs are presented in Other operating income (expense).

[d) Comprises mainly currency translation differences, asset impairment, provisions for doubtful receivables and several other components.

Note 64. Working capital

Accounting principles

Inventories

Inventories and work-in-progress are recognized at the lower of
costand netrealizablevalue. Costis determined using the weighted
average cost method.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognized at amortized cost in the conso-
lidated balance sheet.

Impairment provisions

Impairment provisions mainly concern disputes on which Danone is
in discussion with customers. Impairment provisions for expected
losses are recognized at the level of expected losses over the life
of the receivable.

Transactions in foreign currencies

When they are not hedged, transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rate prevailing on the
date of the transaction. At period-end, trade receivables and trade
payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated using
exchange rates on that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
arising from transactions in foreign currencies are recognized
under the heading Other income (expense] in the consolidated
iIncome statement.

When transactions denominated in foreign currencies are hedged,
the hedging impact is recognized in the same item as the hedged
element. As a result, all such transactions are recognized at the
hedged spot rate, swap points being recognized under the heading
Other financial income (expense).
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE 6ROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions, except percentage] 2017 Restated 2018
Goods purchased for resale 77 98
Raw materials and supplies 745 802
Semi-finished goods and work-in-progress 164 168
Finished goods 779 846
Non-refundable containers 38 36
Impairment provisions (134) (161)

Inventories, net 1,668 1,789
Trade and other receivables from operations 2,905 2,809
Impairment provisions (111) (120)

Trade receivables, net 2,794 2,689
State and local authorities 707 621
Derivatives - assets 47 37
Other 284 119

Total other current assets 1,038 778

Total current assets 5,499 5,256

Trade payables (3,904) (3,675)
Year-end rebates payable to customers (1,148) (1.199)
State and local authorities (181) (274)
Personnel costs, including social security charges (935) (895)
Derivatives - liabilities @ (35) (59)
Other (465) (316)

Total other current liabilities (2,764) (2,743)

Total current liabilities (6,668) (6,418)

Working capital (1,168) (1,162)

As a percentage of consolidated sales 4.7% 4.7%

(a) Fair value of derivatives used to hedge operational currency and raw materials risks, most of which are implemented over a horizon of less than one year.

Credit risk on trade receivables

Credit risk exposure

Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss for the Group if a
customer or counterparty should fail to meet its contractual pay-
ment obligations. The customer payment term is generally 30 days
and the Group’s main customers are essentially in the mass retail
sector where credit risk is considered low.
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Sales to the Group’s largest customers and overdue receivables for which no impairment provision has been recognized

Year ended December 31

(in percentage] 2017 Restated 2018
Portion of consolidated sales made to the Group’s largest customers

Group’s largest customer 5.4% 5.7%
Group’s five largest customers 12.6% 13.0%
Group’s ten largest customers 19.1% 19.6%
Portion of overdue trade receivables for which no impairment provision has been recognized 5.7% 4.7%

(a) More than 30 days overdue.

Trade receivables derecognized in connection with the non-recourse factoring programs

As of December 31

lin € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Total trade receivables derecognized in connection with the non-recourse factoring
program © 23 61

(a) These relate to several Group subsidiaries that use non-recourse factoring programs (with transfer of risks and benefits).

Reverse factoring programs
The Group uses reverse factoring programs in the normal course
of its business.

These programs are implemented within a strict framework, notably
with respect to:

® use and function as a payment tool;
e exclusively for approved invoices;

® payment by Danone respecting the invoice terms, notably due
dates, inaccordance with applicable regulations and practices;

® atno costto Danone.
Note 6.0. Property. plant and equipment and capifal expenditure

Accounting principles
Property, plantand equipmentacquired by the Group are recognized
at cost of acquisition or at construction cost.

Assets used by the Group under finance leases are recognized
as Property, plant and equipment in the consolidated balance
sheet, when, in substance, the terms of the lease transfer to the
Group essentially all of the risks and rewards associated with the
ownership of the asset. The asset is recognized for an amount that
corresponds to the lower of fair value and the discounted value of
future lease payments. The assessment of the level of risks and
rewards transferredis based on an analysis of the lease agreement.
The financial debt associated with the leased asset is recognized as
a liability in the consolidated balance sheet under Financial debt.

Interest on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant
and equipment until their operational start date is considered to be
an integral part of the cost price of the property, plant and equip-
ment, provided that the criteria of IAS 23, Borrowing Costs are met.

Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

The amounts to be paid using these payment tools are not reclas-
sified. They remain commitments to suppliers and are carried as
operating liabilities under Trade payables until paid by Danone,
which has the effect of clearing the commitment.

Several of the Group’s subsidiaries invarious parts of the world are
involved in these programs, none of which is individually material.

® Duildings: 15 to 40 years;
® cquipment, furniture and fixtures: 5 to 20 years;
® other: 3to 10 years.

The depreciation charges inrespectof property, plantand equipment
are allocated to various headings in the income statement on the
basis of the nature and utilization of the assets concerned.

Refundable containers

Refundable containers (including, in particular, jugs in the Waters
Reporting entity) are recognized at cost. They are depreciated on
a straight-line basis, based on available statistics for each Group
entity, over the shorter of the following lengths of time:

® physicalusefullife, takingintoaccount the internaland external
breakage rates and wear and tear;

® commercial useful life, taking into account planned or likely
modifications of containers.

When the amount of the refund changes, the liability for deposits
received is measured based on the new amount.
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE 6ROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Carrying amount and changes during the period

2017 Restated 2018
Machinery Other and Machinery Other and
Land and and assetsin Land and and assetsin

(in € millions] buildings  equipment progress Total buildings  equipment progress Total
Gross amount
As of January 1 2,758 6,547 2,006 11,312 3,352 7,216 1,990 12,558
Capital expenditure 108 134 776 1,018 108 139 762 1,009
Disposals (19) (54) (78) (151) (13) (46) (23) (82)
Reclassification of assets
held for sale 1 33 4 48 = = = -
Changes in consolidation
scope 420 727 294 1,441 - - - -
Translation adjustments (172) (455) (136) (763) (35) (226) (33) (295)
Impairment (22) (201) (39) (262) (11 (79 (111) (201)
Other B/ 268 486 (837) (84) 144 760 (384) 520
As of December 31 3,352 7,216 1,990 12,558 3,544 7,765 2,201 13,510
Depreciation
As of January 1 (1,190) (4,107) (979) (6,276) (1,276) (4,323) (954) (6,553)
Depreciation charges and
impairment (125) (470) (142) (737) (134) (496) (135) (765)
Disposals 14 47 46 108 " 42 21 74
Reclassification of assets
held for sale (6) (20) (2) (28) = = = -
Changes in consolidation
scope (27) (214) (28) (269) = = = =
Translation adjustments 48 236 61 346 27 178 24 230
Impairment 15 182 37 234 7 50 98 154
Other © (6) 22 52 69 (37) (369) (67) (474)
As of December 31 (1,276) (4,323) (954) (6,553) (1,403) (4,918) (1,013) (7,335)
Carrying amount
As of December 31 2,076 2,894 1,036 6,005 2,141 2,846 1,187 6,175
Including assets in progress 673 673 805 805

(a) Excluding property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases and presented under the Other heading.

[b) Comprises mainly property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases.
[c) In 2018, corresponds mainly to the effects of the application of IAS 29 to Argentina (see Note 1.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Impairment review of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the recoverable amount of the
asset (or group of assets to which it belongs) may be impaired:

® therecoverable amount corresponds to the higher of the market value and value in use;

e value in use is estimated on the basis of the discounted cash flows that the asset (or group of assets to which it belongs] is expected
to generate over its estimated useful life in the conditions of use determined by the Group;

® market value corresponds to the estimated net selling price that could be obtained by the Group in an arm’s length transaction.

An impairment provision is recognized when the recoverable amount of the asset proves to be lower than its carrying amount.

Capital expenditure during the period

Year ended December 31

(in € millions, except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
Related cash flows (969) (941)
As a percentage of sales 3.9% 3.8%

Note 6.6. 0ff-balance sheet commitments relating fo operating activities

Commitments given in 2018

Amount of financial flows for the period

(in € millions] Total 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 and after
Commitments to purchase goods

and services (3,824) (2,1006) (899) (527) (236) (56)
Capital expenditure commitments (166) (164) (2) - - -
Operating lease commitments (718) (219) (133) (92) (64) (210)
Guarantees and pledges given (16) (14) - - - (2)
Other (49) (39) (7) (2) - (1)
Total (4,773) (2,542) (1,041) (621) (300) (269)

(a) Commitments relating mainly to purchases of milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials.

Commitments given in 2017

Amount of financial flows for the period

(in € millions] Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 and after
Commitments to purchase goods and

services @ (4,252) (2,397) (780) (478) (281) (317)
Capital expenditure commitments (197) (187) (9) - - (M
Operating lease commitments (748) (223) (139) (101) (65) (220)
Guarantees and pledges given (25) (22) 0 - - (2)
Other (55) (34) (1) (6) (3) (2)
Total (5,278) (2,863) (939) (585) (349) (542)

(a) Commitments relating mainly to purchases of milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials.

Other commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to a variety of legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business, notably as a result
of guarantees given on disposals since 1997. In some cases, damages and interest are sought. Provisions are recognized when an outflow
of resources is probable and the amount can be reliably estimated.

N N N YN
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NOTE 6. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note 6.7 financial risks associated with operating activities

The Group's financial risk policy and its organization are described
in Note 13.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk

Due to its international presence, the Group could be exposed to
foreign exchange rate fluctuations in the context of its operating
activities.

Risk identification

The Group mainly operates on a local basis and consequentlyin the
currency of the country in which it is operating, thereby incurring
no currency risk. However, the location of some of the Group's
production units may result in intercompany billings in foreign
currencies. This applies particularly to the Specialized Nutrition
Reporting entityand, to a lesser extent, to the EDP Noram excluding
WhiteWave and EDP International Reporting entities. Similarly,
some raw materials are billed or indexed in foreign currencies, in
particularasregards the Waters, EDP Internationaland EDP Noram
Reporting entities. Lastly, the Group is also developing some export
activities. The sales and operating margin of some subsidiaries are
therefore exposed to fluctuations of foreign exchange rates against
their functional currency.

Risk monitoring and management

Pursuant to its financial currency risk hedging policy, the Group's
residual exposure (after hedging) is not significant during the
hedging period.

As of December 31, 2018, the main hedged currencies in terms of
value included the British pound, Chinese yuan, Australian dollar,
Hong Kong dollar and Mexican peso (see Note 13.2 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements).

Commodities risk
Danone’s raw materials needs consist mainly of:

® materials needed to produce food and beverage products, mainly
milk and fruits (the “food raw materials”). On a value basis, milk
represents the main raw material purchased by Danone. These
purchases consist mainly of liquid milk, for which the operating
subsidiaries typically enterinto agreements with local producers
or cooperatives. Liquid milk prices are set locally, over contractual
periods that vary from one country to another. The main other
food raw materials are fruit-based preparations and sugar;

® product packaging materials, in particular plastics and cardboard
(“packaging”). Packaging purchases are managed through global
and regional purchasing programs making it possible to opti-
mize skills and volume effects. Prices are influenced by supply
and demand at the global and regional levels, economic cycles,
production capacities and oil prices;

® energysupplies. Theyaccountforonlya limited portion of Danone’s
purchases.

Danone’s strategy increasingly focuses on the upstream portion of
its activities and in particular its supply of raw materials, not only
to manage its costs but also to make it a genuine source of added
value and differentiation relative to the competition.

The price trends of major raw materials may affect the structure of
Danone’sresults. In that context, the Group manages raw materials
cost volatility through the following measures:

® continuous productivity gains: Danone strives in particular to
optimize its use of raw materials (reductions in production waste,
lighter packaging and more effective use of milk sub-compo-
nents in the Group's various products) and take advantage
of pooled purchasing for its various subsidiaries. In 2013, for
example, Danone established a centralized purchasing system
for the non-milk purchases of the EDP and Early Life Nutrition
Reporting entities;

e implementation of a purchasing policy ["Market Risk Management”)
that consists of defining rules for securing the physical supply
and price setting with suppliers and/or on financial markets
when they exist. The monitoring of exposures and the imple-
mentation of this policy are carried out for each raw materials
category by the Danone central purchasing team. The buyers
typically negotiate forward purchase agreements with suppliers,
since no financial markets exist that would allow full hedging of
the volatility of Danone’s main raw materials purchase prices.
Forward purchase agreements are monitored at the Group level
at the end of each year.

Sensitivity of net income to changes in prices of the two main
categories of raw materials purchased by the Group

Impact on the cost of raw materials for the fiscal year concerned
of an increase/decrease in their price applied uniformly across all
countries, throughout that fiscalyear, using constant exchange rates
(projected annual rate determined by Danone for the 2018 fiscalyear).

Year ended December 31 at constant exchange rates

2017 Restated 2018
(in € millions] Gain (loss) Gain (loss)
Increase of 5%
Liquid milk, milk powder and other milk-based ingredients (127) (123)
Plastics, including PET (77) (83)
Decrease of 5%
Liquid milk, milk powder and other milk-based ingredients 127 123
Plastics, including PET 77 83
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NOTE 7. EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS OUTSIDE THE GROUP'S ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Note /1. Other operating income (expense)

Accounting principles

Other operatingincome [expense is defined under Recommendation
2013-03 of the French CNC relating to the format of consolidated
financial statements prepared under international accounting
standards, and comprises significant items that, because of their
exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to Danone’s current
activities. These mainly include capital gains and losses on disposals
of fully consolidated companies, impairment charges on goodwill,

Other operating income (expense) in 2018

significant costs related to strategic restructuring and major external
growth transactions, and incurred or estimated costs related to
major crises and major litigation. Furthermore, in connection with
Revised IFRS 3 and Revised IAS 27, Danone also classifies in Other
operating income (expense] (i) acquisition costs related to business
combinations, (i) revaluation profit or loss accounted for following
a loss of control, and (iii) changes in earn-outs related to business
combinations and subsequent to the acquisition date.

In 2018, the net Other operating expense of €(821) million consisted mainly of the following items:

(in € millions) Notes Related income (expenses)
Impairment of intangible assets of Centrale Danone 7.2 (662)
Other costs relating to the boycott of Centrale Danone 7.2 (28)
Impairment of the intangible assets of a CGU in the EDP

International Reporting entity 10.3 (25)
Costs relating to the restructuring of the EDP International Reporting

entity in certain countries (71)
Costs associated with the integration of WhiteWave ! (69)
Compensation received ¢ 60

(a] The main components are the costs of surplus fresh and packaged milk, as well as the impairment provisions in respect of production lines that have been

shut down.
[b) Mainly in Latin America and Africa.

[c) Mainly related to IS/IT costs, consulting fees and end-of-contract penalties.

(d) Late payment interest received in respect of the Fonterra case (€30 million) and compensation receivable following settlement of a dispute with Systéme U

(€30 million).

Other operating income (expense) in 2017

In 2017, the net Other operating income of €192 million consisted mainly of the following items:

(in € millions]

Related income (expenses)

Capital gain on disposal of Stonyfield 628
Compensation received following the decision of the Singapore arbitration court

in the Fonterra case 105
Territorial risks, mainly in certain countries in the ALMA region (148)
Costs associated with the integration of WhiteWave © (118)
Impairment of several intangible assets in Waters and Specialized

Nutrition Reporting entities (115)
Costs relating to the restructuring of EDP International Reporting entity in certain countries (78)
Restructuring of the Group's activities in Argentina as a result of the economic climate (39)

(a) Integration costs of €(91) million and impact on income of inventory revaluations performed in connection with the purchase price allocation for €(27) million.

[b) Mainly concerns the adaptation of EDP International Reporting entity in Europe and Latin America.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 9

N N N YN



41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7. EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS OUTSIDE THE 6ROUP'S ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Note 72. Impact of the boycott in Morocco of Centrale Danone products (EDP International, Morocco)

Since April 20, 2018 Centrale Danone has been subject to a boy-
cott, notably of its sales of milk under the Centrale brand, and
has experienced a severe downturn in its activity and a significant
decrease in its sales.

Consequently, Centrale Danone, which is listed on the Casablanca
stock exchange, issued a profitwarning on June 4, 2018 concerning
its results for the first six months of the year. Centrale Danone
subsequently issued a further profit warning concerning its full-
year 2018 results.

Centrale Danone took immediate initiatives (reduction of milk collec-
tion and termination of interim workforce contracts) and is working
on a plan to adapt its activity. In addition, as Emmanuel FABER
announced at the end of June, Danone has made a commitment to
work on a new model aiming at selling fresh pasteurized milk at
cost, Centrale brand will thus generate no further profit.

Impact on the net book value of Centrale brand and
on the goodwill of the Centrale Danone CGU

The decrease in Centrale Danone’s sales impacting primarily the
sales of milk under the Centrale brand constitutes an indication
of impairment.

Centrale brand has been fully impaired, i.e. for €(79) million as of
December 31, 2018. The related impairment charge is recorded
in Other operating expense in the year ended December 31, 2018.

In addition, as of June 30, 2018, the Company tested the Centrale
Danone CGU for impairment based on a new eight-year business
plan prepared by the management as a result of this crisis. The
recoverable value of the Centrale Danone CGU, assessed with
reference to expected future discounted cash flows, was lower
thanits net book value as of June 30, 2018, as a result the Company
impaired the goodwill for €583 million after taking into account the
impairment of the Centrale brand. The Company carried out a further
impairment test on the Centrale Danone CGU as of December 31,
2018, based on an updated business plan, which did not identify
the need for any additional impairment provision. The goodwill of
Centrale Danone CGU after impairment amounts to €168 million
as of December 31, 2018.

Inaddition, the Company performed the following sensitivity analysis
on the recoverable amount:

Additional impairment

Sensitivity Indicators [in € millions]
(50)bps Sales growth @ -
(100]bps Recurring operating margin (8)
(50)bps Long-term growth rate -
+50bps Discount rate (1)

(a] Applied each year as per the long-term (eight-year] plan.

In total, in respect of the Centrale Morocco CGU, a €662 million impairment charge of its intangible assets was recognized in Other ope-

rating expense for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 8. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES. PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Note 8.1 Number of employees at fully consolidated companies

Number of employees as of December 31 and breakdown by Reporting entity and geographical area

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018
Total number of employees 104,843 105,783
By geographical area
Europe and North America 31% 31%
North America 7% 7%
Europe 24% 24%
Rest of the World 69% 69%
Asia, Pacific and Middle East 20% 21%
China 8% 8%
CIS 9% 9%
Africa 9% 8%
Latin America 23% 23%
Total 100% 100%
By Reporting entity
EDP International 36% 36%
EDP Noram 6% 6%
Specialized Nutrition 20% 20%
Waters 35% 35%
Corporate functions 3% 3%
Total 100% 100%
Note 8.2 Personnel costs of fully consolidated companies
Year ended December 31
(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Salaries and social security charges (3,614) (3,668)
Retirement obligations - defined benefit plans (39) (38)
Expenses relating to Group performance shares (24) (24)

(a) Salaries after social security charges. Also comprises the contributions in respect of defined contribution retirement plans.

(b) Service cost.
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NOTE 8. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES. PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Note 8.3. Refirement commitments, refirement indemnities and personal profection

General principles

The Group contributes to employee retirement benefit plans in
accordance with the laws and usual practices of countries in which
its subsidiaries operate. As aresult of contributions paid under such
plans to private or state sponsored pension funds, the Group has
no actuarial liability in that respect.

The Group also has contractual obligations for supplementary
retirement plans, severance pay, retirement indemnities and per-
sonal protection plans. The related actuarial commitments are
taken into account either through the payment of contributions to
independently-managed funds responsible for their service and the
fund administration, or through provisions.

Accounting principles

Defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions due under defined contribution plans are expensed
asincurred. These expenses are allocated to different headings in
the consolidated income statement.

Defined benefit retirement plans

The Group’s obligations relating to defined benefit retirement plans
are calculated using the projected unit credit method and by taking
into account several actuarial assumptions, including employee
turnover, salary increases and employees’ expected active lives.

The carrying amounts of these plans on the consolidated balance
sheet correspond to the actuarial value of the obligations, as de-
fined above, less the fair value of the plan assets (retirement funds
to which the Group contributes, for example). They are presented
under the heading Provisions for retirement obligations and other
long-term benefits.

Defined benefit retirement plans

In addition, the expected return on plan assets is measured on the
basis of the discount rate used to estimate the actuarial value of
retirement commitments.

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from experience adjustments
and changesintheactuarialassumptions that are used to calculate
the obligations net of the assets (including the difference between
the expected return and the actual return on plan assets) are fully
recognized within Other comprehensive income.

The recognized costs and income of defined benefit plans corres-
pond mainly to:

® the costofservices provided during the yearand of prior services
(where relevant) recognized within Recurring operating income;

® the accretion of the present value of the obligations, net of the
expected returnon planassets, recognized within Other financial
income (expense).

Other long-term benefits

Other long-term benefits may be granted by certain Group compa-
nies to their employees, such as personal protection coverage and
long-service awards. The Group's obligations in respect of these
benefits are determined by applying a similar method to that used
to determine the obligations relating to post-employment defined
benefit plans.

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet in respect of these
plans correspond to the presentvalue of the obligations, as detailed
above. Theyare presented under the heading Provisions for retire-
ment obligations and other long-term benefits.

The actuarial gains and losses resulting from experience adjust-
ments and changes in the actuarial assumptions used to calculate
obligations are recognized in full within Recurring operating income
of the fiscal year in which they are incurred.

Provisions for retirement obligations and other long-term benefits

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Defined benefit retirement plans 898 843
Other long-term benefits 21 25
Total 919 868
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Defined benefit retirement plans and other post-employment benefits

Carrying amount of gross obligations

As of December 31

lin percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
Retirement plan for senior managers 33% 32%
Other 17% 17%
France 50% 49%
Germany 12% 12%
Indonesia 8% 8%
Belgium 7% 7%
United States 7% 7%
Ireland 5% 6%
Other ® 1% 1%
Total 100% 100%

(a) Several countries, none of which represent more than 5% of the Group’s gross obligations.

Group’s principal obligation

The Group's principal defined benefit retirement plan obligations
involve the Retirement plan for senior managers in France. This
retirement plan, which was set up in 1976 to retain key managers,
may also include certain senior executives who were “Group
Directors” on December 31,2003, at which date the plan was closed
to new beneficiaries. On December 31, 2017, 115 Group Directors
were members of this plan (excluding plan beneficiaries who had
already claimed their pension benefits), compared to 170 potential
beneficiaries in 2003.

General principles

This plan provides for a pension based on years of service and the
amount of final salary, under the condition that the beneficiary is
stillin Danone’s employment at the time of retirement. The pension:

® s paid after deducting certain pensions corresponding:

e with respect to a first category of senior executives, to the
full amount of retirement benefits they acquired over the
course of their professional career;

e withrespecttoasecond category of senior executives, to the
full amount of retirement benefits that they acquired due to
the implementation of a Company non-contributory supple-
mentary retirement plan;

® and may reach a maximum of 65% of final salaries.

In the event of leaving Danone before the age of 55 or in the event
of death before retirement, the employee loses all benefits under
this plan, it being specified that if the employee is laid off after the
age of 55, the plan benefits are preserved, subject to the beneficiary
not taking any salaried position in the future.

Other obligations

Most of the other retirement plans introduced by the Group relate
onlytoagiven subsidiaryina given country. Consequently, the Group
is required to manage several different plans in a given country.
None is material.
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NOTE 8. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES. PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Carrying amount of provisions (gross obligations net of plan assets)

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018
Retirement Retirement
plan for senior Other plan for senior Other

(in € millions) managers plans Total managers plans Total
Vested rights with
projected salaries 481 969 1,449 449 942 1,391
Fair value of plan assets (165) (386) (551) (158) (390) (548)
Vested rights net of fair value
of plan assets 316 583 898 291 552 843
Impact of ceiling on assets - -
Obligations for which provisions
have been recorded on the
balance sheet 316 583 898 291 552 843

In addition, the total amount of contributions/benefits to be paid out in 2018 in connection with these plans is estimated at €43 million.

Actuarial assumptions

Methodology
The Group defines the actuarial assumptions by country and/or
subsidiary.

The discountrates usedin 2018 were obtained on the basis of invest-
ment grade (AA rating) bond yields of private issuers for durations

Retirement plan for senior managers

Main actuarial assumptions

equivalentto that of the commitmentin the corresponding monetary
areas. The level of quality used is assessed on the basis of the rating
obtained from the leading financial rating agencies. In the case of
illiquid markets, the discount rate is determined using government
bonds of equivalent maturity to the term of the assessed plans.

Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(in percentage, except for ages in number of years) 2017 Restated 2018
Discount rate 1.8% 2.2%
Expected return on plan assets 1.8% 2.2%
Salary growth rate 3.0% 3.0%
Retirement age 60-66 60-66

Sensitivity analysis of the key assumption, the discount rate

Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

2017 Restated 2018

(in € millions)

Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)

50bps increase

50bps decrease

(44) (40)
51 A
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NOTE 8. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES. PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2017 Restated 2018
Impact Impact
Vested Plan of ceiling Obligations Vested Plan of ceiling Obligations
(in € millions] rights assets onassets provisioned rights assets onassets provisioned
As of January 1 1,452 (520) - 932 1,449 (551) - 898
Service cost 39 - 39 38 - 38
Interest cost 35 - 35 85 - 85
Expected return
on plan assets - (10) (10) - (10) (10)
Other (19) - (19) (3) - (3)
Expense for the year 56 (10) - 46 71 (10) - 61
Payments made to retirees (51) 25 (26) (52) 29 (22)
Contributions to plan assets - (39) (39) - (21) (21)
Changes in demographic
assumptions 1 - 1 D - 9
Changes in economic
assumptions (9] - (9) (81) = (81)
Experience effects 10 (8) 2 (5) 8 3
Actuarial gains and losses 2 (8) - (7) (81) 8 - (73)
Translation adjustments (35) 12 (22) 4 (3) 1
Other 26 (11) 15 - - -
As of December 31 1,449 (551) - 898 1,391 (548) = 843

Defined benefit retirement plan assets

The investment policy for plan assets depends, for each company, on the employees’ age structure and the expected return on the various

asset classes.

Plan assets of retirement plan for senior managers

As of December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(in € millions, except percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
Fair value of plan assets (165) (158)
Main class of plan assets

Bonds @) 89% 90%
Equities 4% 4%
Real estate and other asset classes 7% 5%

(a) These assets are diversified and, in particular, exposure to individual sovereign risk is limited.

[b) Do not include any financial instruments issued by the Group.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions paid as part of defined contribution plans are recognized under Recurring operating income.

Note 84 Group performance shares and sfock-options granted fo cerfain employees and corporate officers

Group policy

The Group has awarded long-term compensation in the form of Group
performance shares since 2010 and awarded such compensation
in the form of stock-options until 2010. Around 1,800 directors and
senior executives, as well as the corporate officers, have benefited
from these arrangements.

It should be noted that the stock-options expired at the end of the
2017 fiscal year.

General principles applicable to Group performance shares
The Group’s long-term compensation takes the form of Group per-
formance shares (GPS), which are shares in the Company that are
subject to performance conditions, set by the Shareholders” Meeting
foreach plan. Inthe case of all outstanding plans, the performance
conditions are based on aspects of the Company’s performance.
The GPS are also subject to continuing employment conditions. The
vesting period is four years.
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NOTE 8. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES. PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Group Performance Shares in effect

Year ended December 31

(in number of shares)

2017 Restated 2018

As of January 1 2,299,567 2,314,990
Shares granted during the year @ 644,420 624,039
Shares that lapsed or were canceled during the year (243,884) (262,412)
Shares delivered during the year (385,113) (525,007)
As of December 31 2,314,990 2,151,610

(a) If the continuous employment and performance conditions are fully met, the number of shares granted during the 2018 fiscal year could reach 655,488.
[b] Ifthe continuous employment and performance conditions are fully met, the number of Group performance shares could reach 2,212,646 as of December 31,2018.

Accounting treatment of Group performance shares

Accounting principles

The fair value of Group performance shares is calculated on the
basis of assumptions made by the Group’s management. The
corresponding charge is spread over the vesting period (4 years).
To the extent that performance conditions are based on internal
performance, charges recognized in respect of shares that lapse

Valuation

due tothe failure to achieve said performance conditions are written
back in the income statement for the period in which it is probable
they will lapse.

They are taken into account in calculating the dilution as described
in Note 14.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31

(in € per share, except for number of shares]

2017 Restated 2018

Number of shares granted 644,420 624,039

Fair value of shares granted ! 57.5 58.2

Average DANONE share price 65.7 65.7

(a) Fair value as of the grant date.

Expenses related to Group performance shares including taxes

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018

Group performance shares (24) (24)

Total expense (24) (24)

0
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Note 8.5. Company Savings Plan

General and accounting principles

Employees of the Group’s French entities can, on an annual basis,
subscribe a capital increase in the Company through a Company
Savings Plan. The purchase price of the shares corresponds to 80%
of the average DANONE share price over the 20 listing days prece-
ding the meeting of the Board of Directors that approves the plan.

NOTE 5. INCOME TAX

The benefit granted to the employees is calculated based on the fair
value of the shares on the grant date. The fair value is calculated
after taking into account the five-year holding period on these shares
and the market parameters applicable to employees, in particular
the borrowing rate.

The corresponding charge is recorded under Otherincome [expense)
for the year at the time of the capital increase.

Capital increase reserved for employees as part of the Company Savings Plan
In 2018, under the terms of the Company Savings Plan, Danone implemented a capital increase involving 868,896 new shares issued at a

price of €54.50 per share, i.e. a total capital increase of €47 million.

NOTE 3. INCOME TAX

Note 9.1, Income fax

Income before tax and tax expense

Year ended December 31

(in € millions except tax rate in percentage) 2017 Restated 2018
Income before tax 3,292 2,393
Current tax (expense) income (1,131) (895)
Deferred tax [expense) income 289 179
Current and deferred tax (expense) income (842) (716)
Effective tax rate 25.6% 29.9%
Amount (paid] received during the year (1.116) (556)

Tax rate and tax systems

French tax system

Danone forms a tax group with most of its French subsidiaries in
which it owns, directly or indirectly, more than 95% of the share
capital, enabling taxable profits and losses to be offset subject to
certain limits and conditions.

The statutory tax rate for companies with sales exceeding €3 billion
was raised to 44.43%in 2017 following the introduction of an excep-
tional tax contribution on companies. Since this measure applies only
in 2017, the standard tax rate used to calculate the effective tax rate
was retained at 34.43%. Moreover, the 2018 tax rate is also 34.43%.

Other tax systems
Similartax grouping arrangements exist in other countries, in par-
ticular in the United States, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom,
Germany and Spain.

In the case of the United States, the tax reform enacted in
December 2017 reduced the tax rate from 35% to 21% as from
2018, resulting, in 2017, in a €285 million decrease in deferred tax
liabilities with a corresponding tax income.

Effective tax rate

In 2018, the Group effective tax rate was 29.9%, higher than the 2017
rate since itincludes non-recurring items related to the unfavorable
impacts of the impairment of the Centrale Danone assets and does
notinclude the 2017 favorable impacts related to the changes made
to the tax rates in several countries.

As is the case with Danone’s business activity (see breakdown
of sales by country in Note 6.2 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements), Danone’s current and deferred tax expense
is also relatively well distributed across several countries, with no
single dominant country.
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NOTE 9. INCOME TAX

Difference between effective tax rate and 34.43 % statutory tax rate in France

Year ended December 31

(in percentage] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Statutory tax rate in France 34.4% 34.4%
Differences between French and foreign tax rates @ (9.5)% (14.2)%
Tax on dividends and royalties 1.0% 2.5%
Permanent differences 1.4% 2.2%
Tax loss carryforwards 9.3 3.7% 0.4%
Tax adjustments and unallocated taxes ¥ (5.3)% (0.1)%
Impact of capital gains and losses on disposal and asset impairment '° 7.2 1.3% 6.3%
Other differences (1.5)% (1.5)%
Effective income tax rate 25.6% 29.9%

(a) Various countries, none of which generates a significant difference with the French income tax rate.

[b) In 2017, this comprises the repayment of the 3% dividends tax.

[c) In 2017, this comprises the impacts of the deferred tax asset impairment in certain Latin American countries.

[d) In 2018, this corresponds mainly to the favorable impacts of the change in the income tax rate in the Netherlands on the measurement of the long-term
deferred tax balances. In 2017, this corresponds mainly to the favorable impacts of the change in the tax rate in the United States on the measurement of the

long-term deferred tax balances.

(e) In 2018, this corresponds mainly to the effects of the impairment of the Centrale Danone assets. In 2017, this corresponds mainly to the negative impact of

the gain on the disposal of Stonyfield.

Note 9.2 Deferred taxes

Accounting principles

Deferred taxes are recognized foralltemporarydifferences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes, except for the cases specified in
IAS 12, Income taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the lia-
bility method, applying the last enacted income tax rates expected
to be applicable when the temporary differences will be reversed.

In addition, temporary differences are reflected in the consoli-
dated financial statements as deferred tax assets or liabilities

Carrying amount

systematically in the case of associates and on the basis of the
most likely scenario as regards the reversal of the differences, i.e.
distribution of reserves or disposal of the entity concerned, in the
case of fully consolidated subsidiaries.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, when the tax entity
has a legal right to offset.

Lastly, the Company and its subsidiaries may be subject to tax audits.
A provision is recognized in the consolidated financial statements
whenever it is probable that a tax reassessment will be made.

As of December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Breakdown by type of deferred tax

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,708) (1,624)
Tax loss carryforwards 9.3 294 281
Provisions for retirement obligations and other long-term

benefits 2N 198
Employee profit-sharing provisions 13 15
Restructuring provisions 1 6
Other 269 347
Net deferred taxes (910) (777)
Deferred tax assets 722 761
Deferred tax liabilities (1,633) (1,537)
Net deferred taxes (910) (777)
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Changes during the period

NOTE 3. INCOME TAX

(in € millions] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
As of January 1 (259) (910)
Changes recognized in Other comprehensive income 10 2
Changes recognized in profit or loss 367 138
Changes in consolidation scope 4.2,5.2 (1,114) 2
Other 85 (8)
As of December 31 (910) (777)

Note 9.3. Tax loss carryforwards

Accounting principles

Deferred taxassets relating to tax loss carryforwards and temporary
differences are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when
itis more likely than not that these taxes will be recovered. At each
closing, the Group reviews the unused tax losses and the amount

Carrying amount

of deferred tax assets recognized on the balance sheet. In some
countries in which losses can be carried forward indefinitely, the
Group takes into consideration long-term recovery horizons when

justified in light of forecast taxable profits.

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018

Tax losses - recognized portion

Recognized tax loss carryforwards @/ 1,275 1,085

Tax savings 303 289

Tax losses - unrecognized portion

Tax loss carryforwards and tax credits not yet used @ 512 593
147 169

Potential tax savings

(a) Basis amount.
[b) In 2018, they mainly come from the French consolidated tax group.
(c) Corresponds to deferred tax assets based on tax loss carryforwards

Consumption horizon

Most of the tax losses as of December 31, 2018 can be carried forward indefinitely. The probable consumption horizon for most of these

losses is less than ten years.
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note [0.1. Accounting principles
Goodwill

When control of a company is acquired, the fair value of the consi-
deration given to the seller is allocated to the acquired identified
assets and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, which
are measured at fair value. The difference between the considera-
tion given to the seller and the Group's share of the fair value of the
acquired identified assets and the liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties assumed represents goodwill. When the option of recognizing
non-controlling interests at fair value is applied, a corresponding
premium is allocated to goodwill. Goodwill is recognized in the
consolidated balance sheetas an assetunder the heading Goodwill.

Goodwillarising from the acquisition of a foreign entity is recognized
in the functional currency of the entity acquired and translated at
the exchange rates prevailing on the closing date.

Goodwillis notamortized butis tested forimpairment at least annually.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
the Cash Generating Units (CGU) or groups of CGUs most likely
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination and to
the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by the Group. The
CGUs correspond to subsidiaries or groups of subsidiaries that are
includedin the same Reporting entity and that generate cash flows
largely independent from those generated by other CGUs.

Brands with indefinite useful lives

Acquired brands that are distinguishable, having a significant value,
are supported by advertising expense and having indefinite useful
lives are recorded under the heading Brands in the consolidated
balance sheet. The valuation of these brands is generally determined
with the assistance of valuation specialists, taking into account
various factors, including brand awareness and their contribution
to earnings. These brands, which are legally protected, are not
amortized but are tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if signs of impairment exist [see hereinafter].
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Other brands

Other acquired brands that are deemed to have finite useful lives
are presented under the heading Brands in the consolidated balance
sheet. They are amortized on a straight-line basis over their esti-
mated useful lives, which do not exceed 60 years. The amortization
chargesinrespect of brands with finite useful lives are allocated to
various headings inthe income statement on the basis of the nature
and utilization of the brands concerned.

Development costs

Development costs are only recognized under assets in the conso-
lidated balance sheet if all the recognition criteria set by IAS 38,
Intangible Assets are met before the products are launched on the
market. They are amortized over the term of their legal protection
granted to the Group as from the date the corresponding products
are launched on the market.

Development costs are generally expensed as incurred (see Note
6.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Technologies, development costs and other
intangible assets

The following elements are recognized in the balance sheet under
the heading Other intangible assets:

® acquired technologies, which are generally valued with the
assistance of specialized consultants and amortized over the
average duration of the patents;

® acquired development costs meeting the criteria for the recogni-
tion of an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38, Intangible
Assets (see hereinbefore);

® otheracquiredintangible assetsare recognized attheiracquisi-
tion cost. They are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated economic lives, which do not exceed 40 years.

The amortization charges in respect of these assets are allocated
to various headings in the income statement on the basis of their
nature and utilization.
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Note 10.2. Carrying amount and changes during the period

NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2017 Restated 2018
Other Other
intangible intangible

(in € millions] Notes  Goodwill Brands' assets Total Goodwill Brands® assets Total
Gross value
As of January 1 11,620 3,898 908 16,426 18,132 6,432 1,103 25,666
Changes in consolidation
scope ! 3.1,4.2,5.2 7,949 3,025 185 11,160 48 (35) = 13
Capital expenditure - - 66 66 = = 56 56
Disposals - - (10) (9] = = (4) (4)
Translation adjustments (1,392) (425) (49) (1,867) 19 8 (29) 97
Impairment 7.2,10.3 (48) (67) (15) (130) (608) (79) (17) (704)
Reclassification of assets
held for sale - - 1 1 - - - -
Other © 1.5 2 - 17 19 20 54 90 164
As of December 31 18,132 6,432 1,103 25,666 17,711 6,379 1,198 25,288
Amortization
As of January 1 - (19 (603) (623) = (20) (701) (722)
Charges - (2) (91) (93) = (2) (96) (98)
Disposals - - 23 23 - - 16 16
Other © - 1 (30) (29) = 2 (41) (39)
As of December 31 - (20) (701) (722) = (20) (822) (843)
Carrying amount
As of December 31 18,132 6,412 401 24,945 17,711 6,359 376 24,445

(a) Includes brands with indefinite useful lives and the other brands.

[b) In 2018, effect of the finalization of the allocation of WhiteWave's acquisition price.
(c] In 2018, corresponds mainly to the effects of the application of IAS 29 to Argentina (see Note 1.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Note 10.3. [mpairment review
Methodology

The carryingamounts of goodwill and brands with indefinite useful
lives are reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever
events or circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. These
events or circumstances are linked to significant, unfavorable and
lasting changes that have an impact on the economic environment
and the assumptions or targets set at the time of acquisition.

Impairment tests are carried out on all property, plant and equip-
mentand intangible assets of the CGUs and groups of CGUs. When
the carrying amount of all the property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the CGUs and groups of CGUs becomes greater
than theirrecoverable amount, animpairment provision is recognized
and first charged against goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs or groups of CGUs to which
the tested assets belong is the higher of the fair value net of dis-
posal costs, which is generally estimated on the basis of earnings
multiples, and the value in use, which is assessed with reference
to expected future discounted cash flows of the CGU or group of
CGUs concerned.

Annual impairment testing of brands with indefinite useful lives is
based on an individual recoverable amount established using the
royalties method, with the exception of certain brands for which the
Group has a third-party valuation. In the case of the major brands,
the Group re-estimates the royalty rate of the brands concerned
in accordance with a method applied each year and based on the
brand’s parameters including awareness of the brand, its profita-
bility, market shares, etc.

The cash flows used to determine value in use of the CGUs or groups
of CGUs and the recoverable amount of the brands with indefinite
usefullives are derived from the annual budgets and strategic plans
of the CGUs or groups of CGUs, which are drawn up by Management
and covera period of twoyears, and are extended, where appropriate,
on the basis of the most recent forecasts, to:

® threetofiveyearsforthe CGUs and groups of CGUs in the Waters,
EDP Noram and EDP International Reporting entities (with the
exception of the emerging countries for which the forecasts
cover eight years);

® nineyearsforthe Specialized Nutrition Reporting entity, to better
reflectthe expected development of its activity on the estimation
of the value in use. The Group uses projections over nine years
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

to better reflect the Reporting entity’s growth over this period,
since the actual growth rate of these CGUs and groups of CGUs
exceeds the long-term growth rate that the Group applies to
each of these CGUs

Future cash flows beyond that period are extrapolated using a long-
term growth rate that is specific to each CGU or group of CGUs

® theoperationalassumptions used to calculate the terminalvalue
are in line with the last year of projections described above in
terms of sales and recurring operating margin;

Impairment tests carried out as of December 31, 2018

Reorganization of the CGUs of the EDP Noram and EDP
International Reporting entities

The EDP CGUs, as defined as of December 31, 2017, have been
combined with the WhiteWave businesses. In particular, the United
States and Canada CGUs have been combined with the WhiteWave
businesses in these countries and the Europe CGU has been com-
bined with the WhiteWave Alpro business and therefore covers the
Reporting entity’s entire business in Europe.

Adjustment of the method used to calculate the discount
rate for the groups of CGUs in the Specialized Nutrition
Reporting entity

The Reporting entity’s intangible assets were recognized on ac-
quisition of the early life nutrition and advanced medical nutrition

Headroom

® thelong-term growth rateis determined for each CGU or group
of CGUs taking into account its average growth rate in recent
years and its geographical area [macro-economic fundamentals,
demographics, etc.)

Finally, future cash flows are discounted using the weighted ave-
rage cost of capital method, according to which the cost of debt and
the after-tax cost of equity are weighted based on their respective
proportions in the business sector concerned. It is calculated for
the Group and increased, for certain CGUs or groups of CGUs, by
a premium to take into account the risk factors affecting certain
countries.

activities of the Numico Group in 2007. Since the amounts of the
intangible assets recognized were material (€13 billion or 76% of
Danone’s intangible assets as of the acquisition date) and initially
there was little headroom, the Group opted, in previous fiscal years,
to continue to test these intangible assets on the basis of the discount
rate used in the acquisition plan, despite the effective decrease in
the rate recalculated since then.

Danone has overtenyears of experience of these businesses which
are now fully integrated into the Group and which have for several
years generated significant headrooms, and which achieve a per-
formance in line with management targets. Consequently, Danone
no longer considers this method to be justified and has therefore
decided to no longer apply it as from 2018.

For comparison purposes, the headrooms as of December 31, 2017 would have been as follows:

As of December 31, 2017

(In € billions)

Discount rate used
by the Specialized Nutrition
Reporting entity

Discount rate used in the
acquisition plan (reminder)

Early Life Nutrition Asia
Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World
Advanced Medical Nutrition

5.9 7.7
3.7 5.3
3.1 4.8
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Carrying amount and assumptions concerning long-term growth rate and discount rate in respect
of the CGUs or groups of CGUs and of the assets

As of December 31

Carrying amount of goodwill and Long-term Discount rate
brands with indefinite useful lives growth rate ! after tax W
(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018 2017 Restated 2018
EDP International and EDP Noram
EDP Noram NA 8,618 NA 1t02.5% NA 6.5%
Centrale Danone 866 224 3.0% 2.0% 8.2% 8.2%
Danone CIS ©I 323 282 3.0% 3.0% 7t0 12% 7to 13%
Europe 564 2,601 0% 0to2.5% 6t0 12% 7 to 9%
Other CGUs 504 233 0to 3% 0to 3% 610 17% 7 to 14%
Total EDP International and EDP Noram 2,257 11,958
¢ of which, goodwill 1,650 8,586
e of which, brands with
indefinite useful lives 606 3,371
Waters
Danone Waters France 428 428 1% 1% 6.4% 6.5%
Other CGUs 1 268 262 0to 3% 0to 3% 6to 11% 7to 14%
Total Waters 696 690
¢ of which, goodwill 502 502
e of which, brands with
indefinite useful lives ¢ 194 188
Specialized Nutrition
Early Life Nutrition Asia 2,509 2,511 2.5% 2.5% 7.8% 7.4%
Early Life Nutrition Rest
of the World 4,750 4,631 2.5% 2.5% 8.3% 8.4%
Advanced Medical Nutrition 4,044 4,014 2.5% 2.5% 7.8% 7.5%
Other CGUs 170 178 2.5% 2.5% 6.9% 6.7%
Total Specialized Nutrition 11,473 11,334
¢ of which, goodwill 8,765 8,623
e of which, brands with
indefinite useful lives M 2,708 2,711
Assets of companies in the
WhiteWave group 10,014 NA NA NA
¢ of which, goodwill 7,214 NA NA NA
¢ of which, brands with
indefinite useful lives 2,800 NA NA NA
Total 24,440 23,982
e of which, goodwill 18,132 17,711
e of which, brands with
indefinite useful lives 6,309 6,270

(a) Combination of the United States and Canada CGUs as defined as of December 31, 2017 and of the main WhiteWave business in America.

[b) Consists mainly of Russia and Ukraine.

(c] Combination of the Europe CGU as defined as of December 31,2017 and WhiteWave's Alpro business. This covers the Reporting entity's entire activity in Europe.
(d) More than 10 CGUs.

(e) Consists of several brands, the most material of which are International Delight, Alpro and Silk.

(f) Consists mainly of the Waters Asia CGU and other CGUs, none of which exceeded €200 million as of December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

(g) Consists of several brands, none of which is material individually.

(h) Consists of several brands, the largest of which are Nutricia and Milupa.

(i} In 2017, since the allocation of the acquisition price had not been finalized, their value was provisional and, in the absence of any indications of impairment,
they were not tested for impairment. In 2018, these assets were combined within the EDP Noram CGU and the CGUs in the EDP International Reporting entity.

(j) Applicable to those CGUs whose recoverable amount is determined on the basis of their value in use, i.e. the CGUs corresponding to the companies conso-
lidated before 2017.

(k) In the case of the CGUs in the Specialized Nutrition Reporting entity, the discount rate for 2017 presented here is the rate used in the acquisition plan as
opposed to the rate for 2018.

N N N YN
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and brands of the Centrale Morocco CGU (EDP International and Morocco)
As of December 31, 2018, impairment provisions were recognized in respect of the Centrale brand and the Centrale Danone goodwill in
the amounts of €79 million and €583 million respectively (see Note 7.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Goodwill of the groups of CGUs in the Specialized Nutrition and EDP Noram Reporting entities

As of December 31, 2018, the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount by the following amounts:

As of December 31

(In € billions)

Early Life Nutrition Asia

Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World
Advanced Medical Nutrition

EDP Noram

7.7
B
4.8
4.8

Sensitivity analysis on the value in use to the key assumptions

Year ended December 31

Annual decrease to make recoverable

{In € billions, except percentage] Impact on recoverable amount amount equal carrying amount
Sales - 50bps decrease @

Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.5) 25%
Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World (0.4) 8%
Advanced Medical Nutrition (0.4) 9%
EDP Noram (0.2) 14%
Recurring operating margin - 100bps decrease !

Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.7) 17%
Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World (0.4) 10%
Advanced Medical Nutrition (0.4) 1%
EDP Noram (0.8) 6%
Long-term growth rate - 50bps decrease

Early Life Nutrition Asia (1.1)

Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World (0.6)

Advanced Medical Nutrition (0.7)

EDP Noram (1.3)

Discount rate - 50bps increase

Early Life Nutrition Asia (1.5)

Early Life Nutrition Rest of the World (0.8)

Advanced Medical Nutrition (1.0)

EDP Noram (1.3)

(a) Decrease applied, each year, to the assumed growth in sales, including the final year, on the basis of the 2019 projections.
[b) Decrease applied, each year, to the assumed recurring operating margin, including the final year, on the basis of the 2019 projections.

Goodwill of other CGUs
As of December 31, 2018:

e the CGUs of the Waters and EDP International Reporting en-
tities other than Centrale Danone represented in total 15% of
the carrying amount of the Group's goodwill and comprised
more than 20 CGUs located in diverse geographic regions and

in different countries;
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o following theimpairmentreview of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives of these CGUs, the Group recognized impairment
on one CGU in the EDP International Reporting entity totaling
€25 million, which was recognized in Other operating income
(expense] for the period.

As of December 31, 2017, following the impairment review of intan-
gible assets with indefinite useful lives of these CGUs, the Group
recognized impairment ontwo CGUs in the Waters Reporting entity
in the amount of €47 million.
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Brands with indefinite useful lives other than
Centrale

The Group’s main brands that were tested for impairment were
Nutricia, International Delight, Silk and Alpro. As of December 31,
2018, they represented more than 50% of the carrying amount of
the Group's brands with indefinite useful lives. The other brands are
spread over all Reporting entities and located in diverse geographical
areas and different countries and none represented individually
more than 7% of the carrying amount of the Group’s brands with
indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2018.

Impairment review of the main brands with indefinite useful
lives

As of December 31, 2018, the Group reviewed the value of the
Nutricia, International Delight, Silk and Alpro brands in accordance
with the methodology and the valuation model described above
and on the basis of assumptions based on those of the groups of
CGUs concerned. This review did not result in the recognition of
any impairment provisions.

In addition, analysis of the sensitivity of the value in use to the key
assumptions was carried out on each of these other main brands.
The key assumptions involved in the valuation model used by the
Group are (i) the growth in sales, (ii) the royalty rate, (iii) the long-term

NOTE 1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY.

Note IL1. Accounting principles

Financing

Debtinstruments are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
(i under the amortized cost method, using their effective interest
rate, or [ii) at their fair value.

When the fair value risk of a debt is hedged by a derivative, the
changes in the fair value of the hedged component of said debt is
recognized in the consolidated balance sheet, with the counterpart
to the entry being to the heading Other financial income (expense],
which thereby offsets the changes in fair value of the derivative
instrument.

When future cash flows of a debt are hedged by a derivative, the
changes in the fair value of the effective portion of the derivative
hedging said debt is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet,
with the counterpart to the entry being to consolidated equity, and
is recycledto profitor loss when the hedged item (the interest flows
relating to the hedged debt) impacts the consolidated net income.

Hybrid financing

Since the contractual terms of the perpetual subordinated debt se-
curitiesissued by Danone do not stipulate any redemption or coupon
payment obligation (payment of a coupon is mandatory mainly in
the event of the payment of a dividend to Danone’s shareholders):

® they are classified as equity instruments;

® therelated couponsare recognized as a deduction from conso-
lidated equity, net of the related tax income. In the consolidated
statement of cash flows, they are included in Cash flows provided
by (used in) financing activities, the related tax being included in
Cash flows provided by (used in] operating activities.

NOTE I1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

growth rate used to calculate the terminal value, and (iv) the discount
rate. The following changes, deemed reasonably possible, in the key
assumptions do not alter the findings of the impairment review, i.e.
the absence of any impairment:

e 50bps decrease in sales [decrease applied, each year, to the
assumed growth in sales, including the final year, on the basis
of the 2019 projections);

® 50bps decrease in the royalty rate;
® 50bps decrease in the long-term growth rate;
® 50bpsincrease in the discount rate.

Other brands with indefinite useful lives

As of December 31, 2018, following the impairment review of the
other brands with indefinite useful lives, the Group did not recognize
any impairment provision.

As of December 31, 2017, following the impairment review of the
otherbrands with indefinite useful lives, the Group recognized, under
Other operating income (expense) for the period, an impairment
provision in respect of certain brands in the EDP International and
Specialized Nutrition Reporting entities in the aggregate amount
of €68 million.

NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Short-term investments
Short-term investments comprise marketable securities and other
short-term investments.

Marketable securities comprise highly liquid instruments with short
maturities that are easily convertible into a known amount of cash.
Theyare measured as assets held for trading within the meaning of
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments and are recognized at their fair value
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Other short-term investments are measured at their fair value as
securities held for trading within the meaning of IFRS 9, Financial
Instruments.

Changesinthe fairvalue of short-term investments are recognized
directly under the heading Interest income in the consolidated
income statement.

Translation of transactions denominated in foreign
currencies

At period-end, trade receivables and trade payables denominatedin
foreign currencies are translated using exchange rates on that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of
borrowings or otherinstruments denominated in foreign currencies
that are used to hedge long-term investments denominated in the
same currencies are recognized in consolidated equity under the
heading Cumulative translation adjustments.
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NOTE [1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Note I1.Z. Liquidity risk and management policy

Risk identification

Danone does not use debt in either a recurring or a significant way
in connection with its operating activities. Operating cash flows
are generally sufficient to finance Danone’s business operations
and organic growth.

Danone may, however, take on additional debt to finance acquisi-
tions or, occasionally to manage its cash cycle, particularly when
dividends are paid to the Company’s shareholders.

The Company’s objective is always to keep this debt at a level enabling
it to maintain the flexibility of its financing sources.

Liquidity risk arises mainly from the maturities of its (i) interest-bea-
ring liabilities (bonds, bank debt, etc.], and (i) non-interest-bearing
liabilities (liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling
interests), and from payments on derivative instruments.

As part of its debt management strategy, Danone regularly seeks
new financing to refinance its existing debt.

Inthose countries where centralized financing is not available, when
medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in the case of some
existing financing in a company prior to the acquisition by Danone
of a controlling interest in it, Danone is exposed to liquidity risk
involving limited amounts in those countries.

More generally, it is possible that in the context of a systemic fi-
nancial crisis, Danone may not be able to access the financing or
refinancing it needs on the credit or capital markets, or to access
such finance on satisfactory terms, which could have an adverse
impact on its financial situation.

In addition, Danone’s ability to access financing and its interest
expense could depend in parton its credit rating by financial rating
agencies. The Company’s short- and long-term debt ratings and
any potential deterioration therein could result in higher financing
costs and affect its access to financing.
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Lastly, most of the financing agreements entered into by the Company
[bank lines of credit and bonds] include a change of control provi-
sion, which offers creditors a right of early repayment in the eventa
change in control of the Company causes its rating by the financial
rating agencies to fall below investment grade.

Risk monitoring and management

Under its refinancing policy, Danone reduces its exposure by (i)
centralizing its financing sources, (i) borrowing from diversified
financing sources, (iii) arranging a significant portion of its financing
as medium-term financing, (iv) maintaining financing sources avai-
lable at alltimes, (v) spreading maturities on the basis of projected
need and cash flow generation, and (vi] ensuring that it is not subject
to any covenant relative to maintaining financial ratios.

In those countries where centralized financing is not available,
when medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in the case of
some existing financing in a company prior to the acquisition by
Danone of a controlling interest in it, some Group companies may,
for operational reasons, be required to borrow from local sources.
From a Group perspective, the amounts borrowed are relatively
small, whether considered individually or in total, given that the
level of operating cash flow is generally sufficient to finance their
operations and organic growth.

Use of its financing sources

The Group’s policy consists of keeping its financing sources available
and managing them at the Company level. The Group may need to
use (i) its commercial paper program and syndicated credit facility
to manage its cash cycle, notably when paying out the dividend to
Danone shareholders, and [ii] alternatively, its commercial paper
and EMTN programs or its syndicated credit facility to optimize its
financing cost while still ensuring its financial security, such that
the maturity and currency of its financing raised may vary without
changing the net debt level or the Group’s financial security.



41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE I1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Note 113, Financing structure and changes during the period

Financing classified as debt
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Financing managed

at Company level

Bonds - non-current portion 15,184 300 318 (1,873) 13,929

Bonds - current portion 2,156 - (2,157) (24) 1,873 1,848

Short-term debt

instruments © 719 (2) (1) 716

Total 18,058 300 (2,157) (2) - 293 - - 16,493

Other financing

arrangements

Non-current portion 345 1 118 (116) 349

Current portion 347 27 13 (46) 16 - 457

Total 692 - - 28 13 72 - - 805

Total 18,750 300 (2,157) 27 13 365 - - 17,298

(a) As of December 31, 2017 and 2018, these were included in Current financial debt.
[b) Subsidiaries’ bank financings, other financing arrangements and debts in respect of finance leases.

(c] Mainly the net changes in finance leases.

(d) Net flows of accrued interest as of December 31, 2017 (included in cash flows provided by operations), and accrued interest in respect of the period.

Financing classified as equity

As part of its permanent focus on optimizing its capital structure,
in 2017 Danone launched a hybrid perpetual bond issue totaling
€1.25 billion, taking advantage of the exceptionally attractive
market conditions.

This issuance contributed to the diversification of Danone’s sources
of funding and strengthened its capital structure, providing balance
sheet flexibility for the execution of its strategy.

Theissue consists of a euro-denominated undated bond, offering a
first 1.75% coupon, with a first call date of June 23, 2023. The bonds,
fully accounted for as equity in accordance with IFRS, received an
equity credit of 50% from Moody’s and Standard & Poor's.
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NOTE T1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Note [14. Groups financing and financial security managed af the Company level

Structure of the Group’s main financing and its financial security
As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018
(in € millions] Principal amount Amount used Principal amount Amount used
Bank financing !
Syndicated credit facility 2,000 - 2,000 =
Committed credit facilities 1,450 - 1,037 =
Capital markets financing
EMTN financing @ 21,000 17,340 22,000 15,776
U.S. dollar bonds @ NA 5,294 NA 5,583
Hybrid financing NA 1,250 NA 1,250
Short-term debt instruments 3,000 719 3,000 716

(al The Group's financial structure and financial security are managed at the Company level.

(b) Syndicated credit facility (revolving) maturing in December 2022.

[c) A portfolio of back-up facilities entered into with major credit institutions, with maturities ranging from 2018 to 2022.
(d) Bonds issued by the Company are disclosed on the Group's website.

Main financing transactions in 2018

Year ended December 31

2018
(in millions of currency/ Currency Nominal Maturity
New financing
Social bond EUR 300 2025
Repayments
Eurobonds EUR 750 2018
Eurobonds EUR 1,350 2018
Yen private placement JPY 7,500 2018

Main financing transactions in 2017

Year ended December 31

2017 Restated
(in millions of currency) Currency Nominal Maturity
New financing
Hybrid financing EUR 1,250 Undated
Repayments
WhiteWave bond usD 553 2022
Eurobonds EUR 750 2017
Yen private placement JPY 11,000 2017
Euro private placement EUR 95 2017
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NOTE T1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Repayment schedule for financial debt managed at Company level and put options granted
to non-controlling interests

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment of the principal amount based on the assumption
of non-renewal
(in € millions)

3,000 Bonds

Bl commercial paper @
Liabilities related to put options

Hybrid financing
2,000

45
716
1,000
Lo 1,682 1,746
1,250
0 .

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Undated

(a) Includes the value of derivatives hedging bonds and commercial paper.

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment of interest on the financial assets and liabilities managed at
the Company level, including premiums to be paid on derivative financial instruments based on the assumption
of non-renewal

Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows
(in € millions) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 and after
Interest on debt @ (260) (239) (214) (165) (137)
Cash flows on derivatives @ bI(c) 81 69 69 206 148

[a) The floating interest rates are calculated on the basis of the rates applicable as of December 31, 2018.
[b) Net contractual flows, including premiums payable, net flows payable or receivable relating to the exercise of options in the money at year-end.
[c) Concerns derivative instruments used to manage net debt, assets and liabilities.

Sources of financing available at any time
The sources of financing available at any time established by the Group are composed mainly of available committed credit facilities and
a syndicated credit facility carried by the Company.

(in € millions)
3000

2000

: IIII
0

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

- Syndicated credit facility
Committed credit facilities
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NOTE T1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Company rating

As of December 31

2017 2018
Moody's Standard and Poor’s Moody's Standard and Poor’s
Short-term rating
Rating - A-2 = A-2
Long-term rating 't
Rating Baal BBB+ Baal BBB+
Outlook Stable Negative @ Stable Stable ©
(a) Rating given to the Company’s commercial paper program.
(b) Rating given to the Company’s debt issues with a maturity of more than one year.
(c] Rating reviewed on September 8, 2016.
(d) Rating reviewed on July 8, 2016 and outlook attributed on September 21, 2016.
(e) Outlook attributed on February 20, 2018.
Note I1.5. Short-ferm investments
Carrying amount
As of December 31
(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Money market funds 3,085 3,644
Bank deposits, negotiable debt instruments

and other short-term investments 377 D99
Total 3,462 4,199

Counterparty risk in respect of short-term investments
The Group invests primarily in money market funds (French OPC monétaires) or short-term money market funds (French OPC monétaires

court terme), which are highly liquid, diversified and not rated.

Bank deposits, negotiable debt instruments and other short-term instruments are subscribed from first-tier financial institutions.

Note 11.6. Net debt

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Non-current financial debt 15,716 14,343
Current financial debt 3,792 3,546
Short-term investments (3,462) (4,199)
Cash and cash equivalents (638) (839)
Derivatives - assets - Non-current @ (16) (81)
Derivatives - assets - Current (19) (27)
Net debt 15,372 12,744

(a] Used solely to manage net debt.

Changes in net debt in 2018
Danone’s net debt totaled €12,744 million as of December 31, 2018,
€2,628 million lower than as of December 31, 2017.

The main reason for this decline was the disposal of 14.69% of the
shares in Yakult during the first semester of 2018. This net debt
includes €508 million of put options granted to non-controlling
interests, i.e. €99 million lower than as of December 31, 2017.
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Changes in net debt in 2017
Danone’s net debt totaled €15,372 million as of December 31, 2017,
€7,900 million higher than as of December 31, 2016.
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Note II.7 Cost of net debt

Accounting principles

Cost of net debt comprises mainly interest charges (calculated at
the effective interest rate) on currentand non-current financing and
the effects of the derivatives relating to said financing.

Interest income comprises mainly interest received and, if appli-
cable, the effects of the measurement at fair value through profit or
loss of the short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents.

NOTE T1. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY. NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

The related cash flows are presented within Cash flows provided
by (used in) operating activities.

Cost of net debt in 2018

During 2018, cost of net debt decreased in absolute terms from
€(263) million in 2017 to €(231) million in 2018, thereby reflecting
the Group's gradual debt reduction strategy.

Note 1.8, Financial risks associated with the net debt and the financing activity

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exposure

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its financial liabilities as
well as its cash and cash equivalents. Through its interest-bearing
debt, the Group is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations
that affect the amount of its financial expense.

Inaddition, pursuantto IFRS 9, interest rate fluctuations may have an
impactonthe Group’s consolidated results and consolidated equity.

The Group has implemented a policy to monitor and manage this
interest rate risk in connection with its net debt management, as
described in Note 13.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Sensitivity of net income to changes in the cost of net debt
resulting from changes in the short-term interest rate
Sensitivity to interest rate changes reflects the following factors:

e financial debt net of short-term investments, cash and cash
equivalents. It excludes the financial liabilities related to put
options granted to non-controlling interests as these are not
interest-bearing;

® active interest rate hedges as of December 31.

Hedged and unhedged portion of net debt in respect of an
increase in short-term interest rates

Net debt breakdown between fixed and floating rates
100 %

13%

- Fixed rate

Floating rate

December 2017 December 2018

Sensitivity of the cost of net debt to changes in the short-
term interest rate

In 2018 as in 2017, the impact of changes in short-term interest
rates would not have had a significant impact on the cost of the
Group’s net debt.

Financial currency risk

Due to its international presence, the Group could be exposed
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations in relation to its financing
activities: in application of its risk centralization policy, the Group
manages multi-currency financings and liquidities.

Inapplication of its financial currency risk hedging policy, the Group’s
residual exposure (after hedging) is not material.

As part of these policies, the Group uses cross-currency swaps as
described in Note 13.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTE 12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS. OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

NOTE IZ. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS. OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Note IZ1. Accounting principles

Investments in other non-consolidated companies
Investments in other non-consolidated companies are recognized
atfairvalueinthe consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fairvalue
and gains or losses on disposals are recognized according to the
intention of the management (i) in profit or loss in Other financial
income (expense] or (i) in consolidated equity in Accumulated other
comprehensive income and are not recycled to profit or loss.

Fair value
For listed companies, fair value is assessed according to the stock
price as of the end of the period.

For unlisted companies, fair value is assessed based on recent
transactions entered into with third parties, put or call options
negotiated with third parties or external appraisals.

Note 12.2. Other financial assets

Main changes during the period

Other long-term financial assets

Other long-term financial assets mainly comprise bonds and mo-
ney-market funds and security deposits required by the tax regu-
lations of certain countries in which the Group operates.

Bonds and money-market funds are recognized at fair value in the
consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair value are recognized
under consolidated equity in Accumulated other comprehensive
income. They are not subsequently recycled to profit or loss ex-
cept for equity bonds and money-market funds for which fair value
changes are recognized directly in profit or loss in Other financial
income [expense).

Their fair value is calculated on the basis of listed prices on active
markets.

Loans
Loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.

In 2018 as in 2017, the Group did not carry out any material transactions.

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 Restated 2018
Investments in other non-consolidated companies 83 105
Bonds and money-market funds ©°! 98 99
FPS Danone Communities 13 13
Other ® 50 45
Other long-term financial assets 162 157
Long-term loans 15 16
Other financial assets 260 278

(a] Bonds and money-market funds held as the counterpart to certain “"damage and personal protection” risk provisions.
[b) Comprises mainly security deposits required by the tax regulations of some countries in which the Group operates.

Note 12.3. Other financial income and other financial expense

Accounting principles

Other financial income and other financial expense correspond to
financial income and expense other than income and expense re-
lated to net financial debt. Theyinclude, in particular, the following:

® the ineffective portion of the hedges, in particular hedges of
currency risk related to operations and hedges in respect of the
acquisition or disposal of companies or other equity investments
in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments;

® theimpactoftheaccretion of the presentvalue of commitments
net of the expected return on plan assets of retirement commit-
ments and other long-term benefits;

® bank commissions, including commissions for the non-use of
committed credit facilities ([recognized in Other financial expense);
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® gainsorlossesondisposals of Investments in other non-conso-
lidated companies and Other long-term financial assets;

® gainsorlosses on the net monetary position resulting from the
application of IAS 29 to Argentina.
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NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Note 13.1. Organization of financial risks management

As partofits normalbusiness, the Group is exposed to financial risks,
especially foreign currency, financing and liquidity, interest rate,
counterparty risks, securities-related risks and commodity risks.

The Group's policy consists of (i) minimizing and managing the
impact that its exposure to financial market risks could have on its
results and, to a lesser extent, on its balance sheet, (i) monitoring
and managing such exposure centrally, (i) whenever the regulatory
and monetary frameworks so allow, executing financial transactions
locally or centrally, and (iv] using derivative instruments only for
the purpose of economic hedging.

Throughits Treasuryand Financing Department, which is part of the
Group Finance Department, the Group possesses the expertise and
tools (trading room, front and back office software] to act on different

Note 13.2. Accounting principles

Derivatives are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at
their fair value:

® derivatives used to manage net debt and hedges of net invest-
ments in foreign operations are recognized in Derivatives assets
or liabilities;

e foreignexchangeand raw materials derivatives related to opera-
tions are recognized in the heading (i) Other accounts receivable
in Derivatives - assets or within (i) Other current liabilities in
Derivatives - liabilities.

When derivatives are designated as fair value hedges of assets or
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, changes in the fair
value of both the derivatives and the hedged items are recognized
in profit or loss in the same period.

When derivatives are designated as hedges of net investments in
foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are
recognizedin equity under Cumulative translation adjustments and
are recycled as income [expense) when the asset is derecognized.

When derivatives are designated as future cash flow hedges:
Note 183, Derivatives
Group's policy

Operational currency risk management

The Group's policy is to hedge its highly probable commercial
transactions so that, as of December 31, its residual exposure in
respect of the whole of the following fiscal year is significantly re-
duced. However, when the hedging conditions of certain currencies
have deteriorated (less availability, high cost, etc.), the Group may
be required to limit the hedging of its highly probable commercial
transactions in its currencies, by not hedging or only partially hed-
ging the exposure. The Group uses forward currency contracts and
currency options to reduce its exposure.

The execution of the hedging policy for currency risk related to
operations consists of providing the necessary hedges to subsi-
diaries through a centralized management system, or, in the case
of subsidiaries where such hedges are legally prohibited, through
a monitoring and control process.

financial markets following the standards generally implemented by
first-tier companies. In addition, the Internal Control and Internal
Audit Departments review the organization and procedures applied.
Lastly, amonthly treasury and financing reportis sent to the Group
Finance Department, enabling it to monitor the decisions taken to
implement the previously approved management strategies.

The Groupisalso exposed to price volatility and to a potential shortage
of the commodities that it purchases, mainly to produce its finished
products. To manage this exposure, the Group has implemented a
commodity purchasing policy (Market Risk Management). This policy
as well as the impact of a price change in the two main commodity
categories on the Group’s annual cost of purchases are presented
in Note 6.7 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

® changes in the value of the effective portion are recognized in
equity under Accumulated other comprehensive income and are
recycled to profit or loss, in the same heading, when the hedged
item itself is recognized in profit or loss;

e time value [swap points, FX option premium and basis spread
of cross-currency swaps) is recognized in equity in Other com-
prehensive income and taken to profit or loss on expiry of the
underlying instrument, in accordance with the principles adopted
by the Group. As a reminder, derivatives designated as future
cash flow hedges are recognized in accordance with the tran-
saction-related principle [hedging of transactions included in
the forecasts].

Changesinthe fairvalue of the ineffective portions of derivatives that
meet the conditions for classification as hedging instruments and
changesin the fairvalue of derivative financial instruments that do
not meet the conditions for classification as hedging instruments are
recognized directlyin profitor loss for the period, in a heading within
operating income or financial income depending on their nature.

The Group mainly applies cash flow hedge accounting.

Based on pending transactions as of December 31,2018, the Group's
residual exposure after hedging of exchange risks on its highly pro-
bable commercial operating transactions is significantly reduced
for 2019, the main currencies partially hedged being the Russian
ruble, the Brazilian real and the Uruguayan Peso. In addition, given
the transactional risk inherent in the United Kingdom leaving the
European Union ("Brexit”), the Group has, as of December 31, 2018,
exceptionally hedged its entire exposure to sterling (GBP] for 2019,
thereby anticipating the hedging of the exposure of the second
semester of 2018 as compared to its normal exchange rate policy.
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NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Management of currency risk related to financing activities
and translation risk on net assets

The Group has established a policy for monitoring and hedging the
net situation of certain subsidiaries, with regular assessments of
risks and opportunities to use hedging instruments.

The Group’s policy consists of maintaining the debtor and/or surplus
cash positions of Danone and its subsidiaries in their respective
functional currencies. Furthermore, in compliance with its policy
of managing risks centrally, the Group may manage multi-currency
borrowings and surplus cash.

As part of these policies, the Group therefore uses cross-currency
swaps.

Net debt management

In connection with its net debt management, the Group has imple-
mented a policy to monitor and manage interest rate risk in order
to limit the volatility of its financial income (expense) through the
use of hedging instruments.

Portfolio of derivatives

Notional and fair value amounts

These derivatives are mainly interest rate swaps and sometimes
collars. All these instruments are plain vanilla. The interest rate
derivatives are contracted to manage interest rate risk and are
eithereligible for hedge accounting or notinaccordance with IFRS 9.

Hedging acquisitions and disposals of companies or other
equity investments

The Group’s policy is, generally, not to hedge amounts payable or
receivable in connection with acquisitions or disposals of companies
or other equity investments. However, in certain circumstances, the
Group may decide to hedge certaintransactions. This was the case
in particular for the WhiteWave acquisition project in 2017.

Management of raw material price volatility risk

The Group has implemented a purchasing policy ("Market Risk
Management”]) that consists of defining rules for setting the prices
of raw materials on the financial markets when they exist. The
Group’s central purchasing team are responsible for the monitoring
of exposures and the implementation of this policy. Forward pur-
chase contracts, whether based on a specificindex on the financial
markets or on a proxy, are monitored at the end of each fiscal year.

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018
Of which, Of which,
recognized in recognized in
(in € millions] Notional Fair value equity Notional Fair value equity
Used to hedge operational
currency risk (1,815) 10 31 (2,281) (2) (2)
CFH - currency options ! (229) (3] - (331) - -
CFH - forward currency
contracts © (1,588) 13 30 (1,949 (2) (2)
No hedge accounting applied 2 - - (1) - -
Used to manage raw materials NA - - NA (22) (22)
Used to manage net debt 4,262 (126) (16) 6,023 7 (37)
Fair value hedge 2,274 8 - 2,591 38 -
Cash flow hedge 2,052 (141) (18) 2,934 (49) (39)
Net investment hedge 89 3 3 77 2 2
No hedge accounting applied (154) 4 - 420 16 -
Total 2,447 (116) 15 3,742 (17) (61)

(a] Under IFRS 9, the intrinsic value and time value portions are recognized in Other comprehensive income. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2018, the intrinsic
value portion of the foreign exchange derivatives related to operations totaled €26.9 million, including €25.5 million in respect of forward currency contracts

and €1.4 million in respect of currency options.
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NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Additional information

Operational currency risk management

Net notional amount of derivative instruments hedging main currencies

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018

Forward Forward

currency Currency currency Currency
(in € millions) contracts, net @ options, net® Total contracts, net® options, net ™ Total
(Sales)/Purchases of currencies
GBP (485) (189) (674) (644) (228) (872)
MXN @ (153) - (153) (187) - (187)
usD @ 62 (17) 4t 85 (3) 81
AUD @ (324) - (324) (201) (34) (235)
RUB© (63) - (63) (110) - (110)
BRL (93) - (93) (93) - (93)
CNY®© (190) - (190) (327) = (327)
HKD © 1 " (153) (41) (194)
Other (352) (23) (375) (321) (24) (345)
Total (1,586) (229) (1,815) (1,949) (331) (2,281)

(a) Spot portion of notional amount, based on closing rates.

(b) Spot portion of notional amount, includes in- and out-of-the-money options.
(c] Transactions denominated with the EUR or other currencies as counterpart.

Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in fair value

A change in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments
hedging the operating currencyrisk, induced by a change in foreign
exchange rates, could impact the Group’'s equity and net income.

The impacts recognized in net income relate to:

® swap point variations and currency option premium at the ma-

turity of the underlying;

® transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied.
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NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Sensitivity to a change in the euro against currencies exposed to exchange rate fluctuations

As of December 31

2017 Restated 2018
(in € millions] Equity Gain (loss) Equity ' Gain (loss)
10% increase in EUR @
GBP® 57 (2) 72 -
MXN 1) 1 - 2 -
usD ® 24 - 19 -
AUD ® 28 - 20 -
RUB ® 3 - 9 -
CNYb! 17 - 31 -
HKD - - 24 -
BRL ® 1 - 2 -
10% decrease in EUR @
GBpP ® (57) (2) (77) -
MXN ) (1 - (3) -
uspD (27) - (22) =
AUD (34) - (23) =
RUB® (4) - (11) =
CNY ) (21) - (37) -
HKD ) - - (29) =
BRL (1) - (2] =

(a) Increase/decrease in EUR applied to transactions that are outstanding and at constant interest rate volatility.

[b) Transactions denominated with the EUR or other currencies as counterpart. In the case of transactions denominated in currencies other than the EUR, the
increase or decrease in the EUR is applied to the base currency and the secondary currency.
[c) Under IFRS 9, the intrinsic value and the time value are recognized in Other comprehensive income.

These instruments and the hedged items typically have maturities
of less than one year. Consequently the cash flows related to these
instruments will, for the most part, be recognized in the consolidated
income statement in 2019.

Gains and losses related to fair value changes recognized in profit
or loss

Gains and losses recognized in profit or loss involve the following
items:

e the ineffective portion, during the year, of the changes in fair
value of instruments qualified as cash flow hedges: in 2018, as
in 2017, the amounts are not material;

o the effective portion deferred in equity the previous year of
instruments qualified as cash flow hedges and recycled to
income during the year: in 2018 as in 2017, the amount recycled
corresponded to the portion of hedges recorded in equity as of
December 31 of the previous year, with these hedges having for
the most part a maturity of less than one year.
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Management of currency risk related to financing activities
and translation risk on net assets

Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in fair value

A change in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments
induced by a change in foreign exchange rates at the reporting
date would not have a significant impact on the Group's equity or
net income. Changes in the foreign exchange rates of the financial
instruments are offset by changes in the foreign exchange rates
on loans and borrowings in hedged currencies or on net foreign
investments.
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Net debt management

Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in fair value

A change in the fair value of interest rate derivatives induced by a
change in the yield curve recognized at the reporting date would
have the following impact on the Group’s equity and net income:

® impactsrecognizedin equity relate to the effective portion of the
instruments eligible to be used as hedges of future cash flows;

® impactsrecognizedin profit or loss relate to the ineffective portion
of the instruments eligible to be used as hedges of future cash
flows, as well as to the impact of the change in fair value of the
instruments not qualifying as hedges.

Sensitivity to a change applied to the entire yield curve
In 2018 as in 2017, a rate change applied to the yield curve would
not have a material impact on consolidated equity or net income.

Note 134. Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk inherent to financial risk
management

Risk identification
The Group is exposed to counterparty risk, especially on banking
counterparties, as part of its financial risk management activities.

As part of its normal activities, the Group has financial institutions
as counterparties, mainly to manage its cash and foreign exchange
rate and interest rate risks. The failure of these counterparties to
comply with one or more of their commitments could adversely
affect the Group’'s financial situation.

Risk management
The Group's overall exposure to counterparty risk has been si-
gnificantly reduced through the centralization of financial risks

Exposure related to short-term investments

See Note 11.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Exposure related to derivative instruments

NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Gains and losses related to fair value changes recognized in profit
orloss
Gains and losses recognized through profit or loss are related to:

® the ineffective portion, during the year, of the changes in fair
value of instruments qualified as cash flow hedges;

® the effective portion deferred in equity the previous year of ins-
truments qualified as cash flow hedges and recycled to income
during the year.

In 2018 as in 2017, the corresponding amounts are not material.

Management of raw material price volatility risk

As of December 31,2018, all of the raw material hedging instruments
were qualified as cash flow hedges. The portfolio of raw materials
consists of diesel, plastic, milk and sugar derivatives, inaccordance
with the Group’s management policy.

and implementation of centralized applications as well as its cash
management policy of minimizing and managing surpluses.

The Group’s banking policy aims to apply deposit limits per coun-
terparty and emphasizes the importance of its credit rating quality
by concentrating its transactions among first-tier counterparties
that (i) have credit ratings at least in the BBB+ category; ii] possess
international branch networks and (i) provide it with financing.
Moreover, in order to invest its short-term surpluses, the Group
mainly invests in either money-market funds (French OPC monétaires)
or short-term money-market funds (French OPC monétaires court
terme), which are not rated. These funds are very liquid and diver-
sified. The other short-term investments are made in accordance
with the Group's above-mentioned banking policy.

Finally, in certain countries, the Group may be obliged to conduct
transactions with local banks that have lower credit ratings.

As of December 31

(as a percentage of the total fair value as of December 31)% 2017 2018
Counterparty rating (Standard & Poor's)

AAA, AAand A 92% 89%
BBB, BBand B 8% 11%
Unrated - =

(a) Total, when positive, of fair values of outstanding derivatives by counterparty as of December 31.
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NOTE 13. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Fair value associated with derivatives counterparty risk

The valuation associated with derivatives counterparty risk is calculated on the basis of historical default probabilities derived from the
calculations of a leading rating agency, to which a recovery rate is applied. As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the impact
associated with the adjustment required by IFRS 13 was not material.

Note 13.5. Equity securities risk

As of December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2017 2018

Risk on Company shares

Treasury shares 14.3 1,653 1,632

Risk on other shares
Investments in associates 5 2,678 2,104

Investments in other non-consolidated companies 12.2 83 105

Note I3.6. Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheef by class and accounting category

Fair value

Fair value through other
lin € miltions) throug:rll-:;ist CDmPFEIiI:::ri:: Amortized cost C::;'lijl:lgt Fair value Fai[e‘:/?lu':
As of December 31, 2018
Financial assets
Investments in other
non-consolidated companies 12 93 = 105 105 1=3
Long-term loans and other
long-term financial assets 112 = 61 173 173 1=3
Derivatives - assets 54 34 = 88 88 2
Trade receivables © - - 2,689 2,689 2,689 -
Other current assets - 37 741 778 778 -
Short-term loans = 13 13 13 =
Money market funds 3,644 - - 3,644 3,644 1
Other short-term investments - - 559 559 568 2
Cash and cash equivalents 839 - - 839 839 1
Carrying amount of financial
assets by category 4,661 164 4,059 8,884 8,884
Financial liabilities
Financing 5,036 = 12,262 17,298 17,472 2
Derivatives - liabilities 2 83 = 85 85 2
Trade payables @ = = 3,675 3,675 3,675 =
Other current liabilities © - 59 2,684 2,743 2,743 -
Carrying amount of financial
liabilities by category 5,038 142 18,621 23,801 23,975

(a) The carrying amount corresponds to the fair value given the short-term nature of these items.
(b) Valuation hierarchy used to assess fair value.
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NOTE 14. DANONE SHARES. DIVIDEND AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Valuation hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 7, Financial instruments - Disclosures

Level 1
Fair value is based on (unadjusted) prices listed on active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2
Fair value is based on data other than listed prices as per level 1, which are observable for the asset or liability concerned, directly or
indirectly.

Level 3
Fair value is based on data relating to the asset or liability which are not based on observable data on active markets.

For asset and liability derivative instruments recognized at fair value, the Group uses measurement techniques that include data obser-
vable on the market, notably for interest rate swaps, forward currency purchases and sales, or currency options. The model integrates
diverse data such as spot and forward exchange rates and the yield curve.

NOTE 14. DANONE SHARES. DIVIDEND AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Note [4.1. Accounting principles
DANONE shares

DANONE shares held by the Company and its fully consolidated subsidiaries are recognized as a reduction in consolidated equity, under
the heading Treasury shares and DANONE call options, and are measured at effective cost.

Note 14.2. Transactions and changes involving DANONE shares

2018 changes involving treasury shares in terms of transactions and use according
to the Company’s purpose

Changes during the period
Delivery of Group

As of December 31, performance Asof December 31,
(in number of shares) 2017 Restated Buyback Sales/ Transfers shares 2018
Acquisition transactions 30,769,360 - - - 30,769,360
Liquidity agreements - - - - -
Employee shareholding plans 1,757,632 - (525,007 1,232,625
Cancellation of shares - - - - -
Shares held by the Company 32,526,992 - - (525,007) 32,001,985
Shares held by Danone Spain 5,780,005 - - - 5,780,005
Total shares held by the Group 38,306,997 - - (525,007) 37,781,990

Note 14.3. Qufstanding DANONE shares

Year ended December 31

2017 Restated 2018
Treasury Treasury

(in number of shares] Notes  Share capital shares Outstanding  Share capital shares Outstanding
As of January 1 655,892,000 (38,909,203 616,982,797 670,710,400  (38,306,997) 632,403,403
Dividend in shares 14.5 13,835,487 - 13,835,487 13,475,904 - 13,475,904
Other capital increases 8.5 982,913 - 982,913 868,896 - 868,896
Changes in treasury shares 14.2 - 602,206 602,206 - 525,007 525,007
As of December 31 670,710,400 (38,306,997) 632,403,403 685,055,200 (37,781,990) 647,273,210

N N N YN
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NOTE [4. DANONE SHARES. DIVIDEND AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Note [44. Earnings per share - Group share

Accounting principles

Earnings per share correspond to the ratio of Net income - Group
share adjusted for hybrid financing divided by the Number of shares.
Pursuantto IFRS, the income used to calculate Earnings per share
is adjusted for the coupon related to the hybrid financing accrued
for the period and presented net of tax. The Number of shares
corresponds to the average number of outstanding shares during
the year, after deducting the treasury shares held by the Company
and its fully consolidated subsidiaries.

Earnings per share after dilution (or diluted earnings per share)
correspond to the ratio of Net income - Group share adjusted for

Earnings per share

hybrid financing divided by the Diluted number of shares. The Diluted
number of shares corresponds to the Number of shares increased
by the netimpact, when itis positive, of the following two elements:

® theincreaseintheweighted average number of sharesthat would
result from the acquisition of Group performance shares, taking
into account only those shares whose performance conditions
are met as of the closing date;

® thereductioninthe numberof sharesthatcouldtheoretically be
acquired, inaccordance with the treasury stock method specified
by IAS 33, Earnings per Share.

Year ended December 31

(in € per share, except for number of shares] Notes 2017 Restated 2018
Netincome - Group share 2,449 2,349
Coupon relating to hybrid financing, net of tax (2] (14)
Adjusted netincome - Group share 2,447 2,335
Number of outstanding shares
As of January 1 616,982,797 632,403,403
Effects of changes during the year 14.3 15,420,606 14,869,807
As of December 31 632,403,403 647,273,210
Average number of outstanding shares
¢ Before dilution 626,954,761 642,721,076
Dilutive impact

Group performance shares 166,505 729,370
o After dilution 627,121,266 643,450,446
Netincome - Group share, per share
e Before dilution 3.90 3.63
o After dilution 3.90 3.63

Note 14.9. Dividend

Distributable reserves of the parent company
Danone

The legally distributable reserves of subsidiaries and associated
companies may differ from their reported retained earnings as a
consequence of (i] consolidation adjustments applied to their separate
financial statements, and [ii) the laws applicable in the countries in
which the Group operates.

In the case of the Group, under French law, dividends can only be
paid out of the netincome for the year and the distributable reserves
of the parent company Danone.
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Payment of the 2017 dividend with the option of
paymentin shares

The Shareholders” Meeting of April 26, 2018 held in Paris approved
the proposed dividend relating to the 2017 fiscal year of €1.90 per
share and decided that each shareholder could choose to receive
the dividend payment in cash or in DANONE shares.

The period to make this choice was open from May 4, 2018 (inclusive)
to May 18, 2018 (inclusive). At the end of this period, 64.64% of the
rights were exercised in favor of the 2017 dividend payment in shares.
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NOTE 15. OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES AND LEGAL AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS

Year ended December 31, 2018

Number of outstanding

(in € millions, except number of shares] shares Consolidated equity Consolidated cash flows
Portion paid in shares

Portion paid in newly-issued shares 13,475,904 - -
Fractional shares - (13) (13)
Portion paid in cash @ - (418) (418)
Total 13,475,904 (431) (431)

(a) Excluding share of the dividend paid to Danone Spain, i.e. €11 million.

It should be noted that the issue price of the new shares used for
the dividend payment was €57.17. It corresponds to 90% of the
average Euronext opening list prices during the 20 trading days
preceding the date of the Shareholders” Meeting less the amount

of the dividend, rounded up to the next euro cent. These shares
carry dividend rights as of January 1, 2018 and are identical in all
respects to the previously issued shares.

NOTE 15. OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES AND LEGAL AND ARBITRATION

PROCEEDINGS
Note 12 Accounting principles

Other non-current provisions and liabilities consist mainly of:
® provisions;
® investment subsidies.

Other non-current provisions and liabilities also include the short-
term portion duein lessthanoneyearsinceitis deemed immaterial.

Provisions are recognized:

® when the Group has a present obligation to a third party and
it is certain or probable that this obligation will result in a net

Note 15.2. Carrying amount and changes during the period

outflow of resources for the Group. The timing or amount of the
net outflow may be uncertain, but the amount must be estimated
in areliable manner;

® onthebasisof management’s best estimate, as of the reporting
date, of the outflow of resources deemed probable to cover
these obligations.

A provision is reversed when it no longer appears probable that
the corresponding payment or an outflow of resources will occur
(reversal of provision not used).

Changes during the period

Asof Changesin Reversalof Reversal of As of
December  consolida- provisions  provisions Translation December
(in € millions) 31,2017  tionscope Increase used notused adjustments Other 31,2018
Tax and territorial risks 572 - (11) (72) (3) " 612
Employee-related and
commercial disputes
and other provisions 366 - (39) (56) (7) (6) 352
Restructuring provisions b4 - (31) (19) - - 25
Total @ 1003 - (81) (147) (11) 5 989

(a) The current portion totaled €47 million as of December 31, 2018 (€38 million as of December 31, 2017).

Changes to Other non-current provisions and liabilities during 2018
were as follows:

® increasesresulted primarily from lawsuits against the Company
and its subsidiaries in the normal course of business;

® reversals of provisions used occurred when corresponding
payments were made. Reversals of provisions not used related
mainly to reassessments and situations where some risks ceased
to exist. They related to several provisions, none of which is
material individually;

® other changes corresponded primarily to reclassifications.

As of December 31, 2018, provisions for tax risks, and commercial,
employee-related, and other disputes included several provisions
for legal, financial, tax and territorial risks, as well as provisions
for multi-year variable compensation granted to some employees,
with these provisions established in the context of the normal
course of business.

Also as of this date, Danone believes that it is not subject to known
risks that could, individually, have a materialimpactonits financial
situation or profitability.
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NOTE 16 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Note 15.3. Legal and arbitration proceedings

In general, the Company and its subsidiaries are parties to legal
proceedings arisinginthe normal course of business, in particular by
customs and competition authorities in certain countries. Provisions
are recognized when an outflow of resources is probable and the
amount can be reliably estimated.

NOTE 16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Note I6.I. Accounting principles

To the best of Danone’s knowledge, no governmental, court or ar-
bitration proceedings are currently ongoing that are likely to have,
or have had in the past 12 months, a material impact on Danone’s
financial position or profitability.

The mainrelated parties are the associated companies and the members of the Executive Committee and members of the Board of Directors.

Note 16.2. Transactions with associates

Transactions with these companies are generally carried out at
arm’s length. They mainly involve:

® management fees and royalties paid to the Group;

® services, mainly logistics;
e financing.

As in 2017, the amounts pertaining to 2018 are not material.

Note 16.3. Compensation and benefits granted fo members of the Executive Committee and Board of Directors

Compensation paid

Year ended December 31

(in € millions)

2017 Restated 2018
Compensation paid to corporate officers and members of the
Executive Committee ! 14.9 12.2
Attendance fees paid to Directors 0.7 0.7
Total 15.6 12.9
Severance pay - -
Carrying amount of shares subject to performance conditions
granted during the year 7.1 6.5

(a) Annual and multi-year fixed and variable compensation (gross amount excluding employer contributions), of which the variable portion totaled €6.1 million

in 2018 (€7.3 million in 2017).

(b) Amount paid to eligible Directors, in respect of the retirement plan for their benefit for positions they held previously in the Group.
(c] The carrying amount represents the full estimated value as of the grant date in accordance with IFRS 2 on the assumption that the performance conditions

have been satisfied.

Danone’s commitment to the corporate officers and
Executive Committee members with respect to the
retirement plan

The amount of provisions for defined benefit retirement represented
Danone’'s commitment as of December 31, 2018, in accordance with
IFRS, /. e. atotal of €35.7 million for corporate officers and Executive
Committee members.

In addition, the corporate officers benefit also from the executives’
supplementary retirement plan (defined contribution retirement plan
set up for executives whose gross annual compensation is greater

Note [64. Related party agreements

See section 6.6 Related party agreements and commitments.
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than or equal to three times the French social security ceiling).
Employer’s contributions for this planin respect of 2018 amounted
to €16,687 for Mr. Emmanuel FABER. The plan rules stipulate that
the benefit derived from this plan will be deducted in full from the
possible defined benefit retirement plan.

Loans and guarantees

In2018,asin 2017, no loan or guarantee was granted or established
by the Company orits subsidiaries on behalf of Executive Committee
members.
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NOTE 17 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

NOTE 17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

To the Company’s knowledge, no material events occurred after the approval date of the 2018 consolidated financial statements (approved

by the Board of Directors on February 18, 2019).

NOTE 8. FEES TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND MEMBERS OF THEIR NETWORKS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ernst & Young Audit

(in € millions, except percentage] 2017 fees 2018 fees 2017 fees 2018 fees
Statutory audits: certification of the

individual and consolidated financial

statements 5.0 79% A 79% 5.4 84% 5.2 86%
Services other than the certification

of the financial statements 1.3 21% 1.2 21% 1.0 16% 0.8 14%
Total @ 6.3 100% 5.6 100% 6.4 100% 6.1 100%

(a) Fees invoiced in foreign currencies have been translated into euros on the basis of the annual average exchange rates used by Danone.

In 2018, the fees of the Statutory auditors of the parent company
and its French subsidiaries in respect of the certification or limited
review of the individual and consolidated financial statements to-
taled €2.5 million (€2.5 million in 2017), of which €1.1 million for
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (€1.1 million in 2017) and €1.4 million
for Ernst & Young Audit (€1.4 million in 2017).

The fees of the Statutory auditors of the parent company and its
French subsidiaries for services other than the certification of
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018
totaled €1.2 million [€1.2 million in 2017, of which €0.5 million for
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (€0.4 millionin 2017) and €0.7 million

for Ernst & Young Audit (€0.8 million in 2017) and included in
particular fees for tax services concerning services of technical
documentation or technical analysis of tax positions.

The fees of the Statutory auditors’ networks for services other
than the certification of the financial statements to certain foreign
subsidiaries of Danone totaled €0.8 million (€1.1 million in 2017), of
which €0.7 million for PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (€0.9 million
in 2017) and €0.1 million for Ernst & Young Audit (€0.2 million in
2017) and included in particular fees for tax services related notably
to the review of technical documentation or the technical analysis
of tax positions adopted by certain foreign subsidiaries.

STATUTORY AUDITORS REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements issued in French and is provided
solely for the convenience of English-speaking users. The Statutory auditors” report includes information specifically required by French law in
such reports, whether modified or not. This information presented below is the audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and includes
an explanatory paragraph discussing the auditors’ assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assessments were
considered for the purpose of issuing an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate
assurance on individual account balances, transactions or disclosures. This report also includes information relating to the specific verification
of information given in the Group’'s management report. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French
law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

Opinion
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by your Shareholders’ Meeting, we have audited the accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Danone for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

Audit framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the "Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report.

Independence

We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with the independence rules applicable to us, for the period from 1 January 2018 to
the date of our report and in particular we did not provide any non-audit services prohibited by article 5(1) of Regulation (EU] No 537/2014
or the French Code of Ethics (Code de déontologie) for Statutory Auditors.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Justification of assessments - Key audit matters

Inaccordance with the requirements of articles L.823-9 and R.823-7 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce] relating to the
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters relating to the risks of material misstatement that, in our profes-
sional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements, as well as how we addressed those risks.

These matters were addressed as part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and therefore contributed to the
opinion we formed as expressed above. We do not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of revenue

RISK IDENTIFIED

0UR RESPONSE

Asindicated in Note 6.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Danone Group's sales are stated net of trade discounts and
customer rebates (including costs relating to trade support and
listing agreements or occasional promotional actions invoiced
by retailers). Revenue measurement therefore involves making
estimates related to such agreements or actions.

We deemed the valuation of trade discounts and rebates to be a
key audit matter given (i) the Group’s broad customer base across
different countries and with varying contractual relationships
(based on sales volumes, promotional agreements or trade
practices), (i) the materiality of trade discounts and rebates, and
(iii) the complexity of estimating these amounts at the year end.

We assessed the consistency of the revenue recognition methods
applied by the Danone Group with international financial reporting
standards (IFRS), in particularin the context of the first application
of IFRS 15, onrevenue recognition from contracts with customers.

Given the large number of sales transactions carried out by
the Group’s various entities, we examined the internal control
procedures relating to the estimation of trade discounts and
rebates as part of the revenue recognition process and tested
the key controls in the main operating entities.

We also performed substantive controls to assess:

® whether amounts to be refunded to customers were being
measured correctly and recognized on the reporting date
by (i) reconciling the estimates with the contractual data in
the information systems used to manage trade terms and
conditions orinthe contracts with the relevant customers, and
(ii) examining the assumptions used, where applicable, with
regard to actions taken or specific situations and customary
trade practices;

® whether revenue was being recognized in the appropriate
period by (i) testing the transactions booked after the reporting
date to identify any non-accrued discounts and rebates and [ii)
analysing the changeinaccruals and their breakdown by age.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Goodwill, brands and investments in associates

RISK IDENTIFIED

OUR RESPONSE

As at 31 December 2018, goodwill amounted to 17,711 million
euros, brands amounted to 6,359 million euros and investments
in associates amounted to 2,104 million euros.

These assets are subject to impairment tests, at least once a
year in the case of goodwill and brands with indefinite useful
lives, and whenever there is an indication of impairment in the
case of investments in associates.

The recoverable amounts of these assets or groups of assets
are generally estimated on the basis of the discounted cash
flows method or market values in the case of goodwill and in-
vestments in associates, and according to the royalties method
for brands, as explained in Notes 5 and 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The impairment tests are based on estimates and on manage-
ment’'s judgment concerning (i) the allocation of these assets
to cash generating units (CGUs) (i) the estimation of the future
performance of the assets or CGUs and (iii] the determination of
the discount and long-term growth rates.

We therefore deemed the measurement of goodwill and brands,
in particular those of Central Danone which were subject to an
impairment of 662 million euros in 2018 as mentioned in Note
7.2 to the consolidated financial statements, and investments
in associates, in particular the investment in Yashili, to be a key
audit matter.

Goodwill and brands

We examined the processes set up to allocate the goodwill to
CGUs or groups of CGUs, in order to identify any indications of loss
in value and to determine the cash flow projections underlying
the impairment tests.

Forasample of CGUs and brands, identified on the basis of quan--
titative and qualitative factors, and in particular for the Centrale
Danone CGU, we examined the main methods and assumptions
used to determine recoverable value, including:

® the forecast cash flows: the assumptions relating to the
growth of the business and market shares were corroborated
by the market analyses available. We also compared the main
assumptions with past performance and assessed the trends
between past forecasts and actual figures;

® thelong-term growth rates, the discount rates and the royalty
rates, with the support of our financial valuation experts.

We also analysed the sensitivity of the test results to the main
assumptions used by management and examined the disclosures
provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in associates

We assessed the approach adopted and the data used by the
Company (market valuation, recent performance and forecast
results) to identify any indications of loss in value.

For Yashili, we examined the main assumptions used to determine
the recoverable amount, as well as the disclosures provided in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, implementing
the procedures described above for goodwill and brands.
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STA

TUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Tax assets and liabilities - provisions for tax risks

RISK IDENTIFIED

OUR RESPONSE

Danone operates in many different tax jurisdictions throughout
the world. Consequently, the Company and its subsidiaries may
be subject to audits or questioning by local tax authorities. The

We examined the procedures implemented within the Group to
identify the main tax risks, as wellas management’'s assessments
of these risks.

situations where outflows of resources are considered probable
give rise to provisions measured on the basis of facts known in
the jurisdiction concerned and the probability of tax reassess-
ments as assessed by management. As stated in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements, the provisions for territorial
tax risks amount to 612 million euros as at 31 December 2018.

We also relied on the opinions of third parties, past and current
experience with the tax authorities in the jurisdictions concerned,
and the expertise of our tax specialists in order to assess the
assumptions used by management to determine the provisions
for tax risks.

We examined the deferred tax calculations for the most signi-
ficant entities. In this respect, our work consisted primarily in
the following:

As at 31 December 2018, the amount of 289 million euros is
recognized in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of the
deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carryforwards as set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The re-
coverability of these deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss
carryforwards is based primarily on the ability of the entities
concerned to meet their targets defined in the business plans
drawn up by management.

(i) comparing the consistency of the assumptions concerning the
use of the tax loss carryforwards against future taxable profits
with those derived from management’s business projections,
used in particular within the scope of the impairment tests on
goodwill, and

The recognition of tax assets and liabilities and provisions for tax
risks constitutes a key audit matter, given the following:

i) examining the accounting implications of the changes to tax
legislation.

(i) the judgment required to assess the recoverability of deferred
taxes and the probable outflows of resources related to tax
disputes, and

(ii) the materiality of the impacts of recent changes made to
some tax legislation.

Specific verification
As required by laws and regulations and in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the infor-
mation pertaining to the Group presented in the management report of the Board of Directors.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

We attest that the consolidated non-financial statement required by Article L.225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code is included in
the information pertaining to the Group presented in the management report, being specified that, in accordance with the provisions of
Article L.823-10 of the code, we have not verified the fair presentation and the consistency with the consolidated financial statements of
the information contained therein and should be reported on by an independent insurance services provide.

Appointment of the Statutory Auditors
We were appointed Statutory Auditors of Danone by the Shareholders” Meetings held on 28 April 2016 for ERNST & YOUNG et Autres and
on 21 May 1992 for PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit.

As at31 December 2018, ERNST & YOUNG et Autres and PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit were in the third year and the twenty-seven year
of total uninterrupted engagement, respectively. ERNST & YOUNG Audit previously acted as Statutory Auditor of Danone from 2010 to 2015.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

Managementisresponsible for preparing consolidated financial statements presenting a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and forimplementing the internal control procedures it deems necessary
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, managementis responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it expects
to liquidate the company or to cease operations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the financial reporting process and the effectiveness of internal control and risk ma-
nagement systems, as well as, where applicable, any internal audit systems, relating to accounting and financial reporting procedures.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Objective and audit approach

Ourroleis toissue areport on the consolidated financial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free of material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As specified in article L.823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our audit does not include assurance on the viability or quality of
management of the company.

As partof an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the Statutory Auditors exercise professional
judgment throughout the audit. They also:

® identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence considered to be sufficient and appropriate to
pro-vide a basis for their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resul-
ting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

® obtainanunderstanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-cums-
tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control;

® evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management and
the related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements;

® assess the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence ob-
tained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern. If the Statutory Auditors conclude that
a material uncer-tainty exists, they are required to draw attention in the audit report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are not provided or are inadequate, to issue a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion;

® evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and assess whether these statements represent the un-der-
lying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

® obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The Statutory Auditors are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audit of the consolidated financial statements and for the opinion expressed thereon.

Report to the Audit Committee

We submit a report to the Audit Committee which includes in particular a description of the scope of the audit and the audit programme
implemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also report any significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified
regarding the accounting and financial reporting procedures.

Our report to the Audit Committee includes the risks of material misstatement that, in our professional judgment, were of most signifi-
cance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and which constitute the key audit matters that we are required to describe
in this report.

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in article 6 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, confirming our in-
dependence within the meaning of the rules applicable in France, as defined in particular in articles L.822-10 to L.822-14 of the French
Commercial Code and in the French Code of Ethics for Statutory Auditors. Where appropriate, we discuss any risks to our independence
and the related safequard measures with the Audit Committee.

Paris La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, March 1, 2019
The Statutory auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Ernst & Young Audit

Anik CHAUMARTIN Francois JAUMAIN Jeanne BOILLET Pierre-Henri PAGNON
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA

[ncome sfatement
Year ended December 31
(in € millions) Notes 2017 2018
Sales 609 666
Otherincome 59 45
Total operating income 3 668 711
Personnel costs 4 (317) (287)
Other operating expense 5 (524) (486)
Total operating expense (841) (773)
Net operating expense (173) (62)
Income from equity interests 223 901
Interest on loans and receivables and similar income 229 254
Interest on borrowings and similar expense (279 (293)
Other financial income (expense) 88 (M
Net financialincome 6 261 861
Net income before non-recurring items and tax 88 799
Net non-recurring income (expense) 7 (12) (4)
Income tax 8 100 104
Netincome 176 899
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Assets
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA

As of December 31

2017 2018
Depreciation,
amortization
(in € millions] Notes Net amount Gross amount and provisions Net amount
Intangible assets 48 135 (80) 55
Property, plant and equipment 17 36 (21) 15
Equity interests 28,121 28,644 (82) 28,562
Other long-term financial assets 5,973 4,982 - 4,982
Financial assets 9 34,094 33,626 (82) 33,544
Non-current assets 34,159 33,797 (183) 33,614
Short-term loans and receivables 10 37 243 (1) 242
Marketable securities 1 81 59 - 59
Cash and cash equivalents - = = =
Current assets 452 302 (1) 301
Deferrals and prepaid expense 813 360 = 360
Total assets 35,424 34,459 (184) 34,275
Equity and liabilities
As of December 31
(in € millions] Notes 2017 2018
Share capital 168 171
Share premium 4,787 5,602
Revaluation adjustment 4 4
Other reserves 3,781 3,790
Retained earnings 4,263 3,217
Net income for the year 176 899
Regulated provisions 2 1
Equity 12 13,181 13,684
Other equity 14 1,250 1,250
Provisions for risks and charges 13 66 52
Bonds 14 17,395 15,741
Other financial debt 14 719 717
Other liabilities 15 2,061 2,521
Deferrals and accrued expenses 752 310
Total equity and liabilities 35,424 34,275
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NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY DANONE SA

NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY DANONE SA

The financial statements of the parent company Danone (“the Company”] for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approved by Danone’s
Board of Directors on February 18, 2019 and will be submitted for approval to the Shareholders” Meeting on April 25, 2019. Danone and
its consolidated subsidiaries constitute “the Group”.

Unless indicated otherwise, amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the
values presented in the financial statements of the parent company Danone and in the Notes to the financial statements of the parent
company Danone are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently, the sum of the rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant
extent, from the reported total. In addition, ratios and variances are calculated on the basis of the underlying amounts and not on the
basis of the rounded amounts.

Contents

GENERAL INFORMATION: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR BALANCE SHEET ITEMS - EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note 1. Accounting principles 136 Note 12. Equity 143

Note 2. Highlights of the year 138 Note 13.  Provisions for risks and charges 144

INCOME STATEMENT [TEMS Ezi 1; g?;:rsiiggniet:eesquity and Other financial debt 144

Note 3. Operating income 138 ’

Note 4. Personnel costs and compensation of the members of OTHER INFORMATION

the management bodies and the Board of Directors 138 Note 16. Net debt 147

Note 5. Other operating expense 139 Note 17. Post-employment benefit commitments and

Note 6. Net financial income [expense) 139 commitments to management bodies and to the Board

Note 7. Net non-recurring income (expense) 139 of Directors 147

Note 8.  Income tax 140 Note 18. Off-balance sheet commitments 149
Note 19.  Workforce 149

BALANCE SHEH ”EMS - ASSETS Note 20. Related party transactions 150

Note 9. Financial assets ) 141 Note 21. Summary of shares held in portfolio 150

Note 10. Short-term loans.a.nd receivables 142 Note 22. Results and other significant information relating

Note 11.  Marketable securities 143 to the last five years 151
Note 23. Subsequent events 151

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with French statutory and regulatory provisions and generally accepted
accounting principles. The new regulation ANC 2018-01 issued on April 20, 2018, which amends the regulation ANC 2014-03 related to
the general chart of accounts does not materially impact the Company’s financial statements.

The main accounting methods used are detailed hereafter.

Infangible assefs and property. plant and equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are valued
at cost of acquisition (including acquisition-related costs) and are
amortized or depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 15to 20 years

Fixtures and fittings 8to 10 years
Other property, plant and equipment 4 to 10 years

Softwares 1to 7years

Long-term financial assefs

Financial assets comprise Equity interests and Other long-term
financial assets.

Equity interests are shares in companies, the long-term holding
of which is deemed to be useful for the Company’s activity, notably
because it enables the Company to exercise an influence on or
control over the issuing company. Investments that do not meet
this definition are classified as Other long-term financial assets.

Equity interests are recognized at acquisition cost, including ac-
quisition-related costs, which are amortized over five years as of
the date of acquisition. For tax purposes, these assets are subject
to accelerated tax amortization rates. An impairment provision
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is recognized when the recoverable amount of Equity interests is
below their carrying amount.

Recoverable amountis determined using various criteria including:
® market value;

® value in use based on forecasted discounted cash flows;

® revalued equity.

Assumptions, estimates or appraisals used to determine the re-
coverable amount are made on the basis of available information
and conditions at the end of the financial period presented, which
may differ from the reality, particularly in an economically and



financially volatile context. Impairment provisions are recognized as
Other financialincome (expense), with the exception of reversals of
impairment in connection with disposals of equity interests, which
are recognized as Net non-recurring income (expense). Gains
or losses on disposals of equity interests are recognized as Net
non-recurring income (expense).

DANONE treasury shares

DANONE shares repurchased by the Company are recognized
under the heading:

e Other long-term financial assets, when they are repurchased
in connection with corporate acquisitions or to be cancelled;

® Marketable securities, whentheyare repurchased to hedge Group
performance share plans under which shares are allocated to
certain Danone employees and corporate officers.

Theyare recognized at acquisition cost, excluding acquisition-related
costs. Ondisposal, the cost of the DANONE shares sold is calculated
by allocation categoryinaccordance with the weighted average cost
method, this cost being calculated individually for each plan for the
shares held to hedge Group performance share plans.

DANONE shares recognized as Other long-term
financial assets

In the case of DANONE shares recognized as Long-term financial
assets that are not to be cancelled, an impairment provision is
recognized when their recoverable amount (assessed at the ave-
rage price for the last month of the fiscal year) falls below their
carrying amount.

Loans and receivables

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE I. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Other long-term financial assets consist mainly of a portion of the
DANONE treasury shares held in connection with the authorizations
given by the Shareholders’ Meeting [see hereinafter] and long-term
loans and receivables granted by the Company.

DANONE shares recognized as Marketable
securities

Hedging of out-of-the money Group performance shares
Inthe case of treasury shares allocated to hedge plans that cannot
be exercised [itis probable that the performance conditions will not
be met), a provision for impairment is recognized when the market
value of the shares (assessed at the average price for the last month
of the fiscal year] is less than their carrying amount.

Hedging of in-the-money Group performance shares

In the case of treasury shares allocated to hedge plans that can
be exercised (it is probable that the performance conditions will
be met), a provision for impairment is not recognized. However, a
provision for risks and charges is, where necessary, recognized in
respect of these plans and corresponds to the carrying amount of
the shares allocated to said plans.

The provision is booked prorata to the rights vesting period. It is
recognized in Personnel costs in the income statement.

Loans and receivables are stated at their nominal value. An impairment provision is recognized when the recoverable amount is less

than the carrying amount.

Recognition of fransactions in foreign currencies

Expense and income in foreign currencies are recorded at their
exchange value in euros at the date of the transaction.

Liabilities, receivables and cash denominated in foreign currencies
are recorded in the balance sheet at their exchange value in euros
at the year-end rate. The differences resulting from translation at

Marketable securifies

Marketable securities comprise a portion of the treasury shares
and other investments made by the Company.

The gross value of Marketable securities corresponds to the ac-
quisition cost excluding acquisition-related costs. When the market

Bonds

Bonds consistin borrowings raised by Danone, on debt and capital
markets, notably under its EMTN (Euro Medium Term Note) pro-
gram, through public issues or private placements, denominated
in euros or foreign currencies. Bonds denominated in foreign

Derivatives

Danone hedges part of its bonds denominated in foreign currencies
by cross-currency swaps.

Since January 1,2017, the Company has applied ANC Regulation no.
2015-050nfinancialinstruments to all material hedging transactions.

this latter rate are recorded in the balance sheet in the line items
Deferrals and prepaid expense and Deferrals and accrued expense
in the case of receivables and liabilities. A provision for risks is
recognized for non-hedged unrealized exchange losses.

value of each category of securities of the same nature is lower
than the acquisition cost, a provision for impairment is recognized
equal to the difference. For further information about treasury
sharesreclassified as Marketable securities, see the above section
DANONE shares recognized as Marketable securities.

currencies may be maintained in those currencies or swapped into
euros; bonds are recognized at their nominal value, translated at
the closing exchange rate.

In addition, Danone Corporate Finance Services, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, also carries out interest rate hedging transactions on
behalf of the Company in respect of certain borrowings and com-
mercial paper (Billets de trésorerie) issued by the Company.
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NOTE 2. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognized foridentified risks and charges of uncertain
timing or amount, when the Company has an obligation to a third
party and it is certain or probable that this obligation will result in
a net outflow of resources for the Company.

Retirement commitments

Supplementary retirement commitments and severance pay borne by
the Company are presented within Off-balance sheet commitments

NOTE L. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

An indirect subsidiary made a partial repayment totaling USD
1 billion of its long-term loan from Danone SA;

® The Shareholders’ Meeting held in Paris on April 26, 2018 approved
the proposed dividend for 2017 of €1.90 per share, and decided
that each shareholder could choose to receive the dividend
paymentin cash orin DANONE shares. Ultimately, 61.5% of the
rights were exercised in favor of dividend paymentin shares. The

NOTE 3. OPERATING INCOME

Sales comprise mainly the billing of direct and indirect subsidiaries
for services rendered by the Company to those subsidiaries. They
totaled €666 million in 2018 (€609 million in 2017).

For furtherinformation about provisions against Group performance
share plans, see the above section DANONE shares recognized as
Marketable securities.

[see Note 17 and Note 18 of the Notes to the financial statements of
the parent company Danone).

total cash dividend paid to shareholders who did not choose the
payment in shares option was €429 million;

® The Companyreceiveddividends totaling €606 million following
the partial disposal of its indirect shareholding in Yakult;

e Danone recapitalized certain subsidiaries for a total amount of
€441 million.

Other income totaled €45 million in 2018 (€59 million in 2017) and
comprised mainly the reversal of a provision for risks and charges
relating to hedging of the Group performance share plans granted by
the Company, as well as the reimbursement of insurance premiums.

NOTE 4. PERSONNEL COSTS AND COMPENSATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BODIES

AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Persannel costs

Personnel costs comprise the gross compensation of the Company’s
employees and senior executives and the related social charges as
wellas the charges relating to the Group performance share plans

under which shares are allocated to certain Danone employees and
corporate officers subject to performance conditions.

Company’s share of the compensation paid fo the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee

Year ended December 31

lin € millions) 2017 2018
Compensation paid to corporate officers and members

of the Executive Committee @ 11 9
Attendance fees paid to non-executive members of the Board

of Directors ® 1 1
Total 12 10

(a) Recognized in Personnel costs.
[b) Recognized in Other operating expense.

See also Note 17 to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.
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NOTE 5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

Other operating expense comprised mainly fees paid to external service providers and charges for rent and services provided and totaled

€486 million in 2018 (€524 million in 2017).

NOTE 8. NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Net financial income totaled €861 million in 2018 (€261 million in 2017).

[ncome from equify inferesfs

Income from equity interests consisted of dividends received from
the Company’s equity interests. In 2018, these dividends amounted
to €901 million (€223 millionin 2017).1n 2018, the Company received

[nferest on loans and receivables and similar income

In 2018, Interest on loans and receivables and similar income com-
prised interest received on the loans and receivables granted to
Danone North America PBC (formerly Danone Wave) of €181 million,

[nferest on borrowings and similar expense

dividends totaling €606 million following the partial disposal of its
indirect shareholding in Yakult.

Zjwiec Zdroj and Danone Poland totaling €7 million, PLF Est
Europe of €2 million, interest received from cross-currency swaps
of €45 million and interest on interest rate swaps of €19 million.

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 2018
Bonds © 263 288
Current account with Danone Finance International 7 9
Short-term borrowings from indirect subsidiaries © 13 0
Commercial paper @ (4) (4)
Total 279 293

(a) Interest paid and accrued in respect of the year.

Other financial income (expense)

As regards Other financial income (expense), the Company gene-
rated net expense of €1 million in 2018 (compared with net income
of €88 million in 2017). The decrease as compared with 2017 was

NOTE 7 NET NON-RECURRING INCOME (EXPENSE)

In2018, Danone generated a net non-recurring expense of €4 million,
which consisted mainly of allocations to and reversals of provisions
and an expense in connection with the Green Friday event. In 2017,

due mainly to the currency gain generated by the unwinding of
hedging instruments of €74 million related to the acquisition of The
WhiteWave Foods Company in 2017.

the Company generated a net non-recurring expense of €12 mil-
lion, which consisted mainly of costs related to Danone’s corporate
organization and its direct and indirect subsidiaries.
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NOTE 8. INCOME TAX

NOTE 8. INCOME TAX

Tax qroup

The Company forms a tax group with the French subsidiaries in which it holds, directly or indirectly, a stake of more than 95%.

Companies that were members of the fax group in 2018

As of December 31, 2018

BLEDINA

COMPAGNIE GERVAIS DANONE

DAN INVESTMENTS

DANOBUREAU

DANONE ©

DANONE BABY AND MEDICAL HOLDING
DANONE CORPORATE FINANCE SERVICES
DANONE DAIRY ASIA

DANONE FINANCE INTERNATIONAL
DANONE MANIFESTO VENTURE EUROPE
DANONE NUTRICIA AFRICA & OVERSEAS
DANONE PRODUITS FRAIS FRANCE
DANONE RESEARCH

FERMINVEST

HELDINVEST 9

HELDINVEST 11

HELDINVEST 12

HOLDING INTERNATIONALE DE BOISSONS
LES PRES RIENT BIO

NUTRICIA NUTRITION CLINIQUE SAS
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS ESPAGNE
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS EST EUROPE
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS SUD EUROPE
SOCIETE ANONYME DES EAUX MINERALES D'EVIAN
SOCIETE DES EAUX DE VOLVIC

(a) The Company.

The subsidiaries that are members of the tax group recognize and
pay their tax to the Company as if they were taxed separately, in
compliance with the rules set by the French tax authorities.

The tax savings (or additional charges) - based on the difference
between the sum of the tax charges recorded by the different
subsidiaries of the tax group and the tax charge resulting from the
computation of the consolidated tax results of the tax group - are

Other information

In accordance with Article 39.4 of the French Tax Code, in 2018 the
Company recognized €0.4 million as taxable income in respect of
tourism vehicle depreciation and rental.

The application of Article 39.5 of the French Tax Code did not result
in any add-backs to taxable income in 2018.

140 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

recognized in the income statement under Income tax. The amount
booked in this line for 2018 relates mainly to these savings.

At year-end 2018, the tax group recorded a taxable income. As of
December 31, 2018, tax loss carry-forwards accumulated within
the tax group in France amounted to €935 million, compared with
€995 million as of December 31, 2017.

As of December 31,2018, items likely to resultin a reduction of future
tax liabilities consisted mainly of accrued charges. They totaled
€58 million and would reduce future tax charges by €20 million.



NOTE 3. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Carrying amount and changes during the period

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 5. FINANCIAL ASSETS

As of December

Changes during the period

Reclassification,

As of December

(in € millions) 31,2017 Increase @ Decrease'® translation 31,2018
Gross amount
Equity interests 28,203 44 28,644
Long-term loans and
receivables 4,387 (1,175) 184 3,396
DANONE treasury shares ¢ 1,578 1,578
Other 7 7
Other financial assets 5,973 - (1,175) 184 4,981
Total 34,176 4461 (1,175) 184 33,625
Provisions @ (82) (82)
Net total 34,094 441 (1,175) 184 33,543

(a) See Note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.
(b) Partial repayment totaling USD 1 billion of an indirect subsidiary’s long-term loan from Danone (see Note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the

parent company Danone).

[c) Portion of DANONE treasury shares recognized as Long-term financial assets [see Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

(d) Consists mainly of provisions for impairment of Equity interests.
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4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 10. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Equity inferests

Equity interests held in portfolio as of December 31, 2018
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(in € millions, except percentage] n ] 0 z o o7 =Z oo o o 55
Subsidiaries (at least 50% of the share capital held by the Company)
French investments
DANONE CORPORATE FINANCE
SERVICES 142 138 100% 8,875,000 179 179 = = (3) -
COMPAGNIE GERVAIS DANONE 10,125 530 100% 401,790,775 9,755 9,755 - = 234 =
DANONE BABY AND MEDICAL
HOLDING 13,619 220 100% 13,618,704,074 13,615 13,615 - - 52 52
DAN INVESTMENTS 82 (8) 100% 4,100,000 82 76 - - A -
HOLDING INTERNATIONALE DE
BOISSONS 324 876 100% 161,768,722 1,116 1,116 - - 59 -
Foreign investments
DANONE SINGAPORE
HOLDINGS PTE LTD 159 (79) 61% 173,987,816 118 118 - - 108 66
FPS DANONE COMMUNITIES - " 64% 14,392 8 8 - - - -
DANONE ASIA PTE LTD 1,394 (448) 88% 2,288,111,264 1,263 1,263 - - 669 759
DANONE FINANCE
NETHERLANDS 8 1 100% 800,000 94 26 - - - -
Investments in associates (at least 10% to 50% of the share capital held by the Company)
NV DANONE SA 983 868 23% 21,988 400 400 - 294 28 6
DANONE FINANCE
INTERNATIONAL 965 4,971 33% 4,034,154 2,012 2,004 2,000 - 47 19
Total 28,644 28,562

(a) Amounts related to foreign companies are translated at the year-end exchange rate.
[b) Amounts related to foreign companies are translated using the average exchange rate for the year.
(c] Excluding net income (loss] for the year.

NOTE 10. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

As of December 31, 2018, this balance sheet item comprised mainly €242 million of receivables due to the Company within less than
one year, including tax receivables totaling €73 million (€116 million as of December 31, 2017), accounts receivable totaling €68 million

(€125 million as of December 31, 2017) and other receivables totaling €101 million.
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NOTE 1. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Carrying amount and changes during the period

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE I1. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Changes during the period

As of December Decrease As of December
(in € millions) 31,2017 Increase (exercised) Reallocation Reclassification 31,2018
DANONE shares hedging Group
performance shares @ 68 (22) 46
Short-term investment - -
FPS Danone Communities ) 13 13
Total 81 - (22) - - 59

(a) Portion of DANONE treasury shares recognized as Marketable securities [see Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).
[b) FPS Danone Communities is a mutual fund (French SICAV) aimed at financing social projects through an investment vehicle that generates a return compa-

rable to the money market rate.

NOTE 1Z. EQUITY

Carrying amount and change during the period

As of December

As of December

31,2017 Changes during the period 31,2018

Before After Capital Capital Before

(in € millions] allocation allocation® Netincome decrease increase allocation
Share capital 168 168 - - 4 171
In number of shares @ 670,710,400 670,710,400 - - 14,344,800 685,055,200
Share premium 4,787 4,787 - - 815 5,602
Legal reserve 16 25 - - - 25
Other reserves 3,769 3,769 - - - 3,769
Retained earnings 4,263 3,217 - - - 3,217
Net income for the year 176 - 899 - - 899
Regulated provisions 2 2 (M - - 1
Total 13,182 11,968 898 - 819 13,684

(a) Ordinary shares with a par value of €0.25.

[b) Following shareholder approval at the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 26, 2018, €1,274 million of the amount available for allocation of net income from the
year ended December 31, 2017 was allocated to the dividend, and the remainder to retained earnings.

[c) Issue carried out on May 31, 2018 for the payment of the dividend in shares for €3.4 million, and on June 12, 2018 under the terms of the Company savings plan
[Plan d'Epargne Entreprise) for €0.2 million. These two issues generated a share premium of €815 million.
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NOTE 13. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

NOTE 13. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Carrying amount and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of December Reversal, Reversal, unused As of December
(in € millions) 31,2017 Allocation used provision provision 31,2018
Provisions in respect of Group
performance share plans 4 16 (21) - 39
Other provisions 22 6 (12) (3) 13
Total 66 22 (33) (3) 52
NOTE 14. BONDS. OTHER EQUITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DEBT
Bonds and Other equity
Carrying amount of bonds
As of December 31
(in € millions] 2017 2018
Nominal value 17,331 15,671
Accrued interest b4 70
Total 17,395 15,741

Bondsissued by the Company are disclosed on the Group's website.

Most of the financing agreements entered into by the Company (bank
credit facilities and bonds) include a change of control provision,

2018 transactions

which offers creditors a right of early repayment in the event a
change of controlin the Company causes its rating by the financial
rating agencies to fall below investment grade.

Year ended December 31

2018
(in millions of currency/ Currency Nominal Maturity
New financing
Social bond EUR 300 2025
Repayments
Euro bonds EUR 750 2018
Euro bonds EUR 1,350 2018
Yen private placement JPY 7,500 2018
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NOTE 14. BONDS. OTHER EQUITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DEBT

Bonds: fixed rate/floating rate breakdown (after hedging where applicable) and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of December Changein As of December
(in € millions) 31,2017 New borrowings Repayment accrued interest Revaluation 31,2018
Fixed rate portion
Bonds 15,281 300 (807) - 197 14,971
Accrued interest b4 - - 6 - 70
Floating rate portion
Bonds 2,050 - (1,350) - - 700
Accrued interest - - - - - =
Total 17,395 300 (2,157) 6 197 15,741

Breakdown by currency with interest accrued as of the reporting date
As of December 31, 2018

(in € millions except Nominal value in Nominal value in
foreign currency, in currency millions) foreign currency Historical value Translation difference Carrying amount

Bonds denominated or swapped into euros
Euro 10,070 10,070 10,070 10,070
U.S. dollar 6,350 5,719 5,485 5,485

Bonds denominated in other currencies
Yen 24,500 186 186 186
Total 15,975 15,741 15,741

Portfolio of cross-currency swaps hedging certain foreign-currency denominated bonds
As of December 31, 2018

(in € millions except Nominal value in foreign currency,

in currency millions) Nominal value in foreign currency Historical value in euros
Euro - U.S. dollar 3,350 2,931
Euro - Yen 24,500 186
Total 3,117

In addition, as specified in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone, Danone Corporate Finance
Services, awholly-owned subsidiary, also carries out interest rate hedging transactions in respect of certain bonds issued by the Company.
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 15. OTHER LIABILITIES

Other financial debt

Fixed rate/floating rate breakdown and changes during the period

(in € millions]

As of December
31,2017 New borrowings

Changes during the period

Changein
Repayment accrued interest

As of December
Revaluation 31,2018

Fixed rate portion

Loan from Danone Finance
International

Floating rate portion
Commercial paper @

Short-term loan from
subsidiaries

Other

719

(2] -

Total

719

(2) -

- 717

(a) Net changes.

Maturity of Bonds and Other financial debt

As of December 31

lin € millions) 2017 2018
Due date less than 1 year 2,939 2,635
Due date between 1 and b years 9,132 9,427
Due date more than 5 years 6,017 4,396
Total 18,088 16,458
NOTE 15. OTHER LIABILITIES
Composition of Other liabilities

As of December 31
(in € millions] 2017 2018
Amounts owed by the Company to certain subsidiaries and affiliates 1,602 2,133
Trade payables 17 27
Unrealized foreign exchange gains - =
Accrued expenses 442 360
Total 2,061 2,521
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Composition of Accrued charges

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 16. NET DEBT

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 2018
Services provided 196 167
Personnel costs 2 1
Social charges 128 135
Tax liabilities 5 D
Financial debt m 53
Total 442 360
NOTE 16. NET DEBT
Composifion of net debt

As of December 31
(in € millions) 2017 2018
Bonds 17,395 15,741
Other financial debt 719 717
Amounts owed by the Company to certain subsidiaries
and affiliates @ 1,602 2,133
Total debt 19,716 18,591
Amounts owed to the Company by certain subsidiaries
and affiliates
Marketable securities 81 59
Cash
Total cash and cash equivalents 81 59
Total net debt 19,635 18,532

(a) Portion of the amounts owed by the Company to subsidiaries and affiliates presented in Other liabilities.
[b) Portion of amounts owed to the Company by subsidiaries and affiliates presented in Short-term loans and receivables.

NOTE 17 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS AND COMMITMENTS T0 MANAGEMENT

bODIES AND T0 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS <

Post-employment benefit commitments

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2017 2018
Supplementary benefits in addition to defined benefit retirement

plans @

Gross commitments 581 548
Commitments net of retirement plan assets 382 356

(a) Commitments measured using the actuarial method.

These net commitments are presented off-balance sheet (see Note 18 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company
Danone). The main commitment involves the retirement plan granted to some senior managers of Danone.
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NOTE 17. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS AND COMMITMENTS To MANAGEMENT BODIES AND T0 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Retirement plan granted to some senior managers of Danone

Commitments measured using the actuarial method

As of December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(in € millions]

2017 2018
Gross commitments 481 449
Commitments net of plan assets 316 291

The €25 million decrease in commitments net of plan assets was due mainly to the rise in discount rates.

Main actuarial assumptions

Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(as a percentage, except for age in years) 2017 2018
Discount rate 1.8% 2.2%
Expected return on plan assets 1.8% 2.2%
Salary growth rate 3.0% 3.0%
Retirement age 60-66 60-66

Commitments fo management bodies and fo the Board of Directors

Post-employment benefit commitments for corporate officers and Executive Committee members

As of December 31

2017 2018

(in € millions)

Supplementary benefits in addition to defined benefit retirement plans @

Gross commitments 23

36

(a) Commitments measured using the actuarial method.

Severance pay for Executive Committee members

Severance pay for members of the Executive Committee in certain
caseswhere they cease to continue their terms of office or exercise
their functions were set at twice the annual gross compensation (fixed,
variable, and in-kind) they received over the 12 months preceding

the date on which they cease to continue their functions, and, as
regards the two corporate officers of the Company, the Board of
Directors decided on February 18,2019 that the severance pay would
be subject to the fulfillment of defined performance conditions.
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NOTE 18. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Main commitments given directly and indirectly by the Company

4.2 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 18. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2017 2018
Put options held by non-controlling interests over some of the

Company'’s direct and indirect equity interests 607 508
Post-employment benefits ! 382 356
Rents 65 56
Services provided 157 86
Derivative instruments 2,079 3,117
Security interests @ 2,000 2,000
Guarantees 14 16
Total 5,304 6,139

(a) Commitments given directly or indirectly by the Company (see details hereinafter in section Put options over the Company'’s direct and indirect equity interests).
[b) Net commitments in respect of defined benefit retirement plans (see Note 17 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.

(c) Corresponds to cross-currency swaps for €3,117 million.

[d) The Company acted as joint and several guarantor for Danone Finance International.

Put options over the Company’s direct and indirect
equity interests

The Company or certain of its direct orindirect subsidiaries granted
put options to third parties with non-controlling interests in certain
consolidated subsidiaries, with these options giving the holders the

Commitments received

right to sell part or all of their investment in these subsidiaries.
Their exercise price is generally based on the profitability and
financial position of the company concerned at the exercise date
of the put option.

Commitments received by the Company concerned €3 billion in available committed credit facilities as of December 31, 2018.

Other commitments

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to a va-
riety of legal and arbitration proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of business. Some of these proceedings involve claims for

NOTE 19. WORKFORCE

Average number of Company employees during the year

damages, and liabilities are booked when a loss is probable and
can be reliably estimated.

Year ended December 31

(in number, except percentage] 2017 2018
Executives and managers 715 82% 730 82%
Supervisors and technicians 117 13% 116 13%
Clerical staff 37 4% 42 5%
Total 869 100% 888 100%
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NOTE 20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTE Z0. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The main related parties are the associated companies and the
members of the Executive Committee and of the Board of Directors.

Transactions with associated companies are generally carried
out at arm’s length. They mainly involve management fees paid to
Danone, services and financing.

Details of the compensation paid to the members of the Executive
Committee and of the Board of Directors are provided in Note 4 of
this section. Details of Danone’s commitments to the corporate
officers and Executive Committee members with respect to the
retirement plan are provided in Note 17 of this section.

The related party agreements are described in section 6.6 Related
party agreements and commitments.

NOTE Z1. SUMMARY OF SHARES HELD IN PORTFOLIO

Securities of subsidiaries and associates

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2017 2018

Gross amounts 28,203 28,644

Provisions for impairment (82) (82)

Carrying amount 28,121 28,562
DANONE freasury shares

As of December 31

2017 2018

Number of Carrying Number of Carrying

(in € millions, except number of shares] shares amount shares amount

Treasury shares classified as Long-term financial assets @ 30,769,360 1,578 30,769,360 1,578

Treasury shares classified as Marketable securities ©?) 1,757,632 68 1,232,625 46

Total 32,526,992 1,646 32,001,985 1,624

(a) See classification in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.
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NOTE 22. RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION RELATING T0 THE LAST FIVE YEARS

NOTE Z2. RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION RELATING T0 THE LAST FIVE YEARS

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Capital at year-end
Share capital (in €] 160,948,000 163,737,800 163,973,000 167,677,600 171,263,800
Number of shares issued 643,792,000 654,951,200 655,892,000 670,710,400 685,055,200
Operations and results for the year (in € millions)
Sales 474 492 648 609 666
Net income before tax, depreciation, amortization and
provisions 482 2,070 1,318 105 820
Income tax © 76 1M 59 100 104
Income after tax, depreciation, amortization and provisions 541 2,217 1,347 176 899
Dividends paid ® 915 995 1,15 1,274 1,329
Earnings per share (in € per share]
Income after tax but before depreciation, amortization and provisions 0.85 3.33 2.10 0.32 1.35
Net income after tax, depreciation, amortization and provisions 0.84 3.38 2.05 0.26 1.31
Dividend per share 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.90 1.94
Personnel
Average number of employees for the year 725 798 844 869 888
Payroll expense (in € millions] 159 180 160 207 193
Amounts paid in respect of employee benefits |
(social security, social benefit schemes, etc.) (in € millions] 71 77 90 15 94

(a) Income [expense).

[b) Amount relating to the 2018 fiscal year estimated as of December 31, 2018 based on the number of treasury shares held on that date by the Company. The
2017 dividend corresponds to the amount actually paid during the 2018 fiscal year.

[c) Includes personnel expense excluding social charges (see Note 4 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent Company Danone) as well as provisions

relating to stock-options and Group performance shares [see Note 13 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

NOTE Z5. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Tothe best of the Company’s knowledge, no significant events occurred between the end of the reporting period and February 18, 2019, the
date onwhich the Board of Directors approved the financial statements of the parent company Danone for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA. THE PARENT COMPANY

STATUTORY AUDITORS REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory auditors” report on the financial statements issued in French and is provided solely for the
convenience of English-speaking users. The Statutory auditors’ report includes information specifically required by French law in such reports,
whether modified or not. This information presented below is the audit opinion on the financial statements and includes an explanatory paragraph
discussing the auditors assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assessments were considered for the purpose
of issuing an audit opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate assurance on individual account balances,
transactions or disclosures. This report also includes information relating to the specific verification of information given in the management
report and in the documents addressed to the shareholders. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with,
French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France

To the Annual General Meeting of Danone,

Opinion
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by your annual general meeting, we have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments of DANONE for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2018 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles.

The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

Audit framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Statutory Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

Independence

We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with independence rules applicable to us, for the period from 1 January 2018 to the
date of our report and specifically we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No
537/2014 or in the French code of ethics (code de déontologie) for statutory auditors.

Justification of assessments - Key audit matters

Inaccordance with the requirements of Articles L.823-9 and R.823-7 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce] relating to the
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key audit matters relating to risks of material misstatement that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period, as well as how we addressed those risks.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the financial statements.

Valuation of equity interests

RISK IDENTIFIED

OUR RESPONSE

As at 31 December 2018, equity holdings are recorded for a
net amount of 28,562 million euros, for a total balance sheet of
34,275 million euros.

As stated in Note 1 to the financial statements, an impairment
lossisrecorded when the realisable value of the equity holdings
is lower than their carryingamount. The realisable value is deter-
mined by management on the basis of various criteria, including
market value, value in use based on discounted cash flows and
revalued shareholders’ equity.

The estimation of the realisable value of these equity holdings
requires management to exercise its judgment in choosing the
items to be taken into consideration depending on the holdings
concerned, aswellasindetermining the value in use, estimating
the future performance of the entities concerned and the discount
and long-term growth rates.

Inview of the materiality of this line item in the company’s balance
sheet and the judgment required to estimate their realisable
value, we considered the valuation of these holdings to be a key
audit matter.

Ourwork mainly consisted in the following, for a sample of equity
holdings determined based on qualitative and quantitative criteria:

e Forvaluations based on historical data:

e examining the concordance between the shareholders’
equity used and the accounts of the corresponding entities,
aswellasanyadjustments performed on this shareholders’
equity.

e Forvaluations based on forecast data:

e obtainingthe operating cash flow forecasts for the activities
of the entities concerned and reconciling them with the
forecast data provided in the latest strategic plans;

e examiningthe assumptions used in the light of the economic
environment at the closing date and the date on which the
accounts were drawn up;

e comparing the forecasts used for prior periods with the
corresponding actual figuresin orderto assess the achie-
vement of past targets;

We also examined the information provided in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

&4
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

Specific verification
We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific verifications required by French
regulatory and legal texts.

Information provided in the management report and in the other documents with respect to the financial position and the
financial statements provided to the shareholders

We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial statements of the information given in the
Board of Directors’ management report and in the other documents with respect to the financial position and the financial statements
provided to the shareholders.

We attest that the information relating to payment terms referred to in article D. 441-4 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce)
is fairly presented and consistent with the financial statements.

Report on Corporate Governance
We confirm the existence in the Report on Corporate Governance of the information required by Articles L. 225-37-3 and L. 225-37-4 of
the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce).

Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of Article L. 225-37-3 of the French Commercial Code (Code de
commerce) relating to remunerations and benefits received by the directors and any other commitments made in their favor, we have
verified its consistency with the financial statements, or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements and,
where applicable, with the information obtained by your Company from controlling and controlled companies. Based on this work, we
attest the accuracy and fair presentation of this information.

Regarding the information on factors thatyour Company considered could have a potentialincidence in case of public takeover or swap bid,
giveninaccordance with the requirements of Article L. 225-37-5 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), we have verified they
areinaccordance with the underlying documentation provided to us. Based on this work, we have no matter to report on this information.

Other information
In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the identity of the shareholders and holders of
the voting rights has been properly disclosed in the management report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Appointment of the statutory auditors
We were appointed as statutory auditors of DANONE by the annual general meeting held on 21 May 1992 for PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit and on 28 April 2016 for ERNST & YOUNG Audit.

As at31 December 2018, PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditand ERNST & YOUNG Audit were in the 27" year and 3" year of total uninterrupted
engagement respectively. Previously, Ernst & Young et Autres held office as statutory auditor of DANONE from 2010 to 2015.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with French accounting
principles and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is expected to liqui-
date the Company or to cease operations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the financial reporting process and the effectiveness of internal control and risks
management systems and where applicable, its internal audit, regarding the accounting and financial reporting procedures.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors.

Statutory auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Objectives and audit approach

Ourroleistoissueareportonthefinancial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with professional standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As specified in Article L.823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), our statutory audit does not include assurance
on the viability of the Company or the quality of management of the affairs of the Company.

As partof an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the statutory auditor exercises professional
judgment throughout the audit and furthermore:

e identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designs and
performs audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtains audit evidence considered to be sufficientand appropriate to provide
a basis for his opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

obtains an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control;

evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management in the financial statements;

assesses the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence ob-
tained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of his audit report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. If the statutory auditor concludes that
a material uncertainty exists, there is a requirement to draw attention in the audit report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are not provided or inadequate, to modify the opinion expressed therein;

evaluates the overall presentation of the financial statements and assesses whether these statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Report to the Audit Committee

We submit to the Audit Committee a report which includes in particular a description of the scope of the audit and the audit program im-
plemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also report significant deficiencies, if any, in internal control regarding the accounting
and financial reporting procedures that we have identified.

Our report to the Audit Committee includes the risks of material misstatement that, in our professional judgment, were of most signifi-
cance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and which are therefore the key audit matters that we are required to
describe in this report.

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, confirming our in-
dependence within the meaning of the rules applicable in France as set out in particular in Articles L.822-10 to L.822-14 of the French
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and in the French code of ethics (code de déontologie) for statutory auditors. Where appropriate,
we discuss with the Audit Committee the risks that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and the related safeguards.

194

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris La Défense, 1 March 2019
The Statutory Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Ernst & Young Audit

Anik CHAUMARTIN Francois JAUMAIN Jeanne BOILLET Pierre-Henri PAGNON
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4.5 INFORMATION ON PAYMENT TERMS GRANTED T0 SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
OF THE PARENT COMPANY. DANONE SA

As of December 31, 2018

Invoices received, unpaid and overdue as of the reporting date

(in € millions unless Due between Due between Due between Due 91 Total
stated otherwise] Due in 0 day 1and30days 31andé0days 61and 90 days or more days (1 or more days)

A. Overdue payment categories

Number of invoices concerned 10 346

Total amount of invoices
concerned (including taxes) 0.9 0.6 0.5 0.4 8.4 9.9

Percentage of total purchases
for the year [excluding taxes) 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 2.0% 2.4%

Percentage of sales for
the year (excluding taxes)

B. Invoices excluded from [A) relating to payables and receivables in dispute or not recognized

Number of excluded invoices 9

Total amount of
excluded invoices 0.3

C. Benchmark contractual payment terms used

Payment terms used to
calculate overdue payments Contractual terms: 60 days of invoice date, in the absence of statutory terms

As of December 31, 2018

Invoices issued, unpaid and overdue as of the reporting date

(in € millions unless Due between Due between Due between Due 91 Total
stated otherwise/ Duein 0 day 1and30days 31andé0days 61and 90 days or more days (1 or more days)

A. Overdue payment categories

Number of invoices concerned 757 1,291

Total amount of invoices
concerned (including taxes) 25.3 8.9 0.6 (0.0) 43.8 53.3

Percentage of total purchases
for the year [excluding taxes)

Percentage of sales for
the year (excluding taxes) 3.8% 1.3% 0.1% 0.0% 6.6% 8.0%

B. Invoices excluded from (A) relating to payables and receivables in dispute or not recognized

Number of excluded invoices 0

Total amount of excluded
invoices 0

C. Benchmark contractual payment terms used

Payment terms used to
calculate overdue payments Contractual terms: 30 days from end of month of invoice

44 INFORMATION ORIGINATING FROM THIRD PARTIES. EXPERT OPINIONS AND DECLARATIONS
OF INTEREST

Nil.
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SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

This section describes Danone’s commitments and accomplishments in the area of social, societal and environmental responsibility. It is organized
as follows:

® |nformation regarding extra-financial performance:

decree n®2017-1265 of August 9, 2017 taken for the purpose of the order n°2017-1180 of July 19, 2017 as regards disclosure of non-financial
information by companies;

Act L. 225-37-4 6 of the French Commercial Code regarding “results of gender diversity in the top 10% of positions with greater
responsibility”;

T of Act no. 2017-399 referred to as the law on the duty of vigilance of parent companies and ordering companies;

173 of Act no. 2015-992 of August 17, 2015 on the energy transition for green growth.

® [Description of Danone’s sustainability approach through the steps of decree n°2017-1265:

Danone’s business model is described in chapter 2 of this document.

® [oreach of the risks and as far as possible, the following elements are highlighted:

Definitions of the identified sustainability risks;

Policies implemented to define the Company’s ambitions and commitments;
Governance and team dedicated to strategic management and operational follow-up;
Action plans implemented to deploy the commitments;

Quantitative and qualitative outcomes;

Opportunities considered as levers of actions generating positive impact.

® [xtra-financial performance for 2018 relies on:

Environmental indicators;

Social indicators;

Safety indicators;

Nutrition indicators;

Responsible procurement and human rights indicators;

Results of the Danone Way program.

® More extensive information is available in:

&}

section 2.7 Risk factors dedicated to the main risks Danone is exposed to as of the date of the release of this Registration Document;

the 2018 Integrated Annual Report (www.iar2018.danone.com] in which quantitative results and practices are described based on the 2030
Company Goals, the Global Reporting Initiative indicators, the Global Compact guiding principles and the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals [SDG).
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5.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION 0F CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

0. DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Contents

Danone’s long history of corporate responsibility
Sustainable value creation: Danone’s integrated approach

Danone Way and B Corp™, two key initiatives to achieve
Danone’s ambitions

Continuous improvement with Danone Way

From Danone Way to B Corp™ certification

Advancing Danone’s B Corp™ ambition

Stakeholder relations and external evaluations
Co-creating with stakeholders

Innovating with banks for responsible finance
External evaluations

160
161

161
161
161
161

162
162
162
162

Identifying material issues and risks
Materiality analysis

Risks identified in connection with Danone’s declaration of non-
financial performance

Danone’s top non-financial risks
Vigilance plan
Sustainability governance

Danone’s social innovation funds

Danone Communities

Danone Ecosystem Fund [Fonds Danone pour 'Ecosystéme)
Livelihoods Carbon fund

Livelihoods fund for family farming

Responsible practices: ethics and integrity

Crisis management

162
162
162

163

163
166

167
167
167
168
168

169
170

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

199

C
C
C



SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

DANONE'S LONG HISTORY OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

“Corporate responsibility does not end at the factory gate or the office door,” said Antoine Riboud in 1972, adding “We only have one Earth.”
His vision became Danone’s dual economic and social project-the heart of the Company’s growth and organizational model.

Step by step, this vision has become an integral part of the Company and its activities:

1371

Antoine RIBOUD's speech in Marseille:
birth of the dual economic and social
project

1983

e Set up of the common vision between
Danone and the IUF

e Danone-IUF agreements on the
economic and social information
of Danone companies and gender
equality in the workplace

1991 - 1937

Danone-IUF agreements on:
e Skills training
e Trade union rights

* The event of changes in business
activities affecting employment
or working conditions

1996

Environmental Charter

2001

e Birth of the Danone Way program

* Danone-IUF agreement on
Fundamental Social Principles

£004

Groundwater Resources Protection
Policy

2005

Danone-IUF agreement on setting up
of social indicators in the Company’'s
subsidiaries

2006

“Bringing health through food to as
many people as possible” formally
adopted as Danone’s mission

1007

* Danone-IUF agreement on diversity

* Creation of the Danone Communities
fund

2003

e Creation of the Danone Ecosystem
Fund

e Nutrition Health Charter

2010

Deployment of Dan'Cares program

201

e Creation of the Livelihoods
Carbon fund

e Danone-IUF agreement on health,
safety, working conditions and stress

2017

Forest Footprint Policy

2013

Nature 2020 Commitments

160 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018
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Creation of the Livelihoods fund for
family farming

2015

e Publication of the Manifesto

e Partnership with B Lab® for B Corp™
certification for multinationals

e Climate Policy

e Commitment to the Consumer Goods
Forum against deforestation

* Palm oil policy

2016

* Danone-IUF agreement on
sustainable employment and access
to rights

» Packaging Policy

e Nutrition Commitments

» Position paper on the first 1,000 days
of life

2017

e Launch of the “One Planet. One
Health” Company vision
e Global Parental Policy

e Official recognition of Danone’s
climate ambition by the Science-
Based Targets initiative

e Engagement in the RE100 initiative

2018

e ESG criteria incorporated into credit
margin of syndicated credit facility

e Social bond issue

e Launch of Danone’s 2030 Goals

* New packaging policy

e Launch of Business for Inclusive
Growth initiative with the OECD



SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

3.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

SUSTAINABLE VALUE CREATION- DANONE'S NTEGRATED APPROACH

Danone’s mission reflects its commitment to “bringing health
through food to as many people as possible”, through its brands and
a portfolio of foods and beverages that can be enjoyed every day. It
offers products and services suited to each community’s specificities
by taking into account cultural, social, emotional and physiological
aspects related to dietary practices, in each part of the world.

Moreover, Danone believes that the health of people and that of the
planet are interdependent and wants to nourish and protect both.
Flowing from our “One Planet. One Health” vision, the Company has
defined a set of nine long-term goals - aligned with the Sustainable
Development Goals of the United Nations - to embrace the food
revolution while creating sustainable value for its shareholders and

ecosystem. Danone’s more than 100,000 employees are the driving
force to achieve this (see 2018 Integrated Annual Report).

Building on a unique socialinnovation heritage, Danone is giving the
opportunity to each employee to co-own its strategic agenda and
the path to its 2030 Goals, both at global and local level. Hence, in
2018, through the "One Person, One Voice, One Share” program,
Danone’s employees have been invited to engage and share their
views on the Company’s priorities as well as the definition of local
and global roadmaps (see 2.3 Strategic priorities).

Inspired by its vision and ambitions, Danone deploys action plans
that advance its dual economic and social project, as an integral
part of a unique corporate strategy.

DANONE WAY AND B CORP™. Tw0 KEY INITIATIVES To ACHIEVE DANONE'S AMBITIONS

Confinuous improvement with Danone Way

Under the Danone Way program, the Company’s entities conduct an annual self-assessment to measure how they are performing and

how mature their sustainability initiatives are.

The Danone Way guidelines are grouped into four key pillars:

GOVERNANCE HEALTH AND NUTRITION

PEOPLE ENVIRONMENT

® Sustainability strategy ® Product quality and

® Business ethics SIEIREICE

@ Nutrition, innovation and
promotion of healthy
alternatives

® Socially responsible
suppliers

© Nutrition governance

® Social dialogue o Climate
® Workplace health and * Water
SRy e Circular economy and
® Employee development packaging
® Inclusive diversity ® Reduction of food waste
® Human rights ® Regenerative agriculture

¢ Environmental
management

From Danone Way fo B Corp™ certification

In 2015, Danone recognized that B Lab® shared its values and
began working with the non-profit to move its Danone Way pro-
gram towards B Corp™ certification, later adding efforts to give
multinationals better access to the B Corp™ certification process.
Underthis partnership, Danone joined the Multinationals and Public
Markets Advisory Council (MPMAC] to share lessons learned from
its experience with Danone Way.

Advancing Danones B Corp™ ambition

Certified two years ahead of target, Danone North America became
the largest B Corp™in the world. Danone Canada, Alpro, Grameen
Danone and Danone Manifesto Ventures were also certified in 2018.

Focus

B Lab®isanon-profitorganization that serves a global movement of
people using business as a force forgood™. B Lab® grants B Corp™
certification to for-profit companies that demonstrate high stan-
dards of socialand environmental performance. To obtain B Corp™
certification, a company must complete a B Impact Assessment,
and earna minimum score of 80 out of 200 points after verification
by B lab®. It must also recertify every three years and maintain the
goal of continuous improvement.

As of December 31, 2018, 11 entities including 9 subsidiaries are
B Corp™ certified and about 30% of Danone’s consolidated sales
are covered by B Corp™ certification.
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51 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND EXTERNAL EVALUATIONS
Co-creating with stakeholders

Danone partners with stakeholders at global, regional and local
level, working to create shared solutions and reach the Company’s
2030 Goals.

In 2018, for example, Danone joined the OECD in launching a three-
year initiative that will use public-private cooperation to strengthen

[nnovating with banks for responsible finance

In 2018, Danone amended its €2 billion syndicated credit facility, in
order to include global environmental and social criteria, directly
impacting, upwards or downwards, the margin payable to its banks
over the entire duration of the facility. Danone’s syndicated facility
includes an innovative mechanism of payable margin adjustment,
reviewed at least once a year, on the basis of ESG criteria provided
by third parties:

® scores granted to Danone by two ESG agencies, and

External evaluations

inclusive growth. The platform will develop a global coalition of
businesses and governments committed to generating and repli-
cating more-inclusive business models and transforming the role
of business in society.

For examples, please see Danone’s 2018 Integrated Annual Report.

® percentage of consolidated sales of Danone covered by B Corp™
certifications.

Alsoin 2018, Danone issued a €300 million social bond, continuing
to invest in sustainable value for all. Proceeds from the issue are
allocated to projects promoting positive social impact on Danone
stakeholders, including suppliers and agricultural partners,
communities, people with special nutritional needs, healthy foods
entrepreneurship and employees.

2017 2018
DJsI 65/100 @ 68/100
Vigeo Eiris 65/100 68/100
MSCI AAA AAA
CDP Climate Change A- A List
CDP Water A List B
CDP Forests B A-

(a) Due to significant methodology changes, all 2017 scores have been recalculated by DJSI on a like-for-like basis.

Danoneis listed in the FTSE4Good index, which measures companies’ non-financial performance. On the Access to Nutrition Index (ATNI),
it ranks third among top-performing food companies and first for breast milk substitutes.

(DENTIFYING MATERIAL ISSUES AND RISKS
Materiality analysis

Danone sets its sustainability priorities based on a materiality matrix, which can be found in the 20718 Integrated Annual Report.

Risks identified in connection with Danones declaration of non-financial performance

In 2018, Danone identified its sustainability risks, thanks to a joint
effort by Danone’s Sustainability Integration Department and Strategy
and Risks Department.

The top 13 sustainability risks are listed below and are examined
in detail in this chapter.

Danone has adopted the following risk definition methodology:

o identify risksthroughresearchonrisksaffecting Danone’s acti-
vities and its value chain over the short, medium and long term;

16 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018

e work with Danone experts to assess top risks based on the
Company’s activities, probability of occurrence, and potential
impacts on stakeholders (employees, shareholders, business
partners and communities) and the Company’s results;

e consolidate and identify Danone’s top 13 sustainability risks;

® have the final list approved by three governance bodies: the
Sustainability Integration Committee, the Social Responsibility
Committee and the Audit Committee see 6.1 Governance bodies.
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3.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

DANONE'S TOP NON-FINANCIAL RISKS

5% @) &

Compliance Environment Responsible sourcing and human rights
® Responsible practices: e Circular economy e Trading and pricing practices
ethics and integrity e Water stewardship e Responsible sourcing
® Regenerative and organic agriculture ® Human rights

@

> Climate change risk affects all of
Danone’s environmental challenges.
Transversal

e Changing consumption trends
Lo
Peaple

e Attracting and developing talent

©)
Health and Nutrifion

® Responsible communication

® Social dialogue

e Employee security - occupational
® Breast milk substitutes health and safety issues are linked
to the security risk of Danone
employees.

VIGILANCE PLAN

In addition to this risk-based approach, the Company attaches a great deal of importance to human rights and fundamental freedoms,
the environment, and personal health and safety.

In compliance with the March, 2017, France Duty of Vigilance Law, the table below summarizes Danone’s Vigilance Plan, which governs
the Company’s activities and those of its suppliers.

Danone developedthe plan based on adialogue with stakeholders, and detailed information on its deployment can be found in this chapter.
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SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Human rights and fundamental freedoms

Environment

Risk mapping

Company
activities

Activities of
suppliers and
sub-contractors

* Materiality analysis conducted in 2017

¢ Analysis of top non-financial risks conducted in 2018

e Public statement of principles in Danone Statement on
Forced Labor

¢ Risk mapping includes situation of migrants and other
temporary workers in subsidiaries, identifying three
priority regions for rollout of the Global External
Workforce Policy starting in 2018

e Analysis of top non-financial risks conducted in 2018

¢ Risk-mapping updated in 2018 to include changes in
Danone’s ingredient portfolio after the WhiteWave
acquisition

* Analysis of risks related to direct supplier sites listed on
Sedex platform, using geographic and sector-based data

e Historic milk procurement issues factored in

* Materiality analysis conducted in 2017

¢ Analysis of top non-financial risks conducted in 2018

¢ GREEN Program uses external audits to identify and
track top environmental risks at production sites

* Mapping of water risks using two tools: WRI's Aqueduct
Water Risk Atlas and WWF's Water Risk Filter.

* Analysis of top non-financial risks conducted in 2018

¢ Analysis of deforestation risks under Forest Footprint
Policy

¢ Assessment of water risks linked to fresh milk supply
chain through Aqueduct Water Risk Atlas since 2018

¢ Risk mapping conducted in 2017 on the 20 purchasing
categories with highest exposure

e Priority given to sustainable agriculture for milk
sourcing: climate, water, biodiversity, animal welfare
and soil use

Regular risk map-based evaluation procedures

Company
activities

Activities of
suppliers and
sub-contractors

¢ Danone Way self-assessment - Social/Human Rights
component incorporated into guidelines in 2018

e Traceability initiative targeting five high-priority
agricultural categories: palm oil, fruit, cocoa, cane sugar

and soy
e Cool Farm Tool and animal welfare tool for direct
suppliers of raw milk

¢ GREEN audits of production sites

e Water risk assessment criteria derived from WWF's
Water Risk Filter tool incorporated into GREEN
assessment checklist in 2018

e Direct suppliers asked to join Sedex platform, with

self-assessment questionnaire on their sustainability
performance

Actions adaptées d’atténuation des risques ou de prévention des atteintes graves

Company
activities

Activities of
suppliers and
sub-contractors

¢ Code of Business Conduct

e Sustainability Principles for business partners, also
applicable to Danone employees

e Agreements between Danone and IUF

 Global External Workforce Policy (in-house policy)

e Code of Conduct for Business Partners

e Sustainability Principles for business partners

e Clause in supplier contract incorporating Sustainability
Principles

e Action plan following SMETA audits

* CPM contracts

* Dialogue with suppliers

e Collaborative projects with select suppliers, Danone-
sponsored funds and select subsidiaries

e Participation in multiple dedicated platforms such
as POIG, SASPO, RSPO, the Sustainable Agriculture
Initiative, AIM-Progress and the Consumer Goods Forum

e Certifications: UTZ, FSC, RSPO, RTRS, Proterra

¢ Code of Business Conduct

e Sustainability Principles for business partners, also
applicable to Danone employees

e Active application of Danone’s environmental protection
strategy

e Environmental Management System assessed through
certifications and internal assessments to ensure
continuous improvement of environmental performance,
regulatory compliance, and employee awareness of
environmental management

¢ Action plans drafted following GREEN audits, with
intensive remediation plans for the highest environmental
risks

o At sites with the highest water risks, use of GEMI Local
Water Tool to make a detailed assessment for each site
and develop a customized mitigation plan

e Code of Conduct for Business Partners

e Sustainability Principles for business partners

e Clause in supplier contract incorporating Sustainability
Principles

e Action plan following SMETA audits and assessments
with Cool Farm Tool and Animal Welfare Tool

* Dialogue with suppliers

e Collaborative projects with select suppliers, Danone-
sponsored funds and select subsidiaries

e Certifications: CSPO RSPO, RTRS, FSC and Non-GMO
Project Verified
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5.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION 0F CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Health and safety of people

For more information, see:

* Materiality and risks analysis conducted in 2017
- e |dentification of risks specific to Danone operations; WISE? safety
. standards apply to the Company’s businesses and operations

" e 2.7 Risk factors

" e [dentifying material issues and risks

.« Environmental protection strategy

- o Water stewardship

" e Workplace health and safety

- » Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

e Risk-mapping updated in 2018 to include changes in Danone’s
i ingredient portfolio after the WhiteWave acquisition
i e Historic milk procurement issues factored in

2.7 Risk factors

i e Preserve and renew the planet’s resources
i » Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

- Site-level risk assessment

e Unified Risk Assessment Document applicable in the European
© Union

- # Site-level WISE? audits

. e Tracking of workplace accidents

e Danone’s integrated vision of corporate responsibility
. ® Environmental protection strategy
- ® Workplace health and safety

e Two-year audit plan for sites at highest risk of human rights
violation and for Danone’s direct suppliers

¢ RESPECT program expanded into a more comprehensive due
diligence initiative

* Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

" e Code of Business Conduct

- Sustainability Principles for business partners, also applicable to
- Danone employees

- WISEZprogram

" e Action plan following WISEZ? audits

- * Responsible practices: ethics and integrity

- e Environmental protection strategy

e Workplace health and safety

- e Employee relations

- e Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

i e Code of Conduct for Business Partners

i e Sustainability Principles for business partners

i e Clause in supplier contract incorporating Sustainability Principles
i e WISE2 program coverage of outside workers on Danone sites

i e Action plans following SMETA audits

: e Dialogue with suppliers

ie Projects in partnership with Danone- sponsored funds

i e Certifications: UTZ, FSC, RSP0, RTRS, Proterra

® Responsible practices: ethics and integrity
i ® Workplace health and safety
i ® Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2018 169

N N YN



SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

3.1 DANONE'S INTEGRATED VISION OF CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Whistleblowing system

Company e Danone Ethics Line: in 2018, a worldwide total of e Danone Ethics Line
activities 12 reports were received in the human rights category.

These reports raised routine human resource issues and

did not qualify as a human rights violations in any case

Activities of e Danone Ethics Line also applies to suppliers
suppliers and
sub-contractors

Monitoring of measures and assessment of their efficiency

Company ¢ Danone Way results tracked under Social/Human Rights e Tracking of environmental performance indicators
activities component incorporated into guidelines in 2018 * More frequent GREEN audits based on environmental and
water risks
e Business-level tracking of GREEN audit action plans and
water risks
Activities of e Tracking of RESPECT program performance indicators: * Development of other measurement and assessment
suppliers and indicator for suppliers’ Sedex membership and indicator tools
sub-contractors for compliance with Danone audit standards [deployment e Cow welfare assessments of fresh milk producers using a
and remediation of any compliance failures) tool developed with CIWF

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

At Danone, sustainability governance is based largely on the structure and entities depicted below:
GOVERNANCE BODIES
©¢0o0
Q{\;}Q@Q informs and
reports
® o 00
Social Responsibility Q Q U
Committee

An offshoot of the Board of Directors.

For information on its missions and SUSTalndblmU
its work in 2018, see 6.1 Governance bodies ‘nj[egrahon Commlffeg

This committee makes sustainability

an integral part of Danone’s strategy

and operations and approves Danone
Ecosystem Fund initiatives. It is composed
of representatives of environmental, social

consults,

and nutrition issues, plus representatives
from each Danone business. The committee
is chaired by the EVP of Essential
Dairy & Plant-Based Products,
who is also a member of the
Executive Committee.

The Sustainability Integration Department is part of the General Secretary function. It works with the environmental, social, health and
nutrition teams and with sustainability representatives in each Business to coordinate the Company’s sustainability commitments and

monitorits performance in meeting them. This department also oversees the Danone Way program and coordinates a worldwide network
of local sustainability representatives.

In addition, Danone has set up dedicated governance for each of the top 13 risks discussed in this chapter.
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Whistleblowing system
¢ Danone Ethics Line * Responsible practices: ethics and integrity
e Specific procedures for escalating serious accidents or risks e Workplace health and safety

* Responsible practices: ethics and integrity
e Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

Monitoring of measures and assessment of their efficiency

* Measurement and tracking of accidents e Danone’s integrated vision of corporate responsibility
¢ WISE? audits to measure the effectiveness of the WISE? program e Environmental protection strategy

* Management of safety performance and accidents * Workplace health and safety

e Accident tracking for outside workers on Danone sites e Workplace h

e Tracking of RESPECT program performance indicators * Promoting sustainable, inclusive growth with suppliers

DANONE'S SOCIAL INNOVATION FUNDS

As part of its commitment to corporate responsibility, Danone works with all of its stakeholders to promote inclusive growth, particularly

through the social innovation funds described below.

Danone Communities

In 2007, Danone created the Danone Communities SICAV (Société
d’Investissement a Capital Variable] and the Danone Communities
FPS (Fonds Professionnel Spécialisé, or specialized professional
investment fund).

The SICAV invests [i] at least 90% of its assets in money market
instruments, bonds and other vehicles that emphasize socially
responsible investment (SRI), and (i) no more than 10% in the FPS.

As of December 31, 2018, the Danone Communities SICAV fund had
a total of €75.7 million in assets under management. Of that total,
18% was held by Danone and 30% was held by its employees through
Danone Communities Solidaire, an employee investment fund (fonds
commun de placement d'entreprise, or FCPE). As of December 31,
2018, Danone also held 63.6% of the capital in the FPS.

Danone Fcosystem Fund (Fonds Danone pour [Ecosystéme)

The Company created the Danone Ecosystem Fund in 2009, with
initial funding of €100 million. An endowment fund headed by a
Board of Directors, it is tasked with strengthening and expan-
ding community service activities within the Danone ecosystem.
A Guidance Committee, composed of representatives of Danone
and non-Company members, establishes the fund’'s major strate-
gic guidelines, especially with regard to priorities and resource
allocation principles. An Investment Committee is responsible for
proposing investment projects for the endowment to the Board of
Directors and overseeing their deployment.

Once projects are selected, they are deployed by non-profits and/
or by the fund directly. Since its creation, the Fund has supported
projects in five key areas: sustainable sourcing, micro-distribution,
recycling, personal care, and sustainable management of land and
catchment areas.

Danone Communities and its partnersinvestin businesses that have
a significant social impact in line with Danone’s mission, primarily
in emerging countries, to bringing health through food to as many
people as possible. In particular, Danone Communities backs social
entrepreneurs who are working to reduce malnutrition and improve
accesstodrinking water-two levers to reduce poverty. Inaccordance
with its Governance Charter, Danone Communities consults with the
Social Responsibility Committee before each investment by the FPS.

The Danone Communities FPS backs 10 social businesses in
14 countries. To date, Danoneisalsoa shareholderinthree of these
social businesses: Grameen Danone Foods Limited in Bangladesh;
La Laiterie du Bergerin Senegal; and Nutrigo in China.

As of December31, 2018, total investments in these businesses came
to €11.9 million for the Danone Communities FPS fund (versus €11.3
in 2017) and €7.0 million for Danone (versus €6.6 million in 2017).

The Fund has no employees: Danone staff members are assigned
to manage its day-to-day operations and administrative activities.
The salaries and travel expenses of these employees, which totaled
€1.5millionin 2018 [versus €1.2 millionin 2017), are charged to the
Fund in full by Danone.

As of December 31, 2018, the Danone Ecosystem Fund has 45 active
projects worldwide, representing a total commitment of €77 million
[versus €68 million in 2017).

As of September 21, 2018 100% of Danone France and its brands
donated to the Danone Ecosystem Fund a full day’s proceeds in
favor of projects contributing to the transition to a regenerative
agriculture (see 5.3 Regenerative and organic agriculture).
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Livelihoods Carbon fund

Founded in 2011 with ten investors, the Livelihoods Carbon fund is
an investment fund, SICAV-SIF (Société d’Investissement & Capital
Variable-Fonds d'Investissement Spécialisé) dedicated to restoring
ecosystems and carbon assets. The Livelihoods Carbon fund
seeks to invest in three types of projects in Africa, Asia and Latin
America: (i) restoration and preservation of natural ecosystems; [ii)
agroforestry and soil restoration through sustainable agricultural
practices; and (iii) access to rural energy to reduce deforestation.
The carbon credits generated by the fund are certified, then allocated
to investors in proportion to their investments.

As such, the Livelihoods Carbon Fund fights climate change while
improving living conditions for local communities. It was created
as part of Danone’s effort to shrink its carbon footprint, in part by
developing offsets that generate carbon credits.

Livelihoods fund for family farming

The Livelihoods fund for family farming is an extension of the
Livelihoods fund, launched by Danone and Mars Inc. in 2015 and
joined by Veolia and Firmenich in 2016.

Structured as a simplified limited company under French law (so-
ciété par actions simplifiée de droit francais & capital variable), it helps
businesses transform their supply chains, giving them reliable,
long-term access to quality supplies in the volumes they need. At
the same time, it enables small farmers to adopt more sustainable

Building on the results achieved by the Livelihoods Carbon Fund,
in early 2018, 8 investors created a second fund compartment to
step up their efforts to fight climate change and protect vulnerable
people. The fund setup in 2011 became LCF #1, and the new fund, a
financial entity separate from the first, was called LCF #2.

As of December 31, 2018, investors have pledged to invest a total of
€37.9 millionin LCF #1, with Danone accounting for €13.8 million of
that amount. LCF #1 currently supports nine projects.

As of December 31, 2018, investors have pledged to invest a total of
€54.9 millionin LCF #2, with Danone contributing €25 million of that
amount. As of the same date, LCF #2 has validated three projects.

practices and boost revenue, thanks to good connections with markets.
These projects also help to preserve ecosystems through farming
practices combining productivity and respect for the environment.

As of December 31,2018, investors have pledged to investa combined
total of €36 million in the Livelihoods fund for family farming, with
Danone accounting for €15 million of that amount. To date the fund'’s
Investment Committee has approved seven projects focusing on
cocoa, coconut, vanilla, rice and watershed protection.

Examples of initiatives carried out with Danone’s innovation funds can be found in the 2018 Integrated Annual Report.
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Z15 RESPONSIBLE PRACTICES: ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

Definition

Danone works actively against corruption, payments in kind, conflicts of interest, theft, embezzlement, inappropriate use of company

resources and money laundering.

Policies

Danone has established policies and procedures for responsible practices that apply to all employees and business partners, including:

Code of Business Conduct

Integrity Policy

Code of Conduct for Business
Partners

Competition policy

International Trade Sanctions
Policy

Personal Data Privacy Policy

HCS (Health Care Systems)
Compliance Directive

Tax policy

Policy on advocacy activities

Based on principles derived from:
e the Universal Declaration of Human Rights;
e the fundamental conventions of the International Labour Organization;

¢ the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises;

e the UN Global Compact on human rights, labor rights, the environment and anti-corruption.
It has been translated into 34 languages.
Defines the rules and responsibilities governing the conduct of every Danone employee.

Describes the expectations that must be met by various employees, in particular Executive
Committee members, general managers, and Directors of Human Resources, Public Affairs,
Medicine and Healthcare.

Ensures that Danone’s business partners comply with applicable laws on bribery and corruption,
money laundering, unfair competition and international trade sanctions.

Definesrulesto ensure compliance with behaviors that allow fair competition between the various
players in the sector and compliance with competition law and regulations.

Designed to ensure that Danone complies with international trade sanctions, which focus largely
on restricting imports, exports, sales, and financial transactions.

Establishes general principles governing Danone’s use of personal data.

Establishes guidelines derived from Danone’s policies on healthcare systems compliance and
the marketing of breast milk substitutes, as well as its communications guidelines on foods for
special medical purposes.

Applies to all Danone employees worldwide, as well as third-party contractors who interact with
health care systems.

Underscores Danone’s commitment to responsible tax management and its pledge to avoid tax
schemes that are artificial, fraudulent or disconnected from actual operations.

The Company has drafted a tax code of conduct designed to help fight tax evasion.
Danone has published its tax policy on its website since 2016 and updates it annually.

Danone’s policy on advocacy clearly describes the behaviors expected of employees who work
with Danone’s stakeholders.

¢ Danone does not pay any sums of money to individuals or organizations involved in politics to
support their activities. As a result, no candidates or political parties receive funds or assets
from the Company.

e The Companyinteractswith governmentaland non-governmental players as part of its dialogue
with stakeholders and in the regular course of business. For example, Danone is listed in the
registers of interest representatives of the European Union and of the French High Authority
for Transparency in Public Life (Haute Autorité Francaise pour la Transparence de la Vie Publigue,
or HATVP).

Like all other Company activities, Danone’s advocacy efforts must comply with the principles of
business conduct and the integrity policy described above.
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Governance
The Company has adopted a governance structure and appropriate
policies and measures to meet the highest standards of compliance.

Danone’s worldwide compliance program is approved and sup-
ported by its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as well as by
its Executive Committee, under the supervision of the Corporate
Compliance and Ethics Board (CCB), which is chaired by the Chief
Compliance Officer.

At local level, Danone has created a network of compliance and
business ethics officers.

In parallel, in 2018 Danone created a Personal Ethics Commission
whose responsibilities include anticipating issues and reviewing
human resource alerts from the Danone Ethics Line twice peryear
(see hereinafter].

Action plans

Mechanism

Danone has established mechanisms to assess corruption-related
compliance risks. As aresult, the Company conducts internal audits
onitsworldwide internal controls for key risks, including interactions
with government officials, gifts and hospitality, sponsorships,
donations and tenders.

In keeping with ethics and integrity concerns, Danone has defined
strict record-keeping requirements.

CRISIS MANAGEMENT

In the event of a crisis, Danone’s priorities are to protect people,
including its consumers and employees; the environment; and the
Company'’s assets, operations and reputation.

Danone hasaninternalcrisis management policy that specifies the
structures that should be putin place in response to crisis situations.
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To performthese audits, Danone has established two key mechanisms:

® guidelines and an internal orientation and approval process to
monitor gifts, hospitality, sponsorship, subsidies and donations;

e the Danone Ethics Line: a confidential whistleblowing system
for employees, suppliers and other third parties. Though it
was initially used to report suspected fraud, corruption, or
other cases of non-compliance, it has now expanded to include
reports of discrimination, issues affecting health and personal
safety, humanrightsviolations and environmentalviolations. The
Danone Ethics Line can be accessed on the Internet by anyone,
inany country. In addition, Danone enforces a clear policy of not
retaliating against whistleblowers ifthey reporta genuine concern
(see 2.8 Internal control and risk management).

Employee training and information

Danone has rolled out a communication campaign to inform em-
ployees that its Code of Business Conduct and responsible prac-
tices policies are available on itsinternal portal, and allemployees
are made aware of their obligation to follow the Code of Business
Conduct when they are recruited.

Danone’s goalistousein-persontrainingand e-learning to educate
allemployees aboutits responsible practices policies, with priority
given to positions deemed at highest risk. Training is also provided
at a local level, extending coverage to every Danone employee.

Outcomes

In 2018 Danone received 297 alerts on various issues, including
human resources, corruption and fraud. None of these cases had
a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated accounts.

Danone’s action for crisis management also includes preparation
and training:

® acrisis manager for each subsidiary;
e classroom or online training of over 100 managers each year;

® annualaudits toverify compliance with crisis management policies.



0.L OFFERING SAFE. HEALTHY PRODUCTS

Contents

SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.2 OFFERING SAFE. HEALTHY PRODUCTS

Changing consumption trends 171
Measures taken in support of consumer health 171
Measures taken to promote consumer safety 174

Responsible communication 175

Breast milk substitutes 177

. CHANGING CONSUMPTION TRENDS

Consumer purchasing preferences are influenced not only by nutri-
tionalvalue and food safety, but also by an increasing awareness of
public health, environmental and social aspects linked to production
and consumption of some foods and beverages. As more and more

Measures faken in support of consumer health

Definition

consumers focus on the nutritional value and on the social and
environmental footprint of the products they buy, they are using
their purchasing power to favor responsible sectors and products.

Danone is committed to optimizing the nutritional profile of its offer, drawing on in-depth knowledge of eating habits, local cultural tra-

ditions and public health concerns.

Policies and Outcomes

In 2016, Danone published the six Nutrition Commitments it has pledged to meet by 2020.

Commitment No. 1: continuously improve the nutritional quality of our products.

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

Danone will bring 100% of its products into compliance with its
own absolute nutritional target values.

In 2018, 89% of volumes sold are in healthy categories, within
the Health and Nutrition scope, versus 88% in 2017 (see Health
and Nutrition scope, Methodology Note). The other categories are
mainly low-sugar drinks and occasional “indulgence” products.

In 2018, 78% of product volumes sold comply with Danone’s 2020
Nutritional Targets, versus 73% in 2017 (see Health and Nutrition
scope, Methodology Note).

In 2018, 85% of entities have an active reformulation planin line
with the Nutritional Targets 2020, reviewed by the Committee
of Directors. This plan must include at least all products that
are notyet fully compliant towards the 2020 Nutritional Targets,
and may include additional actions, such as further reduction of
nutrients (e.g. sugar and salt] not mentionned in the Nutritional
Targets (see Danone Way scope, Methodology Note).

In 2018, 10% of product volumes sold had been nutritionally
improved, versus 21% in 2017 (see Health and Nutrition scope,
Methodology Note). Independently of the new definition for the
indicator, the percentage of improved products is declining as
nutrition renovation projects are completed and the percentage
of target-compliant products increases.

Commitment No. 2: design healthier alternatives relevant for consumers.

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

Top Danone brands will contribute to providing healthier alternatives
in consumers’ diet.

In 2018, plain dairy product offers were launched by several brands,
including Oikos in Canada, YoPRO in Spain and Le Bio in France.
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Commitment No. 3: further reinforce Danone’s expertise on the understanding of local nutrition practices and public health

contexts.

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

Inits top businesses, Danone will have implemented and published
outcomes of research programs supported by local experts to
understand eating and drinking habits and food cultures.

Through the Nutriplanet program, Danone gains detailed knowledge
of every aspect of local food cultures. In 2018, 57 countries were
covered by Nutriplanet studies, the same as in 2017 (see Health
and Nutrition scope, Methodology Note).

Commitment no. 4: contribute to address local public health challenges on which Danone can have a most favorable impact

through partnerships.

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

Danone will have contributed to a local health cause with relevant
actions and programs in the top 15 countries where it operates.

In 2018, 92% of Danone’s entities have engaged in favor of a
public health cause (see Danone Way scope, Methodology Note).

In 2018, Danone has 30 active education and information pro-
grams, versus 28in 2017. These programs promote healthy diets
and lifestyles within a variety of groups, such as children, young
parents, pregnantwomen and seniors. Since their launch, these
programs reached a potential audience of over 35 million people
in 2018, versus 28 million in 2017.

Commitment no. 5: develop even more responsible marketing practices, especially to children

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

Each country in which Danone operates will have disclosed and
embedded a local comprehensive policy on responsible marke-
ting practices. This willinclude Danone’s commitment regarding
breast milk substitutes.

See 5.2 Responsible Communication (EU Pledge).

Commitment No. 6: provide the most appropriate product labelling to encourage healthier practices.

2020 TARGETS

OUTCOMES

100% of Danone products will display comprehensive nutritional
information to guide consumers, in particular regarding portion
guidance.

Governance

The Product Compliance Board (PCB) is Danone’s governance body
notably for nutrition and health topics. The Company’s nutrition
commitments and performance are overseen by the Nutrition
Steering Committee, whose Chair reports to a member of the
Executive Committee. This committee ensures that the Company’s
commitments are under control and that appropriate mitigation
plans have been deployed.

Action plans

Danone organizes education and information programs for consu-
mers and/or healthcare professionals, working in partnership with
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Danone supports Nutri-Score labels as part of Commitment
No. 6. Thissimple, visual system is both comprehensive and easy
tointerpret. It summarizes the nutritional value of products with
indicators (A through EJ and colors [green to red), and identifies
both nutrients that should be limited (such as sugar, salt and fat)
and encouraged (such as fiber and protein).

Following the French government’s decision to adopt the
Nutri-Score as its national front-of-pack labelling scheme,
Danoneis progressively rolling this out on its fresh dairy products
portfolio in France. In 2019, the roll-out will also encompass
Danone’s fresh dairy products in Austria, Belgium, Germany,
Switzerland and Slovenia.

local stakeholders to develop content that addresses public health
issues. Each Business develops programs on topics specific to it.

Danone defines an education program as a set of beneficial social
actions that motivate targeted communities to adopt healthier eating
and drinking habits. These programs must: (i] be developed with
independent third parties (such as NGO, experts and public health
authorities); (i) encourage changes in individual behavior; and (iii)
set measurable goals and satisfaction levels.

Education programs backed by Danone start from this definition
and incorporate criteria that measure their effectiveness, such as
number of regular participants, behavioral changes and impact on
public health issues.



Focus - Accessible, affordable food and nutrition

Underthe Nutriplanet program, Danone investsin understanding local
public health concerns and eating habits, then uses thatinformation
to craft local strategies that encourage healthy, appropriate choices.

Because accessibility and price determine how people eat and how
often they consume specific foods, Danone has adopted the Growth
Across Pyramid method, using it to provide healthy, affordable,
quality products tovulnerable groups based on targeted distribution
models that make them more accessible.

In addition, Danone acknowledges the key role that breastfeeding
and diet play in infant development and prevention of malnutrition
through the commitment to Health and Nutrition during the first
1,000 days of life made by the Early Life Nutrition Business.

Danone continuously improves its portfolio by enriching select
products with key nutrients and making them more affordable.
For instance, Fan Milk, in Ghana, has launched FanMaxx, an af-
fordable drinkable yogurt with a long shelf life (4 months] that is
particularly suited to the African markets where the cold chain is
not always failsafe.

Lastly, Danone builds its strategy on innovative investment
partnerships, with support from several of its funds. These include
(i) the Danone Communities Fund, which fights malnutrition and
promotes access to safe drinking water, and (i) the Livelihoods fund
for family farming, which helps small farmers become more resilient
and develop subsistence farming strategies that improve their diets.

SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Opportunities

Danone is aiming to build purpose driven brands called “Manifesto
brands” that will serve as true activists towards their point of view,
not only delivering an exciting experience to people, but also com-
mitting to create a positive impact on health and the planet. Nearly
two in three people choose, switch to or avoid a brand based on
the stand it takes on societal issues. Today, Danone has a dozen
“Manifesto brands” each purpose-driven to be a force for positive
societal change on topics that really matter to people. They already
account for 20% of Danone consolidated sales.

The Company also looks ahead, anticipating emerging tastes and
expectations and using engaged local and international brands to
guide consumers as they choose foods and beverages day to day. For
example, the WhiteWave acquisition rounded out Danone’s portfolio
with innovative plant-based products that are attuned to consumer
expectations, enabling the Company to offer new categories of
products with probiotics, nutrients and proteins.
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Measures faken fo promote consumer safefy

Definition

Danone offers safe, high-quality products. Its priority is to prevent all health risks associated with using, handling, preparing, consuming
and storing products along its entire value chain.

Policies

Quality

Food safety

Micronutrients

Genetically modified organisms

Animal testing

In 2018, Danone published its commitments on food quality and safety, based on four core principles:

* be trusted: design, manufacture and deliver products and services that comply with applicable
regulations and meet the highest standards for food quality and safety;

e be preferred: overcome new challenges and play a key role in the food revolution;

e be efficient: achieve sustainable operational excellence by developing effective processes and
fostering internal and external partnerships that leverage collective intelligence and expertise;

e be proud: Danone employees are ambassadors for the Company’s products and services.

e the General Manager of each subsidiary is responsible for ensuring that its products comply with
the host country’s laws and regulations and with Danone’s specific food safety guidelines and
commitments;

e these standards incorporate Danone’s directives and procedures on food safety, integrated
management and risk assessment, as well as instructions and controls specific to each Danone
product or technology. The subsidiaries must apply the stricter of either local regulations or
Danone’s own food safety policy.

In 2017, Danone published a policy setting out the guidelines the Company must follow in developing
micronutrient-fortified products: (i) use of micronutrients must be justified in every case; (ii] all
micronutrient-fortified products must be highly nutritious; (iii) fortification levels must be precisely
adjusted; (iv) rigorous processes must be used to select the nature and type of micronutrient; and (v)
the added micronutrients must be mentioned clearly on the label.

Danone’s position on genetically modified organisms is based on local agricultural models: subsi-
diaries have adopted targeted policies on the use of GMO-derived ingredients and on the presence of
GMQOs in cattle feed.

Danone applies the most stringent standards for the protection and care of animals used for scientific
purposes.

When no other option is available, the Company applies a strict set of regulations to animal testing.
Alltests comply with required directives on animal well-being and protocols recommended by entities
such as the World Health Organization, the World Organization for Animal Health, and the International
Life Sciences Institute.

Danone actively seeks alternative methods based on the “Triple R" approach: replace, reduce and
refine animal research.

Governance

The Company’s Chief Food Safety Officer is a member of the GFSI

Danone has created a Food Safety Department with a dedicated
team that reports directly to the General Secretary to guarantee
its independence from operations.

The Department establishes the food safety standards and methods
the Company mustapplytoall productsand processesituses. These
instructions cover Danone’s entire value chain and are tailored to
each Business, product and technology.

The Product Compliance Board [PCB) monitors actual and potential
risks identified by each Business, ensuring that each risk is under
control and that the Company has deployed appropriate mitigation
plans.

Danone’s Food Safety Center has also created a council of scientific
experts from every area of expertise. The goal is to strengthen and
validate the Company’s efforts to anticipate the risks and concerns
it has identified.

The Company is also an active member of the Global Food Safety
Initiative (GFSI), a pillar of the Consumer Goods Forum [CGF) whose
membersinclude Danone’'s own Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
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board of directors and serves as Vice-Chair of its European group.

The quality assurance Department reports directly to the Executive
Vice President of the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Products
Business, who sits on the Executive Committee.



Action plans

Quality: The iCare program
Danone has created and continues to foster a culture of quality
through its iCare program, built on in four priorities:

® engage all employees on quality topics;

e promote visible engagement by management;

® ensurethatqualitymessagingis consistentand easy to understand;
® encourage employees to get involved and share ideas.

Assessments are conducted regularly to measure the maturity of
the Company’s quality culture, and results for 2018 show that it has
improved significantly.

Safety: Identifying emerging and evolving issues

Danone launched the Horizon Scanning process to identify emerging
and evolving food safety issues and assess their potential impact on
the Company’s products and activities. These issues include risks
related to the safety of raw materials, ingredients, packaging ma-
terials that come into contact with products, production processes
and finished products.

Since 2018, the process has also covered issues that are not as-
sociated with any proven food safety risk but are perceived by civil
society as such.

Internal food safety management system

Danone’s objectives include earning FSSC 22000 certification (a
standard recognized by GFSI) for all production sites by 2020. But
earning and maintaining this certification is not enough for Danone:
it has also developed an audit guide that incorporates its own re-
quirements. The Company also requires third-party stakeholders
to earn food safety certification recognized by GFSI.

Food fraud management systems

Food fraud involves deceiving consumers through intentional
adulteration (dilution, substitution, dissimulation or unauthorized
improvement), inaccurate information (false labels or claims),
counterfeiting, or grey market resale of foods, food ingredients or
packaging for economic gain.

(%) RESPONSIBLE COMMUNICATION

Definition

Responsible communication is essential to forging and consolida-
ting trust-based relationships between Danone, its consumers and
its stakeholders - which is why Danone continues to promote its
portfolio of products and brands through responsible marketing
and communications for all. The Company is committed to ensuring
that its marketing communications have integrity, meet ethical
standards, are verified, and are based on solid scientific claims.

Policies

Danone’s top priority is to allocate communication and marketing
expenses inways that encourage consumption of healthy products.
Because 89% of volumes sold are foods and beverages that consumers
can enjoy every day, Danone spends the majority of its marketing
budget on healthy products.

Aninternal directive, applicable to all Businesses, is designed to
ensure that the Health and Nutrition claims in Danone’s communi-
cations are consistent, credible and scientifically accurate.

In its advertising, Danone has pledged to apply the International
Chamber of Commerce Code for Responsible Food and Beverage
Marketing Communication (ICC Code), aiming for compliance across
all of its communications campaigns. Non-conformities can occur
to time; when they do, the Company takes corrective action.
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In 2017, the Food Safety team published an internal directive on
preventing food fraud. A central, cross-Business team and local
teams are tasked to deploy the directive at production sites.

This includes conducting on-site vulnerability studies to identify
risks and launch prevention plans. The studies are based on a tool
developed by the Safe Secure Approaches Field Environments
[SSAFE] consortium, of which Danone is a member. The consortium’s
mission is to promote continuous improvement and development
of international standards and systems.

Food defense management system
Food defense consists of protecting food from risks of deliberate
alteration in order to cause harm to consumer health.

In2017, Danone updated its food defense directive and audit checklist,
an effort that included stiffening requirements for the physical
protection of production and logistics sites. These documents are
the product of close collaboration between the Food Safety and
Security Departments, which help all Company subsidiaries develop
and deploy preventive and protective measures.

Outcomes

In 2018, 159 FSSC 22000 certification audits were conducted by
independent certification bodies, up from 140in 2017. Danone thus
reached a site certification rate of 74%, versus 67% in 2017. As of
December 31, 2018, when these audits were complete, 155 sites
were certified and four were in the process of certification (see
Production Site Food Safety scope, Methodology Note).

Also in 2018, the Global Food Safety Audit team conducted 27 in-
house food safety audits, versus 46in 2017. The decline was largely
the result of organizational changes that affected audit planning [see
Production Site Food Safety scope, Methodology Note].

Opportunities

Danone constantly looks ahead, anticipating risks that could affect
its business and reformulating its products when the opportunity
arises. This enables the Company to respond proactively to consu-
mer questions and demand for natural products, to continuously
improve its product portfolio, and to innovate over the long term.

Governance

One goal of the internal directive on responsible communication
is to reiterate the responsibilities of the General Manager of each
subsidiary, who tasks a specificindividual with deploying and applying
processes for approving communications material.

Action plans

Responsible communication and marketing to children
Danoneisamemberof manylocaland regional pledge, including the
EU Pledge program, which Danone co-founded in 2007. In most of
the countries involved, compliance with this commitmentis certified
by an external agency.

Danone limits marketing aimed at children ages three to 12, ensuring
that they are exposed only to products that meet:

® criteria set by local authorities, or;

® anystricter common industry criteriathe Companyis committed
to, such as inthe EU, or;

® asof 2021, the stricter Danone nutrition criteria.

Danone’s full pledge incorporates the Company’'s commitment to
abide by the following principles in marketing to children:
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® no misleading messages;
® noundermining of parental influence;

® nosuggestion of atime/sense of urgency or a price minimization
pressure;

® no exploitation of a child's imagination or inexperience;

® noencouragement of unhealthy dietary habits;

® no blurring of the boundary between marketing and branding.
More specifically, Danone works hard to comply with these rules:

® nouse of celebrities or licensed characters, except in the case
of products meeting the above nutritional criteria;

® nouseof promotional games, toys, vouchers, competitions, except
in the case of products meeting the above nutritional criteria;

® no sampling or communication of products in primary or se-
condary schools, in nurseries, daycare centers and activity
centers except where specifically requested by, or agreed with,
the schooladministration for educational purposes, and only for
products complying with the above nutritional criteria.

Danone’s policies on marketing to children apply to advertising on
television and radio, in print, and on Company-owned and third-party
websites.
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Danone joined the International Food and Beverage Alliance (IFBA)
in 2017 and supports its commitment to restrict advertising for
children under 12 to products that meet common nutrition criteria
grounded in science-based recommendations. IFBAmembersalso
undertake not to advertise food products or drinks in primary schools.

Outcomes

In a 2018 audit conducted in France, Germany, Hungary, Italy,
Portugal, Spain and the UK, Danone’s television advertising was
found to be 98.4% compliant with the EU Pledge criteria across all
seven countries.

In the area of subsidiary websites and brand profiles on social
networks, 100% of the websites audited and four of four brand profiles
were compliant in all eight audited countries: Belgium, Bulgaria,
France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Spain and Sweden.

Opportunities

Danone continues to strengthen its responsible communication
and marketing practices by exploring digital opportunities to target
consumers more accurately. The Company plans to empower consu-
mers in this area by providing them with more information on the
nutritionalvalue of its products (see 5.2 Changing consumption trends).



(9 BREAST MILK SUBSTITUTES

Definition

Through its Early Life Nutrition Business, Danone offers breast
milk substitutes to parents who cannot, or choose not to breastfeed
exclusively. Similarly, the Company is committed to complying with
national and local law by practicing responsible communication
and marketing.

Policies

Danone supports the World Health Organization (WHQ) recommen-
dations calling for exclusive breastfeeding in the first six months of
a baby’s life and continued breastfeeding up to the age of two, with
safe, appropriate complementary foods added later.

In the Danone Policy for the Marketing of Breast-Milk Substitutes
(BMS Policy), the Company recognizes the importance of the WHO
Code (International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk Substitutes)
and pledges to practice the principles of the Code and any relevant
resolutions passed by the World Health Assembly.

As part of the BMS policy, the Company has deployed a strict in-
ternational policy: no Danone subsidiary may advertise or promote
breast milk substitutes for babies under six months, even if local law
allows it. In accordance with the breast milk substitutes criteria of
the FTSE4Good Index, in countries classified as higher-risk, Danone
has voluntarily extended its BMS policy to infants up to 12 months
of age, which may go beyond local legislation.

This policy applies to all Danone employees and partners involved
in the marketing, distribution, sale, or governance of the affected
products and/or related education programs. Danone is the first
and only company with an international policy on marketing breast
milk substitutes from birth to six months of age.

In 2016, Danone also published a position paper on Health and
Nutrition during the first 1,000 days of life, based on two convictions:

® breastfeeding must be protected and promoted;

e mothers, infants and young children must receive the best
possible nutrition.
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Governance

Issues related to breast milk substitutes are managed by the
Compliance Department within the Early Life Nutrition Business.
This department comes under the authority of Danone’s Chief
Compliance Officerin the office of the General Secretary, ensuring
that governance on this issue is independent of operations.

Action plans

In 2018, Danone updated its BMS Policy and published new inter-
nal directives consistent with its new HCS (Health Care Systems)
Compliance Policy.

Because of its corporate responsibility commitments and prac-
tices, especiallyin the area of responsible marketing of breast milk
substitutes, Danone remains on the FTSE4Good Index, calculated
by FTSE Russell.

Under Danone’s BMS Policy, the Company appoints anindependent
third party to conduct three market-based assessments of its breast
milk substitute marketing practices every year. Danone published
the results of the three assessments performed in 2017, as well as
the 2017 report on alleged violations of its BMS Policy.

Lastly, responsible marketing practices are alsoincludedin Danone’s
Nutrition Commitments. Every country where Danone does business
has now pledged to publish and deploy a local policy on this issue by
2020. These policies will include Danone’s commitment on breast
milk substitutes (see 5.2 Responsible communication).

Outcomes

In 2018, the Access to Nutrition Index (ATNI) ranked Danone third
among top-performing food companies and first for breast milk
substitutes.

In 2018, 91% of the Company’s entities adopted a formal policy that
promotes breastfeeding and is supported by their management
committees. This policy must be translated into concrete action
(See Danone Way scope, Methodology Note).

From January 2017 to October 2018, 3,253 employees were trained
in Danone’s policy on breast milk substitutes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION STRATEGY

Danone’s environmental strategy sets out the four priorities that
shape its environmental protection roadmap:

® combat climate change;
® protect the water cycle;
® ensure the transition to a circular economy;

® promote regenerative agriculture.

Governance

Danone’s environmental strategy is sponsored by the EVP, Chief
Financial Officer, IS/IT, Cycles & Procurement, who sits on the
Executive Committee and on the Board of Directors.

The following governance bodies are involved in implementing and
reviewing Danone’s environmental strategy:

o the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and the EVP, Chief
Financial Officer, IS/IT, Cycles & Procurement, who conduct a
quarterly review of Danone’s environmental roadmap, priorities
and key challenges, and assess how the Company is implemen-
ting its strategy;

e the Social Responsibility Committee (see 5.1 Sustainability go-
vernancel;

e the Executive Committee, which oversees the annual strategic
planning process in tandem with the Board of Directors’ Strategy
Committee and draws up the roadmaps and action plans that
Danone needs to deliver on its commitments;

® the Nature & Water Cycle Department, part of the Procurement
Department, which implements Danone’s environmental strategy,
manages performance, and works with the Company’s social
innovation funds to design and finance pioneering environmental
programs. The Nature & Water Cycle Department does notwork
in isolation: each Business and each strategic cycle (plastics,
water and milk]) has its own sustainability department. There
are also around 100 environment officers who spearhead their
business’ environmental programs.

Focus - Training and awareness programs

Danone has created tools and opportunities for employees to learn
and share best practice, starting with Workplace, the Company’s
enterprise social network, where thematic groups and communities
meet up to exchange views on environment-related matters, share
information and analyze best practice.

In 2018, Danone launched “One Planet. One Health”, a Company-wide
digitaltraining portal with a strong focus on environmentalissues.
This portal features educational modules developed with partner
organizations that include the United Nations Institute for Training
and Research (UNITARJ, the Food and Agriculture Organization of
the United Nations (FAQJ, and the Ellen MacArthur Foundation.

Environmental management systems and tools
Danone uses an environmental management system (EMS) based on
theinternational ISO 14001 framework to improve its environmental
performance, to comply with environmental laws and regulations,
and to raise employee awareness of key issues.

The Company reviews deployment of its EMS as part of its GREEN
audit program (Global Risk Evaluation for ENvironment].

Danonealsohasits EMS certified to ISO 14001 at its major production
sites, a prerequisite for obtaining the highest GREEN audit rating
(excellent], as described below.

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Total number of sites in the Production Site Environment scope @ 180 187
Environmental performance coverage rate © 95% 96%

(a) Production Site Environment scope [see Methodology note).
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Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Total number of IS0 14001 certified sites © 87 86
Percentage of ISO 14001 certified sites 48% 46%
Percentage of volumes covered by ISO 14001 certification © 70% 68%

(a) Production Site Environment scope [see Methodology note).

GREEN audit program

Under its GREEN program, Danone commissions external audits
toidentify and track key environmental risks at its production sites
around the globe.

GREEN audits enable the Company to monitor and manage atmos-
pheric emissions (greenhouse and refrigerant gases), and releases
into water (wastewater) and soil (sludge from treatment plants and
livestock farming at some of its subsidiaries). They also monitor
noise pollution at Company production .

Aremedial action planis setin motion whenever a site falls below
acceptable standards, and the site in question is audited more often
to track plan implementation.

Danone updated its GREEN audit framework in 2018, incorporating
new water risk assessment criteria from the World Wide Fund for
Nature's (WWF] Water Risk Filter (WRF) (see Water stewardship).

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Percentage of sites having undergone an external GREEN audit 69% 66%
Number of sites having undergone an external GREEN audit 124 124
Number of sites compliant with GREEN standards
[scoring over 800 out of 1,000) 104 108
Percentage of sites compliant with GREEN standards
(scoring over 800 out of 1,000) 84% 87%

See 2.7 Risk factors for details of how risks are managed (weather,
seasonal, and industrial and environmental risks in particular).

Danone Way results
Danone monitors Environmental Management System (EMS) deployed
by its entities under the Danone Way program.

In 2018, 86% of entities have established an Environmental
Management System [EMS] including Environmental Policy and
the associated strategy/management plan (see Danone Way scope,
Methodology note).

In 2018, 90% of entities have the relevant structure to support
Environmental/Nature policy implementation (see Danone Way
scope, Methodology note).

In 2018, 69% of entities have identified and engaged relevant internal
stakeholders to support their nature roadmap implementation (see
Danone Way scope, Methodology note).

CLIMATE CHANGE
Danones climate policy

Definition
Danone works to protect natural water cycles, soil, biodiversity and
ecosystems in a number of ways.

See 2.7 Risk factors for details of Danone’s risk identification and
management policy, which explains how it assesses climate change
impacts.

Danone has identified the following medium-term risks:

® ingredients such as milk and fruit could be in short supply in
parts of the world experiencing droughtand inclement weather;

Environmental expenditures and investments

In 2018, Danone invested over €31 million, or approximately 3.4%
of its total capital expenditures, in environmental protection (vs
€27 million, or approximately 2.8%, in 2017). These investments
focused mainly on reducing water and energy use, cutting carbon
emissions, and improving water quality.

Environmental operating expenditures stood at €123 millionin 2018
(vs €120 million in 2017). Of that amount, Danone spent €33 million
on waste management, wastewater and atmospheric emissions,
and €61 million on the packaging levy. Other expenditures totaled
€29 million.

Provisions and guarantees for environmental risks
No significant provision for environmental liabilities and risks was
recognized on Danone’s consolidated balance sheetas of December 31,
2018 (no change from December 31, 2017).

® coastal sites could be adversely affected by extreme weather
events;

® water could become scarce, and watersheds and groundwater
reserves could become degraded, potentially disrupting Danone’s
operations and complicating its relationship with local stake-
holders (see 5.3 Water stewardship);

® it could prove difficult to secure funds to finance the transition
to more sustainable agricultural practices (see 5.3 Regenerative
and organic agriculture).
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Policies and action plans

Inits 2015 Climate Policy, Danone set a target of carbon neutrality
emissions across its entire value chain by 2050. The Company will
achieve that target by:

® cutting emissions;

e transforming agricultural practices;

® eliminating deforestation from the supply chain by 2020;
® keeping more carbon in the ground;

e offsetting remaining emissions.

Cutting emissions

Danone’s carbon emissions reduction trajectory is consistent with
the 2°C warming scenario set by the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCCJ. The Company’s emissions
reduction targets, approved by the Science Based Targets initiative
in 2017, call for:

® cutting emissions intensity by 50% (measured in grams of CO,
equivalent per kilogram of finish product sold) across its full
scope (i.e. scopes 1, 2 and 3] between 2015 and 2030;

® cutting absolute emissions by 30% (measured in metric tons of
CO, equivalent) across scopes 1 and 2 between 2015 and 2030,
as per the GHG Protocol.

Danone signed up to the RE100 initiative in December 2017, pledg-
ing to shift to 100% renewable electricity by 2030, with an interim
target of 50% by 2020.

Transforming agricultural practices

As a member of the 4 per 1000 initiative for regenerative agricul-
ture, Danone has pledged to do more and has placed agriculture
at the center of its low-carbon strategy (see 5.3 Regenerative and
organic agriculture).

Eliminating deforestation from the supply chain by 2020

Forest Footprint Policy

The Forest Footprint Policy sets out Danone’s ambition to eliminate
deforestation from its supply chain by 2020, and explains how it
is supporting reforestation and natural ecosystem restoration
programs in part through the Livelihoods Carbon fund (see 2078
Annual Integrated Report).

The policy includes specific commitments for six commodities:
palm oil, soy for animal feed, paper and cardboard packaging,
wood biomass, cane sugar, and bio-based plastics for packaging.

Policies regarding palm oil, soy and paper and cardboard are detailed
below and assessed by the Global Canopy Program.

Palm 0il Policy
The 2015 Palm Oil Policy states that all palm oil used by Danone
should:

® be traceable to the plantation where it was produced;

e come from plantations whose expansion does not threaten High
Conservation Value [HCV] or High Carbon Stock (HCS] forests;

e come from plantations whose expansion does not threaten any
tropical peatland, of whatever depth;
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e come from plantations that respect indigenous peoples” and
local communities’ rights to give or withhold their Free, Prior,
Informed Consent to operations on lands to which they hold legal,
communal or customary rights;

e come from plantations that respect the rights of all workers.

Danone used 71,443 metric tons of palm oil in 2018 - more than the
39,000 tons it used in 2017, owing chiefly to the recent WhiteWave
acquisition. Danone uses palm oil in certain end-user products,
mainly in its Early Life Nutrition Business, and in some products
made by the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business.

Since 2014, 100% of palm oil purchased by the Early Life Nutrition
Business was certified "RSPO Segregated” (traceable back to the
plantations, with the backing of The Forest Trust). Following the
WhiteWave acquisition, Danone is working to apply the Palm Oil
Policy toits new sources of supply. In 2018, 58% of the palm oil that
Danone sourced was RSPO Segregated, 96% excluding products in
WhiteWave's portfolio.

Soy Policy
Danone is working with key stakeholders to help build a more sus-
tainable soyvalue chain. Its Soy Policy sets out five strategic goals:

e seek full transparency throughout the supply chain, from field
to animal feed;

® encourage farmers to replace imported soy with local, protein-
rich crops, so they can grow everything they need to feed their
animals on their own farms;

® promote sourcing from countries not exposed to deforestation risk;

® ensure thatallthe soy it sources can be traced to deforestation
risk-free regions-for instance, soy that is certified by ProTerra
or the Round Table on Responsible Soy (RTRS);

® join international alliances to help drive lasting change on a
global scale.

See 5.5 Responsible sourcing-supplies other than milk for an expla-
nation of how Danone uses soy.

In2018, 69% of Danone entities have a concrete roadmap that shows
progression to eliminate deforestation from soy in plant-based
recipes and/or in animal feeding by 2020, in line with the Company
commitment described in the Soy Policy [see Danone Way scope,
Methodology note). In 2017, for instance, Danone signed the Cerrado
Manifesto, which calls for an end to deforestation, largely caused by
soy cultivation in Brazil's Cerrado tropical savanna region.

Paper and Cardboard Packaging Policy

Danone developed its Paper and Cardboard Packaging Policy with
input from the Rainforest Alliance and other prominent NGO. The
policy sets out three aims:

® switch to lighter-weight packaging across its product range;
® userecycled fiber wherever possible;

® where that is not possible, use FSC certified virgin fiber.



Keeping more carbon in the ground

By adopting regenerative agricultural practices, the farmers who
supply Danone are not only reducing the amount of carbon they
emit into the atmosphere, they are also improving soil health and
keeping more carbon trapped in the ground (see 5.3 Regenerative
and organic agriculture).

Offsetting emissions

Danone is committed to offsetting its remaining carbon emissions
and also to restoring the ecosystems that some of the world's
poorest communities depend on to make a living.

Danone began using Livelihoods Carbon fund carbon credits to
offset emissions from evian product sales in 2013. The brand was
certified carbon neutral in the United States and Canada in 2017
and is aiming to achieve the same feat globally by 2020 (see 2018
Annual Integrated Report).

Outcomes

Global recognition

Danoneisonthe CDP Climate Change Alist, meaning itis recognized
forits climate strategy, engagement, performance and governance.
In addition, the Company made the CDP Supplier Engagement
leader board for its work combatting climate change all along its
supply chain.
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Danone also updated its performance-related share award policy
for senior executives, adding a new criterion contingent on its CDP
Climate Change score (see 6.4 Detailed information on long-term and
multi-annual compensation plans).

Measuring greenhouse gas emissions

Danone measures greenhouse gas emissions across all three
scopes (scopes 1, 2 and 3) in accordance with GHG Protocol and
World Resources Institute (WRI) guidance (see Methodology note).
In 2018, the Company included WhiteWave in its reporting scope,
which had a material impact on its overall performance.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions

Under Danone’s reporting method, scopes 1 and 2 cover emissions
from activities under the operational control of its assets (production
sites, warehouses and vehicle fleets).

Danone sets its scope 1 and 2 emissions targets according to the
GHG Protocol market-based method (see Methodology note), so as
to reflect the share of renewables in its energy mix.

Despite the inclusion of WhiteWave, scope 1 and 2 emissions
according to Danone’s reporting method (in metric tons of CO,
equivalent, or tCO,eql were 1.9% lowerin 2018 than in 2017-largely
as aconsequence of purchasing electricity from renewable energy
sources and improvements in energy efficiency. On a like-for-like
basis, scope 1 and 2 emissions were down 12.2% on 2017 levels,
and 20.3% lower than in 2015.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions, location-based (in ktCO,eq) 2017 2018
Scope 1 644 753
Scope 2 937 960
Total scopes 1 and 2 1,581 1,713
(a Greenhouse Gas Environment scope (see Methodology note).

Scope 1 and 2 emissions, market-based (in ktCO,eq) ! 2017 2018
Scope 1 644 753
Scope 2 817 679
Total scopes 1 and 2 1,460 1,432
Scopes 1and 2: decline in absolute emissions since 2015,

market-based 9.7% 20.3%

(a) Greenhouse Gas Environment scope (see Methodology note).
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Scope 3 emissions: Life-cycle assessment method

Inthe majority of cases, Danone reports indirect emissions (scope 3)
fromits finished products using the life-cycle assessment method.
It considers emissions all along the value chain, from raw material

sourcing (including upstream agriculture), packaging, production,
distribution and storage, to consumer use and end-of-life disposal
(see Methodology note).

lin ktCO,eq) 2017 2018
Purchased goods and services 15,454 19,055
Upstream transportation and distribution of goods 475 629
Downstream transportation and distribution of goods 1,158 1,886
Use of sold products 1,558 1,577
End-of-life treatment of sold products 993 1,004
Fuel and energy related activities 331 330
Waste generated by operations 185 405
Total: scope 3 20,154 24,886
Scope 1, 2and 3 emissions

lin ktCO,eq) 2017 2018
Scope 1 644 753
Scope 2 817 679
Scope 3 20,154 24,886
Total: scopes 1,2 and 3 21,614 26,318
Emissions intensity ratio, scopes 1,2 and 3

In grams of CO, eq.kg of product sold 623.3 711.0
Reduction in emissions intensity ratio, scopes 1,2and 3 10.5% 15.6%

(a) Greenhouse Gases scope, Methodology note.
[b) market-based.

In 2018, Danone’s full-scope emissions (scopes 1, 2 and 3) stood at
26.3 million tCO,eq, up from 21.6 million in 2017 owing chiefly to
the inclusion of WhiteWave in its reporting scope.

Between 2017 and 2018, Danone recorded a 14.1% increase in its
emissions intensity ratio across scopes 1, 2 and 3, again largely
as a consequence of the inclusion of WhiteWave. On a like-for-Llike
basis, the ratio was 5.8% lower than in 2017 and 15.6% down on
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2015 levels, as the Company has purchased more electricity from
renewable energy sources, streamlined its logistics operations, and
begun using more recyclable materials in its packaging.

Scope 3 makes up the overwhelming majority of Danone’s full-
scope emissions, at 94.5% (scopes 1 and 2 account for 2.9% and
2.6% respectively).



7.2% ——
Total emissions
breakdown @
.
2.4%
/
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ingredients
and other raw materials
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Energy efficiency and renewable energies

Danone’s energy intensity ratiowas 11% higherin 2018 than in 2017,
largely as a result of the inclusion of WhiteWave in its reporting
scope. On a like-for-like basis, the ratio was down 3.1% over the
same period.

products

Scope 3 | Fuel- and energy-related
activities

Scope 3 | Waste generated in operations

Energy efficiency initiatives in the Waters Business subsidiaries
accounted for 1.3% of that decline. The remaining 1.8% can be attri-
buted to lower salesinthe Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business
(where the ratio is higher than the Company-wide average) and
stronger sales in the Waters Business [lower than the Company-
wide average).

Year ended December 31

[MWh) 2017 2018
Thermal energy 2,714,842 3,395,125
Electricity @ 2,013,185 2,181,458
Total 4,728,026 5,576,583
Energy intensity

(kWh per metric ton of product) 133.8 148.6
Reduction in energy intensity since 2000

(kWh per metric ton of product) 51% 46%

(a) Production Site Environment scope (see Methodology note).
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Intensity of total energy consumption at production sites

lin kWh/ton of product]

275

158.9  151.6 1471

2000 2007 2008

In 2018, Danone’s production sites used 46% less energy than they
did in 2000 (vs 51% less in 2017), largely as a consequence of the
inclusion of WhiteWave in the Company’'s reporting scope. On a like-
for-like basis, energy use was down 53% on 2000 levels.

Renewable energy use

137.7

2009 2010 20M 2012 2013

1493 1419

1349 1338 1486

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Energy efficiency initiatives
Danone is delivering on its commitment to become a more ener-
gy-efficient business in two ways:

® producing more electricity locally;
® using energy more efficiently.

Energy efficiency initiatives have multiplied since 2016, when the
Company’s production sites began sharing best practices.

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Production sites purchasing 100% renewable electricity 24 40
Percentage of renewable electricity © 18.2% 34.2%
Percentage of renewable energy ¥ 11.3% 16.2%

(a) Production Site Environment scope (see Methodology Note).

Danone is a member of the RE100 initiative. In 2018, 40 production
sites ran on 100% renewable energy, and Danone purchased 34%
of its electricity from renewable sources such as wind farms and
hydropower plants [compared with 18% in 2017).

Locally, Danone is testing renewable thermal energy generation
technologies-such as biofuels, methane digesters, and wood-fired
boilers-and some sites are running on the power generated from
these sources.

In 2018, 16% of the energy that Danone used was generated from
renewable sources compared with 11% in 2017.

) CIRCULAR ECONOMY
Packaging

Definition

Danone is committed to accelerating the global transition towards
a circular economy of packaging. The Company recognizes that
packaging, marine littering and plastic waste are matters of growing
concernacross society-among consumers, the general public and
NGO. That is why the Company is working to promote the circular
economy worldwide.
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Opportunities

By tracking and adopting new, more efficientand more sustainable
power generation and distribution technologies, Danone is able to
build a more energy-efficient business and deliver on its ambitious
energy-cost reduction targets.

Danone is also aware that consumers are taking an ever keener
interestin its climate policy, and that it needs to factor new patterns
of consumption into the way it conducts its business. Following
the WhiteWave acquisition, Danone has added more plant-based
food and beverage products-which have a lower environmental
footprint-to its portfolio. The acquisition is consistent with the
Company’s climate policy and reflects its determination to do more
to combat climate change.

Policies

Packaging Policy

Danone published its new Packaging Policy in 2018, setting out how
far the Company has come and how it will go further in the years
ahead to accelerate the shift from a linear to a circular economy of
packaging on a global scale.
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The policy is founded on three guiding principles:

GUIDING PRINCIPLE

WHAT DANONE WILL DO:

Packaging designed
for circularity

Reused, recycled and
composted in practice

Preservation of natural

design all its packaging to be 100% recyclable, reusable or compostable by 2025;
cut the amount of material that goes into its packaging, and keep waste to a minimum;
launch alternatives to plastic and single-use packaging across all its major water markets by 2025;

develop reusable packaging for certain products, introduce pioneering new distribution and consumption
models, and eliminate non-recyclable and excess plastic packaging wherever it can;

transform how people consume its products at home, by developing reusable containers and by
pioneering new ways of sourcing water.

promote inclusive waste collection and recycling systems that work;

meet or go beyond the collection targets set by regulators, such as the minimum 90% collection target
for beverage bottles expected to be set in the EU by 2025;

invest in private initiatives to strengthen circular-economy infrastructure, especially in countries
where formal systems are absent or in development, or where there is a high risk of leakage into the
environment or oceans.

preserve natural resources by transforming waste into a resource, reintegrating recycled materials

resources

into its packaging, and using more renewable materials;

e use 50% recycled PET [rPET) in the manufacture of its water and beverage bottles by 2025.

Each Danone Business has its own roadmap setting out how it will
deliver on the Company’s packaging pledges.

Partnerships

In 2017, Danone stepped up its commitment to building a circular
economy by embarking on a three-year partnership with the Ellen
MacArthur Foundation.

AsaGlobalPartner, Danone has formed an alliance with the United
Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), governments, NGO and
other companies to tackle plastic waste and pollution. The Company
signed up to the initiative in October 2018, joining more than 250
organizations that together represent 20% of worldwide plastic
packaging production.

Action plans and outcomes

Designing packaging for circularity

At present, more than half of the water that Danone sells (by volume)
comes in reusable packaging. In Indonesia, Turkey and Mexico,
water is sold in large reusable plastic containers, while a number
of restaurants in France have switched to reusable glass bottles.

In 2018, 69% of entities have identified the recyclability challenges
of the existing packaging portfolio and used them for new packaging

launches or if the topic is managed centrally, the entity should be
aware of its evolution and encourage it [see Danone Way scope,
Methodology note).

Some Danone subsidiaries have already begun exploring ways to
shift away from non-recyclable packaging. Forinstance, evian has
piloted a new multipack design that replaces non-recyclable shrink
film with specially designed adhesive and handles.

Reusing, recycling or composting packaging in practice
Danone proactively supports the most efficient formal waste col-
lection and recycling systems, including, where locally appropriate,
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and Deposit Return Scheme
models. The Companyis working with public authorities and private
companies torefine EPR and DRS waste management systems. For
example, the Company helped pioneerthe EPR conceptin France by
founding Eco-Emballages [now known as CITEQ). AQUA, Danone’s
Waters subsidiary in Indonesia, has pledged to collect more plastics
than it uses-for instance, by picking litter from the sea.

Danone monitors waste production and recovery (recycling,
reuse, composting and waste-to-energy) across its business. Its
production sites sort locally, train staff, work with waste recovery
subcontractors, and share best practices to recover as much of
their waste as they can.
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In 2018, 87% of Danone’s packaging was recyclable, reusable or compostable.

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Waste management at production sites®
Total quantity of waste generated (thousands of tons) 397 499
Total quantity of waste recovered (thousands of tons) 331 412
Proportion of waste recovered (%) 83.3% 82.5%
Ratio of total quantity of waste per ton of product (kg per metric ton) 11.2 13,8

(a) Production Site Environment scope (see Methodology note).

The ratio of waste generated per metric ton of product was 18%
higher in 2018 than in 2017, largely as a consequence of the inclu-
sion of WhiteWave in Danone’s reporting scope. On a like-for-like
basis, the ratio was 4.6% lower, owing to declining raw material and
finished product losses at production sites in its Essential Dairy &
Plant-Based, and Early Life Nutrition Businesses.

Danone recovered 82.5% of its industrial waste in 2018, down from
83.3% (see Production Site Environment scope, Methodology note).

In 2018, 97% of packaging waste was recovered at Danone’s pro-
duction sites (up from 91% in 2017). The Company aims to achieve
a 100% recovery rate by 2025.

In 2018, 72% of entities have a recycling system (collection, sorting,
recycling) assessment in place and main stakeholders have been
identified forimproving on at least one of two dimensions: recycling
or regulations (see Danone Way scope, Methodology note).

In countries where recycling systems are still informal, Danone
works with local communities, governments and partners like the
Inter-American Development Bank to improve waste collection
standards and develop recycling infrastructure.

Danone and the Danone Ecosystem Fund have supported inclusive
recycling projects in seven countries, helping to ensure that waste
pickers work in a safe environment, are paid decent wages, and
are afforded greater social protection. Since 2014, close to 6,000
waste pickers have received support and training through these
projects, and in 2018 they led to over 46,000 metric tons of waste
being recycled (see 2018 Integrated Annual Report).

Preserving natural resources

In2018, Danone used 17% recycled PET (up from 14% in 2017) in the
manufacture of its water and beverage bottles (for markets where
rPET is permitted under local laws and standards].

Reducing food waste

Definition

Food waste is amaterial concern for Danone. The Companyis working
to recover more waste food throughout its supply chain and at its
production sites, as it seeks to cut waste across its business. Danone
measures food waste at all its production sites (excluding Waters
bottling plants) in line with the Food Loss and Waste Accounting
and Reporting Standard-the leading international quantification
and reporting standard of its kind. Food waste includes finished
products, raw materials and by-products (whey not used for human
consumption] that are collected on-site, discharged with wastewater,
or contained in sludge from water treatment facilities.
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evian was France's first natural mineral water brand to use the
material in its packaging. All evian products now come in bottles
containing 28% rPET on average, and the brand will shift to 100%
rPET by 2025 (see 2018 Integrated Annual Report).

Atthe 2018 Our Ocean Conference in Bali, AQUA, Danone’s Indonesian
waters subsidiary, unveiled Indonesia’s first bottle made from 100%
rPET. The brand is planning to increase the amount of recycled
plastic in its bottles and roll them out to consumers. At the same
time, Danone launched its first 100% rPET bottle with the Lanjardn
Red natural mineral water brand in Spain.

Opportunities

By sorting waste at home, consumers can do their bit to help build
the circular economy. Danone’s brands have a vital role to play in
engaging consumers and supporting Research and Innovation. That
is why the Company will continue building partnerships in its bid to
find cutting-edge solutions to manage plastic waste.

For instance, evian is taking part in a research mission with The
Ocean Cleanup, a Dutch non-profit startup that has developed
scalable advanced technologies to help rid the oceans of plastic.

Danone has also joined forces with Nestlé, PepsiCo and Origin
Materials to increase the amount of renewable bio-based materials
in packaging. The alliance will bring the first 100% bio-based PET
bottle to commercial scale by 2025.

By tackling the issue of plastic waste and pollution head-on, Danone
is giving those brands that adopt pioneering approaches to packaging
a genuine competitive edge.

Policies

In line with The Consumer Goods Forum’s Food Waste Resolution
(approvedin 2015), Danone has pledged to halve food waste (unreco-
vered waste sent to landfill, incinerated without energy recovery, or
discharged in wastewater) by 2025 compared with a 2016 baseline.



Action plans

Danoneisdetermined to minimize food waste atits production sites
and distribution centers. It gives away unsold food that is safe to
eat, and any waste that is unfit for human consumption is turned
into animal feed or, if that is not possible, recovered in other ways.

In 2013, the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business rolled out a
Zero Waste program with two objectives in mind:

Outcomes

SOCIAL. SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5 PRESERVE AND RENEW THE PLANET'S RESOURCES

® to cut food waste by refining its production and distribution
processes;

todonate more unsold items to food banks and social businesses.

The Businesswillalso enhance its product line as part of the program.

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Food waste management at production sites 12/
Total quantity of food waste generated (thousands of tons) 260 331
Ratio of total quantity of food waste per ton of product (in kg/ton) 36.2 37.7
Total quantity of food waste recovered (in thousands of tons) 217 283
Ratio of total quantity of food waste recovered per ton of product (in kg/ton) 38.0 32.3
Proportion of waste recovered 83.7% 85.5%

(a) Production Site Environment scope [see Methodology note).
[b) Excludes Waters Business sites.

The ratio of food waste generated per metric ton of product was
4.2% higher in 2018 than in 2017, largely as a consequence of the
inclusion of WhiteWave in Danone’s reporting scope. On a like-for-like
basis, the ratiowas 5.3% lower, owing to declining raw material and
finished product losses at production sites in its Essential Dairy &
Plant-Based, and Early Life Nutrition Business. The recovery rate
increased from 83.7% to 85.5%.

Danone Way results

In 2018, 76% of entities have a food waste reduction program for
industrial and/or finished good’s food waste (see Danone Way scope,
Methodology note).

In 2018, 74% of entities have taken at least one concrete action
to improve its food waste recovery rate (see Danone Way scope,
Methodology note).

) WATER STEWARDSHIP

Definition

Danone recognizes the physical, financial and organizational risks
that could arise if water scarcity were to occurin its operations. That
iswhy the Companyis determined to protect and restore aquatic and
marine ecosystems and to respect the natural water cycle-with a
focus on risk-prone areas and locally appropriate solutions.

Policies

In implementing its water stewardship strategy, Danone adheres
to international scientific frameworks, follows national and local
laws and regulations, and is mindful of stakeholder expectations.
The Company forges locally strategic alliances with public- and
private-sector partners on the ground to make sure its efforts
address specific local needs.

Opportunities

Danoneistackling theissue of food waste from every angle, engaging
with distributors, consumers and charities to limit the amount of
food that is wasted.

The Company is working with distributors to keep its products fresh
forlongerand prevent food going towaste. Forinstance, itis looking
at ways to improve transit, storage and replenishment practices,
and exploring potential gains from demand forecasting (including
promotions) and inventory management.

Danone is also doing its part to help some of the poorest people in
society by giving away more unsold items to food banks and other
specialized charities under formal arrangements. In France, for
example, Danone’s Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business has
teamed up with the French Federation of Food Banks to make sure
that people facing hardship have access to traceable food that is
safe to eat.

In2018, Danone created a new Water Cycle team to lead on strategy
and delivery inits four priority areas for water stewardship:

® water resources and ecosystems;

e waterin agriculture;

® water in operations;

® access to drinking water, sanitation and hygiene.

The Groundwater Resources Protection Policy explains what Danone
does to sustain naturalresources and to protectand enhance aquatic
and marine ecosystems wherever it does business.

The Company uses two internationally recognized tools developed
by other organizations to assess water risk comprehensively, via
a two-step process. First, it uses the World Resources Institute’s
(WRI) Aqueduct Water Risk Atlas to map water risk by region and to
anticipate how that risk might evolve in the medium term. Second, it
uses WWF's Water Risk Filter (WRF] to explore risk factors inherent
to each production site.
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Both tools feature indicators divided into three risk categories:
o physical risk (quantity and quality);

® regulatory risk;

® reputational risk.

Danone has used these tools to produce a water risk map and identify
especially risk-prone sites. For each of these sites, the Company
has introduced the GEMI Local Water Tool (LWT]-an advanced risk
assessment and mitigation plan development system-to improve
how it manages and mitigates water risk, which can vary from one
site to the next.

Action plans and outcomes

Water resources and ecosystems

Danone’s entities aim to better understand watershed issues by
using SPRING (Sustainable Protection and Resources managINGJ,
Danone’s in-house water resource stewardship tool, developed
in partnership with the Ramsar Convention and the International
Union for Conservation of Nature. This tool, which covers physical,
regulatory and community management of aquifers and watersheds,
is deployed at 100% of all Waters Business sites. Once assessed,
sites were awarded a resource stewardship score and a separate
improvement plan was drawn up for each.

Danone also carries out risk assessments to refine its understan-
ding of localissues and draw up targeted action plans, encouraging
broad input and working with partners from the public and private
sectors.n 2017, forinstance, the Company renewed its long-standing
partnership with the Ramsar Convention (the intergovernmental
wetland conservation treaty] for a further three years.

Water in agriculture

Agriculture accounts for the vast majority of Danone’s water footprint.
That is why the Company is determined to work with its suppliers
to preserve water quality and use resources more rationally. For
instance, it is helping all the farms it works with to adopt resilient
agricultural practices that respect natural ecosystems and preserve
the water cycle.

Water risk assessment

Danone stepped up its water risk assessment strategy in 2018, using
WRI's Aqueduct Water Risk Atlas to begin assessing water risk all
along its value chain.

The first assessment focused on the Company’s fresh liquid milk
supply chain, which has one of the largest water footprints, in a
far-reaching exercise spanning more than 20 countries and over
8,000 farmers and collecting centers. Danone produced a detailed
map of suppliers and dairy farms in potentially water-stressed
areas under a 2030 scenario.

The assessment drilled down into the details, looking at animal
feeding methods (pasture, fodder, and locally produced and imported
silage) to pinpoint where the Company might be able to reduce its
water footprint. Danone used the data to identify regions of particular
concernand has setaboutdrawing up atargeted action plan foreach.

InNorth Africa, forinstance, Danoneis harnessingits social innova-
tion platforms to deploy the Feed the Cows program, selecting local
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climate-appropriate crops so that Algerian, Egyptian and Moroccan
farmers can grow their own animal feed and provide their cattle
with enough water to drink.

Danone is also working on a number of initiatives targeting other
parts of its supply chain, such as fruit and vegetables. In Spain,
Danone’s European plant-based products subsidiary Alpro has
partnered with WWF to develop a new water allocation management
method so that resources are shared fairly and sustainably across
each watershed.

Water in operations

Danone has identified two key areas where it needs to do better:
managing risks related to water extraction quality and quantity, and
treating all the wastewateritdischarges back into the environment
to eliminate ecosystem impacts. As a matter of policy, Danone
assesses water quality across all its operations, and monitors
how that water is used. The Company has set two targets for 2020:

® use60% lesswaterinindustrial processes atits plants, compared
with 2000 as a baseline year, by employing the 4Rs principle
(Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Recover);

® bring 100% of sites that discharge wastewater directly into the
environment in line with the Danone Clean Water Standards
(Danone’s standards for clean water based on IFC standards).

Todo so, Danone’s business carry out monthly discharge and com-
pliance audits to track progress towards those targets.

Initiatives to cut water use in operations

Every Danone production site measures progress towards its annual
targets by monitoring water quality and calculating how much water
it uses in its production, cleaning and other processes.

® |n 2017, the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business launched
its Aquathon program to map water use in its operations, to
identify where and how it could reuse or recycle that water, and
to draw up roadmaps setting out how it will achieve its targets.
Danone has also joined forces with Veolia to audit technical and
managerial aspects of water management across all plants in
the near future. Non-conformities, and a remedial action plan
will be drawn up for the site in question.

® [n 2018, the Essential Dairy & Plant-Based Business rolled out
its Triple Zero program to explore how innovation could help it
use less water and energy. The program has already made a
difference on the ground. For instance, Danone has installed a
wastewater treatment and reuse facility at its site in Rotselaar,
Belgium, where water is in short supply. By re-employing the
water in its boilers and cooling towers, the site will halve the
amount of water it uses.

® [n 2018, the Waters Business piloted its Blue Ops program at
eight sites as it looks to embed sustainability in its bottling ope-
rations. At its site in Hidalgo, Mexico, the Business is shrinking
its water footprint by supplying recovered, treated wastewater
to the nearby CEMEX plant. The Business has also deployed
WaterWatcher, a water use monitoring and process improvement
tool, at all its bottling plants.



Assessing water risk in operations

In 2018, Danone added water risk assessment to its GREEN en-
vironmental audit program, which covers all of the Company’s
production entities.

In 2018, 9% of Aqueduct-audited production sites were found to be at
high or extremely high risk in the comprehensive risk assessment
[physical, regulatory and reputational risk].

Outcomes

Water use in operations
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Alsoin 2018, Danone assessed water risk using the WRF tool at 64%
of its production sites, and 14% were found to pose a high risk to the
business [see Environmental indicators scope, Methodology note).

Year ended December 31

(thousands of m?] 2017 2018
River water extracted from the surrounding area @ 3,102 2,937
Municipal water withdrawn from the surrounding area 17,011 23,395
Well water withdrawn from the surrounding area 48,572 48,161
Total water withdrawn from the surrounding area® 68,685 74,493

(a) Production Site Environment scope (see Methodology note).

Year ended December 31

2017 2018
Water consumption in the product processes @ (thousands of m?) 39,113 43,311
Water consumption intensity related to the production processes 1.1 1.15
Reduction in water use intensity since 2000 50% 48%

(a) Production Site Environment scope (see Methodology note).

Total water extraction and resource preservation

In 2018, Danone extracted 74,493,000 m® of water, an 8.5% increase
on 2017 (68,685,000 m?], owing chiefly to the inclusion of WhiteWave
in its reporting scope. On a like-for-like basis, Danone extracted
2.4% less water in 2018 than it did in 2017.

Water use in products

Danone used 74,493,000 m® of water in 2018. Of that amount,
31,182,000 m*wentintoits finished products and, to a lesser extent,
its by-products (0.2% of the total amount), chiefly at its bottling
plants. That represented a 5.4% increase on 2017 (29,572,000 m?),
largely as a consequence of the inclusion of WhiteWave in Danone’s
reporting scope.

Water use intensity in industrial processes
len in kg/ton of product]

2.22
1.84

1.67
1.48

2000 2007 2008 2009 2010 20M 2012 2013

Water use in production processes

Water used in production process water - for example rinse water -,
is distinct from the water used in the composition of finished pro-
ducts. Since 2016, Danone has omitted once-through cooling water
from its reporting indicators (see Methodology note).

Production processes accounted for 43,311,000 m?® of the 74,493,000 m®
that the Company used in 2018-a 4.2% increase in intensity per
ton of production from 2017 (39,113,000 m?), owing chiefly to the
inclusion of WhiteWave in its reporting scope. On a like-for-like
basis, Danone used 5.7% less water in its production process in
2018 than it did in 2017.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
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In 2018, water use intensity in industrial processes at Danone’s
production sites was 48% lower than in 2000 (vs 50% lowerin 2017),
largely as a result of the inclusion of WhiteWave in the Company’'s
reporting scope. On a like-for-like basis, water use intensity was
down 53% on 2000 levels.

Dis